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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 2023
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR THE
TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number 001-39402

ANNEXON, INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Charter)

Delaware 27-5414423
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

1400 Sierra Point Parkway, Bldg C, Suite 200
Brisbane, California 94005
(Address of principal executive offices including zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (650) 822-5500

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Trading
Title of each class Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share ANNX The Nasdaq Stock Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [ No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes [ No
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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit such files). Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2

of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company
Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the Registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control
over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit
report. O

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the Registrant included in the filing
reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. O

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by
any of the Registrant’s executive officers officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes O No

As of June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023, the aggregate market value of the Registrant's Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant (based on the closing
sales price of such shares on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023) was approximately $125 120.8 million. For purposes of calculating the
aggregate market value of shares held by non-affiliates, we have assumed that all outstanding shares are held by non-affiliates, except for shares held by each of our

executive officers, directors and 10% or greater stockholders. This calculation does not reflect a determination that such parties are affiliates for any other purpose.

The number of shares of the Registrant's Common Stock outstanding as of March 1, 2023 March 21, 2024 was 50,493,255 90,025,573. This number does not

include 24,696,206 35,248,479 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of pre-funded warrants (which are immediately exercisable at an exercise

price of $0.001 per share of Common Stock, subject to beneficial ownership limitations) sold in the Registrant's private placement on July 11, 2022. See Note 6—
Stockholders’ Equity to the Registrant’s audited consolidated financial statements.
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Portions of the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement relating to the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission within 120 days after the end of the Registrant’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, are incorporated by reference into Part 1l of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements about us and our industry that involve substantial risks and
uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including
statements regarding our strategy, future financial condition, future operations, projected costs, prospects, plans, objectives of
management and expected market growth, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements
by terminology such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “design,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,” “positioned,” “potential,” “predict,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” and other similar
expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and future trends, or the negative of these terms or other comparable

terminology. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

. our expectations regarding the potential market size and size of the potential patient populations for our product candidates

and any future product candidates, if approved for commercial use;
. our clinical and regulatory development plans;

. our expectations with regard to the results of our clinical studies, preclinical studies and research and development

programs, including the timing and availability of data from such studies;
. the timing of commencement of future nonclinical studies and clinical trials and research and development programs;
. our ability to acquire, discover, develop and advance product candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials;
. our intentions and our ability to establish collaborations and/or partnerships;
. the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals for our product candidates;
. our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and expectations;
. our intentions with respect to the commercialization of our product candidates;
«  the pricing and reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved,;
» the potential effects of COVID-19 on our preclinical and clinical programs and business;

« the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business and product candidates, including additional

indications for which we may pursue;
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« the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our product

candidates, including the projected terms of patent protection;

. estimates of our expenses, future revenue, capital requirements, our needs for additional financing and our ability to obtain
additional capital;

«  the potential future sales of our common stock under our at-the-market offering program;
. our future financial or operating performance; and

. developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry, including competing products.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about
future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial
needs. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you should not rely upon forward-looking statements
as predictions of future events. Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking statement contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance or events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur at all. You should refer to the sections titled “Risk
Factor Summary” and “Risk Factors” for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from
those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate,

the inaccuracy may be material. Except as required by law, we undertake no

obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
have filed as exhibits completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we

expect. We qualify all of the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K by these cautionary statements.
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SUMMARY RISK FACTORS

The following summarizes the most material risks that make an investment in our securities risky or speculative. If any of the

following risks occur or persist, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed and the price of

our common stock could significantly decline.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history and no products approved for comme
sale. We have incurred significant losses since our inception, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losse
the foreseeable future, which, together with our limited operating history, makes it difficult to assess our future viability.

We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when neede
acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development progr
commercialization efforts or other operations.

Our business is heavily dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our prc
candidates, which are in early stages of clinical development.

Public health crises such as pandemics or similar outbreaks have, and could in the future, materially and adversely affec
preclinical and clinical trials, business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may encounter substantial delays in our clinical trials or may not be able to conduct or complete our clinical trials or
timelines we expect.

Research and development of biopharmaceutical products is inherently risky. We cannot give any assurance that any o
product candidates will receive regulatory approval, which is necessary before they can be commercialized. Even if we ol
regulatory approval for a product candidate, our products will remain subject to regulatory scrutiny.

Adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by, or other unexpected properties of, any of our product candidates coulc
their clinical development, delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit their commercial potential or result in signif
negative consequences.

We rely on third-party suppliers to manufacture our product candidates, and we intend to rely on third parties to pro
commercial supplies of any approved product. The loss of these suppliers, or their failure to comply with applicable regul:
requirements or to provide us with sufficient quantities at acceptable quality levels or prices, or at all, would materially
adversely affect our business.

The successful commercialization of our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which governmental autho
and health insurers establish adequate coverage, reimbursement levels and pricing policies. Failure to obtain or mai
coverage and adequate reimbursement for our product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability to market those proc
and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

Any collaboration arrangements that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our a
to develop and commercialize our product candidates.

Our current and any future product candidates or products could be alleged to infringe patent rights and other proprietary rigr
third parties, which may require costly litigation and, if we are not successful, could cause us to pay substantial damages ai
limit our ability to commercialize our products.

Our stock price has been volatile, and could in the future be volatile, and you may not be able to resell shares of our comr
stock at or above the price you paid.

Failure or perceived failure to comply with existing or future laws, regulations, contracts, self-regulatory schemes, standards,
other obligations related to data privacy and security (including security incidents) could harm our business. Compliance o
actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could increase the costs of our doing business, limit the use or ado
of any future products, and otherwise negatively affect our operating results and business.
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PART |
Item 1. Business.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “we,” “our,” “us,” “Annexon” and the “Company” refer to Annexon, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiary. Annexon, Annexon, Inc., the Annexon logo and other trade names, trademarks or service marks of Annexon are the property
of Annexon, Inc. This report contains references to our trademarks and to trademarks belonging to other entities. Trade names,
trademarks and service marks of other companies appearing in this report are the property of their respective holders. We do not intend
our use or display of other companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by,
any other companies.

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company pioneering a new class of complement medicines for patients people living
with classical complement-mediated autoimmune, neurodegenerative and ophthalmic disorders. devastating inflammatory-related
diseases. The classical complement pathway is a core component to the body’s immune system that activates a powerful inflammatory
cascade. We believe that by stopping the classical complement pathway at its start by targeting Clq, the initiating molecule of the
classical complement pathway, our approach may have the potential to provide more complete protection against complement-mediated
disorders of the body, brain and eye.

Using our proprietary platform, we are identifying and characterizing the role of the classical complement pathway in three
therapeutic areas—autoimmune, neurodegeneration and ophthalmology. In so doing, we are advancing a broad pipeline of product
candidates designed to block the early classical cascade and all downstream pathway components and their tissue-damaging functions.
Our goal is to suppress excessive or aberrant classical complement activity that contributes to chronic inflammation and tissue damage
to slow or even halt disease progression, while preserving the beneficial immune functions of the lectin and alternative complement
pathways involved in the clearance of pathogens and damaged cells. We have demonstrated robust target engagement in the body,
brain and eye, and clinical proof of concept in multiple diseases, resulting in four flagship programs that we are actively advancing: and
have focused our resources on development of three priority programs:

. Guillain-Barré Syndrome, or GBS: We are advancing our lead candidate, ANX005, an investigational, full-length
monoclonal antibody, or mAb, formulated for intravenous administration in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for the potential
treatment of patients with GBS. GBS is a rare antibody-mediated autoimmune disease that is the most common cause of
acute neuromuscular paralysis, with no therapies in the U.S. approved by the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA,
approved therapies, and for which we FDA. We believe maximum suppression of C1qg and the classical cascade early in the
disease process may act to rapidly prevent complement-mediated nerve damage and irreversible neurological disability. We
demonstrated clinical proof-of-concept inln a prior placebo-controlled proof-of-concept trial, a single dose of ANXO005
showed rapid and expect to complete consistent improvement in muscle strength that translated into observable gains in
health status, including a reduction in the need of mechanical ventilation, as well as a reduction in nerve damage and
clinical function. We completed enrollment of approximately 220241 patients in our ongoing placebo-controlled Phase 3
GBS trial, and data are anticipated in the second half quarter of 2023, 2024. We intend to establish comparability of the GBS
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patient population in our Phase 3 trial with patients from the International Guillain-Barré Syndrome Outcomes Study, or
IGOS, a global, prospective, observational, multicenter cohort study that has enrolled 2,000 patients who were followed for
one to three years. We have initiated a real-world evidence, or RWE, comparability protocol with IGOS with data anticipated
in the first half of 2024.

. Huntington’s Disease, 2025 to support our Biologics License Applications, or HD: We are evaluating BLA, submission.
ANXO005 has been granted Fast Track and orphan drug designation for the potential treatment of patients with HD, a slowly
progressing, inherited and fatal neurodegenerative disease in which we believe Clq triggers synapse loss and
neuroinflammation. We completed a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with manifest HD in 2022, in which GBS from the FDA.
ANXO005 demonstrated positive efficacy results and was generally well-tolerated. Based onhas also been granted orphan
designation from the Phase 2 results and a productive engagement with the FDA in late 2022, we are preparing to advance
ANXO005 into a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2/3 trial for patients with HD in 2023.European
Medicines Agency, or EMA.

. Geographic Atrophy, or GA: We are evaluating advancing ANX007, an antigen-binding fragment, or Fab, formulated for
intravitreal administration, into a pivotal Phase 3 program for the potential treatment of patients with GA.GA is the leading
cause of blindness resulting from damaged and dying retinal cells. vision loss in the elderly, that affects an estimated eight
million people globally. ANX007 is designed to block C1q locally in the eye, to provide more complete protection against
excess classical complement activity, a key driver of disease. We completed enrollmentGA, and the loss of
approximately photoreceptor

neurons. In a randomized, multi-center, double-masked, sham-controlled Phase 2 ARCHER clinical trial of 270 patients with
GA, ANXO007 was the first and only program to show statistically significant and consistent protection against vision loss in
our ongoing a broad population of patients with GA, measured by best corrected visual acuity, or BCVA, >15-letter loss, the
widely accepted and clinically meaningful functional endpoint. While the primary endpoint of rate of lesion growth did not
reach statistical significance, evaluating the first and second six months of ANX007 treatment showed a greater effect on
lesion size with time,suggesting that lesion growth may slow with longer treatment with ANXO0O07. In December 2023, we
announced FDA alignment on a Phase 2 3 registration program for ANX007 in GA using, for the first-time, the prevention of
>15-letter loss of BCVA as the primary outcome measure. We plan to initiate the Phase 3 ARCHER |l trial in early 2022. We
expectmid-2024, a global sham-controlled trial designed to report data confirm the results from the 12-month treatment-
period of the Phase 2 ARCHER trial. We also plan to initiate the Phase 3 ARROW trial in late 2024, an

il

mid-2023, followed by additional data after injection-controlled head-to-head study against SYFOVRE® (pegcetacoplan injec
with the conclusion potential to underscore ANX007’s unique mechanism of action and critical differentiation on visual func
ANXO007 is the six-month off-treatment period first therapeutic candidate for the treatment of GA to receive Priority Medicin
PRIME, designation by the end EMA, which provides early and proactive support to developers of 2023. promising medicines
may offer a major therapeutic advantage over existing treatments or benefit to patients without treatment options.
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. ANX1502 for Autoimmune Indications: We are advancing ANX1502, is a novel oral small molecule targeting inhibitor of
classical complement which we believe is first-in-kind. We are conducting an ongoing In a Phase 1 single-ascending dose,
or SAD, and multiple-ascending dose, or MAD, clinical trial in healthy volunteers designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability,
pharmacokinetics, or PK, and pharmacodynamics, or PD, ANX1502 was generally well tolerated across cohorts with no
serious adverse events, achieved target levels of active drug and showed supportive impact on a PD biomarker of
complement activity that support its advancement. We plan to advance a tablet formation of ANX1502 in healthy volunteers.
In the SAD trial, a single dose of 450 mg has achieved target drug levels in plasma in patients, consistent with twice-daily
dosing. Additionally, ANX1502 has been generally well-tolerated as of October 23, 2022. The SAD trial is ongoing to identify
the maximum tolerated dose. We are preparing to initiate into a proof-of-concept trial study designed to assess PD and
efficacy in patients with cold agglutinin disease, or CAD, in 2023, which is supported by positive data previously generated
by ANXO005 in CAD patients. We also plan to expand development into additional autoimmune indications with strong
scientific rationale, including multifocal motor neuropathy, or MMN, in the first half of 2024.

In addition to our flagship programs, we are studying multiple programs across our three therapeutic franchise areas, including:

. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, or ALS: We are evaluating ANX005 in a Phase 2a signal-finding clinical trial in
patients 2024, with ALS, a fatal neurodegenerative disorder characterized by C1q activation driving inflammation and
neurodegeneration. Preliminary Phase 2a data as of December 6, 2022 from the first eight patients in the trial showed that
treatment with ANXO0O05 resulted in a reduction in neurofilament light, or NfL, a neurodegenerative disease biomarker, and
slowed disease progression as measured by reductions in revised ALS functional rating scores during the initial 12-week
on-treatment period, followed by an increase in disease progression in the off-treatment period. Enroliment in the Phase 2a
trial is ongoing, and we expect to report full data from the Phase 2a clinical trial in 2023.

. Lupus Nephritis, or LN: We are advancing a Phase 1b signal-finding trial of ANX009, a Clq Fab formulated for
subcutaneous delivery, using a precision medicine approach for patients with LN who have high baseline complement
activity. LN is an autoimmune disease for which pathogenic autoantibodies against C1q enhance activity and uniquely
amplify kidney inflammation and damage. Enroliment in the Phase 1b clinical trial is ongoing with multiple patients dosed,
and clinical data are expected in the first second half of 2023.

. ANX105: We are continuing 2024. Following the successful completion of the proof-of-concept study, we intend to evaluate
ANX105, a next-generation full-length mAb, ANX1502 in a Phase 1 SAD clinical trial in healthy volunteers. Enrollment is
ongoing additional serious complement-mediated autoimmune diseases with the aim of providing enhanced efficacy and
initial data are expected in 2023. offering convenient dosing administration for long-term treatment of chronic conditions.

Beyond our clinical-stage assets, leveraging the learnings from our initial trials and our expertise in the role of Clq and the
classical complement pathway, we are evaluating additional orphan and large market indications that are driven by aberrant or excess

classical complement activation.

Annexon was co-founded by the late Dr. Ben Barres, former member of the National Academy of Sciences, Chair of Neurobiology
at Stanford University and a pioneer in complement-mediated neurodegeneration, and Dr. Arnon Rosenthal, a world-renowned scientist
and industry executive. We have assembled a seasoned and accomplished management team that has been involved in the discovery,
development, approval and commercialization of numerous marketed drugs, and has been studying the complement pathway and
autoimmune and neurodegenerative disorders for decades. Our team is further supported by an experienced scientific advisory board,
board of directors and leading healthcare investors that share our commitment to advancing transformative medicines for patients

suffering from debilitating autoimmune and neurodegenerative diseases.

We hold worldwide development and commercialization rights, including through exclusive licenses, to all of our product

candidates, which allows us to strategically maximize value from our product portfolio over time. Our patent portfolio includes patent

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 10/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

protection for our upstream complement platform and each of our product candidates.

Our Pipeline

Our pipeline is led by fourthree flagship programs focused on complement-mediated diseases of the body, brain and eye for

which there is significant unmet medical need and where we have the potential to provide a first-in-class

treatment opportunity. Beyond our flagship programs, our “next wave” programs are poised for advancement and we are evaluating
additional clinical-stage product candidates in a variety of indications and have active research efforts options for additional pipeline
programs in the future. future clinical development. Our clinical-stage pipeline is summarized below:

L

img135382036_0.jpg

Our first clinical-stage product candidate is ANX005, an investigational mAb designed In addition to block C1q and activation of
the classical complement cascade. For GBS, ANXO0O05 is designed to act early in the disease course to prevent nerve damage and
irreversible neurological disability our flagship programs in GBS, patients. In the Phase 1b dose-ranging trial in GBS patients, treatment
with ANXO005 was well-tolerated GA and resulted in full and prolonged C1q engagement and classical cascade inhibition in the blood and
cerebrospinal fluid, or CSF. While our Phase 1b trial was not powered to show statistical significance, ANX1502 for autoimmune
indications, we observed a significant reduction in NfL, a well-accepted marker of nerve damage in neurodegenerative disease that has
been shown to correlate with disease severity and clinical outcomes. Patients treated with ANX005 also showed positive numerical
trends across key GBS outcome measures. GBS is a rare, acute, antibody-mediated autoimmune disease impacting the peripheral
nervous system. There are currently no approved therapies for GBS in the United States. Intravenous immunoglobulin, or 1VIg, and
plasma exchange are the current standards of care in the Western world and parts of Asia.

In March 2021, we completed the evaluation of our drug-drug interaction, or DDI, study of ANX005 co-administered with 1VIg in 14
patients with GBS. The DDI study was conducted to evaluate the safety and tolerability of ANX0O05 and IVIg co-administration in GBS
patients, and measured PK and PD of ANX005 when administered in combination with 1VIg. 1VIg, though not approved by the FDA in
the United States for GBS, is currently the standard of care for GBS. Results from the DDI study demonstrated that co-administration of
IVIg-ANX005 was well-tolerated and achieved full C1q target engagement, and Clq suppression was maintained within the targeted
range. The open-label DDI study was not placebo-controlled or powered for statistical significance on efficacy measures. Several key
GBS outcome measures were recorded from baseline, and early improvement was observed in GBS patients, including increased
muscle strength, decreased NfL and improved GBS disability score. Results from the DDI study were presented at the Peripheral Nerve
Society in 2021.
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A randomized, placebo-controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of ANXO005 is ongoing in GBS patients in developing countries and
is statistically powered to evaluate the efficacy of ANX005 in improving disability in GBS patients. Following an engagement with the
FDA regarding the statistical analysis plan for the ongoing Phase 3 trial, we plan to increase the study population by approximately 40
patients for a total of 220 patients. Expanded enrollment

is expected continue to be completed in the second half of 2023 with data from the pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial anticipated in the first half
of 2024. ANX005 has received both Orphan Drug and Fast Track designations from the FDA for the treatment of GBS. encouraged by

multiple “next wave” programs.

We are also studyinghave evaluated ANXO005 in patients with Huntington’s Disease, or HD, as well as patients withand
amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, or ALS, — two chronic neurodegenerative disorders in which aberrant classical complement activation
drives neuroinflammation and has been shown to be associated with synapse loss, elevated levels of NfL and disease progression. In
June 2022, we announced final data from the a completed Phase 2 clinical trial of ANX005 in patients with manifest HD, which showed
that treatment withchronic dosing of ANXO005 was generally well-tolerated, with fulldemonstrated rapid and sustained target
engagement of C1q in both serumblood and cerebrospinal fluid, or CSF, observed throughout the six-month treatment period reduced
downstream complement markers in CSF, and well into the three-month follow-up period. Disease showed promising efficacy signals on
standard measures of disease progression stabilized for the entire nine monthsin patients with higher levels of the study, as assessed

by both Composite Unified Huntington's Disease Rating Scale, or cUHDRS, classical complement activity at baseline.

In a completed signal-finding open-label Phase 2a trial in patients with ALS, chronic dosing of ANX005 was generally well-
tolerated, showed rapid and Total Functional Capacity, or TFC, the two primary clinical measurement scales for HD.
Additionally, sustained target engagement of C1q in blood, and reduced downstream pharmacodynamic complement markers in blood.
Consistent with what has been shown in other neurodegenerative diseases, including HD, exploratory analyses indicated that patients
with higher baseline classical complement activity, as measured by activation who enrolled within 12 months of diagnosis achieved
better outcomes, including less functional decline on the Revised Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale (ALSFRS-R)
and stabilization of neurofilament light chain (NfL). These analyses support a precision medicine approach to identify patients most likely
to respond to anti-C1q therapy in clinical trials with recently diagnosed ALS patients who have elevated baseline levels of C4a in CSF,
demonstrated a rapid clinical benefit, as assessed by both cUHDRS and TFC, that was sustained over the entire nine months of the
study. Improvement in cUHDRS and TFC in HD patients with higher baseline complement was evident six weeks after dosing initiation
and was maintained over nine months through the on-treatment and follow-up periods. Plasma and CSF NfL levels remained generally
consistent through the nine-month study, and were comparable to NfL levels described in published natural history data for HD patients.
Based on these findings and a productive engagement with the FDA, we plan to advance ANXO005 into a randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled Phase 2/3 trial for patients with HD in 2023.

Our Phase 2 trial evaluating ANX005 in patients with ALS is ongoing, and is designed to assess the safety, tolerability, target
engagement and impact on disease-related biomarkers and clinical outcomes by ANXO005. Preliminary data (n=8) showed that treatment
with ANXO0O05 resulted in a reduction in NfL and slowing of disease progression, as measured by reductions in revised ALS functional
rating scores, during the initial 12-week on-treatment period, followed by an increase in disease progression in the off-treatment period

as of December 6, 2022. Enrollment in the trial is ongoing with full data expected in 2023.

Our second clinical-stage product candidate is ANXO0O07, an investigational Clg-targeting Fab formulated for intravitreal

administration in patients with complement-mediated neurodegenerative ophthalmic disorders. Consistent with the results we observed
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in preclinical studies, in the Phase 1b trial in glaucoma patients, ANX007 was well-tolerated and showed full target engagement and
inhibition of C1q in the eye for at least four weeks. We believe inhibition of C1q may provide neuroprotective benefit by preventing the
aberrant loss of functioning synapses in the retina in a variety of ophthalmic disorders, including glaucoma and geographic atrophy, or
GA. A Phase 2 trial of ANXO07 in patients with GA, the leading cause of blindness resulting from damaged and dying retinal cells, is
ongoing. ANXO007 is designed to block C1q locally in the eye, to provide more complete protection against excess classical complement
activity, a key driver of GA, and the loss of photoreceptor neurons. Enrollment in the ongoing Phase 2 clinical trial was completed in
early 2022. activity. We plan to report data from the on-treatment period of submit the Phase 2 trial in mid-2023, followed by 2a data after
the conclusion of the six-month off-treatment period by the end of 2023. for presentation at an upcoming medical conference later this

year.

Our third clinical-stage product candidate is ANX1502, an investigational oral small molecule being In addition, we have developed
for the treatment of complement-mediated autoimmune diseases. We are evaluating ANX1502 in an ongoing Phase 1 SAD and MAD
trial in healthy volunteers. In the SAD trial, ANX009, a single dose of 450 mg achieved target drug levels in plasma in patients,
consistent with twice-daily dosing. Additionally, ANX1502 has been generally well-tolerated as of October 23, 2022. The SAD trial is
ongoing to identify the maximum tolerated dose. We are preparing to initiate a proof-of-concept trial in patients with CAD in 2023, which
is supported by positive data generated by ANX005 in CAD patients in a Phase 2 signal-finding trial. We plan to expand development of

ANX1502 into additional autoimmune indications with strong scientific rationale, including MMN, in the first half of 2024.

Our fourth clinical-stage product candidate is ANX009, an investigational C1qC1qg-blocking Fab formulated for subcutaneous
delivery, which was evaluated in a first-in-human, or FIH, clinical trial. In this trial, ANX009 was well-tolerated at all dose levels tested
and no drug-related safety signals were observed. The trial showed that ANX009 led to sustained C1q inhibition at multiple doses,
supporting the potential for twice-weekly subcutaneous administration with the current formulation. We designed ANX009 with a goal of
enabling chronic dosing for patients with antibody-mediated autoimmune disorders where anti-C1q may have a disease-modifying effect
and where we can utilize our targeted biomarker-driven approach. ANX009 is currently being evaluated in a Phase 1b signal-finding trial

using a precision

medicine approach for patients with lupus nephritis, or LN, who have high baseline complement activity. Enrollment in thisLN is an
autoimmune disease for which pathogenic anti-C1q antibodies, or PACAs, enhance activity and uniquely amplify kidney inflammation
and damage. In a completed Phase 1b signal-finding trial, is ongoing ANX009 was well tolerated, demonstrated plasma C1q target
engagement and complement inhibition, and rapidly increased free/circulating PACA levels (consistent with multiple patients dosed and
data are expected decreased deposition in the first half kidney) and improved all downstream markers of 2023.complement consumption
and activation (C4, as well as C3 and C5b-9).

We are also developing our next-generation product candidate, ANX105, an investigational mAb with enhanced dosing and PK
properties designed evaluating options for future development of ANXO0O05 in chronic neurodegenerative diseases. Enrollmentindications
and ANXO009 in a Phase 1 SAD trial of ANX105 in healthy volunteers is ongoing and initial data are expected in 2023.LN.
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Our Strategy

Our goal is to develop disease-modifying medicines for patients suffering from classical complement-mediated diseases. diseases

of the body, brain and eye. Key elements of our strategy include:

Leveraging our distinct approach of inhibiting C1q and aberrant upstream and downstream classical complement
activity to address a broad range of well-characterized classical complement-mediated diseases. diseases of the
body, brain and eye. By inhibiting C1q and the early classical cascade, we believe our product candidates are uniquely
designed to address a wide range of antibody-mediated autoimmune diseases and complement-mediated
neurodegenerative disorders of the brain and the eye. disorders. We believe full classical complement inhibition may result
in clinical benefits by blocking aberrant upstream and downstream immune cell activation in our targeted indications, as well
as potentially provide safety advantages by leaving the lectin and alternative pathways intact to perform their normal
immune functions.

Prioritizing resources and execution of mid- to late-stage development of fourthree flagship programs. By
prioritizing focusing our efforts resources on our four three flagship programs in GBS, HD, GA and ANX1502, our novel oral
small molecule ANX1502,complement inhibitor, our goal is to create near-term value for patients, physicians and
stakeholders.

Advancing ANX005 through clinical developmentfor GBS: Report Pivotal Phase 3 Data in multiple
autoimmune Second Quarter of 2024 and neurodegenerative indications of high unmet need.Prepare for BLA
Submission. We are developing ANX005 as conducting a potential treatment for GBS, HD and ALS.ANX005 has been
generally well-tolerated and demonstrated full target engagement and rapid and durable improvement in clinical outcomes
for patients in two difficult-to-treat indications — GBS and HD — and with encouraging, early signs of activity in ALS. We are
currently evaluating ANXO005 in a pivotal randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi-center Phase 3 clinical trial in
GBS designed to evaluate the efficacy, safety, pharmacokinetics, and plan to initiate a Phase 2/3 trial for patients with HD in
2023. Our Phase 2 trialpharmacodynamics of ANXO005 in patients with ALSGBS.We are also conducting an RWE
comparability protocol with IGOS with data anticipated in the first half of 2025 to support our BLA submission. ANX005 is
underway being developed as a first-line monotherapy treatment option for GBS and we plan has received both Fast Track
and orphan drug designations from the FDA, as well as orphan drug designation by the EMA due to report full dataa
notable and early improvement in 2023. muscle strength demonstrated with ANXOO05 versus patients treated with 1VIg, the
current standard of care. In a completed placebo-controlled proof-of-concept trial, ANX005 showed rapid and consistent
improvement in muscle strength that translated into observable gains in health status, including a reduction in the need of
mechanical ventilation, as well as improvement in neuronal damage and clinical function in patients with GBS.

Evaluating ANX007 for GA: Initiate Global Registration Program in GA, with Vision Preservation as an agent for
neuroprotective benefitthe Primary Outcome Measure, in ophthalmic indications. Mid-2024. We are developing plan
to initiate our global registration program in GA, with the potential to underscore ANX007’s unique mechanism of action and
provide critical differentiation on visual function. ANX007 in neurodegenerative ophthalmic indications, such as GA. ANX007
reduced retinal damage in animal modelsis the first therapeutic candidate for the treatment of GA to receive PRIME
designation in the EU, which provides early and glaucoma. proactive support to developers of promising medicines that may
offer a major therapeutic advantage over existing treatments or benefit to patients without treatment options. In ourthe
Phase 1b2 ARCHER clinical trial, ANX007 became the first and only program to date to show statistically significant and
consistent protection against vision loss in glaucoma patients, intravitreal administrationa broad population of ANX007
resulted in full target engagement of C1q at both low and high doses. Based on this clinical dosing data, our preclinical data
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in glaucoma and GA, and proximate clinical validation from downstream complement approaches, we believe that ANX007
may provide neuroprotective benefit in patients with these and other complement-mediated ophthalmic disorders. ANX007
is currently being evaluated in a Phase 2 trial in patients with GA with data anticipated in mid-2023. GA.

. Demonstrating clinical proof-of-concept with ANX1502 an oral small molecule targeting classical complement. for
Autoimmune Disease: Advance First-in-Kind Oral Small Molecule Inhibitor into Proof-of-Concept Clinical Trial in
Patients in the First Half of 2024. \We are currently evaluatingplan to advance a tablet formulation of ANX1502 in an
ongoing Phase 1 SAD and MAD trial in healthy volunteers. As of October 23, 2022, ANX1502 has been generally well-
tolerated and achieved target drug levels with a single dose. The SAD trial is ongoing to identify the maximum tolerated
dose. We are preparing to initiateinto a proof-of-concept study in 2023 trial designed to assess pharmacodynamics and
efficacy in patients with CAD. Additionally, CAD in the first half of 2024. Following the successful completion of the proof-of-
concept study, we planintend to expand development into evaluate ANX1502 in additional serious complement-mediated
autoimmune indications diseases with strong scientific rationale, including MMN. the aim of providing efficacy with enhanced
dosing flexibility and convenience for long-term treatment of chronic autoimmune conditions.

. Expanding our portfolios portfolio across three therapeutics franchises informed by data from our flagship
programs. We intend to leverage learnings and proof-of-concept data from our flagship programs to inform selection of
additional orphan and larger patient populations involving related biological mechanisms. In our autoimmune portfolio,
additional indications include antibody-mediated autoimmune disorders such as CAD, lupus nephritis (specifically in lupus
nephritis patients with endogenous PACA), and MMN. In our neurodegenerative portfolio, additional potential indications
include ALS, frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer’'s disease. In our ophthalmology franchise, additional indications
include glaucoma and other classical complement-mediated neurodegenerative diseases of the body, brain and eye. We As
we enhance our resources, we plan to efficiently prosecute

5

opportunities across our three therapeutic franchises utilizing our disciplined, biomarker-driven data-driven development strate

. Developing additional product candidates that are designed to inhibit activation of the classical complement
cascade. We have secured broad intellectual property protection for our upstream complement platform and intend to
leverage our intellectual property and know-how to protect and enhance our leading position in developing novel
therapeutics that target the classical complement cascade. We are developing product candidates, such as ANXO009, to
modulate the classical pathway with the potential to become tailored therapeutics for a large range of indications using
different molecular modalities, dosing regimens and tissue localization strategies. In addition, we are developing next-
generation product candidates, including ANX105, an investigational monoclonal antibody.

. Maximizing the value of our product candidates. We currently hold worldwide development and commercialization
rights, including through exclusive licenses, to all of our product candidates. We have secured broad intellectual property
protection for our upstream complement platform and intend to
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leverage our intellectual property and know-how to protect and enhance our leading position in developing novel therapeutics
target the classical complement cascade. We intend to pursue independent development and commercialization in s
indications and markets that we can address with a focused sales and marketing organization. We may opportunistically pl¢
explore licensing agreements, collaborations or partnerships to developadvance our product candidates in larger mi
indications and markets where we could accelerate and expand development utilizingand commercialization leveraging
resources of larger biopharmaceutical companies.

Overview of the Complement System and Clq Biology
The Complement System—three main complement pathways

The complement system is an integral component of the immune system that consists of many circulating and locally-produced
molecules. This system evolved to enhance, or complement, other components of the adaptive and innate immune systems. The
complement system, also known as the complement cascade, rapidly responds to pathogens, damaged cells and unwanted tissue

components to facilitate their removal by the immune system.

There are three main complement pathways (also called cascades)—the classical, lectin and alternative pathways. Each pathway
is initiated by different molecules that respond to distinct triggers. When activated, the initiating molecules set in motion a cascade of
enzymatic reactions that greatly amplify, or complement, an inflammatory response. The classical pathway is initiated by C1q, which
recognizes antibody complexes, specific pathogens, damaged cells or unwanted cellular components. The lectin pathway is triggered by
carbohydrates on the surface of pathogens or cells. The alternative pathway amplifies the action of the other two pathways and also
self-activates to eliminate pathogens or cells that are not specifically shielded by the body’s built-in self-protective systems. While these

three pathways are initiated by distinct molecules, they converge downstream on common pathway components known as C3 and C5.

The three main pathways of the complement cascade are activated by independent molecules but converge at C3
l#.,0000950170-23-006232img134458515_1.jpg

Aberrant activation of the complement system can result in a range of diseases characterized by an attack on healthy tissue, such
as red blood cells, nerve cells or kidney components. A broad range of diseases are known to be associated with pathological activation
of the complement cascade, including antibody-mediated autoimmune disorders such as GBS, CAD and lupus nephritis, and
complement-mediated neurodegeneration disorders in the eye, such as glaucoma and GA, and complement-mediated

neurodegeneration disorders in the brain, such as HD, ALS,

frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer’s disease. We believe intervening in the activation of the complement cascade offers a potent

and selective mechanism for specifically slowing or reversing these disease processes.

Specific activated components of the complement cascade have important immune functions that contribute to three key

outcomes:

. Immune cell recruitment and inflammation. Specific activated molecules from the cascade serve as soluble signals to
make blood vessels leaky and attract immune cells into tissues.

. Directed immune cell attack. Several complement components, including C1q, bind directly to the pathogen and serve as
receptors that direct immune cell attack and pathogen engulfment.

. Membrane damage. Downstream components of the cascade directly puncture the pathogen or cell surface, causing
membrane damage and lysis.
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Aberrant activation of the initiating molecule, C1q, can lead to three main outcomes
L#.0000950170-23-006232img134458515_2.jpg

Inhibiting C1q upstream blocks downstream components and functional activities of the classical complement cascade

Broad potential for classical complement pathway targeted therapeutics in autoimmune and neurodegenerative diseases

The classical complement cascade has a well-established role in augmenting antibody function within the immune system. Clq
recognizes antibodies bound to pathogens or cells and activates the classical pathway to trigger their removal and clearance by the
immune system. C1lq can also directly recognize pathogens, damaged cells or unwanted cellular components leading to similar
downstream clearance. A more recent finding made by the laboratory of Dr. Ben Barres, our scientific founder, is that C1q also directly
interacts with neuronal connections, or synapses, during early development. Recognition of weaker synapses by Clq triggers the
classical complement cascade and directs immune cells to “prune” the synapses away from neurons, thereby reinforcing stronger

synapses to establish appropriate neuronal connections.

Because of its central role in immune function, aberrant activation of C1q can lead to damage of healthy tissue and destruction of
functioning synapses. We are focused on two distinct disease processes involving C1q as a key mediator of tissue damage: antibody-

mediated autoimmune disease and complement-mediated neurodegeneration.

+.0000950170-23-006232img134458515_3.jpg

In antibody-mediated autoimmune disease, self-reactive antibodies bind to cells or tissues, activating C1q and leading to
damaging inflammatory responses. We have observed that inhibition of C1lq was protective in several animal models of antibody-
mediated autoimmune disease, including neuromyelitis optica, or NMO, and two variants of GBS. In NMO, auto-antibodies recognize
cells within the central nervous system, or CNS, and can lead to rapid localized destruction of the optic nerve and regions of the spinal
cord, while in GBS, pathogenic antibodies react with components of the peripheral nerve system, or PNS, to cause widespread
peripheral nerve damage and paralysis. This disease process is also evident in antibody-mediated autoimmune disease involving blood
components, such as CAD, characterized by auto-reactive antibodies that trigger destruction of red blood cells, and in a subset of
patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, or SLE, where endogenous pathogenic antibodies against C1q itself drive aberrant Clq

activation and are highly associated with kidney damage, or lupus nephritis.

In complement-mediated neurodegeneration, aberrant activation of C1q at synapses in aging and disease can lead to excessive
synapse loss and neuronal damage, driving disease progression in multiple neurodegenerative disorders regardless of the initiating

factor. In animal models, C1gq accumulated on synapses with age, building up to 300-fold higher levels than in younger animals. It did
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not activate with normal aging, but other inflammatory stimuli, including misfolded proteins, metabolic dysfunction or increases in
intraocular pressure, appeared to aberrantly reactivate C1q's developmental role in synapse elimination. Complement activation and
aberrant synapse pruning in disease may lead to neuroinflammation, loss of synaptic neuronal connections and neurodegeneration. In
support of this hypothesis, we and other investigators have observed that Clq inhibition was protective in numerous models of
neurodegenerative disease, including diseases of the eye, such as glaucoma and age-related macular degeneration, chronic diseases
of the CNS, such as frontotemporal dementia, Alzheimer’'s, HD and Spinal Muscular Atrophy, or SMA, and acute injury, such as

traumatic brain injury and stroke.

Synaptic loss is a pathogenic driver of disability in many neurodegenerative diseases, protected with C1q inhibition
lc:|0000950170-23—006232img134458515_4.jpg

Our differentiated approach to treating complement-mediated autoimmune and neurodegenerative disease through inhibition
of Clq

We believe that in order to selectively inhibit aberrant activation of the classical complement pathway implicated in driving certain
complement-mediated autoimmune and neurodegenerative diseases, it is important to target the early components of the classical
cascade, particularly C1g, C4 and C3. Activated fragments of C4 and C3 induce vascular leakiness and immune cell recruitment into the
tissue, while other fragments of C4 and C3, as well as C1q, work together to direct immune cell attack to the cell or synapse surface.
Furthermore, C1q inhibition blocks downstream classical pathway activation of C5 and its membrane damaging effects. We believe that
inhibition of C1qg does not block the activity of these components in the lectin or alternative complement pathways, and both of these

pathways will continue to perform their normal immune functions.

Our Platform

Our novel upstream complement platform is designed to completely inhibit classical complement activity for the treatment of
antibody-mediated autoimmune diseases and complement-mediated neurodegenerative diseases in the body, brain and eye. We

believe there are potential advantages to our approach of upstream inhibition of the classical complement cascade, which include:

. Full inhibition of the classical cascade while preserving healthy immune function of the other complement
pathways. Inhibition of C1q fully inhibits the classical cascade, including components downstream of C1q such as C4, C3,
C5 and the downstream membrane attack complex. As a result, we believe our approach is designed to block all classical
complement activity that can contribute to disease pathology, including immune cell recruitment, directed immune cell attack
and membrane damage. By targeting upstream tissue-damaging components of the classical complement pathway, our
approach leaves the lectin and alternative pathways to perform their normal immune function, which may aide aid both
clinical improvement and safety. Our approach is also distinct from inhibiting C3 or C5. Inhibition of C5 will not affect the
upstream components of the classical pathway involved in pathology (Clqg, C4 and C3), while inhibition of C3 will block
downstream components in all three complement pathways.

. Broad applicability across many indications. We believe our approach has broad utility for the treatment of diseases in
which full inhibition of the entire classical complement cascade may be beneficial. We
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believe our approach is distinguishable from those that target only downstream complement components. Our initial indica
represent our beachhead within antibody-mediated autoimmune and complement-mediated neurodegenerative diseases, an
will selectively pursue both orphan and larger patient population diseases with clear biological evidence of classical complel
activation. We are also developing novel product candidates targeting C1q and early components of the classical complement

9

cascade, and will utilize different modalities to target these components of the classical complement pathway.

. Disciplined, biomarker-driven development strategy for our product candidates. We are deploying a disciplined,
biomarker-driven development strategy designed to establish confidence that our product candidates are engaging the
specific target at a well-tolerated therapeutic dose in the intended patient tissue. We design small, early-stage clinical trials
to rigorously evaluate our product candidates using target engagement and pharmacodynamic biomarkers. We are utilizing
sensitive, specific assays for C1lg and activation of downstream classical complement components to evaluate target
engagement in patient tissues that are most relevant for the diseases that we are treating. We believe that this strategy
allows us to make rational decisions regarding our therapeutic pipeline, increasing the probability of technical success over
shorter development timelines.

Our Pipeline

Our pipeline is led by four flagship programs focused on complement-mediated diseases of the body, brain and eye for which
there is significant unmet medical need, and where we have the potential to provide a first-in-class treatment opportunity. Beyond our
flagship programs, we are evaluating additional clinical-stage product candidates in a variety of potential indications and have active
research efforts for additional pipeline programs in the future. Our clinical-stage pipeline is summarized below:

o 0000950170-23-
006232img134458515_5.jpg

Our Flagship Programs
Guillain-Barré Syndrome
Overview of Guillain-Barré Syndrome

Guillain-Barrésyndrome (GBS) is a serious and life-threatening condition that continues to be associated with significant long-term
morbidity and mortality in patients despite use of IVIg treatment as standard of care. GBS is a rare disease, but is also the most
common, most severe, and well understood acute paralytic inflammatory disease typically triggered by of the peripheral nervous system.
GBS generally occurs post-infection in otherwise healthy persons. Antibodies generated against an infectious agent cross-react with
components of peripheral nerves, leading to a preceding infection, complement mediated attack on nerve components, including myelin
sheath and axonal tissue. The ensuing peripheral nerve damage is acute and rapidly progressive, leading to acute severe paralysis,
significant morbidity, disability and mortality. The neuronal destruction progresses until titers of the cross-reactive, complement-activating
antibodies have diminished (van den Berg et al., 2014). GBS impacts approximately 22,000 people annually in which aberrant auto-
antibodies that recognize neurons or associated cells cause neuronal injurythe U.S. and acute paralytic neuropathy. In 2011, the

estimated annual incidence of GBS was approximately 12,000 in North America and Europe. In 2019, there were 150,095 total cases of
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GBS worldwide, which was a 66% increase from the 90,249 cases recorded worldwide in 1990. EU. The prevalence of GBS continues to
increase with advancing age. In 2004, the annual economic cost of GBS in the United States was $1.7 billion $2 billion, largely due to

the permanent disability and mortality it can cause.

10

There are currently no FDA-approved therapies for the treatment of GBS. Treatment guidelines published by the American
Academy of Neurology recommend early initiation of IVIg or plasma exchange in patients diagnosed with GBS. IVIg and plasma
exchange are the established standards of care in the Western world and parts of Asia. Although IVIg and plasma exchange have been
shown to provide some benefit, significant unmet need still exists, and many patients, despite receiving the standard of care, are left with

residual neurological disability, accompanied by chronic pain and fatigue.

The clinical course of GBS usually involves rapidly progressive weakness in the limbs culminating in neuromuscular paralysis
within two to four weeks of onset. According to 2011 estimates, 20 to 30% of patients require mechanical ventilation, over 20% have
permanent motor or sensory disability and 2 to 17% 20% of cases result in death globally. Many patients with GBS require extensive
monitoring and supportive care and will seek treatment in a hospital within a few days of onset of the disease. Because approximately a
quarter of patients need artificial ventilation due to respiratory muscle weakness, and many develop autonomic disturbances, admission
in an intensive care unit is frequently necessary. Symptoms peak within four weeks as the auto-antibody response declines, followed by
a recovery period that can last months or years, as the nervous system repairs itself. The development of targeted treatments for GBS is

crucial to improve outcomes and quality of life for those affected by this debilitating condition.

Cl1q is a key driver of pathogenesis in GBS

GBS is an acute, autoimmune disease driven by antibodies that lead to activation of the classical complement cascade.
Pathological nerve-targeting auto-antibodies, which may be triggered by an infection, lead to the activation of C1q and the classical
complement cascade. Studies have shown that pathogenic auto-antibodies are present in the serum and CSF, and that activated
components of the complement cascade are deposited on peripheral nerve tissue from GBS patients. Peripheral nerve roots are
immersed in CSF as they emerge from the spinal cord and are prominent sites of damage in GBS. The figure below illustrates the
activation of the classical complement pathway within peripheral nerves in a GBS patient. patient samples from autopsy. The left image
shows a low magnification view of a peripheral nerve from a GBS patient with numerous individual nerve fibers coated with membrane-
damaging complement activation products (C5b-9; dark staining). The middle image shows a high magnification view of an individual
nerve fiber with deposition of C3d (dark staining), a complement activation product that directs immune cell attack. The right image

shows a highpower image of an individual nerve fiber being probed by an infiltrating immune cell (macrophage).

l+.img135382036_1.jpg
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We believe that by blocking the activity of C1q early in the onset of the disease, we can minimize the neuronal damage caused by

these pathogenic auto-antibodies, in turn reducing the patients’ symptoms and accelerating their neurological recovery.

Neurofilament light chain (NfL), a marker of neurodegeneration, is highly elevated in GBS

NfL, an intracellular neuron-specific protein, has emerged as a well-accepted biomarker of nerve damage in disorders
characterized by damaged or degenerating nerves. NfL is a subunit of neurofilaments, which are cylindrical proteins exclusively located
in the cytoplasm of nerve cells and are released into the CSF and blood when nerves are damaged (illustration below). Recent
ultrasensitive techniques, such as single-molecule array technology, have made it possible to accurately and quantitatively detect
longitudinal changes of NfL in both blood and CSF, with very low
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analytical variation. These assay properties, in addition to neuron-specificity, position NfL as an important decision-enabling tool in proof-
of-concept studies of neuroprotective agents across a wide variety of diseases.

Neurofilament Light Chain (NfL) is released from damaged nerve cells
u:0000950170-23—006232img134458515_7.jpg
damaged.

Elevated NfL levels correlate with current patient disability and predict patient outcomes in autoimmune neurological diseases
such as GBS, multiple sclerosis, or MS, chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy and multifocal motor neuropathy as well as
in chronic neurodegenerative diseases such as Huntington's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, spinal muscular atrophy, or SMA,
frontotemporal dementia, and Alzheimer’s disease. Moreover, effective treatments for MS (e.g., ocrelizumab, natalizumab and
fingolimod) and SMA (e.qg., nusinersen) that prevent neurological disability in patients have been shown to significantly reduce NfL levels
in these same patients. neuropathy. In patients with GBS, NfL is very highly elevated (in some instances, greater than 100-fold above
normal). Retrospective and prospective studies in GBS patients have shown that NfL levels in CSF and serum may correlate with
disease course, severity and prognosis in GBS.

Preclinical Development in GBS

As illustrated below, in a mouse model of severe GBS, ANX005 treatment blocked complement deposition on nerve terminals (left
panel) and protected respiratory and motor function (right panel) when compared to an irrelevant immunoglobulin G, or 1gG, isotype
control antibody. A p-value is a measure of the statistical significance of the observed result. By convention, a p-value lower than 0.05 is
considered statistically significant.
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Respiratory and motor function
lc:O000950170-23-006232img134458515_8.jpg

Phase 1a Trial in Healthy Volunteers
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ANXO005 was initially evaluated in a Phase 1a dose-escalation single-dose trial designed to assess safety, pharmacokinetics and
pharmacodynamics. This trial was conducted in 27 healthy volunteers in Australia. The dosing levels of ANX005 delivered in this trial
ranged from 1 mg/kg to 8.2 mg/kg. We terminated the trial in healthy volunteers and transitioned our clinical development to evaluate
ANXO005 directly in patients with GBS based on guidance from the FDA in order to expediently advance this program in the United
States.

Phase 1b Trial of ANX005 in GBS Patients

We have closely coordinated our clinical efforts with leading researchers of the International GBS Outcome Study, or IGOS, in
pursuing a novel therapy for GBS. With the goal of aiding the development of effective treatments for GBS, practitioners established
IGOS in May 2012, and have collected natural history data from over 1,750 newly-diagnosed GBS patients worldwide. IGOS is a
prospective, observational, multicenter cohort study that aims to identify the clinical and biological determinants and predictors of
disease onset as well as the subtype, course and outcome of GBS. IGOS was established to help develop a better understanding of the
mechanism of disease progression and recovery and to conduct selective therapeutic trials to improve patient outcomes. This natural
history database is an invaluable resource to clinical development, facilitating the design of clinical trials, optimal selection of endpoints,
and patient follow-up for one to three years. We initiated our GBS clinical development in Bangladesh, a country where the incidence of
GBS is several times higher than in North America and Europe and where 17% of patients die from the disease and 20% suffer
permanent disability and are unable to walk. Additionally, our site in Bangladesh is well situated to conduct clinical research in GBS in a
manner compliant with good clinical practice, or GCP, requirements. As of March 2017, Bangladesh had enrolled more patients in IGOS

than any other country, representing approximately 15% of all enrolled patients worldwide.

ANXO005 is being developed as a first-line monotherapy treatment option for GBS. We conducted a Phase 1b placebo-controlled,
dose escalation trial (n=81)50) of ANXO0O05 in GBS patients at a tertiary care hospital in Bangladesh, in compliance with GCP as
described above. The trial objectives included safety and tolerability, dosing levels and target engagement, and included a follow up of
eight weeks. The dosing levels of ANX005 delivered in this trial ranged from 3 mg/kg to 75 mg/kg. ANXO005 was well tolerated, and no
drug-related serious adverse events or drug-related discontinuations occurred. The most common adverse events were acute infusion-
related reactions, or IRRs, which occurred in the majority of patients and presented as low grade, non-serious, transient skin rash.

These acute IRRs were mitigated by standard anti-inflammatory pre-medications.

Results from the Phase 1b trial showed increasing serum levels of ANX005 and its duration in the circulation at increasing dose
levels, and that the drug was present in the serum for up to three weeks at a dose of 75 mg/kg (left panel). kg. When ANXO005 was
present in the circulation C1q function was fully inhibited, and rapidly returned to normal levels as ANX005 serum levels declined (right

panel showing data from a patient receiving 75 mg/kg). declined.
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Much of the proximal weakness in GBS patients is due to involvement of peripheral nerve roots that are immersed in CSF as they
exit the spinal cord. Hence, we believe product candidate levels and target inhibition in CSF may be an important contributor to efficacy.
We observed that ANX0O05 entered the CSF of GBS patients treated with doses of 18-75 mg/kg of ANXO005, resulting in full engagement
of C1q inhibition in the CSF (as shown below).

Inhibition of C1q Observed in CSF at 18-75 maglkg
w;0000950170—23—006232img134458515_10.jpg
CSF.

In the Phase 1b trial in GBS patients, ANX005 treatment at doses that engaged C1q in both serum and CSF (i.e., 18-75 mg/kg
dose) resulted in a statistically significant early decline in serum NfL levels compared to placebo (two to four-week post treatment p-
value <0.05, left panel below) 0.05). In this Phase 1b trial, we also explored the administration of ANX005 on multiple validated clinical
disability measures including GBS-Disability Score, or GBS-DS, Medical Research Council Muscle Strength Scale, or MRC, and
Inflammatory Rasch-built Overall Disability Scale, or I-RODS, over an eight-week period. We observed that early decline in NfL
correlated with improvement in the GBS-DS at the end of the study (two to eight-week post treatment p-value <0.05; right panel
below) 0.05). We believe these results suggest that ANX005 had a rapid impact on the disease process by ameliorating antibody-

induced nerve damage, likely within the first two weeks of dosing.
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High Dose ANXO005 (18-75 mg/kg) Led to Change in NfL Weeks 2 - 4 vs.
Significant Early NfL Reduction (Weeks 2 - 4) Overall Change in GBS-DS (Weeks 2 - 8)
P 0000950170-23- u:0000950170-23-006232im9134458515_12.jpg
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* r is a statistical measure for the correlation of two variables that
ranges from -1 to 1. The closer r is to 1 or -1, the more closely the
variables are related. A correlation of 0.431 is considered moderate

correlation.

Though the trial was not powered for statistical significance, treatment with ANX005 resulted in consistent, positive numerical
trends, including an improvement in MRC score and the number of days of ventilation. We observed a dose-dependent trend for
improvement in MRC within the first week of treatment (as shown below).

Mean Change in MRC Score
Week 1 from Baseline
w:0000950170—23-006232imgl34458515_13.jpg
Dose ANX005 (mgl/kg)

treatment.

Early improvement in MRC is known to have strong prognostic implications on long-term functional recovery (modified Erasmus
GBS Outcome Score). In line with this published data, we found that early improvement in MRC correlated with patients’ disability

scores at the end of the Phase 1b trial (GBS-DS at week eight). This result is important because GBS-DS is typically used as the
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primary endpoint in GBS registrational studies. In addition, using a responder analysis, 28% of patients treated with high dose ANX005
(18-75 mg/kg) improved by at least three points on GBS-DS by week eight compared to 0% of placebo-treated patients (as shown
below). Patients treated with ANX005 showed a trend of improvement on GBS-DS when using a mean analysis. Both results are
promising but not statistically significant. patients.
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Based on the results of the Phase 1b trial, we selected the 75 mg/kg dose of ANX005 for ongoing development in GBS. Following
the completion of the Phase 1b treatment cohorts (through 75 mg/kg), two unblinded exploratory cohorts were enrolled to establish
higher dose and multiple dose safety and PK/PD to inform subsequent chronic dosing trials. These two exploratory cohorts were a
single dose of 100 mg/kg, and two doses of 75 mg/kg separated by one week (150 mg/kg total). At these higher dose levels, ANX005
was well-tolerated, and no drug-related serious adverse events or drug-related discontinuations occurred; moreover, we did not reach a
maximum tolerated dose. Similarly, we observed full inhibition of C1q in serum and CSF, a reduction in NfL and trends of improvement in
clinical measures when compared to placebo; however, there was no additional impact on these clinical measures beyond that seen at
75 mg/kg.

The results of the Phase 1b dose-ranging trial in GBS showed that ANX005 was well-tolerated, fully inhibited C1q in the blood and
CSF at target doses, and demonstrated an early reduction in NfL levels. Drug treatment was associated with a trend for early
improvement in MRC, and early changes in MRC significantly correlated with improved clinical measures in GBS patients. An additional
key learning from the study is the importance of using baseline MRC for patient stratification at the time of hospitalization and study
entry. Accounting for baseline MRC strengthened the impact of ANXO005 treatment in the biomarker and clinical measures,

demonstrating that MRC will be an important stratification tool in future GBS trials.

Ongoing Development Pivotal Phase 3 Trial of ANX005 forin GBS

A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pivotal multi-center Phase 3 trial designedis ongoing and aims to evaluate the
efficacy, safety, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of ANXO005 administered by a single intravenous (IV) infusion in recently
diagnosed patients with GBS.

The Phase 3 trial enrolled 241 patients in Southeast Asia diagnosed with GBS according to the National Institute of Neurological
Disorders and efficacy in improving disability in Stroke Diagnostic Criteria for Guillain-Barré syndrome at the onset of GBS-related
weakness <10 days prior to the start of treatment. Patients were stratified for leading prognostic factors including muscle strength and

time from symptom onset.
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The primary endpoint of the Phase 3 trial is GBS-DS at week 8, and secondary endpoints include safety, duration of ventilation
support, muscle strength, and mortality. The primary endpoint will utilize a proportional odds methodology to assess the proportion of
patients who shift to better outcomes on the GBS patients is ongoing. Following a productive engagement Disability Score with the FDA
regarding the statistical analysis plan for the ongoing ANX005 treatment compared to placebo at week 8. We expect to report data from
this pivotal trial we plan to increase the study population by approximately 40 patients for a total of 220 patients. Expanded enrollment is
expected to be completed in the second half of 2023 with pivotal data anticipated in the first half of 2024.

Huntington’s Disease
Overview All of Huntington’s Disease

HD is an orphan hereditary neurodegenerative our studies to date for ANXOO05 in GBS have been conducted exclusively at sites
outside the United States. To support data from our clinical trials conducted in Southeast Asia, we intend to collect sources of real-world
evidence (RWE). We are conducting a RWE study to assess comparability of disease that is fatal populations in the US and ex-US using
the large natural history database from IGOS. Published data from IGOS presents baseline characteristics of GBS patients in various
jurisdictions, response to treatment with 1VIg (the current standard of care for which there are no approved treatments that can reverse
or slow its patients with GBS), and patient outcomes at certain timepoints over the course of progression. HD symptoms typically begin
to manifest between the ages of 30 to 50 and progress as a devastating neurodegenerative disorder characterized by abnormal
involuntary movements, known as chorea, spreading to all muscles, progressive dementia and psychiatric manifestations such as
depression and psychosis. Ultimately, affected individuals succumb to cardio-respiratory complications. Life expectancy after symptom

onset is approximately 10 to 20 years. Some of the symptoms of HD such as chorea and depression can be managed with medications.

Approximately 25,000 to 35,000 people in the United States have HD. Estimates project that approximately 75,000 people in the

United States and other major market countries will have HD by 2025. Because HD is a genetic
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disease in which an individual with a single copy of the dysfunctional gene will develop the disease, every child of a parent with HD has
a 50% chance of inheriting the faulty gene and developing the their disease. There are an estimated 200,000 individuals in the United
States who have a 50% risk of developing HD because of their family relationship to HD patients. It is estimated that only 5-7% of these
at-risk individuals have voluntarily undergone genetic testing due to the devastating nature of the disease and the lack of any effective
treatments. The development of a disease-modifying therapy could encourage at-risk patients to seek out testing and thereby both

provide hope to gene carriers and expand the number of patients who may benefit from treatment.

Cl1q is a key driver of pathogenesis in HD

HD is caused by a genetic mutation, specifically, by expansion of the number of cytosine-adenine-guanine, or CAG, nucleotide
sequences within the DNA of the huntingtin gene, which leads to production of a mutant huntingtin protein that is thought to be
neurotoxic and promote the degeneration of neurons. Above a threshold of 35 CAG repeats, the age of disease onset is inversely
correlated with the number of CAG repeats. The classical complement cascade is activated in HD patients and is associated with
progressive synapse loss. We hypothesize that C1q plays an important role in the degenerative process by tagging weakened synapses
and triggering a neuroinflammatory response that leads to aberrant synapse loss and progressive neuronal destruction. As shown
below, we observed that increased complement activation in HD patients (as measured by the complement activation marker C4a in
CSF) was associated with disease progression.

l#./0000950170-23-006232img134458515_15.jpg
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Progressive synapse loss in HD patients

As shown below, researchers observed in post-mortem tissue from HD patients that the number of synapses on neurons
connecting specific regions of the brain (the cortex and striatum) were reduced compared to healthy controls, with patients more
advanced in the disease process (Huntington's disease stage 4) showing greater loss of synapses than earlier stage patients
(Huntington’s disease stage 2). These results are consistent with our hypothesis that complement activation leads to synapse

elimination and neuronal damage.
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Progressive Synapse Loss in Huntington’s Disease Synapse number (% Control)
L#+./0000950170-23-006232img134458515_16.jpg
Development of ANX005 in HD

In June 2022, we announced final data from the Phase 2 trial of ANX005 in patients with HD. The Phase 2 multi-center, open-label
clinical trial evaluated ANX005 administered intravenously for a six-month dosing period in patients with, or at risk for, early manifest HD,
followed by a three-month follow-up period. The primary outcome measures of the study were safety and tolerability of ANX005; the
pharmacokinetics of ANX005, as measured by serum and CSF concentrations; and pharmacodynamics effects, as measured by Clq,
C4a and NfL serum and CSF concentrations. The study enrolled a total of 28 patients, 23 of whom completed both six-months of

treatment and the subsequent three-month follow-up period.

Final data showed that treatment with ANX005 was generally well-tolerated, with full target engagement of C1q in both serum and
CSF observed throughout the six-month treatment period and well into the three-month follow-up period. Disease progression was
stabilized in the overall HD patient population for the entire nine months of the study, as assessed by both Composite Unified
Huntington's Disease Rating Scale (cUHDRS) and Total Functional Capacity (TFC), the two primary clinical measurement scales for HD.
Additionally, HD patients with higher baseline complement activity, as measured by elevated levels of C4a in CSF, demonstrated a rapid
clinical benefit, as assessed by both cUHDRS and TFC, that was sustained over the entire nine months of the study. Improvement in
cUHDRS and TFC in HD patients with higher baseline complement was evident six weeks after dosing initiation and was maintained
over nine months through the on-treatment and follow-up periods. Plasma and CSF NfL levels remained generally consistent through

the nine-month study and were comparable to NfL levels described in published natural history data for HD patients.
o 0000950170-23-
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Post-hoc evaluation of two independent markers of neuroinflammation, C3 and YKL-40, showed that treatment with ANXO005 led

to a decrease in levels of both biomarkers.
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Based on the Phase 2 trial results and a productive engagement Following alignment with the FDA, we planintend to advance use
the RWE study as part of our registration package in support of the ANX005 BLA and anticipate RWE comparability data in the first half
of 2025.

ANXO005 has received both Fast Track and orphan drug designations from the FDA as well as orphan designation by the EMA for
the treatment of GBS. The EMA orphan designation was based on an indirect comparison between ANXO005 and intravenous
immunoglobulin (1VIg) that demonstrated a notable and early improvement in muscle strength with ANX005 versus patients treated with
IVIg, which translated into observable gains in health status, including a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2/3 trial for

patients with HD reduction in 2023. the need of mechanical ventilation.

Geographic Atrophy
Overview of Geographic Atrophy

GA is an advanced vision-threatening form of dry age-related macular degeneration or AMD, and (AMD), an eye disease that is
the leading cause of blindness in the elderly. GA is a chronic progressive disease neurodegenerative disorder of the macula that results
inretina involving the loss of central vision. The disease typically affects one eye first, with a high likelihood of it occurring photoreceptor

synapses and cells in the second eye over time.

There are two forms of AMD, “dry” AMD and “wet” AMD. Dry AMD is the most common form, representing approximately 85% to
90% of all AMD cases. Geographic atrophy represents the advanced form of dry AMD and is characterized by progressive atrophy of
retinal pigment epithelial cells, overlying photoreceptors and underlying choriocapillaries. An early feature of the disease is the presence
of drusen, which is comprised of extracellular yellow deposits at the back of the outer retina.

GA accounts for about 10% of legal blindness related to AMD. Approximately affects an estimated one million individuals people in

the United States and five eight million individuals worldwide suffer from geographic atrophy. As with AMD, the prevalence
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of geographic atrophy increases with age. There people globally, severely limiting their independence and causing frustration, anxiety
and emotional hardship. Effective treatments that preserve vision are still needed, as no currently approved therapies have been shown

in clinical trials to significantly prevent either the onset or progression of geographic atrophy. vision loss.

Role of C1q and Complement in Geographic Atrophy

Genome-wide association studies have strongly implicated multiple components of the complement cascade in AMD and
geographic atrophy. For example, specific alleles of the gene for C3 can increase the likelihood of developing AMD by 50%.
Histopathological investigations have also observed the presence of complement components in geographic atrophy. These studies
largely point to a role of excessive C3 activity in disease, but do not indicate how C3 is being activated (classical, lectin or alternative
pathways). We have identified a potential dual role of C1q and the classical cascade as an important complement-activating system in
geographic atrophy. First, we found that C1qg strongly accumulated on photoreceptor cell synapses with normal age or disease, as
shown below (left panel), implicating C1q’s role in excessive synapse pruning and complement-mediated neurodegeneration. Second,
Clqg and Clq ligands, such as C-reactive protein, also accumulated in the retina below photoreceptor cells in association with drusen
(extracellular membrane and protein debris associated with geographic atrophy; right panel). These results suggest that the
photoreceptor neurons and pigmented retinal epithelial cells — cell types that are both lost in GA — are sandwiched between deposits of

Clq and that the classical complement cascade may have an ongoing and pathogenic role in GA by activating C3.
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In support of this hypothesis, we found that either deletion or pharmacologic inhibition of C1q was protective in an animal model of
photoreceptor neuron loss induced by photo-oxidation, as shown below. Further, components of the classical complement cascade have
been associated with photoreceptor cells in human GA tissue (C4 and C3) and implicated in photoreceptor cell targeting with an in vitro
assay. Finally, C1q is locally produced within the retina during disease by infiltrating immune cells, indicating that its pathogenic role may
be amenable to local inhibition of C1q. As described above, we believe inhibition of C1q would block all key components of the classical
cascade, including C1q, C4, and C3 involved in immune cell attack and synapse pruning, as well as C5 involved in direct membrane

damage.

As shown below, C1q inhibition was shown to be protective of photoreceptor cells and retinal function in a model of photoreceptor

cell damage induced by light.
20
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Phase 1b Trial of ANX007 in Glaucoma to Support Development in GA

We completed single-ascending dose (n=9) and sham-controlled multiple dose (n=17) studies of intravitreal ANX007 in patients
with glaucoma to evaluate safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and target engagement. These patients had aqueous humor taps so that
ocular fluid could be analyzed for levels of ANX007 and free C1lq immediately prior to first dose (day 1) and prior to second dose (day
29). The studies showed that ANX007 was well-tolerated at all doses (1 mg, 2.5 mg and 5 mg) and achieved complete suppression of
Clqg at 2.5 mg and 5 mg, as illustrated below. We believe these results suggest that ANX007 can be dosed monthly or potentially less

frequently in future mg.

Phase 2 efficacy trials. We are exploring further development of ANX007 that could enable patients to be dosed as

infrequently as every six months.

A 0000950170-23-
006232img134458515_24.jpg

Development of ANX007 for GA
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Based on our Phase 1b clinical results in glaucoma, our preclinical data showing protection in retinal neurodegeneration animal
models, and C1q biology in this setting, we initiated a Phase 2 trial ARCHER Trial of ANX007 in GA. Our rationale GA

We conducted the randomized, multi-center, double-masked, sham-controlled Phase 2 ARCHER trial to pursue compare the
safety and efficacy of ANX007 in patients with GA secondary to AMD. The study enrolled a total of 270 patients, stratified by GA lesion
size, location and choroidal neovascularization (CNV) in the fellow eye at the time of enroliment. Patients were nearly equally split
between foveal (49.4% to 57.3%) and non-foveal groups, had an average age of 80 years and were balanced between female and
male. Ninety-six percent of patients enrolled were from the United States. Patients were randomized to receive an intravitreal dose of
5mg ANXO007 monthly (n=89), 5mg ANXO007 every other month (n=92) or sham monthly or every other month (pooled n=89) for GA

includes: a treatment period of 12 months, followed by a six-month off-treatment period.

*The classical complement pathway is implicated primary outcome measure of the study was the rate of change in GA lesion
growth (slope) from baseline as measured by human genetics, and Clq and C4 are associated with pathology in human GA
tissue. Clq is produced locally infundus autofluorescence (FAF) through 12 months for the eye by infiltrating immune cells and
may be more amenable study eye. The study included multiple pre-specified visual function measures to local inhibition by
intravitreal administration of ANXO007.

. The potential role of C1qg in GA may be dual-purpose, resulting in both complement-mediated neurodegeneration and loca
tissue damage unique to assess the eye. Local administration of ANX007 has
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been shown to be protective in animal photoreceptor neuron loss and achieved complete C1q inhibition in patients for 1-2 mor

. There is a well-established clinical and regulatory path for development.

Ongoing Phase 2 Trial in Geographic Atrophy

A randomized, controlled Phase 2 trial in GA patients who are at a high risk of progression is ongoing. The Phase 2 trial is
designed to evaluate clinical effecteffects of ANX007 on slowing of GA lesion growth over a one-year treatment period, leveraging the
natural history datavision: change from baseline in BCVA; change from baseline in low-luminance best corrected visual acuity (LLVA);

and patient selection criteria of prior GA trials. Enrollment change in baseline from low-luminance visual acuity deficit (LLVD).

In the Phase 2 ARCHER trial, ANX007 demonstrated consistent protection against vision loss in a broad population of patients
with GA. Specifically, topline data reported in May 2023 and presented at the American Society of Retina Specialists (ASRS) Annual
Meeting in July 2023 showed that ANXO0O07 provided statistically significant, time and dose-dependent protection from vision loss in
patients with GA, measured by BCVA > 15-letter loss, the widely accepted and clinically meaningful functional endpoint assessing visual

acuity.
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Monthly treatment with ANX007 demonstrated nominally statistically significant reduction in BCVA =15-letter loss (p=0.0021)
compared to sham. The persistent 215-letter BCVA loss through month 12 hazard was completedreduced 72% in early 2022,the
monthly (p=0.006) and initial data 48% in the every other month (p=0.064) arms. Protection from vision loss was also shown in multiple
additional prespecified measures of BCVA and visual function, including LLVA and LLVD. ANXO007’s treatment effect increased over the
treatment-period course of the on-treatment portion of the trial are anticipated in study, suggesting that ANX007 may provide a growing
and durable treatment effect over time. While benefit gained against vision lost was maintained during the first half of 2023, with full data
after the conclusion of the subsequent six-month off-treatment period, anticipated the rate of decline for BCVA = 15-letter vision began to

parallel that of sham, providing additional support for the observed on-treatment protection.

The primary endpoint of mean rate of change (slope) in GA lesion area compared to sham at 12 months did not reach statistical
significance. A 6.2% reduction in lesion growth was observed in the monthly treatment group (p=0.526), with greater impact on retinal
pigment epithelium loss in the second 6 months of treatment (11%; p=0.27) vs the first (1%). Consistent with its proposed mechanism,

ANXO007 reduced photoreceptor ellipsoid zone loss by 33% at month 12 (as observed completer data; p=0.038).

ANXO007 treatment was generally well-tolerated, with no increase in choroidal neovascularization (CNV) rates between the treated

and sham arms and no events of retinal vasculitis reported.

Global Pivotal Program of ANX007 in GA

In December 2023, we announced FDA alignment on a Phase 3 registration program for ANX007 in GA using, for the first-time,

the prevention of >15-letter loss of BCVA as the primary outcome measure.

We plan to initiate the Phase 3 ARCHER |l trial in mid-2024, a global sham-controlled trial designed to confirm the results from the
Phase 2 ARCHER trial. The ARCHER II trial will enroll approximately 400 patients with GA, who will be randomized 1:1 to receive a
monthly dose of ANX0O7 or sham. The primary endpoint will be the prevention of >15-letter loss of BCVA in patients assessed through
12 months. We also plan to initiate the Phase 3 ARROW trial in late 2024, an injection-controlled head-to-head study against
SYFOVRE® (pegcetacoplan injection) with the potential to underscore ANX007’s unique mechanism of action and critical differentiation
on visual function. The ARROW trial will enroll approximately 500 patients with GA, who will be randomized 1:1 to receive a monthly
dose of ANX007 or SYFOVRE®. ANXO0O07 is the first therapeutic candidate for the treatment of GA to receive Priority Medicine (PRIME)
designation by the end EMA, which provides early and proactive support to developers of 2023. promising medicines that may offer a

major therapeutic advantage over existing treatments or benefit to patients without treatment options.

ANX1502
Overview of ANX1502

ANX1502 is a novel small molecule inhibitor of classical complement designed for oral administration in a range of chronic
autoimmune diseases. ANX1502 converts to the active compound, ANX1439, on administration and delivers a highly potent and
selective inhibitor of the activated form of Cls—part of the C1 complex that initiates the classical pathway. The active compound has

been shown to have a high affinity to C1ls and demonstrate a robust functional inhibition of the classical pathway.
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Role of C1s in Complement-Mediated Autoimmune Diseases
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The C1 complex is responsible for the activation of the classical pathway and is comprised of C1r, C1ls and Clq. As part of the
disease process, once activated, C1s is responsible for cleaving C4 and C2, key amplification components of the classical cascade. We
believe that by stopping C1s from cleaving C4 and C2 with ANX1502, we will be able to block the classical cascade to reduce levels of

inflammation, slow disease progression and potentially impact disease outcomes for patients.
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Ongoing Phase 1 SAD SAD/MAD Trial of ANX1502

We are evaluating ANX1502 in an ongoing completed the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 1 SAD trial in
healthy volunteers. In the SAD trial, a single dose of 450 mg has achieved target drug levels in plasma in patients, consistent with twice-
daily dosing as of October 23, 2022. Additionally, ANX1502 has been generally well-tolerated.
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The SAD trial is ongoing to identify the maximum tolerated dose, and in parallel we are conducting a SAD/MAD trial of ANX1502
to assess the safety, tolerability, PK and PD of ANX1502 liquid suspension formulation in healthy volunteers. We believe these efforts to
characterize dosing properties adults. The study evaluated single ascending doses of ANX1502 will lead ranging from 25 mg to 1050 mg
(6 patients treated with ANX1502 plus 2 placebo subjects per cohort) and multiple ascending doses of ANX1502 ranging from 200 mg
twice-daily to 525 mg twice-daily (9 patients treated with ANX1502 plus 3 placebo subjects per cohort).

In the SAD/MAD study, dose-proportional PK and targeted levels of active drug were observed across both cohorts, and single
doses of 525-1025 mg ANX1502 suppressed C4d serum levels in healthy volunteers with higher than median baseline C4d. Across all
doses evaluated, ANX1502 was generally well tolerated with mild to moderate treatment-emergent adverse events (TEAESs), which
included gastro-intestinal events such as nausea, emesis and diarrhea. No serious adverse events were reported, and there were no
significant clinical or lab findings.

Ongoing Development of ANX1502 in Autoimmune Diseases

We plan to advance a tablet formation of ANX1502 into a proof-of-concept study designed to assess PD and efficacy in patients
with cold agglutinin disease, or CAD, in the first half of 2024, with data expected in the second half of 2023, which is supported by
positive data generated by 2024.
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Following the successful completion of the proof-of-concept study, we intend to evaluate ANX1502 in serious complement-
mediated autoimmune diseases with the aim of providing enhanced efficacy and offering convenient dosing administration for long-term

treatment of chronic conditions.

Our Next Wave Programs
ANXO005 in CAD patients in for Huntington’s Disease

In June 2022, we completed a Phase 2 signal-finding trial. We also plan to expand development into additional autoimmune
indications with strong scientific rationale, including MMN, in the first half trial of 2024.

Development of ANX1502 for Autoimmune Disease
ANX1502 for Cold Agglutinin Disease (CAD)

Autoimmune hemolytic anemias, or AIHA, are characterized by the presence of auto-antibodies that bind red blood cells and
activate the classical complement pathway. The temperature at which these auto-antibodies bind to red blood cells determines whether
the hemolytic anemia is labeled “cold” or “warm.” In both cases, the antibodies trigger classical complement activation, which tags red
blood cells with complement components (e.g., C3d and C4d) for removal in the spleen or liver (via extra-vascular hemolysis) or, less
commonly, leads to their direct lysis within blood vessels by the C5b-9 membrane attack complex (intravascular hemolysis). There are
no approved treatments for AIHA in the United States; however, blood transfusions, steroids, rituximab, chemotherapies and
splenectomies are currently used to treat patients with AIHA. It is estimated that up to 30% of patients require second-line treatment
when treated with the standard of care treatment and approximately 11% of cases after symptom onset result in death.

23

CAD is a form of AIHA that affects approximately 5,000 people in the United States. We evaluated ANX005 in a Phase 2 study in
patients with CAD HD (28 patients were enrolled with safety data measured from all 28 patients and efficacy data measured from 23
patients that completed both six-months of treatment and subsequent three-month follow-up period), which showed (n=3) that treatment
with ANX005 was generally well tolerated for up to one year, the longest treatment duration of ANX005 to date. Additionally, ANX005
achieved well-tolerated, with full target engagement completely inhibitingof C1q in both serum and downstream CSF observed
throughout the six-month treatment period and well into the three-month follow-up period. Disease progression stabilized for the entire
nine months of the study, as assessed by both Composite Unified Huntington's Disease Rating Scale, or cUHDRS, and Total Functional
Capacity, or TFC, the two primary clinical measurement scales for HD. Additionally, HD patients with higher baseline complement
components —activity, as measured by elevated levels of C4a/C4 in CSF, demonstrated a rapid clinical benefit as early as week 6, as
assessed by both cUHDRS and TFC, that was sustained over the entire nine months of the study. Plasma and CSF NfL levels remained
generally consistent with ANX005 through the nine-month study and were comparable to NfL levels described in other indications, and

positive outcomes were observed in all CAD published natural history data for HD patients.
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Based on these data, findings and productive engagement with the FDA, we plan to initiate a proof-of-concept study with
ANX1502 are assessing opportunities for late-stage development of ANXO005 in patients with CAD in 2023. HD.

ANX1502 for Multifocal Motor Neuropathy (MMN) 13

MMN is a slowly progressing motor neuropathy disease characterized by progressive asymmetric distal weakness and muscle
wasting over time. There are approximately 12,000 people affected by MMN in the United States and EU, and the disease primarily
affects middle-aged men. The disease is driven by complement-activating autoantibodies against GM1, a ganglioside enriched in
peripheral nerves, and is most often characterized by a motor nerve conduction block. Patients are often treated with 1VIg; however,

progressive nerve damage continues, and patients will require life-long and time-consuming treatment.

18
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There is a strong rationale for C1 inhibition as a therapy for MMN. As part of the disease process, when anti-GM-1 ganglioside
antibodies bind to peripheral nerves, Clq, C4b and C3b deposit on the nerve surface and contribute to progressive nerve damage.
Complement deposition can be measured in an ex vivo assay using patient serum exposed to purified GM-1 on an assay plate (Figure
below, left panel), and the degree of complement deposition activity

24

correlates with the patients’ disease severity (middle panel). Blocking C1q activity protects against damage on cultured neurons in the
presence of MMN autoantibodies (right panel).
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Based on this scientific rationale, we plan to initiate a randomized, double-blind trial assessing the
efficacy of ANX1502 compared to 1VIg in the first half of 2024. The trial will be designed to assess the safety and tolerability of ANX1502
in the MMN patient population. We will plan to assess measures of peripheral muscle strength using Medical Research Council sum

score to evaluate global muscle strength, as well as hand-held dynamometry and patient function.
Our Additional Programs

ANXO005 for ALS

Overview We completed a Phase 2a signal-finding trial evaluating ANX005 in patients with ALS, designed to assess safety,

tolerability, and target engagement (13 patients were enrolled and treated for 12 weeks, of ALS

ALS is a devastatingwhich 7 patients continued on treatment for 24 weeks). Chronic dosing of ANX005 was generally well-

tolerated, showed rapid and sustained target engagement of C1q in blood, and reduced downstream pharmacodynamic complement
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markers in blood. Consistent with what has been shown in other neurodegenerative diseasediseases, including HD, exploratory
analyses indicated that patients with no disease modifying treatment that affects about 30,000 patients worldwide. There are rare familial
forms of ALS (e.g., due to DNA mutations in the SOD1 and C9ORF72 genes), but the majority of ALS cases are considered sporadic.
The disease is a motor neuron disease impacting both the central and peripheral nervous systems. ALS causes progressive weakness
of muscles involved in limb movement, respiratory activity, swallowing and speaking. Death typically occurs within two to five years after

symptom onset. There is evidence that neurodegeneration involves both central and peripheral synapses. The NMJ is a specialized

25

synapse between peripheral motor nerve and muscle fiber. As illustrated below, “dying back” of the peripheral nerve in ALS is
associated with C1q /higher baseline classical complement deposition activation who enrolled within 12 months of diagnosis achieved
better outcomes, including less functional decline on the NMJ.
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Clq involvement Revised Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale (ALSFRS-R) and stabilization of neurofilament
light chain (NfL). These analyses support a precision medicine approach to identify patients most likely to respond to anti-C1q

therapy in clinical trials with recently diagnosed ALS

C1q and classical pathway activation is patients who have elevated in ALS patients. Specifically, C1q deposition has been noted
in NMJs and C4d levels are increased in the CSF of ALS patients.

As shown below in a third-party preclinical model of ALS, muscle baseline levels of C1q (at NMJs) increased with age (left panel)
and were observed classical complement activity. We plan to correlate with decline in muscle strength (right panel).
l#./0000950170-23-006232img134458515_34.jpg

Our goal with our C1q inhibitor is to prevent both submit the central and peripheral loss of synapses. Of note, there is significant
overlap in the peripheral nerve structures that are involved in both GBS and ALS; therefore, we believe our ANX005 pharmacokinetics

and pharmacodynamics data in GBS patients can be extrapolated to ALS patients.

Likewise, in an experimental model of SMA, another disease with both central and peripheral aspects of nerve damage, we found
that treatment with anti-C1q antibody (mouse precursor of ANX005) protected against synapse loss and improved motor function. The
same peripheral nerve pathway is involved in GBS and ALS, as illustrated below.

26

The same peripheral nerve pathway is involved in GBS and ALS
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NfL is elevated in ALS patients

ALS patients have substantial elevations of NfL in both CSF and serum compared with controls and pre-symptomatic mutation
carriers. In ALS patients, serum levels of NfL have been observed to increase in the year prior to onset of disease symptoms (see
below). In addition, it has been observed that NfL levels in ALS patients correlated both with current disability and future patient

outcomes.

Serum NfL Elevated in ALS Patients a Year Prior to Symptom Onset
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ANXO005 Preliminary Phase 2a Data

We are currently conducting data for presentation at an open-label Phase 2 trial in ALS patients to evaluate the ability to inhibit
Clq in the CSF and to reduce NfL levels in serum with ANX005. Preliminary data as of a cutoff date of December 6, 2022, from our
ongoing Phase 2a trial (n=8) showed that treatment with ANX0O05 resulted in a reduction in NfL (left panel) and slowing of disease
progression (right panel), as measured by reductions in revised ALS functional rating scores, during the initial 12-week on-treatment
period, followed by an increase in disease progression while off treatment.
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Enrollment in our Phase 2a trial is ongoing with full data expected in 2023.

Lupus Nephritis
Overview of LN and Role of C1q

LN is one of the most serious complications of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). It occurs when the immune system
mistakenly attacks the kidneys, leading to inflammation and possibly to organ damage. Inflammation of the kidneys can harm the ability
of the overall renal system to properly remove waste from blood, maintain the correct amount of body fluids, and regulate hormone
levels for controlling blood pressure and blood volume. LN affects approximately 60,000 people in the United States each upcoming

medical conference later this year.

In active disease, pathogenetic auto-antibodies against C1q (PACAs) enhance LN disease activity by enhancing C1q activity and

amplifying kidney inflammation and damage.

ANXO009 for LN Lupus Nephritis

ANXO009, is designed to potently bind toan investigational C1q in the circulation and selectively inhibit activation of the classical
complement cascade in the blood stream. ANX009 is a Fab formulated for subcutaneous delivery, which was most recently evaluated in
a Phase 1b signal-finding trial using a precision medicine approach for patients with lupus nephritis (LN) who have high baseline
complement activity. LN is an autoimmune disease for which pathogenic anti-C1q antibodies (PACAs) enhance activity and uniquely
amplify kidney inflammation and damage. We designed ANXO009 with a goal of enabling chronic dosing for patients with antibody-
mediated autoimmune diseases disorders where anti-C1q may have a disease-modifying effect and where we can utilize our targeted
biomarker-driven approach. In a first-in-human clinical trial, ANX009 was well-tolerated (7 patients were enrolled, of bloodwhich 6
patients completed treatment) at all dose levels tested and vascular structures. We believe no drug-related safety signals were
observed. The trial showed that ANXO009 led to sustained C1q inhibition at multiple doses, supporting the inhibitory activity of
ANXO009 potential for twice-weekly subcutaneous administration with the current formulation, and its on/off design may
benefitadvancement into the Phase 1b signal-finding trial for patients with hematological autoimmune disorders, including the

glomerular inflammation associated with LN.

Initial results from the Phase 1b trial were presented at the American Society of Nephrology’s Kidney Week 2023 conference,

which showed subcutaneous ANX009 was well tolerated and demonstrated plasma C1q target engagement and complement inhibition.
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Importantly, inhibition of C1q rapidly increased free/circulating PACA levels (consistent with decreased deposition in the kidney) and
improved all downstream markers of complement consumption and activation (C4, as well as C3 and C5b-9). These results indicate that
Clq and the classical pathway are key drivers of complement activation in LN, independent of the alternative and lectin pathways, and
that PACAs are a component of the classical complement activation pathway. Consistent with the short duration of this signal-finding
study (3 weeks), changes in urinary protein excretion were not observed as anticipated. We are evaluating ANX009 as a treatment
option options for a subset of lupus nephritis patients who are at a high risk of renal flare due to pathogenic anti-C1q antibodies in the
circulation, and who we believe may respond to treatment with our anti-C1q approach. Importantly, we are taking a precision medicine
approach for patients with LN who have high baseline complement activity, and we have identified a potential plasma biomarker that

identifies lupus nephritis patients with ongoing early classical complement cascade activation.
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We have observed that daily subcutaneous administration of ANXO009 fully inhibited C1qg functional activity in the serum of non-

human primates. Its activity occurred rapidly after the first dose and this activity rapidly reversed after dosing was stopped.
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A Phase 1 first-in-human clinical trial was completed in 2021 and data showed that ANX009 was well-tolerated, consistent with
preclinical toxicology studies, and demonstrated complete and sustained inhibition of circulating C1q, supporting potential twice-weekly
subcutaneous administration.
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Ongoing Development of ANX009 for LN

We are evaluating ANX009 in an ongoing Phase 1b signal-finding trial designed to assess the safety and tolerability future

development of ANX009 in patients with LN, as well as explore impact on complement pharmacodynamic markers,
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exploratory markers of renal tissue damage and clinical function. Enrollment in the trial is ongoing with data anticipated in the first half of
2023.

ANX105
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We are developing our next-generation product candidate, ANX105, an investigational full-length mAb formulated for intravenous
administration. We designed ANX105 to have enhanced dosing and PK properties to enable its use as a chronic treatment for
autoimmune and neurodegenerative diseases. We are evaluating ANX105 in an ongoing Phase 1 SAD trial in healthy volunteers and
expect to report initial clinical data in 2023.LN.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property is critical to our business and we strive to protect it, including by obtaining and maintaining patent
protection in the United States and internationally for our product candidates, new therapeutic approaches and potential indications, and
other inventions that are important to our business. Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietary and intellectual property position by,
among other methods, filing U.S. and foreign patent applications related to our proprietary technology, inventions and improvements that
are important for the development and implementation of our business. We also rely on the skills, knowledge and experience of our
scientific and technical personnel, as well as that of our advisors, consultants and other contractors. To help protect our proprietary
know-how that is not patentable, we rely on confidentiality agreements to protect our interests. We generally require our employees,
consultants, scientific advisors and contractors to enter into confidentiality agreements prohibiting the disclosure of confidential
information and requiring disclosure and assignment to us of the ideas, developments, discoveries and inventions important to our

business.

Our patent portfolio includes patents and patent applications that are licensed to us in whole or in part from a number of partners,
including Stanford University and the University of California, and patents and patent applications that are owned by us. Our proprietary
technology has been primarily developed by in-house research and development programs, and to a lesser extent through acquisitions,

relationships with academic research centers and contract research organizations.

14

For our product candidates, we will, in general, initially pursue patent protection covering compositions of matter and methods of
use. Throughout the development of our product candidates, we seek to identify additional means of obtaining patent protection that
would potentially enhance commercial success, including by protecting inventions related to additional methods of use, processes of

making, formulation and dosing regimens.

We hold worldwide development and commercialization rights, including through exclusive licenses, to all of our product
candidates, which allows us to strategically maximize value from our product portfolio over time. Our patent portfolio includes patent

protection for our upstream complement platform and each of our product candidates.

As of January 15, 2023 January 17, 2024, our patent portfolio, including patents licensed from our partners, comprised 1819
different patent families filed in various jurisdictions worldwide. Our patent portfolio includes issued patents and patent applications in the

United States and in other jurisdictions.
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One patent family, which we exclusively license from Stanford University, includes nine granted U.S. patents covering various

methods of treating neurodegeneration and related medical conditions by inhibiting the C1 complex or its components, such as by using
an anti-C1q antibody. The U.S. patents in this family include claims covering uses of ANX005, ANX007, ANX009 and ANX105. These
U.S. patents will expire between 2026 and 2030, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustments of patent term. There are no

pending applications or foreign patents in this family.

Two other patent families, which we own, are directed to anti-C1q antibodies and methods of using them. These families include

five six granted U.S. patents, two pending U.S. patent applications, 1923 granted foreign patents and 2017 pending foreign patent
applications. The U.S. patents in these families cover ANX005, ANX007, ANX009 and ANX105. These patents will expire between 2034

and 2037, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustments of patent term.
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Other patent families that we own include:

one granted U.S. patent, one pending U.S. patent application, three six granted foreign patents, and 1311 pending foreign pi
applications. The granted U.S. patent in this family includes claims directed to antibody fragments of anti-C1q antibodies, inclt
ANXO007 and ANX009. This patent will expire in 2037, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustments of patent term;

one U.S. patent application and one pending Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, application. The pending U.S. patent applic
in this family includes claims directed to anti-C1q antibodies, including ANX105. Patents that may be issued from this family w
expire in 2042, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustments of patent term;

one pending U.S. patentPCT application. The pending U.S. patentPCT application in this family includes claims coveri
pharmaceutical formulation comprising anti-C1q antibodies, including ANX005, ANX007, ANX009 and ANX105. Patents that
be issued from this family would expire in 2043, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustments of patent term;

one granted U.S. patent, one pending U.S. patent application, one pending PCT application, and six36 pending foreign p
applications. The pending granted U.S. patent application in this family includes claims covering certain small molecule modul
of the classical pathway, including ANX1502. This patent will expire in 2041, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustmer
patent term. Patents that may be issued from this familythese applications would expire in 2041, absent any disclain
extensions or adjustments of patent term; and

one pending U.S. patent application and one pending PCT application. The pending PCT U.S. patent application in this
family includes claims covering certain small molecule modulators of the classical pathway. Patents that may be issued from
this family would expire in 2043, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustments of patent term; and

two pending U.S. patent applications. The pending U.S. patent applications in this family include claims covering certain met
of treatment relating to a small molecule modulator of the classical
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pathway. Patents that may be issued from this family would expire in 2044, absent any disclaimers, extensions or adjustmer
patent term.
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Our patent portfolio also includes ten patent families, owned by us solely or jointly with the University of California or The J. David
Gladstone Institutes or Fondazione Telthon Telethon and Universitia degla Universita’ degli Studi di Trento, directed to the treatment of
certain medical conditions using anti-C1q antibodies, including ANX005, ANX007, ANX009 and ANX105. These families include six
pending U.S. patent applications, one granted foreign patent, 2350 pending foreign patent applications, and four pending PCT
applications. Patents that may be issued from these applications would expire between 2034 and 2043, absent any disclaimers,

extensions or adjustments of patent term.

Exclusive (Equity) Agreement with The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University

In November 2011, we and The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University, or Stanford, entered into an exclusive
licensing agreement, or the Stanford Agreement. Under the Stanford Agreement, Stanford granted to us an exclusive, worldwide,
royalty-bearing, sublicensable license, under certain patent rights, or the Licensed Patents, to make, use, offer for sale, sell, import and
otherwise commercialize products covered by the Licensed Patents for human or animal diseases, disorders or conditions. We are

required to meet certain development and funding diligence milestones for the licensed products.

Under the Stanford Agreement, we are obligated to pay Stanford an upfront payment, license maintenance fees ranging from the
single digit to tens of thousands of dollars per year, and milestone payments totaling up to $675,000. We also agreed to make royalty
payments at a rate equal to a low single-digit percentage of worldwide net sales of licensed products and a portion of certain
sublicensing income we receive from sublicensees at a rate in the low double digit percentages, subject to a specified maximum total

payment.

Additionally, in accordance with the terms of the Stanford Agreement, upon closing our first financing event that raised at least
$2.0 million, we granted Stanford $150,000 in shares of our redeemable convertible preferred stock. stock, which were automatically
converted into shares of our common stock prior to the completion of the initial public offering, or IPO, in July 2020. We may also have

to pay a fee to Stanford if we assign our rights under the Stanford Agreement to a third party.

We may terminate the Stanford Agreement in its entirety, or as to a particular Licensed Patent or licensed product, for
convenience on thirty days’ prior written notice. Stanford may terminate the Stanford Agreement for our breach that remains uncured for
forty-five days or if we provide any false report, are delinquent on any report or payment, fail to achieve a milestone or fail to diligently

develop and commercialize a licensed product.
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Patent Term and Term Extensions

The terms of individual patents are determined based primarily on the filing date of the earliest non-provisional patent application
to which a claim of priority is made or the date of patent issuance and the legal term of patents in the countries in which they are
obtained. Generally, utility patents issued for applications filed in the United States are granted a term of 20 years from the filing date of
the earliest non-provisional patent application to which a claim of priority is made. In addition, in certain instances, the term of a U.S.
patent can be extended to recapture a portion of the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, delay in issuing the patent
as well as a portion of the term effectively lost as a result of the FDA regulatory review period. However, as to the FDA component, the
restoration period cannot be longer than five years and the restoration period cannot extend the patent term beyond 14 years from FDA
approval for the product covered by that patent. In addition, only one patent applicable to an approved drug may receive the extension,
and the extension applies only to coverage for the approved drug, methods for using it and methods of manufacturing it, even if the

claims cover other products or product candidates. Where one patent covers multiple products or product candidates, it may only
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receive an extension for one of the covered products; any extension related to a second product or product candidate must be applied to
a different patent. The duration of foreign patents varies in accordance with provisions of applicable local law, but typically is also 20
years from filing date of the earliest non-provisional patent application to which a claim of priority is made, such as a PCT application. All
taxes, annuities or maintenance fees for a patent, as required by the USPTO and various foreign jurisdictions, must be timely paid in

order for the patent to remain in force during this period of time.
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The actual protection afforded by a patent may vary on a product by product basis, from country to country, and can depend upon
many factors, including the type of patent, the scope of its coverage, the availability of regulatory-related extensions and the availability

of legal remedies in a particular country and the validity and enforceability of the patent.

Our patents and patent applications may be subject to procedural or legal challenges by others. We may be unable to obtain,
maintain and protect the intellectual property rights necessary to conduct our business, and we may be subject to claims that we infringe
or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of others, which could materially harm our business. For more information, see the

section titled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property.”

Trademarks and Know-How

In connection with the ongoing development and advancement of our products and services in the United States and various
international jurisdictions, we seek to create protection for our marks and enhance their value by pursuing trademarks and service marks
where available and when appropriate. In addition to patent and trademark protection, we rely upon know-how and continuing
technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect our proprietary information, in part, by
using confidentiality agreements with our commercial partners, collaborators, employees and consultants, and invention assignment
agreements with our employees and consultants. These agreements are designed to protect our proprietary information and, in the case
of the invention assignment agreements, to grant us ownership of technologies that are developed by our employees and through
relationships with third parties. These agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In
addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. To the extent that our
contractors, commercial partners, collaborators, employees and consultants use intellectual property owned by others in their work for
us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions. For more information, see the section titled “Risk

Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property.”

Sales and Marketing

We hold worldwide commercialization rights, including through exclusive licenses, to our product candidates. Given our stage of
development, we have not yet established a commercial organization or distribution capabilities. Should any of our product candidates

be approved for commercialization, we intend to develop a plan to commercialize them in the United States and other key markets,
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through internal infrastructure and/or external partnerships in a manner that will enable us to realize the full commercial value of our
programs.
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Manufacturing

Our success as a company will depend on our ability to deliver reliable, high-quality preclinical and clinical drug supply. We do not
currently own or operate facilities for product manufacturing, storage and distribution, or testing. We contract with third parties for the
manufacture of our product candidates. Because we rely on contract manufacturers, we employ personnel with extensive technical,
manufacturing, analytical and quality experience. Our staff has strong project management discipline to oversee contract manufacturing

and testing activities, and to compile manufacturing and quality information for our regulatory submissions.

Manufacturing is subject to extensive regulation that imposes various procedural and documentation requirements and that
governs record keeping, manufacturing processes and controls, personnel, quality control and quality assurance, and more. Our
systems and our contractors are required to be in compliance with these regulations, and compliance is assessed regularly through
monitoring of performance and a formal audit program.

Our current supply chains for our lead drug candidates involve several manufacturers that specialize in specific operations of the
manufacturing process, specifically, raw materials manufacturing, drug substance manufacturing and drug product manufacturing. We
currently operate under work order programs for our drug candidates with master services Master Services and Quality agreements in
place that include specific supply timelines, volume and quality specifications. We are in discussions with our current manufacturers

regarding preparation of Biologics License Applications (BLA)
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and Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) in the near future. This involves technology transfers and process validation to establish

commercial manufacturing capabilities.

We intend to establish long-term supply agreements in the future. We believe our current manufacturers have the scale, the
system, and the experience to supply our currently planned clinical trials.

We do not currently require commercial manufacturing capabilities. Should our needs change, we will need to scale up our
manufacturing processes to enable commercial launch. To ensure continuity in our supply chain, we plan to establish supply

arrangements with alternative larger scale suppliers for certain portions of our supply chain, as appropriate.

Competition
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The pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense
competition and a strong emphasis on proprietary products. While we believe that our technology, the expertise of our executive and
scientific team, research, clinical capabilities, development experience and scientific knowledge provide us with competitive advantages,
we face potential competition from many different sources, including pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies,
academic institutions, governmental agencies and public and private research institutions. Product candidates that we successfully

develop and commercialize may compete with existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future.

Our competitors may have significantly greater financial resources, established presence in the market, expertise in research and
development, manufacturing, preclinical and clinical testing, and experience in obtaining regulatory approvals and reimbursement and
marketing approved products than we do. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, sales,
marketing and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring
technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant

competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies.

Guillain-Barré Syndrome

There are currently no approved therapies for GBS in the United States. 1VIg and plasma exchange are the current standards of
care in the Western world and parts of Asia. Currently, two investigational products are in development. Hansa Biopharma AB is
conducting an open label Phase 2 trial of imlifidase in GBS patients in Europe and the United Kingdom. Kingdom for which the Company
released positive topline results in December 2023. AstraZeneca/Alexion completed a Phase 3 trial of SOLIRIS (eculizumab) in Japan

that did not meet its primary endpoint.

Geographic Atrophy

Two treatments are currently FDA-approved for GA, both receiving approval in 2023: Apellis’s Syfovre, a C3 inhibitor as well as
Astellas’s avacincaptad pegol, a C5 inhibitor. There are currently five complement cascade-targeted agents in phase 2 development for
GA: lonis’s IONIS-FB-LR, an antisense molecule inhibitor of Complement Factor B, AstraZeneca’s danicopan, an oral, complement
factor D inhibitor, Janssen’s JNJ 1887, a gene therapy candidate which expresses soluble CD59, a complement protein, Novartis’
iptacopan, and Aviceda Therapeutics’'s AVD-104, a nanoparticle molecule that inhbits complement cascade amplification and
inflammation pathways. Other products that do not target the complement cascade currently in Phase 2 or 3 clinical trials are being
developed by Roche, Alkeus, Belite Bio and Cognition Therapeutics. ONL Therapeutics, Boehringer Ingelheim, Roche and Astellas each
have an asset in Phase 1 of development.

Cold Agglutinin Disease, a type of autoimmune hemolytic anemia

Sanofi's sutimlimab was approved by the FDA for CAD in February 2022.There are currently three investigational agents in clinical
trials for CAD. Novartis’s iptacopan, an oral Factor B inhibitor, is currently in Phase
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2. Apellis’s pegcetacoplan is in Phase 3, being conducted by Apellis's European partner, Swedish Orphan Biovitrum (Sobi). Sanofi is

testing completed a phase | trial of BIVV020 in November 2023 with positive results with a single dose delivery in CAD patients.

18
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Multifocal Motor Neuropathy

Currently, Gammagard Liquid (10% Immune Globulin Infusion (Human)) is the only therapy approved by the FDA for MMN. There
are few agents in development for MMN. Argenx’s empasiprubart (ARGX-117), an IV-delivered C2 inhibitor is in Phase 1 trial.2. Takeda
is conducting a Japan-based Phase 3 trial of TAK-771, a 10% Immune Globulin and Recombinant Human Hyaluronidase (rHUPH20)

delivered as a subcutaneous infusion.

Lupus Nephritis

There are currently two approved medicines specifically for LN: GSK’s Benlysta and Aurinia’s Lupkynis. There are four five agents
in development targeting the complement pathway, allthree in Phase 2 development and two in phase 1 development: AstraZeneca’s
ravulizumab, a C5 inhibitor, and also ALXN2050, vemircopan (ALXN2050), an oral Factor D inhibitor. Omeros is developing narsoplimab,
a MASP-2-targeting monoclonal antibody, and inhibitor are currently in Phase 2. Novartis is developing iptacopan, an oral factor B
inhibitor. inhibitor, also in phase 2. In phase 1, are Roche’s crovalimab, a C5-targeting, subcutaneous administration monoclonal
antibody and AstraZeneca’s 3™ generation, subcutaneously administered C5 inhibitor, gefurulimab, which is being tested specifically for
proteinuria. Outside of the complement pathway, there are currently five four agents in Phase 3 development for adults with lupus:
Roche’s obinutuzumab, Novartis’s secukinumab and ianalumab, AstraZeneca's anifrolumab and Vera Therapeutics's
ataticept. atacicept. Additionally, Aurinia Pharmaceuticals Pharmaceuticals’'s voclosporin is planning to startin a phase 3 trial of
voclosporin in adolescents with lupus nephritis.

Huntington’s Disease

There are no approved disease-modifying therapies for HD. Multiple companies are developing potentially disease-modifying
therapies, including, Prilenia’s Pridopidine Sage Therapeutics’s SAGE-718 in Phase 3, PTC Therapeutics’s PTC518 in Phase 2, Sage
Therapeutics's SAGE-718 in Phase 2, and uniQure’s gene therapy candidate, AMT-130 in Phase 1/2. Roche recently initiated a Phase
2, study ofand Roche’s tominersen in prodromal or early manifest HD patients aged 25-50.25-50 in phase 2. Additional early-stage
products in development are AskBio’s BV-101 candidate gene therapy in Phasel/2, and Wave Life Sciences’'s WVE-003 in Phase 1/2,
and Vico Therapeutics’s V0659 in Phase 1/2.

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

The drugs riluzole and Radicava (edaravone) are currently approved for the treatment of ALS and have shown modest effects in
slowing the progression of the disease. Amylyx’s Albrioza Relyvrio (AMX0035) was approved by the FDA in September 2022 and has
shown a survival benefit among patients for people living with ALS. Zilucoplan, a C5a inhibitor from UCB, isALS but remains under
review with regulatory authorities in @2024 following an unsuccessful Phase 2/3 study as a part of trial. Biogen’s Qalsody (tofersen) was
approved by the HEALEY ALS platform trial. Apellis has also initiated a Phase 2 study with APL-2, their C3-inhibitor. Another nine FDA
in April 2023 specifically for SOD1-ALS. There are currently no additional complement-targeted therapies in clinical trials. Six

investigational agents are currently in Phase 3 development. There are a significant number of companies conducting earlier-stage
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clinical trials in ALS patients, including lonis, NurOwn, Biohaven, Prilenia, Cytokinetics BrainStorm Therapeutic, Abbvie, Biogen, and

others.

Geographic Atrophy

One FDA-approved treatment is currently available for GA, Apellis’s Syfovre, a C3 inhibitor, which was also filed in the European
Union in December 2022. Iveric Bio’s avacincaptad pegol, a C5 inhibitor, was filed by the FDA with a Prescription Drug User Fee Act
goal date of October 2023. Other complement cascade-targeted agents in development are lonis’s IONIS-FB-LR, an antisense molecule
inhibitor of Complement Factor B in a Phase 2 trial; AstraZeneca’s danicopan, an oral, complement factor D inhibitor in a Phase 2 trial. A
Phase | trial of JNJ 1887, Janssen'’s investigational gene therapy expressing soluble CD59, has recently been completed with positive
results. Complement-directed therapies in clinical development for genetically selected patient populations include GT005, a Factor |
gene therapy in Phase 2 development by Gyroscope (recently acquired by Novartis). Other products that do not target the complement
cascade currently in Phase 2 or 3 clinical trials are being developed by Roche, Alkeus, Allegro, and Regenerative Patch Technologies.

ONL Therapeutics and Astellas each have an asset in Phase 1 of development.

Multifocal Motor Neuropathy

Currently, Gammagard Liquid (10% Immune Globulin Infusion (Human)) is the only therapy approved by the FDA for MMN. There
are few agents in development for MMN. Argenx’s ARGX-117, an IV-delivered C2 inhibitor is in Phase 2. Takeda is conducting a Japan-
based Phase 3 ftrial of TAK-771, a 10% Immune Globulin and Recombinant Human Hyaluronidase (rHuPH20) delivered as a

subcutaneous infusion.
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Government Regulation

The FDA and other regulatory authorities at federal, state and local levels, as well as in foreign countries, extensively regulate,
among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, quality control, import, export, safety, effectiveness, labeling,
packaging, storage, distribution, record keeping, approval, advertising, promotion, marketing, post-approval monitoring and post-
approval reporting of product candidates such as those we are developing. A new drug must be approved by the FDA through the
ND, NDA process and a new biologic must be approved by the FDA through the biologics license application, or BLA, process before it
may be legally marketed in the United States. We, along with third-party contractors, will be required to navigate the various preclinical,
clinical manufacturing and commercial approval requirements of the governing regulatory agencies of the countries in which we wish to
conduct studies or seek approval or licensure of our product candidates. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the
subsequent compliance with applicable federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial
time and financial resources.

U.S. Biologics Regulation

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and in the case of

biologics, also under the Public Health Service Act, or PHSA, and their implementing regulations. The
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process required by the FDA before a drug or biologic may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following:

. completion of preclinical laboratory tests and animal studies performed in accordance with the FDA's Good Laboratory Pra
requirements, or GLP requirements and other applicable regulations;

. submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug application, or IND, which must become effective before clinical trials
begin;

. approval by an institutional review board, or IRB, or ethics committee, or EC, at each clinical site before the trial is commenc:
such site;

. performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with Good Clinical Practice, or GCP,

requirements to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug, or the safety, purity and potency of the proposed
biologic for its intended purpose;

. preparation of and submission to the FDA of an NDA or BLA after completion of all required clinical trials;

. satisfactory completion of an FDA Advisory Committee review, if applicable;

. a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of an NDA or BLA whether to file the application for review;

. satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the proposed drt

biologic is produced to assess compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs, and to assure that the facil
methods and controls are adequate to preserve the product’'s continued safety, purity and potency, and of selected cli
investigation sites to assess compliance with GCP; and

. FDA review and approval of the BLA or NDA to permit commercial marketing of the product for specific indication(s) for use il
United States.

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as well as animal studies to assess
potential safety and efficacy. Prior to beginning the first clinical trial with a product candidate in the United States, a sponsor must submit
an IND to the FDA, which is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational new drug product to humans. The
central focus of an IND submission is on the general investigational plan and the protocol(s) for the proposed clinical trial(s). The IND
also includes results of animal and in vitro studies assessing the toxicology, pharmacokinetics, pharmacology and pharmacodynamic
characteristics of the product; chemistry, manufacturing and controls information; and any available human data or literature to support
the use of the investigational product. An IND must become effective before human clinical trials may begin. The IND automatically goes

into effect 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-day time period,
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raises safety concerns or questions about the proposed clinical trial. In such a case, the IND may be placed on clinical hold and the IND
sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before the clinical trial can begin. Submission of an IND

therefore may or may not result in FDA authorization to begin a clinical trial.

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational product to human subjects under the supervision of qualified
investigators in accordance with GCP, which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for their

participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the study,
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the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. A separate submission to the existing IND
must be made for each successive clinical trial conducted during product development and for any subsequent protocol amendments.
While the IND is active, progress reports summarizing the results of the clinical trials and nonclinical studies performed since the last
progress report, among other information, must be submitted at least annually to the FDA, and written IND safety reports must be
submitted to the FDA and investigators for serious and unexpected suspected adverse events, findings from other studies suggesting a
significant risk to humans exposed to the same or similar drugs, findings from animal or in vitro testing suggesting a significant risk to
humans, and any clinically important increased incidence of a serious suspected adverse reaction compared to that listed in the protocol

or investigator brochure.
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Furthermore, an independent IRB or EC for each site proposing to conduct the clinical trial must review and approve the plan for
any clinical trial and its informed consent form before the clinical trial begins at that site, and must monitor the trial until completed. Some
studies also include oversight by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor, known as a Data
Safety Monitoring Board, which provides authorization for whether or not a trial may move forward at designated check points based on
access to certain data from the study and may halt the clinical trial if it determines that there is an unacceptable safety risk for subjects
or other grounds, such as no demonstration of efficacy. Regulatory authorities, the IRB/ethics committee or the sponsor may suspend a
clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk or that
the trial is unlikely to meet its stated objective(s). There are also requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and

clinical trial results to public registries.

For purposes of BLA or NDA approval, human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or

be combined:

. Phase 1—The investigational product is initially introduced into healthy human subjects or patients with the target diseas
condition. These trials are designed to test the safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism and distribution of
investigational product in humans, the side effects associated with increasing doses, and, if possible, to gain early evidenc
effectiveness.

. Phase 2—The investigational product is administered to a limited patient population with a specified disease or conditic
evaluate the preliminary efficacy, optimal dosages and dosing schedule and to identify possible adverse side effects and s
risks. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted to obtain information prior to beginning larger and more expensive Phe
clinical trials.

. Phase 3—The investigational product is administered to an expanded patient population to further evaluate dosage, to prc
statistically significant evidence of clinical efficacy and to further test for safety, generally at multiple geographically dispe
clinical trial sites. These clinical trials are intended to establish the overall risk/benefit ratio of the investigational product ar
provide an adequate basis for product approval.
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In some cases, the FDA may require, or companies may voluntarily pursue, additional clinical trials after a product is approved to

gain more information about the product. These so-called Phase 4 trials may also be made a condition to approval of the BLA or NDA.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies may complete additional animal studies and develop additional information about the
biological characteristics of the product candidate and must finalize a process for manufacturing the product in commercial quantities in
accordance with cGMPs. The manufacturing process must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the product candidate
and, among other things, must develop methods for testing the identity, strength, quality and purity of the final product. Additionally,

appropriate packaging must be

36

selected and tested and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the product candidate does not undergo unacceptable

deterioration over its shelf life.

FDA Review and Approval Process

Assuming successful completion of all required testing in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements, the results of
product development, nonclinical studies and clinical trials are submitted to the FDA as part of a BLA or NDA requesting approval to
market the product candidate for one or more indications. The BLA or NDA must include all relevant data available from preclinical
studies and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results as well as positive findings, together with detailed information relating
to the product's chemistry, manufacturing, controls and proposed labeling, among other things. Data can come from company-
sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and effectiveness of a use of the product candidate or from a number of alternative
sources, including studies and trials initiated by investigators. The submission of a BLA or NDA requires payment of a substantial user
fee to the FDA, and the sponsor of an approved BLA or NDA is also subject to an annual program fee. A waiver of user fees may be
obtained under certain limited circumstances. Additionally, no user fees are assessed on BLAs or NDAs for products designated as

Orphan Drugs, unless the application also seeks a non-orphan-designated indication.
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Within 60 days following submission of the application, the FDA reviews a BLA or NDA submitted to determine if it is substantially
complete before the FDA accepts it for filing. The FDA may refuse to file any BLA or NDA that it deems incomplete or not properly
reviewable at the time of submission and may request additional information. In this event, the Sponsor may meet with the FDA to
confirm the additional information required to resubmit the BLA or NDA. Once a BLA or NDA has been accepted for filing, the FDA's
goal is to review standard applications within ten months after it accepts the application for filing, or, if the application qualifies for priority
review, six months after the filing date. Priority review designation will direct overall attention and resources to the evaluation of
applications for products that, if approved, would represent significant improvements in the safety or effectiveness of the treatment,

diagnosis or prevention of serious conditions. In both standard and priority reviews, the review process is often significantly extended by
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FDA requests for additional information or clarification. The FDA reviews an NDA to determine, among other things, whether a product is
safe and effective for its intended use and whether its manufacturing is cGMP-compliant to assure and preserve the product’s identity,
strength, quality and purity. The FDA reviews a BLA to determine, among other things, whether a product is safe, pure and potent and
the facilities in which it is manufactured, processed, packed or held meet standards designed to assure the product’s continued safety,
purity and potency. The FDA may also convene a public Advisory Committee to provide additional expert insight on application review
questions. The FDA is not bound by recommendations of an Advisory Committee, but it considers such recommendations when making

decisions regarding approval.

Before approving a BLA or NDA, the FDA will typically inspect the facility or facilities where the product candidate is
manufactured. The FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in
compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product candidate within required
specifications. Additionally, before approving a BLA or NDA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites and/or the sponsor’s

offices sponsor to assure compliance with GCP.

After the FDA evaluates a BLA or NDA and conducts inspections of clinical trial sites and manufacturing facilities where the
investigational product and/or its drug substance will be produced, the FDA may issue an Approval Letter or a Complete Response
Letter. An Approval Letter authorizes commercial marketing of the product with specific prescribing information for specific indications. A
Complete Response Letter indicates that the BLA or NDA is not ready for approval in its present form and ends the current review cycle,
and will describe all of the deficiencies that the FDA has identified in the BLA or NDA. The FDA may issue the Complete Response
Letter without first conducting required inspections, testing submitted product lots, and/or reviewing proposed labeling. In issuing the
Complete Response Letter, the FDA may recommend actions that the applicant might take to place the BLA or NDA in condition for
approval, including requests for additional information or clarification. The FDA may delay or refuse approval of a BLA or NDA if
applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied, require additional testing or information and/or require post-marketing testing and

surveillance to monitor safety or efficacy of a product.

If regulatory approval of a product is granted, such approval will be granted for particular indications and may entail limitations on
the indicated uses for which such product may be marketed. Additionally, the FDA may approve
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a BLA or NDA with a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, to ensure the benefits of the product outweigh its risks. A REMS
is a safety strategy to manage a known or potential serious risk associated with a medicine and to enable patients to have continued
access to such medicines by managing their safe use, and could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or
elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries, and other risk minimization tools. Once
approved, the FDA may withdraw the product approval if compliance with pre- and post- marketing requirements is not maintained or if
problems occur after the product reaches the marketplace. The FDA may also require one or more Phase 4 post-marketing studies and
surveillance to further assess and monitor the product’s safety and effectiveness after commercialization, and may limit further marketing
of the product based on the results of these post-marketing studies.

Expedited Development and Review Programs

A sponsor may seek approval of its product candidate under programs designed to accelerate FDA's review and approval of
product candidates that meet certain criteria. Specifically, drugs and biologics s are eligible for Fast Track designation if they are

intended to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the
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disease or condition. For a Fast Track product candidate, the FDA may consider sections of the BLA or NDA for review on a rolling basis
before the complete application is submitted, if the sponsor provides a schedule for the submission of the sections of the application, the
FDA agrees to accept sections of the
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application and determines that the schedule is acceptable and the sponsor pays any required user fees upon submission of the first
section of the application. A BLA or NDA for a Fast Track-designated product candidate may also qualify for priority review, under which
the FDA sets the target date for FDA action on the BLA or NDA at six months after the FDA accepts the application for filing. Priority
review is granted when there is evidence that the product candidate, if approved, would provide a significant improvement in the safety
or effectiveness of the treatment, diagnosis, or prevention of a serious disease or condition. If criteria are not met for priority review, the
application is subject to the standard FDA review period of 10 months after FDA accepts the application for filing.

A product candidate intended to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition may also be eligible for Breakthrough
Therapy designation to expedite its development and review. A product candidate can receive Breakthrough Therapy designation if
preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product candidate, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs or biologics, may
demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial
treatment effects observed early in clinical development. The designation includes all of the Fast Track program features, as well as
more intensive FDA interaction and guidance beginning as early as Phase 1 and an organizational commitment to expedite the

development and review of the product candidate, including involvement of senior reviewers at FDA.

In addition, a product candidate may be eligible for accelerated approval. Drugs and biologics intended to treat serious or life
threatening diseases or conditions may be eligible for accelerated approval upon a determination that the drug or biologic has an effect
on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit or a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than
irreversible morbidity or mortality that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit,
taking into account the severity, rarity or prevalence of the condition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. As a condition
of approval, the FDA generally requires sponsors of products receiving accelerated approval to conduct well-controlled confirmatory
required to verify or characterize the drug or biologic’s predicted clinical benefit. In addition, the FDA currently requires as a condition for
accelerated approval pre-approval of promotional materials, which could adversely impact the timing of the commercial launch of the
product. The FDA may withdraw approval of a product or indication approved under accelerated approval if, for example, the sponsor
fails to conduct any required confirmatory studies in a timely manner, or if such studies fail to verify the predicted clinical benefit of the

product.

Fast Track designation, priority review, accelerated approval and Breakthrough Therapy designation do not change the standards
for approval but may expedite the development or approval process. Even if a product qualifies for one or more of these programs, the
FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for FDA review or
approval will not be shortened.
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Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant Orphan designation to a drug or biologic intended to treat a rare disease or
condition, defined as a disease or condition with a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or a patient
population greater than 200,000 individuals in the United States and when there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing
and making available the biologic in the United States will be recovered from sales in the United States for that drug or biologic. Orphan
Drug designation must be requested before submitting a BLA or NDA. After the FDA grants Orphan Drug designation, the generic
identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan designation does not convey any

advantage in or shorten the duration of the regulatory review and approval requirements or process.

If a product candidate that has Orphan Drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition
for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any
other applications, including a full BLA or NDA, to market the same biologic or chemical entity for the same disease or condition for
seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with Orphan Drug exclusivity or if
the FDA finds that the holder of the Orphan Drug exclusivity has not shown that it can assure the availability of sufficient quantities of the
Orphan Drug to meet the needs of patients with the disease or condition for which the drug was designated. Orphan Drug exclusivity
does not prevent the FDA from approving a different drug or biologic for the same disease or condition, or the same drug or biologic for
a different disease or condition. Among the other benefits of Orphan Drug designation are tax credits for certain research and

development activities and a waiver of the BLA or NDA application user fee.
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A designated Orphan Drug may not receive Orphan Drug exclusivity if it is approved for a use that is broader than the indication
for which it received Orphan designation. In addition, Orphan Drug exclusive marketing rights in the United States may be lost if the FDA
later determines that the request for designation was materially defective or, as noted above, if the second applicant demonstrates that
its product is clinically superior to the approved product with Orphan exclusivity or the manufacturer of the approved product is unable to

assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition.

Post-Approval Requirements

Any drugs or biologics manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation
by the FDA, including, among other things, requirements relating to record-keeping, reporting of adverse experiences, periodic reporting,
product sampling and distribution, and advertising and promotion of the product. After approval, most changes to the approved product,
such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject to prior FDA review and approval. There also are continuing, annual

program fees for any marketed products. Drug and biologic manufacturers and their subcontractors are required to register their
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establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain
state agencies for compliance with cGMPs, which impose certain procedural and documentation requirements upon us and our third-
party manufacturers. Changes to the manufacturing process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the significance of the change,
may require prior FDA approval before being implemented. FDA regulations also require investigation and correction of any deviations
from cGMPs and impose reporting requirements upon us and any third-party manufacturers that we may decide to use. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain compliance with

cGMPs and other aspects of regulatory compliance.

The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur
after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in
revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical studies to assess new
safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include,
among other things:

. restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market, or prc
recalls;
39
. fines, Warning Letters, or untitled enforcement letters;
. clinical holds on clinical studies;
. refusal of the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications, or suspension or revocatic

product approvals;

. product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products;

. consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements, debarment or exclusion from federal healthcare programs;

. mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective information;

. the issuance of safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases and other communications containing warning

other safety information about the product; or

. injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA closely regulates the marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of drugs and biologics. A company can make only
those claims relating to safety and efficacy, purity and potency that are approved by the FDA and in accordance with the provisions of
the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of so-called “off-
label” uses. Failure to comply with these requirements can result in, among other things, adverse publicity, Warning Letters, corrective
advertising and potential civil and
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criminal penalties. Physicians may prescribe legally available products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that
differ from those tested by us and approved by the FDA. Such off-label uses are common across medical specialties. Physicians may
believe that such off-label uses are the best treatment for many patients in varied circumstances. The FDA does not regulate the
behavior of physicians in their choice of treatments. The FDA does, however, restrict manufacturer’s communications on the subject of
off-label use of their products.

Biosimilars and Exclusivity

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, or collectively
the ACA, signed into law in 2010, includes a subtitle called the BPCIA, which created an abbreviated approval pathway for biological
products that are biosimilar to, or interchangeable with, an FDA-licensed reference biological product. The FDA has issued several
guidance documents outlining an approach to review and approval of biosimilars. Biosimilarity, which requires that there be no clinically
meaningful differences between the biological product and the reference product in terms of safety, purity and potency, can be shown
through analytical studies, animal studies and a clinical study or studies. Interchangeability requires that a product is biosimilar to the
reference product and the product must demonstrate that it can be expected to produce the same clinical results as the reference
product in any given patient and, for products that are administered multiple times to an individual, the biologic and the reference
biologic may be alternated or switched after one has been previously administered without increasing safety risks or risks of diminished

efficacy relative to exclusive use of the reference biologic.

Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar product may not be submitted to the FDA until four years following the date that
the reference product was first licensed by the FDA. In addition, the approval of a biosimilar product may not be made effective by the
FDA until 12 years from the date on which the reference product was first licensed. During this 12-year period of exclusivity, another
company may still market a competing version of the reference product if the FDA approves a full BLA for the competing product
containing that applicant’s own preclinical data and data from adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate the safety, purity
and potency of its product. The BPCIA also created certain exclusivity periods for biosimilars approved as interchangeable products. At
this juncture, it is unclear whether products deemed “interchangeable” by the FDA will, in fact, be readily substituted by pharmacies,

which are governed by state pharmacy law.

A biological product can also obtain pediatric market exclusivity in the United States. Pediatric exclusivity, if granted, adds six
months to existing exclusivity periods and patent terms. This six-month exclusivity, which runs from the end of other
exclusivity protection or patent term, may be granted based on the voluntary completion of a pediatric study in accordance
with an FDA-issued “Written Request” for such a study.
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Drug Product Marketing Exclusivity

Market exclusivity provisions authorized under the FDCA can delay the submission or the approval of certain marketing
applications. For example, the FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent data exclusivity within the United States to the first
applicant to obtain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved
any other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the action of the drug substance.
During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not approve or even accept for review an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, or an

NDA submitted under Section 505(b)(2), or 505(b)(2) NDA, submitted by another company for another drug based on the same active
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moiety, regardless of whether the drug is intended for the same indication as the original innovative drug or for another indication, where
the applicant does not own or have a legal right of reference to all the data required for approval. However, an application may be
submitted after four years if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement to one of the patents listed with the FDA by
the innovator NDA holder.

The FDCA alternatively provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, or supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical
investigations, other than bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the FDA to be
essential to the approval of the application, for example new indications, dosages or strengths of an existing drug. This three-year
exclusivity covers only the modification for which the drug received approval on the basis of the new clinical investigations and does not
prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for drugs containing the active agent for the original indication or condition of
use. Five-year and three-year exclusivity will not delay the submission or approval of a full NDA. However, an applicant submitting a full
NDA would be required to conduct or obtain a right of reference to any preclinical studies and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials

necessary to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Pediatric exclusivity is another type of marketing exclusivity available in the United States. Pediatric exclusivity provides for an

additional six months of marketing exclusivity attached to another period of exclusivity if a sponsor
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conducts clinical trials in children in response to a written request from the FDA. The issuance of a written request does not require the
sponsor to undertake the described clinical trials. In addition, orphan drug exclusivity, as described above, may offer a seven-year period

of marketing exclusivity, except in certain circumstances.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

Pharmaceutical companies are subject to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal government and by
authorities in the states and foreign jurisdictions in which they conduct their business. Such laws include, without limitation, U.S. federal
and state fraud and abuse laws, including false claims, civil monetary penalties, consumer protection and transparency laws regarding
drug pricing and payments or other transfers of value made to physicians and other licensed healthcare professionals, as well as similar
foreign laws in the jurisdictions outside the United States. Violation of any of such laws or any other governmental regulations that apply
may result in penalties, including, without limitation, significant administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement,
additional reporting obligations, contractual damages, the curtailment or restructuring of operations, exclusion from participation in

governmental healthcare programs and imprisonment.

Data Privacy and Security Laws
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Numerous state, federal and foreign laws, regulations, and standards govern the collection, use, access to, confidentiality and
security of health-related and other personal information, including clinical trial data, and could apply now or in the future to our
operations or the operations of our partners. In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including data
breach notification laws, health information privacy and security laws and consumer protection laws and regulations govern the
collection, use, disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal information. In addition, certain foreign laws govern the
privacy and security of personal data, including health-related data. For example, the General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR,
imposes strict requirements for processing the personal data of individuals within the European Economic Area, or the EEA. Companies
that must comply with the GDPR face increased compliance obligations and risk, including more robust regulatory enforcement of data
protection requirements and potential fines for noncompliance of up to €20 million or 4% of the annual global revenues of the
noncompliant company, whichever is greater. Further, from January 1, 2021, companies have had to comply with the GDPR and also
the UK GDPR, which, together with the amended UK Data
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Protection Act 2018, retains the GDPR in UK national law. The UK GDPR mirrors the fines under the GDPR, i.e., fines up to the greater
of €20 million (£17.5 million) or 4% of global turnover. Privacy and security laws, regulations, and other obligations are constantly
evolving, may conflict with each other to complicate compliance efforts, and can result in investigations, proceedings, or actions that

lead to significant civil and/or criminal penalties and restrictions on data processing.

Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of any pharmaceutical product depend, in part, on the extent to which such product will be covered by third-party payors,
such as federal, state and foreign government healthcare programs, commercial insurance and managed healthcare organizations, and
the level of reimbursement for such product by third-party payors. No uniform policy exists for coverage and reimbursement for products
exists among U.S. third-party payors. Therefore, decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement to be
provided are made on a plan-by-plan basis. The process for determining whether a third-party payor will provide coverage for a product
typically is separate from the process for setting the price of such product or for establishing the reimbursement rate that the payor will
pay for the product once coverage is approved. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, also
known as a formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved products for a particular indication, or place products at certain
formulary levels that result in lower reimbursement levels and higher cost-sharing obligation imposed on patients. One third-party
payor’s decision to cover a particular medical product or service does not ensure that other payors will also provide coverage for the
medical product or service. As a result, the coverage determination process will often require us to provide scientific and clinical support
for the use of our product candidates to each payor separately and can be a time-consuming process, with no assurance that coverage
and adequate reimbursement will be applied consistently or obtained in the first instance. For products administered under the
supervision of a physician, obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices
often associated with such drugs. Additionally, separate reimbursement for the product itself or the treatment or procedure in which the

product is used may not be available, which may impact physician utilization.
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In international markets, reimbursement and healthcare payment systems vary significantly by country, and many countries have
instituted price ceilings on specific products and therapies. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to
restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A member state may approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead
adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market.
Pharmaceutical products may face competition from lower-priced products in foreign countries that have placed price controls on
pharmaceutical products. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that a product will be considered medically reasonable and
necessary for a specific indication, that a product will be considered cost-effective by third-party payors, that an adequate level of
reimbursement will be established even if coverage is available or that the third-party payor’s reimbursement policies will not adversely

affect the ability to sell a product profitably.

Healthcare Reform

In the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of
legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system. In March 2010, the ACA was signed into law, which substantially changed
the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers in the United States and significantly affected the
pharmaceutical industry. The ACA contains a number of provisions, including those governing enrollment in federal healthcare
programs, reimbursement adjustments and fraud and abuse changes. Additionally, the ACA increased the minimum level of Medicaid
rebates payable by manufacturers of brand name drugs from 15.1% to 23.1%; required collection of rebates for drugs paid by Medicaid
managed care organizations; required manufacturers to participate in a coverage gap discount program, under which they must agree to
offer 70% 70.0% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap
period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D; imposed a non-deductible annual
fee on pharmaceutical manufacturers or importers who sell certain “branded prescription drugs” to specified federal government
programs; implemented a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are
calculated for drugs that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected; expanded eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs; created
a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness

research,

42

along with funding for such research; and established a Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation at CMS to test innovative payment

and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially including prescription drug spending.

Since its enactment, there have been judicial, Congressional and executive branch challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. On
June 17, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed the most recent judicial challenge to the ACA without specifically ruling on the
constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the Supreme Court’'s decision, President Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special
enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021 for purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through the
ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies
and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs
that include work requirements, and policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through
Medicaid or the ACA.
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Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted, including aggregate
reductions of Medicare payments to providers, which will remain in effect through 2032, with the exception of a temporary suspension
from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022, absent additional Congressional action. In addition, on March 11, 2021, the American
Rescue Plan Act of 2021 was signed into law, which eliminates the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap, currently set at 100% 100.0% of

a drug’s average manufacturer price, beginning January 1, 2024.

Moreover, there has recently been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their
marketed products, which has resulted in several Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted legislation designed, among other
things, to bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs and
reform government program reimbursement methodologies for pharmaceutical products. On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction
Act of 2022, or IRA, was signed into law. Among other things, the IRA requires manufacturers of certain drugs to engage in price

negotiations with Medicare (beginning
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(beginning in 2026), imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and Medicare Part D to penalize price increases that outpace inflation (first
due in 2023), and replaces the Part D coverage gap discount program with a new discounting program (beginning in 2025). The IRA
permits the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services to implement many of these provisions through guidance, as
opposed to regulation, for the initial years. For that and other reasons, it is currently unclear how the IRA will be effectuated. Individual
states in the United States have also become increasingly active in implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical
product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing
cost disclosure and transparency measures and, in some cases, mechanisms to encourage importation from other countries and bulk
purchasing. Furthermore, there has been increased interest by third-party payors and governmental authorities in reference pricing

systems and publication of discounts and list prices.

We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the
amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare product candidates and services, which could result in reduced

demand for our product candidates once approved or additional pricing pressures.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had 8071 full-time employees, 6457 of whom were primarily engaged in
research and development activities. A total of 2726 employees have an M.D., Ph.D. or Pharm.D. degree. Most of our employees are

based in our Brisbane, California facility, subject to hybrid and remote work arrangements.

We believe that our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to attract, hire, and retain qualified personnel. We

continue to seek additions to our science and technical staff. Through our experience with technological innovation, we appreciate the
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importance of retention, growth and development of our employees. We believe we offer competitive compensation (including salary,
incentive bonus, and equity) and benefits packages. None of our employees is represented by a labor union, and we consider our

employee relations to be good.
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Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on March 3, 2011. Our principal executive offices are located at
1400 Sierra Point Parkway, Bldg C, Suite 200, Brisbane, California 94005, and our telephone number is (650) 822-5500. Our corporate
website address is www.annexonbio.com. Information contained on, or accessible through, our website shall not be deemed

incorporated into and is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements, and
related amendments, exhibits and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. You may access and
read our filings without charge through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov or through our website at https://ir.annexonbio.com/financial-
information/sec-filings, as soon as reasonably practicable after such materials are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Information contained on,

or accessible through, our website shall not be deemed incorporated into and is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our business involves significant risks, some of which are described below. You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the financial statements and the related
notes. If any of the following risks actually occur, it could harm our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition and
future prospects. In such event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business
operations. This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors that are described below and

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risk Factor Summary
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The following summarizes the most material risks that make an investment in our securities risky or speculative. If any of the following

risks occur or persist, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed and the price of our

common stock could significantly decline.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history and no products approved for comme
sale. We have incurred significant losses since our inception, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losse
the foreseeable future, which, together with our limited operating history, makes it difficult to assess our future viability.

We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when neede
acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development progr
commercialization efforts or other operations.

Our business is heavily dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our prc
candidates, which are in early stages of clinical development.

Public health crises such as pandemics or similar outbreaks have, and could in the future, materially and adversely affec
preclinical and clinical trials, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Research and development of biopharmaceutical products is inherently risky. We cannot give any assurance that any o
product candidates will receive regulatory approval, which is necessary before they can be commercialized.

Adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by, or other unexpected properties of, any of our product candidates coulc
their clinical development, delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit their commercial potential or result in signif
negative consequences.

We rely on third-party suppliers to manufacture our product candidates, and we intend to rely on third parties to pro
commercial supplies of any approved product. The loss of these suppliers, or their failure to comply with applicable reguli
requirements or to provide us with sufficient quantities at acceptable quality levels or prices, or at all, would materially
adversely affect our business.

Any collaboration arrangements that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our a
to develop and commercialize our product candidates.

Our current and any future product candidates or products could be alleged to infringe patent rights and other proprietary rigk
third parties, which may require costly litigation and, if we are not successful, could cause us to pay substantial damages ai
limit our ability to commercialize our products.
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Risks Related to Our Limited Operating History, Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history and no products approved for commercial

sale. We have incurred significant losses since our inception, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur significant

losses for the foreseeable future, which, together with our limited operating history, makes it difficult to assess our future

viability.

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, and we have only a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate

our business and prospects. Biopharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a substantial

degree of risk. We have no products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from sales of our product

candidates and have incurred losses in each year since our inception in March 2011. We have only a limited operating history upon

which you can evaluate our business and prospects. In addition, we have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully overcome

many of the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in new and rapidly evolving fields, particularly in the

pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industry.
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We have had significant operating losses since our inception. Our net loss for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023 and 2021 2022 was approximately $141.9 million $134.2 million and $130.3 million $141.9 million, respectively. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $438.3 million $572.5 million. Substantially all of our losses have resulted
from expenses incurred in connection with our research and development programs and from general and administrative costs
associated with our operations. We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future, and we anticipate these losses will
increase continue as we continue to develop our product candidates, conduct clinical trials and pursue research and development
activities. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods. Our prior losses,
combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working

capital.

We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when
needed on acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development programs,

commercialization efforts or other operations.

Since our inception, we have invested a significant portion of our efforts and financial resources in research and development
activities. Our product candidates will require additional clinical development, and we intend to conduct additional research and
development activities to discover and develop new product candidates, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, all of
which will require substantial additional funds. We will continue to expend significant resources for the foreseeable future in connection
with these activities. These expenditures will include costs associated with conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, obtaining
regulatory approvals and manufacturing and supply, as well as marketing and selling any products approved for sale. In addition, other
unanticipated costs may arise. Because the outcome of any preclinical study or clinical trial is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably
estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates or

any future product candidates.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had capital resources consisting of cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments of approximately $242.7 million $259.7 million. We expect our existing capital resources to fund our planned operating

expenses into 2025. mid-2026. However, our operating plans may change as a result of many factors currently unknown to
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us, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner than planned through public or private equity offerings or debt financings or other
sources, such as strategic collaborations. Such financing may result in dilution to our stockholders, imposition of burdensome debt
covenants and repayment obligations, or other restrictions that may affect our business. In addition, we may seek additional capital due
to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating

plans.
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Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including:

the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing our current product candidates or any other future prc
candidates we choose to pursue, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, and delays related to the COVI
pandemic; trials;

the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining feedback from regulators on our clinical trials and regulatory approvals fo
product candidates or any future product candidates;

the number and characteristics of any additional product candidates we develop or acquire;

the timing and amount of any milestone, royalty and/or other payments we are required to make pursuant to our current or
future license or collaboration agreements;

the cost of manufacturing our product candidates or any future product candidates and any products we succes:
commercialize;

the cost of building a sales force in anticipation of product commercialization;

the cost of commercialization activities of our product candidates, if approved for sale, including marketing, sales and distrib
costs;

our ability to establish strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of any such agreem
including the timing and amount of any future milestone, royalty or other payments due under any such agreement;

any product liability or other lawsuits related to our products;

the expenses needed to attract, hire and retain skilled personnel;

the costs associated with being a public company;

the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing our intellectual property portfolio; and
the timing, receipt and amount of sales of any future approved products; and

the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which may exacerbate the magnitude of the factors discussed above. products.

Additional funds may not be available when we need them, on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. Our ability to raise

additional capital may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global economic conditions, macroeconomic factors, including

recent and potential bank failures, increasing inflation and interest rates, exchange rate fluctuations and supply chain disruptions,

geopolitical conflicts, such as the war in Ukraine and hostilities in the recent Middle East, and disruptions to and volatility in the credit

and financial markets in the United States and worldwide resulting from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. worldwide. If adequate funds

are not available to us on a timely basis, we may be required to:

delay, limit, reduce or terminate preclinical studies, clinical trials or other development activities for our product candidates ol
future product candidate;

delay, limit, reduce or terminate our research and development activities; or

delay, limit, reduce or terminate our efforts to establish manufacturing and sales and marketing capabilities or other activities
may be necessary to commercialize our product candidates or any future product candidate or reduce our flexibility in develc
or maintaining our sales and marketing strategy.

We also could be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborators or others that may require us to relinquish rights

to some of our technologies or product candidates that we would otherwise pursue on our own. We do not expect to realize revenue

from sales of products or royalties from licensed products in the foreseeable future, if at all, and unless and until our product candidates

are clinically tested, approved for commercialization and
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successfully marketed. To date, we have primarily financed our operations through the sale of equity securities and warrants to purchase
our equity securities. We will be required to seek additional funding in the future and currently intend to do so through public or private

equity offerings or debt financings, credit or loan facilities, collaborations or

a7

a combination of one or more of these funding sources. Our ability to raise additional funds will depend on financial, economic and other
factors, many of which are beyond our control. Additional funds may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we raise
additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders will suffer dilution and the terms of any financing may adversely affect the
rights of our stockholders. In addition, as a condition to providing additional funds to us, future investors may demand, and may be
granted, rights superior to those of existing stockholders. Debt financing, if available, is likely to involve restrictive covenants limiting our
flexibility in conducting future business activities, and, in the event of insolvency, debt holders would be repaid before holders of our

equity securities received any distribution of our corporate assets.

Due to the significant resources required for the development of our product candidates, we must prioritize development of
certain product candidates and/or certain disease indications. We may expend our limited resources on candidates or
indications that do not yield a successful product and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more

profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

We are currently focused on developing product candidates to address classical complement-mediated autoimmune and
neurodegenerative diseases. We seek to maintain a process of prioritization and resource allocation among our programs to maintain a
balance between aggressively advancing our product candidates in identified indications time, risk and exploring additional indications or
mechanisms as well as developing future product candidates. However, cost, due to the significant resources required for the
development of our product candidates, candidates. For example, in 2023, based on clinical data, regulatory feedback, and cash runway
considerations, we must focus on specific diseases and disease pathways and decide which product candidates to pursue and the
amount of prioritized our resources to allocate advance ANX005 in GBS, ANX007 in GA and ANX1502 in autoimmune diseases. In
addition, we have designed a two-part global registrational program for ANX007 in GA, including the Phase 3 ARCHER Il global sham-
controlled trial and a second injection-controlled head-to-head study, ARROW, against SYFOVRE®. Our current cash and cash
equivalents are sufficient to each such product candidate.fund our operations into mid-2026. However, we will need to raise additional
capital in order to complete the ARROW trial. If sufficient funding is not available, we may not be able to complete our planned clinical

trials, or on the timelines we currently anticipate, and we may need to redesign, reduce the scope of or terminate some of our programs.

Our decisions concerning the allocation of research, development, collaboration, management and financial resources toward
particular product candidates or therapeutic areas may not lead to the development of any viable commercial product and may divert
resources away from better opportunities. Similarly, any decision to delay, terminate or collaborate with third parties in respect of certain

programs may subsequently also prove to be suboptimal and could cause us to miss valuable opportunities. If we make incorrect
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determinations regarding the viability or market potential of any of our programs or product candidates or misread trends in the
autoimmune or neurodegenerative or pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical or biotechnology industry, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected. As a result, we may fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or
profitable market opportunities, be required to forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or other diseases
and disease pathways that may later prove to have greater commercial potential than those we choose to pursue, or relinquish valuable
rights to such product candidates through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been
advantageous for us to invest additional resources to retain development and commercialization rights.

Conducting a global, two-trial program in GA will be expensive and time consuming, and even if favorable, the FDA and
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from one or both of our trials in our global Phase 3 clinical
program for ANX007.

The ARCHER Il Phase 3 trial is designed to be a global sham-controlled trial and the ARROW trial is expected to be an injection-
controlled head-to-head trial against SYFOVRE®. The FDA has recommended the use of an injection comparator instead of a sham
control in ophthalmic trials. As a result, the data from the ARCHER Il study, even if positive, may be insufficient for regulatory approval in
the United States. The Company is planning to conduct the ARROW study to demonstrate ANX007’s significant protection against vision
loss over SYFOVRE®. However, the FDA may not agree that the data from the ARROW trial is sufficient to warrant approval of
ANXO007, even if the results are sufficiently positive. In such an event, we may be required to conduct one or more additional clinical

trials before seeking FDA approval of ANX007, which would increase our expenses and could delay or prevent
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commercialization of ANX007 in GA. Moreover, there are no currently approved therapies for GA in Europe, and the results of the

ARROW study may not be acceptable to the EMA or any other comparable foreign regulatory authorities.

Conducting two large Phase 3 trials in multiple jurisdictions is expensive and can take many years to complete, and we cannot
guarantee that clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed timely, if at all. In addition, there are two FDA-approved therapies
for GA in the United States, which may adversely impact our ability to recruit patients into our clinical trials. We may need additional
capital to complete both the ARCHER Il and ARROW clinical trials and may not be able to raise sufficient capital in a timely manner. The
occurrence of any such events could delay either trial, prevent us from completing one or more of our clinical trials, seeking FDA
approval of ANXO007 for GA, if ever, and could delay or prevent commercialization of ANX007.

In addition, none of the FDA-approved therapeutics in GA have been assessed using vision preservation as the primary endpoint.
Due to the lack of BCVA =15-letter loss results for SYFOVRE®, we may experience difficulties in conducting the ARROW trial, including
powering for statistical significance, potential delays in enrollment, emerging safety data for SYFOVRE®, and potential inability to timely

obtain SYFOVRE®, which may result in substantial delays in the development of ANX007. There is no assurance that in a head-to-head
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study, ANX007 will result in statistically significant clinical superiority over SYFOVRE® or that the overall results will be sufficient to

support marketing approval.

Our results of operations may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future results of operations difficult to predict and

could cause our results of operations to fall below expectations.

Our quarterly and annual results of operations may fluctuate significantly, which makes it difficult for us to predict our future results
of operations. These fluctuations may occur due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to
predict, including:

. the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research, development and, if approved, commercialization activities relatit
our product candidates, which may change from time to time;

. the timing and status of enrollment for our clinical trials;

. the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, as well as building out our supply chain, which may vary depending or
guantity of production and the terms of our agreements with manufacturers;

. expenditures that we may incur to acquire, develop or commercialize additional product candidates and technologies;

. timing and amount of any milestone, royalty or other payments due under any collaboration or license agreement;

. future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies;

48

. the timing and success or failure of preclinical studies and clinical trials for our product candidates or competing prc
candidates, or any other change in the competitive landscape of our industry, including consolidation among our competito
partners;

. the timing of receipt of approvals for our product candidates from regulatory authorities in the United States and internationally

. coverage and reimbursement policies with respect to our product candidates, if approved, and potential future drugs that corr

with our products; and
. the level of demand for our product candidates, if approved, which may vary significantly over time.
The cumulative effects of these factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual results of

operations. As a result, comparing our results of operations on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Investors should not rely

on our past results as an indication of our future performance.

This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or

investors for any period. If our revenue or results of operations fall below the expectations of
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analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide to the market, or if any forecasts we provide to the market are below the
expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur

even when we have met any previously publicly stated revenue or earnings guidance we may provide.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our business is heavily dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product

candidates, which are in early stages of clinical development.

We have no products approved for sale, and our product candidates are in early stages of clinical development. The success of
our business, including our ability to finance our company and generate revenue in the future, will primarily depend on the successful
development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product candidates and, in particular, the advancement of our current
clinical-stage product candidates. However, given the stage of development of our product candidates, it may be many years, if we
succeed at all, before we have demonstrated the safety, purity, potency and/or efficacy of a product candidate sufficient to warrant
approval for commercialization. We cannot be certain that our product candidates will receive regulatory approval or be successfully

commercialized even if we receive regulatory approval.

While inhibition of the complement pathway has been validated as a therapeutic approach, C1q inhibition is a novel therapeutic
approach, which exposes us to certain risks. For example, we may discover that our product candidates do not possess certain
properties required for therapeutic effectiveness, or even if found to be effective in one type of disease, they are not effective in other
types of disease. In addition, given the novel nature of this therapeutic approach, designing preclinical studies and clinical trials to
demonstrate the effect of the product candidates is complex and exposes us to risks, including that our biomarker-driven approach may

not translate into therapeutic effectiveness.

In the future, we may also become dependent on other product candidates that we may develop or acquire. The clinical and

commercial success of our product candidates and future product candidates will depend on a number of factors, including the following:

. the COVID-19 pandemic, which may result in clinical site closures, delays to patient enrollment, patients discontinuing
treatment or follow up visits or changes to trial protocols;

. our ability to raise any additional required capital on acceptable terms, or at all;

. our ability to complete an investigational new drug application, or IND, enable studies and successfully submit IND
comparable applications;

49

. timely completion of our preclinical studies and clinical trials, which may be significantly slower or cost more than we curr
anticipate and will depend substantially upon the performance of third-party contractors;

. whether we are required by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, or similar foreign regulatory agencies to cor
additional clinical trials or other studies beyond those planned to support the approval and commercialization of our prc
candidates or any future product candidates;

. acceptance of our proposed indications and primary endpoint assessments relating to the proposed indications of our prc
candidates by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities;

. our ability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities the safety, efficacy
acceptable risk to benefit profile of our product candidates or any future product candidates;

. the prevalence, duration and severity of potential side effects or other safety issues experienced with our product candidate
future approved products, if any;
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the timely receipt of necessary marketing approvals from the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities;

achieving and maintaining, and, where applicable, ensuring that our third-party contractors achieve and maintain compliance
our contractual obligations and with all regulatory requirements applicable to our product candidates or any future prc
candidates or approved products, if any;
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the ability of third parties with whom we contract to manufacture adequate clinical trial and commercial supplies of our prc
candidates or any future product candidates remain in good standing with regulatory agencies and develop, validate and mai
commercially viable manufacturing processes that are compliant with current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs;

our ability to successfully develop a commercial strategy and thereafter commercialize our product candidates or any fi
product candidates in the United States and internationally, if approved for marketing, reimbursement, sale and distribution in
countries and territories, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

our ability to achieve sufficient market acceptance, coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors and adec
market share and revenue for any approved products;

the convenience of our treatment or dosing regimen;

acceptance by physicians, payors and patients of the benefits, safety and efficacy of our product candidates or any future prc
candidates, if approved, including relative to alternative and competing treatments;

the willingness of physicians, operators of clinics and patients to utilize or adopt any of our product candidates or any fi
product candidates, if approved;

patient demand for our product candidates, if approved, including the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket for any appr
products in the absence of coverage and/or adequate reimbursement from third-party payors;

our ability to establish and enforce intellectual property rights in and to our product candidates or any future product candid
and

our ability to avoid third-party patent interference, intellectual property challenges or intellectual property infringement claims.

These factors, many of which are beyond our control, could cause us to experience significant delays or an inability to obtain

regulatory approvals or commercialize our product candidates. Even if regulatory approvals are obtained, we may never be able to

successfully commercialize any of our product candidates. Accordingly, we cannot provide assurances that we will be able to generate

sufficient revenue through the sale of our product candidates or any future product candidates to continue our business or achieve
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Public health crises such as pandemics or similar outbreaks have, and could in the future, materially and adversely affect our

preclinical and clinical trials, business, financial condition and results of operations.
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In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic and the United States declared a national
emergency with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, “shelter in place” orders and other public
health guidance measures were implemented across much of the United States and Europe, including in the locations of our offices,
clinical trial sites, key vendors and partners. We expect that our clinical development program timelines will continue to be negatively
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations. For instance, we experienced interruption in clinical trial activities in Bangladesh due to quarantines, shortages in clinical site
staff, longer timelines for clinical site initiation and temporary shortages in lab kits and supplies. Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic
has adversely impacted hospitals and medical facilities where we are currently conducting our clinical trials and has resulted in
increased competition for more limited hospital resources among companies conducting clinical trials. Our increased reliance on
personnel working from home has, and may continue to, negatively impact productivity, or disrupt, delay or otherwise adversely impact
our business. For example, with our personnel working from home, some of our research activities that require our personnel to be in
our laboratories have been delayed.

As a result of public health crises, including the COVID-19 pandemic, or similar pandemics, and related “shelter in place” orders
and other public health guidance measures, we have experienced, and may in the future experience, disruptions that could materially

and adversely impact our clinical trials, business, financial condition and results of operations. These disruptions include but are not

limited to:

. delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in our clinical trials;

. delays or difficulties in initiating or expanding clinical trials, including delays or difficulties with clinical site initiation and recrt
clinical site investigators and clinical site staff;

. increased rates of patients withdrawing from our clinical trials following enroliment as a result of contracting COVID-19 or ¢
health conditions or being forced to quarantine; conditions;

. interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site data monitoring and efficacy, safety and translational
collection, processing and analyses, due to limitations on travel imposed or recommended by federal, state or local governm
employers and others or interruption of clinical trial subject visits, which may impact the collection and integrity of subject date
clinical study endpoints;

. diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our cli
trial sites and hospital staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials;
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. delays or disruptions in preclinical experiments and IND-enabling studies due to restrictions of on-site staff and unfore
circumstances at contract research organizations, or CROs, and vendors;

. interruption or delays in the operations of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory agencies;

. interruption of, or delays in receiving, supplies of our product candidates from our contract manufacturing organizations dt
staffing shortages, production slowdowns or stoppages and disruptions in delivery systems;

. delays in receiving approval from local regulatory authorities to initiate our planned clinical trials;
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. limitations on employee or other resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our clinical trials and pre-cli
work, including because of sickness of employees or their families, the desire of employees to avoid travel or contact with |
groups of people, an increased reliance on working from home, school closures or mass transit disruptions;

. changes in regulations as part of a response to the COVID-19 pandemic pandemics or similar outbreaks, which may require |
change the ways in which our clinical trials are conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or to discontinue such cli
trials altogether;

. delays in necessary interactions with regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and contractors du
limitations in employee resources or forced furlough of government or contractor personnel; and
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. refusal of the FDA to accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies outside the United States.

These and other factors arising from the COVID-19 pandemic could worsen or could return in countries where the COVID-19
pandemic has been partially contained, each of which could further adversely impact our ability to conduct clinical trials and our

business generally, and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve. The extent to which the any future outbreak may continue to affect our clinical trials,
business, financial condition, results of operations and clinical development timelines and plans will depend on future developments,
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time, such as factors including the duration of the outbreak, the emergence of
new variants, rates of infection in the locations in which we and our CROs, third-party manufacturers, regulatory authorities and other
third parties with whom we do business operate, travel restrictions and actions to contain the outbreak or treat its impact, such as social
distancing and quarantines or lock-downs in the United States and other countries, business closures or business disruptions and the
effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other countries to contain and treat the disease. Future developments in these
and other areas present material uncertainty and risk with respect to our clinical trials, business, financial condition and results of

operations.

Research and development of biopharmaceutical products is inherently risky. We cannot give any assurance that any of our

product candidates will receive regulatory approval, which is nhecessary before they can be commercialized.

We are at an early stage of clinical development of our product candidates. Our future success is dependent on our ability to
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and successfully commercialize our product candidates, and we may fail to do so for
many reasons, including the following:

. our product candidates may not successfully complete preclinical studies or clinical trials;

. a product candidate may be shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate it does not meet applic
regulatory criteria;

. our competitors may develop therapeutics that render our product candidates obsolete or less attractive;

. the market for a product candidate may change so that the continued development of that product candidate is no lo
reasonable or commercially attractive;

. a product candidate may not be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at an acceptable cost, or at all;

. if a product candidate obtains regulatory approval, we may be unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities, or succes:
market such approved product candidate; and
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. a product candidate may not be accepted as safe and effective by patients, the medical community or third-party payors.

If any of these events occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for a product candidate or candidates, which
would have a material adverse effect on our business and could potentially cause us to cease operations. Failure of a product candidate
may occur at any stage of preclinical or clinical development, and we may never succeed in developing marketable products or

generating product revenue.

We may not be successful in our efforts to further develop our current and future product candidates. We are not permitted to
market or promote any of our product candidates before we receive regulatory approval from the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities, and we may never receive such regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. Each of our product candidates will
require significant additional clinical development, management of preclinical, clinical and manufacturing activities, regulatory approval,
adequate manufacturing supply, a commercial organization and significant marketing efforts before we generate any revenue from
product sales, if at all. Any clinical studies that we may conduct may not demonstrate the efficacy and safety necessary to obtain

regulatory approval to market our product candidates. If the results of our ongoing or future clinical studies are
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inconclusive with respect to the efficacy of our product candidates, if we do not meet the clinical endpoints with statistical significance or
if there are safety concerns or adverse events associated with our product candidates, we may be prevented or delayed in obtaining

marketing approval for our product candidates.

The FDA or other regulatory agencies may not agree with our clinical development plan and require that we conduct additional
clinical trials to support our regulatory submissions, submissions. Regulatory agencies, including the FDA may require that we conduct

more than one pivotal trial in order to gain approval.

Furthermore, clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with the laws, rules and regulations, guidelines and other
requirements of the FDA, the European Medicines Agency, or the EMA, and other applicable regulatory authorities outside of those
jurisdictions and are subject to oversight by these regulatory authorities and institutional review boards, or IRBs, or ethics committees at
the medical institutions where such clinical trials are conducted. Further, conducting global clinical trials, as we do for GBS and GA, may
require that we coordinate among the legal requirements and guidelines of regulatory authorities across a number of jurisdictions,
including the United States, the European Union, or the EU, and countries outside of those jurisdictions, which could require that we
amend clinical trial protocols or determine not to conduct a trial in one or more jurisdictions or to run separate trials in various
jurisdictions due to the inability, cost or delay in harmonizing divergent requests from such regulatory authorities, all of which could
increase costs. In addition, clinical trials that are conducted in countries outside the United States and the EU may subject us to risks
associated with the engagement of non-United States and non-EU CROs who are unknown to the FDA or the EMA, or the EU member
states’ regulatory authorities and may have different standards of diagnosis, screening and medical care, as well as risks associated

with further delays and expenses as a result of increased shipment costs (including as a result of local quality release or in-country
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testing of a product candidate supply produced in a different jurisdiction for our clinical trials) and political and economic risks relevant to

such countries outside the United States and the EU.

If any of our product candidates successfully completes clinical trials, we plan to seek regulatory approval to market our product
candidates in the United States, the European Union, or the EU, and in additional foreign countries where we believe there is a viable
commercial opportunity. We have never commenced, compiled or submitted an application seeking regulatory approval to market any
product candidate. We may never receive regulatory approval to market any product candidates even if such product candidates
successfully complete clinical trials, which would adversely affect our viability. To obtain regulatory approval in countries outside the
United States, we must comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of such other countries regarding safety, efficacy,
chemistry, manufacturing and controls, clinical trials, commercial sales, pricing and distribution of our product candidates. We may also
rely on collaborators or partners to conduct the required activities to support an application for regulatory approval and to seek approval
for one or more of our product candidates. We cannot be sure that any such collaborators or partners will conduct these activities
successfully or do so within the timeframe we desire. Even if we or any future collaborators or partners are successful in obtaining
approval in one jurisdiction, we cannot ensure that we will obtain approval in any other jurisdictions. If we are unable to obtain approval

for our product candidates in multiple jurisdictions, our revenue and results of operations could be negatively affected.
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Even if we receive regulatory approval to market any of our product candidates, we cannot assure you that any such product
candidate will be successfully commercialized, widely accepted in the marketplace or more effective than other commercially available
alternatives. Any approval we may obtain could be for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired or
may require labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings. We may also be required to perform
additional or unanticipated clinical trials to obtain approval or be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements to maintain
approval. In addition, regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of a product or impose restrictions on its distribution, such as in
the form of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS. The failure to obtain timely regulatory approval of product candidates,
any product marketing limitations or a product withdrawal would negatively impact our business, results of operations and financial

condition.

We may encounter substantial delays in our clinical trials or may not be able to conduct or complete our clinical trials on the

timelines we expect, if at all.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. We cannot guarantee
that any clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. We cannot be sure that submission of an IND or a
clinical trial application, or CTA, will result in the FDA or other regulatory authority, as applicable, allowing clinical trials to begin in a

timely manner, if at all. Moreover, even if these trials begin, issues may arise that could suspend or terminate such clinical trials. A failure
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of one or more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing, and our future clinical trials may not be successful. Clinical trials can be

delayed or terminated for a variety of reasons, including delays or failures related to:

.

the COVID-19 pandemic, which may result in clinical site closures, delays to patient enrollment, patients discontinuing
treatment or follow up visits or changes to trial protocols;

generating sufficient preclinical, toxicology or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation or continuation of clinical trial
the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities disagreeing as to the design or implementation of our clinical trials;
delays in obtaining regulatory authorization to commence a trial;

reaching agreements on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and clinical trial sites, the terms of which can be subje
extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

53

identifying, recruiting and training suitable clinical investigators;
obtaining institutional review board, or IRB approval at each trial site;

imposition of a temporary or permanent clinical hold by regulatory agencies for a number of reasons, including after review
IND or amendment, or equivalent foreign application or amendment;

new safety findings that present unreasonable risk to clinical trial participants;

a negative finding from an inspection of our clinical trial operations or study sites;
recruiting an adequate number of suitable patients to participate in a trial;

having subjects complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

clinical trial sites deviating from trial protocol or dropping out of a trial;
addressing subject safety concerns that arise during the course of a trial;

adding a sufficient number of clinical trial sites; or

obtaining sulfficient product supply of product candidates for use in preclinical studies or clinical trials from third-party suppliers

37

We may experience numerous adverse or unforeseen events during, or as a result of, preclinical studies and clinical trials which

could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our product candidates, including:

we may receive feedback from regulatory authorities that requires us to modify the design of our clinical trials or require the
submit additional data or information before allowing a clinical trial to be initiated;

clinical studies of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators
require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon drug development programs;

the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in t
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clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate that
anticipate;

our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements, fail to maintain adequate quality controls or be ur
to provide us with sufficient product supply to conduct and complete preclinical studies or clinical trials of our product candidat
a timely manner, or at all;

we or our investigators might have to suspend or terminate clinical trials of our product candidates for various reasons, inclt
non-compliance with regulatory requirements, a finding that our product candidates have undesirable side effects or ¢
unexpected characteristics or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

the quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct preclinical studies or clinical trials of our prc
candidates may be insufficient or inadequate;

regulators may revise the requirements for approving our product candidates or such requirements may not be as we antici
and

any future collaborators may conduct clinical trials in ways they view as advantageous to them but that are suboptimal for us.

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently

contemplate, if we are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or
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other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not positive or are only moderately positive or if there are safety concerns, we may:

incur unplanned costs;

be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates or not obtain marketing approval at all;
obtain marketing approval in some countries and not in others;

obtain marketing approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

obtain marketing approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings, including b
warnings;

be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or

have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

For example, we believe that we will be able to seek FDA approval of ANXOQO5 for the treatment of patients with GBS based on the

results from a single pivotal trial. However, the FDA may not agree that the data from one pivotal trial are sufficient to warrant approval

of ANXO005, even if we believe the results are sufficiently positive. In such an event, we would be required to conduct one or more

additional clinical trials before seeking FDA approval of ANX005 for patients with GBS, if ever, which would increase our expenses and

could delay or prevent
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commercialization of ANX005 in GBS. In addition, our recently reported ARCHER data showed that ANX007 protected against vision
loss as measured by changes from baseline in the widely accepted functional endpoint of best corrected visual acuity of =15 letter loss,
or BCVA15. Based on this data, we expect to conduct a global clinical trial of ANX007 for the treatment of GA. To accomplish this
objective, we must obtain and maintain regulatory approvals and comply with regulatory requirements in each jurisdiction. While we
have attempted to design a global clinical development program that satisfies the regulators in all of our target markets, there is no
assurance that our efforts will be successful or that the various regulators will be aligned or agree that the data from the global Phase 3
registrational program are sufficient to warrant approval of ANX007. Following discussions with the FDAand pending discussion with the
EMA, we have designed a two-part global registrational program for ANX007 in GA. As a result, our timelines and costs for the Phase 3

trials of ANX007 in GA could be substantially longer and larger than we initially planned.

In addition, disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic may increase the likelihood that we encounter such difficulties or
delays in initiating, enrolling, conducting or completing our planned and ongoing clinical trials. For instance, we have experienced
interruption in clinical trial activities in Bangladesh due to quarantines, shortages in clinical site staff, longer timelines for clinical site
initiation and temporary shortages in lab kits and supplies. We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated
by us, by the IRBs of the institutions in which such trials are being conducted, by the Data Safety Monitoring Board, or DSMB, for such
trial or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial due to a number of factors,
including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical
trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety
issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a drug, changes in governmental regulations or administrative

actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.

Further, conducting clinical trials in foreign countries, as we plan to do for certain of our product candidates, presents additional
risks that may delay completion of our clinical trials. These risks include the failure of enrolled patients in foreign countries to adhere to
clinical protocol as a result of differences in healthcare services or cultural customs and managing additional administrative burdens

associated with foreign regulatory schemes, as well as political and economic risks.

Principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may receive
cash or equity compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in perceived or
actual conflicts of interest, or a regulatory authority concludes that the financial relationship may have affected the interpretation of the
trial, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the clinical trial itself may
be jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection of the marketing application we submit. Any such delay or rejection could

prevent or delay us from commercializing our current or future product candidates.

If we experience delays in the completion, or termination, of any preclinical study or clinical trial of our product candidates, the
commercial prospects of our product candidates may be harmed, and our ability to generate revenues from any of these product
candidates will be delayed or not realized at all. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials may increase our costs, slow
down our product candidate development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate

revenues. Any of these occurrences may materially
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and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or
lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our
product candidates. If one or more of our product candidates proves to be ineffective, unsafe or commercially unviable, our business,

financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

If we encounter difficulties enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities could be delayed or

otherwise adversely affected.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials on a timely basis or at all for any product candidates we identify or develop
if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in the trials as required by applicable
regulations or as needed to provide appropriate statistical power for a given trial. The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance
with their protocols depends on, among other things, our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients who remain in the study until its

conclusion. We may experience difficulties

39

in patient enrollment in our clinical trials for a variety of reasons. The enrollment of patients depends on many factors, including:

. the severity and difficulty of diagnosing the disease under investigation;

. the patient eligibility and exclusion criteria defined in the protocol;

. the size of the patient population required for analysis of the trial's primary endpoints;

. the proximity of patients to trial sites;

. the design of the trial;

. our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

. the existing body of safety and efficacy data with respect to the study drug and safety concerns;

. patient referral practices of physicians;

. risk that enrolled subjects will drop out before completion of the trial, including as a result of contracting COVID-19 or other h:

conditions or being forced to quarantine;

. ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment;

. availability and efficacy of approved medications or therapies, or other clinical trials, for the disease or condition u
investigation;

. clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the product candidate being studied in relation to ¢

available therapies, including any new drugs that may be approved for the indications we are investigating; and

. our ability to obtain and maintain patient consents.
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In addition, our clinical trials may compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same therapeutic areas as
our product candidates, and this competition will reduce the number and types of patients available to us, because some patients who
might have opted to enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll in a trial being conducted by one of our competitors. In addition, patients
may not opt to enroll in our trials because of the availability of approved therapeutics for their disease. Because the number of qualified
clinical investigators is limited, we may conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites that some of our competitors use,
which will reduce the number of patients who are available for our clinical trials in such clinical trial site. Delays in patient enrollment may
result in increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion of these trials

and adversely affect our ability to advance the development of our product candidates.

56

Adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by, or other unexpected properties of, any of our product candidates could
halt their clinical development, delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit their commercial potential or result in

significant negative consequences.

Adverse events or other undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities to
interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or
comparable foreign regulatory authorities. We have experienced adverse events during clinical trials, and may in the future experience,
adverse or unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials. If unacceptable side effects arise in the development of our product
candidates, we, the FDA, the IRBs at the institutions in which our studies are conducted or the DSMB could suspend or terminate our
clinical trials or the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order us to cease clinical trials or deny approval of our
product candidates for any or all targeted indications. Treatment-related side effects could also affect patient recruitment or the ability of
enrolled patients to complete any of our clinical trials or result in potential product liability claims. In addition, these side effects may not
be appropriately recognized or managed by the treating medical staff. We expect to have to train medical personnel using our product
candidates to understand the side effect profiles for our clinical trials and upon any commercialization of any of our product candidates.
Inadequate training in recognizing or managing the potential side effects of our product candidates could result in patient injury or death.

Any of these occurrences may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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In addition, early clinical trials may only include a limited number of subjects and limited duration of exposure to our product
candidates. In particular, we are pursuing a novel approach to inhibiting upstream molecules of the classical complement pathway,
primarily Clqg, and as a result, our product candidates may cause unforeseen safety events when evaluated in larger patient
populations. Further, clinical trials may not be sufficient to determine the effect and safety consequences of taking our product

candidates over a multi-year period.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 74/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

If any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable and unforeseen side

effects caused by such product, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including but not limited to:

. regulatory authorities may suspend, limit or withdraw approvals of such product, or seek an injunction against its manufactu
distribution;

. we may be required to conduct additional clinical trials or post-approval studies;

. we may be required to recall a product or change the way such product is administered to patients;

. additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of the particular product or the manufacturing processes for the prc

or any component thereof;

. regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “black box” warning or a contraindication, or i
safety alerts, Dear Healthcare Provider letters, press releases or other communications containing warnings or other s
information about the product;

. we may be required to implement a REMS or create a Medication Guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distributic
patients, a communication plan for healthcare providers and/or other elements to assure safe use;

. we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients;

. we may be subject to fines, injunctions or the imposition of criminal penalties;
. the product may become less competitive; and

. our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if
approved, and result in the loss of significant revenues to us, which would materially and adversely affect our results of operations and
business. In addition, if one or more of our product candidates prove to be unsafe, our business, financial condition, results of operations

and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.
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Interim, “top-line” and preliminary data from studies or trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as
more data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the
final data.

From time to time, we publicly disclose interim, “top-line” or preliminary data from preclinical studies or clinical trials. Interim data
are subject to the risk that one or more of the outcomes may materially change as more data become available. We also make
assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the
opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data when we publish such data. As a result, the “top-line” results that we report may differ
from future results of the same studies, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results once additional data have
been received and fully evaluated. “Top-line” or preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result
in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, “top-line” and preliminary data
should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. From time to time, we also disclose interim data from our clinical studies.
Interim data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially
change as patient enroliment continues and more patient data become available. Adverse differences between interim, “top-line” or

preliminary data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects.

41
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Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions
or analyses or may interpret or weigh the importance of data differently, which could impact the value of the particular program, the
approvability or commercialization of the particular product candidate or product and our company in general. In addition, the information
we choose to publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is based on what is typically extensive information, and you or
others may not agree with what we determine is the material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure. Any
information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant by you or others with respect to future decisions,
conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular product candidate or our business. If the “top-line,” preliminary or
interim data that we report differ from final results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the conclusions reached,
our ability to obtain approval for, and commercialize, product candidates may be harmed, which could significantly harm our business

prospects.

Even if our current or future product candidates obtain regulatory approval, they may fail to achieve the broad degree of

physician and patient adoption and use necessary for commercial success.

Even if one or more of our product candidates receive FDA or other regulatory approvals, the commercial success of any of our
current or future product candidates will depend significantly on the broad adoption and use of the resulting product by physicians and
patients for approved indications. Our product candidates may not be commercially successful. For a variety of reasons, including,
among other things, competitive factors, pricing or physician preference, reimbursement by insurers, the degree and rate of physician

and patient adoption of our current or future product candidates, if approved, will depend on a number of factors, including:
. the clinical indications for which the product is approved and patient demand for approved products that treat those indication:

. the safety and efficacy of our product as compared to other available therapies; for example, with respect to ANX007, physic
may prescribe or patients may prefer recently approved therapies for the treatment of GA;

. the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from managed care plans, insurers and other healthcare payors foi
of our product candidates that may be approved;

. acceptance by physicians, operators of clinics and patients of the product as a safe and effective treatment;
. physician and patient willingness to adopt a new therapy over other available therapies to treat approved indications;
. overcoming any biases physicians or patients may have toward particular therapies for the treatment of approved indications;
. proper training and administration of our product candidates by physicians and medical staff;
. public misperception regarding the use of our therapies, if approved for commercial sale;
58
. patient satisfaction with the results and administration of our product candidates and overall treatment experience, including

example, the convenience of any dosing regimen;

. the cost of treatment with our product candidates in relation to alternative treatments and reimbursement levels, if any,
willingness to pay for the product, if approved, on the part of insurance companies and other third-party payors, physicians
patients;
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. the revenue and profitability that our products may offer a physician as compared to alternative therapies;

. the prevalence and severity of side effects;
. limitations or warnings contained in the FDA-approved labeling for our products;
. the willingness of physicians, operators of clinics and patients to utilize or adopt our products as a solution;

. any FDA requirement to undertake a REMS;

. the effectiveness of our sales, marketing and distribution efforts;

42
. adverse publicity about our products or favorable publicity about competitive products; and
. potential product liability claims.

We cannot assure you that our current or future product candidates, if approved, will achieve broad market acceptance among
physicians and patients. Any failure by our product candidates that obtain regulatory approval to achieve market acceptance or

commercial success would adversely affect our results of operations.

We have received Orphan Drug designation for ANX005 for the treatment of GBS and HD in the United States and for GBS in
Europe, and we may seek Orphan Drug designation for certain future product candidates. We may be unable to obtain such
designations or to maintain the benefits associated with Orphan Drug designation, including market exclusivity, which may

cause any revenue from product sales to be reduced.

We have received Orphan Drug designation in the United States for ANX005 for the treatment of GBS and HD.HD and for the
treatment of GBS in Europe from the European Medicines Agency, or EMA. Although we may seek Orphan product designation for
some or all of our other product candidates, we may never receive such designations. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may
designate a drug or biologic product as an Orphan Drug if it is intended to treat a rare disease or condition, defined as a patient
population of fewer than 200,000 in the United States, or a patient population greater than 200,000 in the United States where there is
no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug will be recovered from sales in the United States. Orphan Drug
designation must be requested before submitting a biologics license application, or BLA, or new drug application, or NDA. In the EU, the
EMA's Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products, or COMP, grants Orphan Drug designation to promote the development of products
that are intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition affecting not more
than five in 10,000 persons in the EU. Additionally, designation is granted for products intended for the diagnosis, prevention or
treatment of a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition when, without incentives, it is unlikely that sales of
the drug in the EU would be sufficient to justify the necessary investment in developing the drug or biological product or where there is
no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment, or, if such a method exists, the medicine must be of significant benefit to

those affected by the condition.
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In the United States, Orphan Drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding
towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages and application fee waivers. After the FDA grants Orphan Drug designation, the generic
identity of the drug and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA.

In addition, if a product receives the first FDA approval for the indication for which it has orphan designation, the product is entitled
to Orphan Drug exclusivity, which means the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same disease
or condition for a period of seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority over the product with
Orphan exclusivity or where the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient product quantity the orphan patient population. Exclusive
marketing rights in the United States may also be unavailable if we or our collaborators seek approval for an indication broader than the

orphan designated indication and may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective. In the
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EU, Orphan Drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as reduction of fees or fee waivers and ten years of market
exclusivity following drug or biological product approval. This period may be reduced to six years if the Orphan Drug designation criteria

are no longer met, including where it is shown that the product is sufficiently profitable to not justify maintenance of market exclusivity.

Even if we obtain Orphan Drug designation, we may not be the first to obtain marketing approval for any particular orphan
indication due to the uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products. Further, even if we obtain Orphan Drug
exclusivity for a product candidate, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition because different drugs can
be approved for the same condition. Even after an Orphan Drug is approved, the FDA can subsequently approve the same drug for the
same condition if the FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior in that it is safer, more effective or makes a major
contribution to patient care. Orphan Drug designation neither shortens the development time or regulatory review time of a drug or

biologic nor gives the drug or biologic any advantage in the regulatory review or approval process.
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A Breakthrough Therapy designation by the FDA, even if granted for any of our product candidates, may not lead to a faster
development or regulatory review or approval process, and it does not increase the likelihood that our product candidates will
receive marketing approval.

We may seek a Breakthrough Therapy designation for our product candidates if the clinical data support such a designation for
one or more product candidates. A breakthrough therapy is defined as a drug or biologic that is intended, alone or in combination with
one or more other drugs or biologics, to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates
that the drug or biologic may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant
endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. For product candidates that have been

designated as breakthrough therapies, interaction and communication between the FDA and the sponsor of the trial can help to identify
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the most efficient path for clinical development while minimizing the number of patients placed in ineffective control regimens. Drugs and
biologics designated as breakthrough therapies by the FDA may also be eligible for priority review and rolling review of BLA or NDA

submissions.

Designation as a breakthrough therapy is within the discretion of the FDA. Accordingly, even if we believe one of our product
candidates meets the criteria for designation as a breakthrough therapy, the FDA may disagree and instead determine not to make such
designation. In any event, the receipt of a Breakthrough Therapy designation for a product candidate may not result in a faster
development process, review or approval compared to drugs considered for approval under non-expedited FDA review procedures and
does not assure ultimate approval by the FDA. In addition, even if one or more of our product candidates qualify as breakthrough
therapies, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for

FDA review or approval will not be shortened.

A Fast Track designation by the FDA or PRIME designation by the EMA, even if granted for any of our product candidates, may
not lead to a faster development or regulatory review or approval process, and does not increase the likelihood that our

product candidates will receive marketing approval.
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The FDA has granted Fast Track designation for ANX005 in GBS and for ANX007 in GA, and the EMA has granted PRIME
designation for ANX007 in GA, and, in the future, we may seek Fast Track designation or PRIME designation for our product
candidates. If a drug or biologic is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and the drug or biologic
demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for this condition, the sponsor may apply for Fast Track designation. The
sponsor of a Fast Track product candidate has opportunities for more frequent interactions with the applicable FDA review team during
product development and, once a BLA or NDA is submitted, the application may be eligible for priority review. A Fast Track product
candidate may also be eligible for rolling review, where the FDA may consider for review sections of the BLA or NDA on a rolling basis
before the complete application is submitted, if the sponsor provides a schedule for the submission of the sections of the BLA or NDA,
the FDA agrees to accept sections of the BLA or NDA and determines that the schedule is acceptable, and the sponsor pays any
required user fees upon submission of the first section of the BLA or NDA. The FDA has broad discretion whether or not to grant this

designation.

PRIME is a program launched by the EMA to enhance support for research on and development of medicines that have
demonstrated preliminary safety and efficacy and thus the potential to target a significant unmet medical need and bring a major
therapeutic advantage to patients. This regulatory program offers developers of promising medicines enhanced interaction and early
dialogue with the EMA and is designed to optimize development plans and speed evaluation ensuring these medicines reach patients as

early as possible. The EMA has broad discretion whether or not to grant this designation.

Even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for this designation, these designations, we cannot assure you that the
FDA, EMA or similar regulatory agency would decide to grant it. them. Fast Track designation and PRIME designations may not result in
a faster development process, review or approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. The or EMA procedures, respectively. In
addition, the FDA may withdraw Fast Track designation if it believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical

development program. The Fast Track and PRIME designations do not assure
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ultimate regulatory approval by the FDA or the EMA. Many drugs and biologics that have received Fast Track or PRIME designation

have failed to obtain approval.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate, our products will remain subject to regulatory scrutiny.

If one of our product candidates is approved, it will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements for manufacturing, labeling,
packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, sampling, record-keeping, conduct of post-marketing studies and submission of safety,
efficacy and other post-market information, including both federal and state requirements in the United States and requirements of

comparable foreign regulatory authorities.

Manufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA and comparable foreign regulatory
authority requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMP regulations. We and our
contract manufacturers will be subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with cGMPs and adherence to
commitments made in any approved marketing application. Accordingly, we and others with whom we work must continue to expend

time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production and quality control.

We will have to comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for our products. Promotional communications
with respect to prescription drugs and biologics are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with
the information in the product’'s approved label. We may not promote our products “off-label” for indications or uses for which they do not
have approval. The holder of an approved application must submit new or supplemental applications and obtain approval for certain
changes to the approved product, product labeling or manufacturing process. We could also be asked to conduct post-marketing clinical
studies to verify the safety, purity, potency and/or efficacy of our products in general or in specific patient subsets. An unsuccessful post-

marketing study or failure to complete such a study could result in the withdrawal of marketing approval.

If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, or disagrees with the promotion, marketing or labeling of a
product, the regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product or us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the

market. If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency or enforcement authority may, among other

things:
. issue warning letters;
. impose civil or criminal penalties;
. suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;
. suspend any of our clinical studies;
. refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications submitted by us;
61
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. seize or detain products, or require a product recall.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response
and could generate negative publicity. Any failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affect
our ability to commercialize and generate revenue from our products. If regulatory sanctions are applied or if regulatory approval is
withdrawn, the value of our company and our results of operations will be adversely affected.

Moreover, the policies of the FDA and of other regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may be
enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or
extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative or executive action, either in the United States or
abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we

are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may be subject to enforcement action and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies or foreign regulatory authorities caused by funding shortages or
global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise
prevent new or modified products from being developed, approved or commercialized in a timely manner or at all, which could

negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and/or approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget
and funding levels, statutory, regulatory, and policy changes, the FDA's ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment
of user fees, and other events that may otherwise affect the FDA's ability to perform routine functions. Average review times at the FDA
have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund research and
development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other
agencies or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may also slow the time necessary for new drugs and biologics to be reviewed
and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several
years, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical

FDA employees and stop critical activities. Similar considerations are applicable to foreign regulatory authorities.

Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the FDA postponed most inspections of domestic and foreign manufacturing
facilities at various points. Even though the FDA has since resumed standard inspection operations of domestic facilities where feasible,
the FDA has continued to monitor and implement changes to its inspectional activities to ensure the safety of its employees and those of
the firms it regulates as it adapts to the evolving COVID-19 pandemic, and any resurgence of the virus or emergence of new variants
may lead to further inspectional delays. Regulatory authorities outside the United States may adopt similar restrictions or other policy
measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if new or existing global health
concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other
regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our

regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We conduct, and in the future plan to conduct, clinical trials for product candidates outside the United States, and the FDA and

comparable foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from such trials.

We conduct clinical trials of our product candidates outside the United States, and plan to continue to do so in the future for
reasons including the relative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on trial sites in the United States. so. For example, we conducted our
Phase 1b GBS clinical trial of ANX005 in Bangladesh, and are conducting our Phase 3 clinical trial of ANX0O05 in patients with GBS
exclusively at sites outside the United States.in Southeast Asia. We have also designed a global Phase 3 program for ANX007 in GA.
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The acceptance of study data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States or the applicable jurisdiction by the FDA and

comparable foreign regulatory authorities may be subject to certain conditions, or may not be accepted at all.

For example, where data from foreign clinical trials are intended to serve as the sole basis for marketing approval in the United

States, regardless of whether such trials were conducted under an IND, the FDA will not approve the
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application on the basis of foreign data alone unless those data are applicable to the United States population and United States
medical practice, the trials were performed by clinical investigators of recognized competence and the data are considered valid without
the need for an on-site inspection by the FDA or, if the FDA considers such an inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate
the data through an on-site inspection or other appropriate means. For trials that are conducted only at sites outside of the United States
and not subject to an IND, the FDA requires the clinical trial to have been conducted in accordance with good clinical practice, or GCP,
requirements, and the FDA must be able to validate the data from the clinical trial through an on-site inspection if it deems such
inspection necessary. Additionally, the FDA's clinical trial requirements, including sufficient size of patient populations and statistical
powering, must be met. Many foreign regulatory bodies have similar approval requirements. In addition, foreign trials are subject to the
applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no assurance that the FDA, EMA or any
comparable foreign regulatory authority will accept data from trials conducted outside of the United States or the applicable jurisdiction.
If the FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority does not accept such data, it would result in the need for additional trials,
which would be costly and time-consuming and delay aspects of our business plan, and which may result in product candidates that we

may develop not receiving approval or clearance for commercialization in the applicable jurisdiction.

To support data from clinical trials conducted in foreign jurisdictions, applicants may submit clinical evidence, clinical trials, patient
registries or other sources of real-world evidence (RWE), such as electronic health records or the collection of larger confirmatory data

sets. In particular, provided that all of our studies to date for ANX005 in
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GBS have been conducted exclusively at sites outside the United States, we are conducting a RWE study to assess comparability of
disease populations in the US and ex-US using a large natural history database from the International Guillain-Barré syndrome Outcome
Study (IGOS). Published data from IGOS presents baseline characteristics of GBS patients in various jurisdictions and patient outcomes
at certain timepoints over the course of their disease. We intend to use the RWE study as part of our registration package in support of
the ANXO005 BLA. Conducting this RWE study may be expensive, or may result in delays of our BLA and any regulatory approval of
ANXO005. Any such expenses or delays may adversely impact our business and operations and may negatively impact our stock price.
In addition, the results of this RWE study may not provide sufficient support of the comparability between the disease populations in the
US and ex-US and thus may not be acceptable to the FDA as part of our BLA, which could adversely affect regulatory approval of
ANXO005.
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In addition, we expect to conduct a global registrational program of ANX007 for the treatment of GA. To accomplish this objective,
we must obtain and maintain regulatory approvals and comply with regulatory requirements in each jurisdiction. We are in ongoing
discussions with the relevant regulatory authorities. While we believe we have designed a global clinical development program that
could satisfy the regulators in all of our target markets, there is no assurance that our efforts will be successful or that the various

regulators will be aligned or accept the data from the pivotal Phase 3 program are sufficient to warrant approval of ANX007.

If the product candidates that we develop receive regulatory approval in the United States or another jurisdiction, they may
never receive approval in other jurisdictions, which would limit market opportunities for our product candidates and adversely
affect our business.

Approval of a product candidate in the United States by the FDA or by the requisite regulatory agencies in any other jurisdiction
does not ensure approval of such product candidate by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions. The approval process
varies among countries and may limit our or any future collaborators’ ability to develop, manufacture, promote and sell product
candidates internationally. Failure to obtain marketing approval in international jurisdictions would prevent the product candidates from
being marketed outside of the jurisdictions in which regulatory approvals have been received. In order to market and sell product
candidates in the EU, and many other jurisdictions, we and any future collaborators must obtain separate marketing approvals and
comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and may involve additional
preclinical studies or clinical trials both before and after approval. In many countries, any product candidate for human use must be
approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that country. In some cases, the intended price for such product is also
subject to approval. Further, while regulatory approval of a product candidate in one country does not ensure approval in any other
country, a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process
in others. If we or any future collaborators fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets or to obtain all required
marketing approvals, the target market for a particular potential product will be reduced, which would limit our ability to realize the full

market potential for the product and adversely affect our business.

Any product candidates for which we intend to seek approval as biologic products may face competition sooner than
anticipated.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, signed into law on March 23, 2010, includes a subtitle called the Biologics Price
Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or the BPCIA, which created an abbreviated approval pathway for biological products that are
biosimilar to or interchangeable with an FDA-licensed reference biological product. Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar
product may not be submitted to the FDA until four years following the date that the reference product was first licensed by the FDA. In
addition, the approval of a biosimilar product may not be made effective by the FDA until 12 years from the date on which the reference
product was first licensed. During this 12-year period of exclusivity, another company may still market a competing version of the
reference product if the FDA approves a full BLA for the competing product containing the sponsor’s own pre-clinical data and data from

adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate the safety, purity and potency of their product.

There is a risk that any of our product candidates approved as a biological product under a BLA would not qualify for the 12-year
period of exclusivity or that this exclusivity could be shortened due to congressional action or otherwise, or that the FDA will not consider

our product candidates to be reference products for competing products,
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potentially creating the opportunity for generic competition sooner than anticipated. Other aspects of the BPCIA, some of which may
impact the BPCIA exclusivity provisions, have also been the subject of litigation. Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar, once

approved, will be substituted for any one of our reference products in a way that is similar
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to traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not yet clear, and will depend on a number of marketplace and regulatory

factors that are still developing.

We rely on third-party suppliers to manufacture our product candidates, and we intend to rely on third parties to produce
commercial supplies of any approved product. The loss of these suppliers, or their failure to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements or to provide us with sufficient quantities at acceptable quality levels or prices, or at all, would materially and

adversely affect our business.

We do not have the ability, and we do not plan to build or acquire the infrastructure or capability internally, to manufacture supplies
of our product candidates or the materials necessary to produce our product candidates for use in the conduct of our preclinical studies
or clinical trials, and we lack the internal resources and the capability to manufacture any of our product candidates on a preclinical,
clinical or commercial scale. The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates are subject to
various regulatory requirements and may be subject to the inspection of the FDA or other regulatory authorities. We do not control the
manufacturing processes of, and are completely dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with the regulatory
requirements, known as cGMPs. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our
specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions, we may not
be able to rely on their manufacturing facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates. In addition, we have limited control over
the ability of our contract manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a
comparable foreign regulatory authority finds these facilities inadequate for the manufacture of our product candidates or if such facilities
are subject to enforcement action in the future or are otherwise inadequate, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities,

which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates.

We currently intend to supply our product candidates in all territories for our clinical development programs, and rely on third
parties at key stages in our supply chain. For instance, the supply chains for our product candidates involve several manufacturers that
specialize in specific operations of the manufacturing process, specifically, raw materials manufacturing, drug substance manufacturing
and drug product manufacturing. As a result, the supply chain for the manufacturing of our product candidates is complicated, and we
expect the logistical challenges associated with our supply chain to grow more complex as our product candidates are further

developed.

We do not have any control over the process or timing of the acquisition or manufacture of materials by our manufacturers. We
generally do not begin preclinical or clinical trials unless we believe we have access to a sufficient supply of a product candidate to

complete such study. In addition, any significant delay in, or quality control problems with respect to, the supply of a product candidate,
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or the raw material components thereof, for an ongoing study could considerably delay completion of our preclinical or clinical trials,

product testing and potential regulatory approval of our product candidates.

We have not yet engaged any manufacturers for the commercial supply of our product candidates. Although we intend to enter
into such agreements prior to commercial launch of any of our product candidates, we may be unable to enter into any such agreement
or do so on commercially reasonable terms, which could have a material adverse impact upon our business. Moreover, if there is a
disruption to one or more of our third-party manufacturers’ or suppliers’ relevant operations, or if we are unable to enter into
arrangements for the commercial supply of our product candidates, we will have no other means of producing our product candidates
until they restore the affected facilities or we or they procure alternative manufacturing facilities or sources of supply. Our ability to
progress our preclinical and clinical programs could be materially and adversely impacted if any of the third-party suppliers upon which
we rely were to experience a significant business challenge, disruption or failure due to issues such as financial difficulties or
bankruptcy, issues relating to other customers such as regulatory or quality compliance issues, or other financial, legal, regulatory or
reputational issues. Additionally, any damage to or destruction of our third-party manufacturers’ or suppliers’ facilities or equipment may

significantly impair our ability to manufacture our product candidates on a timely basis.
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In addition, to manufacture our product candidates in the quantities we believe would be required to meet anticipated market
demand, our third-party manufacturers would likely need to increase manufacturing capacity and we may need to secure alternative

sources of commercial supply, which could involve significant challenges and may
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require additional regulatory approvals. In addition, the development of commercial-scale manufacturing capabilities may require us and
our third-party manufacturers to invest substantial additional funds and hire and retain the technical personnel who have the necessary
manufacturing experience. Neither we nor our third-party manufacturers may successfully complete any required increase to existing
manufacturing capacity in a timely manner, or at all. If our manufacturers or we are unable to purchase the raw materials necessary for
the manufacture of our product candidates on acceptable terms, at sufficient quality levels or in adequate quantities, if at all, the
commercial launch of our product candidates would be delayed or there would be a shortage in supply, which would impair our ability to

generate revenues from the sale of such product candidates, if approved.

We rely on third parties in the conduct of all of our preclinical studies and clinical trials. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties, fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements or meet expected

deadlines, we may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates.

We currently do not have the ability to independently conduct preclinical studies or clinical trials that comply with the regulatory

requirements known as good laboratory practice, or GLP, requirements or GCP requirements, respectively. The FDA and regulatory
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authorities in other jurisdictions require us to comply with GCP requirements for conducting, monitoring, recording and reporting the
results of clinical trials, in order to ensure that the data and results are scientifically credible and accurate and that the trial subjects are
adequately informed of the potential risks of participating in clinical trials. We rely on medical institutions, clinical investigators, contract
laboratories and other third parties, such as CROs, to conduct GLP-compliant preclinical studies and GCP-compliant clinical trials on our
product candidates properly and on time. While we have agreements governing their activities, we control only certain aspects of their
activities and have limited influence over their actual performance. The third parties with whom we contract for execution of our GLP-
compliant preclinical studies and our GCP-compliant clinical trials play a significant role in the conduct of these studies and the
subsequent collection and analysis of data. These third parties are not our employees and, except for restrictions imposed by our
contracts with such third parties, we have limited ability to control the amount or timing of resources that they devote to our programs.
Although we rely on these third parties to conduct our GLP-compliant preclinical studies and GCP-compliant clinical trials, we remain
responsible for ensuring that each of our preclinical studies and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with its investigational plan and

protocol and applicable laws and regulations, and our reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities.

Many of the third parties with whom we contract may also have relationships with other commercial entities, including our
competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical trials or other drug development activities that could harm our competitive
position. If the third parties conducting our preclinical studies or our clinical trials do not adequately perform their contractual duties or
obligations, experience significant business challenges, disruptions or failures, do not meet expected deadlines, terminate their
agreements with us or need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to their failure to
adhere to our protocols or to GLPs or GCPs, or for any other reason, we may need to enter into new arrangements with alternative third
parties. This could be difficult, costly or impossible, and our preclinical studies or clinical trials may need to be extended, delayed,
terminated or repeated. As a result we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval in a timely fashion, or at all, for the applicable
product candidate, our business, financial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs

could increase, and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed.

If we are not successful in identifying, developing and commercializing additional product candidates, our ability to expand

our business and achieve our strategic objectives would be impaired.

Although a substantial amount of our effort will focus on the continued development and potential approval of our current product
candidates, a key element of our strategy is to identify, develop and commercialize a portfolio of products that address classical
complement-mediated autoimmune and neurodegenerative diseases. A component of our strategy is to evaluate our product candidates
in multiple indications based, in part, on our evaluation of certain biomarkers in a disease area. For example, we intend to evaluate
ANXO005 in neurodegenerative diseases, including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, or ALS, and Huntington’s disease, or HD; however, we
are continuing to evaluate ANXO005 in these patient populations, and even if we believe we have obtained positive clinical results in

patients
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with one of these neurodegenerative diseases, such results may not be replicated in later studies evaluating ANX005 in patients with the

same disease or across other neurodegenerative or autoimmune diseases. Even though we are
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currently developing a pipeline of product candidates, our development efforts may still fail to yield product candidates potentially

suitable for commercialization for many reasons, including the following:

. competitors may develop alternatives that render our product candidates obsolete;
. product candidates we develop may be covered by third parties’ patents or other exclusive rights;
. a product candidate may be shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate it is unlikely to be effecti

otherwise does not meet applicable regulatory criteria;
. a product candidate may not be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at an acceptable cost, or at all; and

. a product candidate may not be accepted as safe and effective by physicians and patients.

We therefore cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to successfully identify or acquire additional product candidates,
advance any of these additional product candidates through the development process, successfully commercialize any such additional
product candidates, if approved, or assemble sufficient resources to identify, acquire, develop or, if approved, commercialize additional
product candidates. If we are unable to successfully identify, acquire, develop and commercialize additional product candidates, our

commercial opportunities may be limited.

We face significant competition in an environment of rapid technological and scientific change, and our product candidates, if
approved, will face significant competition, which may prevent us from achieving significant market penetration. Most of our

competitors have significantly greater resources than we do, and we may not be able to successfully compete.

The pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries in particular are characterized by rapidly advancing
technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis on developing proprietary therapeutics. Numerous companies are engaged in
the development, patenting, manufacturing and marketing of healthcare products competitive with those that we are developing. We
face competition from a number of sources, such as pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, generic drug
companies and academic and research institutions, many of which have greater financial resources, marketing capabilities, sales forces,
manufacturing capabilities, research and development capabilities, clinical trial expertise, intellectual property portfolios, experience in
obtaining patents and regulatory approvals for product candidates and other resources than we do. Some of the companies also have a
broad range of other product offerings, large direct sales forces and long-term customer relationships with our target physicians, which
could inhibit our market penetration efforts. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology
industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early-stage
companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established
companies. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and
establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or

necessary for, our programs.

Certain alternative treatments offered by competitors may be available at lower prices and may offer greater efficacy or better
safety profiles. Furthermore, currently approved products could be discovered to have application for the intended indication of our
product candidates, which could give such products significant regulatory and market timing advantages over any of our product
candidates. Our competitors also may obtain FDA, European Medicines Agency, or EMA, or other regulatory approval for their products

more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours and may obtain orphan product exclusivity from the FDA for indications our product
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candidates are targeting, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able to enter the
market. For example, with respect to ANXO007, there are two approved products for GA which may pose significant competition for
ANXO007, if approved. For additional information regarding our competition, see the section captioned titled “Business—Competition” in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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The successful commercialization of our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which governmental
authorities and health insurers establish adequate coverage, reimbursement levels and pricing policies. Failure to obtain or
maintain coverage and adequate reimbursement for our product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability to market those

products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

The availability and adequacy of coverage and reimbursement by governmental healthcare programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid, private health insurers and other third-party payors are essential for most patients to be able to afford prescription medications
such as our product candidates, if approved. Our ability to achieve acceptable levels of coverage and reimbursement for products by
governmental authorities, private health insurers and other organizations will have an effect on our ability to successfully commercialize
our product candidates. Obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement for our products may be particularly difficult because of the
higher prices often associated with drugs administered under the supervision of a physician. Even if we obtain coverage for our product
candidates by a third-party payor, the resulting reimbursement payment rates may not be adequate or may require co-payments that
patients find unacceptably high. For products administered under the supervision of a physician, obtaining coverage and adequate
reimbursement may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices often associated with such drugs. Additionally, separate
reimbursement for the product itself or the treatment or procedure in which the product is used may not be available, which may impact
physician utilization. We cannot be sure that coverage and reimbursement in the United States, the EU or elsewhere will be available for
our product candidates or any product that we may develop, and any reimbursement that may become available may be decreased or

eliminated in the future.

Third-party payors increasingly are challenging prices charged for pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology products
and services, and many third-party payors may refuse to provide coverage and reimbursement for particular drugs or biologics when an
equivalent generic drug, biosimilar or a less expensive therapy is available. It is possible that a third-party payor may consider our
product candidates as substitutable and only offer to reimburse patients for the cost of the less expensive product. Even if we show
improved efficacy or improved convenience of administration with our product candidates, pricing of existing third-party therapeutics may
limit the amounts we will be able to charge for our product candidates. These payors may deny or revoke the reimbursement status of a
given product or establish prices for new or existing marketed products at levels that are too low to enable us to realize an appropriate
return on our investment in our product candidates. If reimbursement is not available or is available only at limited levels, we may not be
able to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may not be able to obtain a satisfactory financial return on our

investment in the development of product candidates.
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There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In the United
States, third-party payors, including private and governmental payors, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs, play an important
role in determining the extent to which new drugs and biologics will be covered. The Medicare and Medicaid programs increasingly are
used as models in the United States for how private payors and other governmental payors develop their coverage and reimbursement
policies for drugs and biologics. Some third-party payors may require pre-approval of coverage for new or innovative devices or drug
therapies before they will reimburse healthcare providers who use such therapies. We cannot predict at this time what third-party payors

will decide with respect to the coverage and reimbursement for our product candidates.

No uniform policy for coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors in the United States. Therefore,
coverage and reimbursement for products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process is
often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our product
candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be applied consistently or
obtained in the first instance. Furthermore, rules and regulations regarding reimbursement change frequently, in some cases on short

notice, and we believe that changes in these rules and regulations are likely.

Outside the United States, international operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price controls and other
market regulations, and we believe the increasing emphasis on cost-containment initiatives in Europe and other foreign jurisdictions
have and will continue to put pressure on the pricing and usage of our product candidates. In many countries, the prices of medical
products are subject to varying price control mechanisms as part of national health systems. Other countries allow companies to fix their
own prices for medical products but monitor and control company profits. Additional foreign price controls or other changes in pricing

regulation could restrict the
50
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amounts that we are able to charge for our product candidates. Accordingly, in markets outside the United States, the reimbursement for
our product candidates may be reduced compared with the United States and may be insufficient to generate commercially reasonable

revenue and profits.

Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors in the United States and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare
costs may cause such organizations to limit both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly approved products, and, as a
result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our product candidates. We expect to experience pricing pressures in
connection with the sale of our product candidates due to the trend toward managed health care, the increasing influence of health
maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly
prescription drugs and biologics and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become intense. As a result, increasingly high

barriers are being erected to the entry of new products.
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We currently have no sales organization. If we are unable to establish sales capabilities on our own or through third parties,
we may not be able to market and sell our product candidates, if approved, effectively in the United States and foreign

jurisdictions or generate product revenue.

We currently do not have a marketing or sales organization. In order to commercialize our product candidates in the United States
and foreign jurisdictions, we must build our marketing, sales, distribution, managerial and other non-technical capabilities or make
arrangements with third parties to perform these services, and we may not be successful in doing so. If any of our product candidates
receive regulatory approval, we expect to establish a sales organization with technical expertise and supporting distribution capabilities
to commercialize each such product candidate, which will be expensive and time consuming. We have no prior experience in the
marketing, sale and distribution of pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology products, and there are significant risks
involved in building and managing a sales organization, including our ability to hire, retain and incentivize qualified individuals, generate
sufficient sales leads, provide adequate training to sales and marketing personnel and effectively manage a geographically dispersed
sales and marketing team. Any failure or delay in the development of our internal sales, marketing and distribution capabilities would
adversely impact the commercialization of these products. We may choose to collaborate with third parties that have direct sales forces
and established distribution systems, either to augment our own sales force and distribution systems or in lieu of our own sales force
and distribution systems. If we are unable to enter into such arrangements on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to
successfully commercialize our product candidates. If we are not successful in commercializing our product candidates or any future
product candidates, either on our own or through arrangements with one or more third parties, we may not be able to generate any

future product revenue and we would incur significant additional losses.

We will need to increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing growth.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had 8071 full-time employees. We will need to continue to expand our
managerial, operational, finance and other resources in order to manage our operations and clinical trials, continue our development
activities and commercialize our product candidates or any future product candidates. Our management and personnel, systems and
facilities currently in place may not be adequate to support this future growth. Our need to effectively execute our growth strategy

requires that we:

. manage our clinical trials effectively;

. identify, recruit, retain, incentivize and integrate additional employees, including sales personnel;

. manage our internal development and operational efforts effectively while carrying out our contractual obligations to third pa
and

. continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, reports systems and procedures.

If we fail to attract and retain senior management and key scientific personnel, our business may be materially and adversely
affected.

Our success depends in part on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management and clinical and

scientific personnel. We are highly dependent upon members of our senior management, as well as
51
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our senior scientists. The loss of services of any of these individuals could delay or prevent the successful development of our product
pipeline, initiation or completion of our planned clinical trials or the commercialization of our product candidates or any future product

candidates.

For example, we are engaged in a search for a chief medical officer, and we may experience difficulties or delays in identifying a
qualified replacement. We cannot guarantee that we will not face turnover in the future. Our ability to execute our business strategies
may be adversely affected by the uncertainty associated with any transition and the time and management attention needed to fill any

vacant role could disrupt our business.

Competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology field is intense due to the limited
number of individuals who possess the skills and experience required by our industry. We will need to hire additional personnel as we
expand our clinical development and if we initiate commercial activities. We may not be able to attract and retain quality personnel on
acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that they have
been improperly solicited or that they have divulged proprietary or other confidential information, or that their former employers own their

research output.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit

commercialization of our current or future product candidates.

We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical testing of our product candidates and will face an even greater
risk if we commercialize any products. For example, we may be sued if any product we develop allegedly causes injury or is found to be
otherwise unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such product liability claims may include allegations
of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product, negligence, strict liability and breach
of warranty. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against
product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our product candidates. Even a
successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome,

liability claims may result in:

. decreased demand for our current or future product candidates;
. injury to our reputation;
. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
. costs to defend the related litigation;
. diversion of management’s time and our resources;
. substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;
. regulatory investigations, product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;
. loss of revenue; and
. the inability to commercialize our current or any future product candidates.
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If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost and scope of coverage to protect
against potential product liability claims, the commercialization of our current or any future product candidates we develop could be
inhibited or prevented. We currently carry product liability insurance covering our clinical trials. Although we maintain such insurance,
any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in an amount that is not covered, in whole or in
part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. Our insurance policies also have various exclusions
and deductibles, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have no coverage. We will have to pay any amounts
awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we
may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient funds to pay such amounts. Moreover, in the future, we may not be able to maintain
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses. If and when we obtain approval for

marketing any of our product candidates, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to
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include the sale of such product candidate; however, we may be unable to obtain this liability insurance on commercially reasonable
terms or at all.
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Any collaboration arrangements that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our

ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates.

While we have not entered into any collaboration agreements to date, we may seek collaboration arrangements for the
commercialization, or potentially for the development, of certain of our product candidates depending on the merits of retaining
commercialization rights for ourselves as compared to entering into collaboration arrangements. For example, certain of the disease
areas that we believe our product candidates address, including, among others, ophthalmic indications, require large, costly and later-
stage clinical trials, which a collaboration partner may be better positioned to finance and/or conduct. In addition, a component of our
strategy is to maximize the commercial value of our current and future product candidates, which may also strategically align with
partnering commercial rights with partners that have larger and established sales organizations. To the extent that we decide to enter
into collaboration agreements, we may face significant competition for appropriate collaborators. Moreover, collaboration arrangements
are complex and time-consuming to negotiate, document, implement and maintain and challenging to manage. We may not be
successful in our efforts to enter into collaboration agreements. The terms of collaborations or other arrangements that we may establish
may not be favorable to us.

The success of our collaboration arrangements will depend heavily on the efforts and activities of our collaborators. Collaborations
are subject to numerous risks, which may include risks that:

. collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to collaborations;
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collaborators may not pursue development and commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or re
development or commercialization programs based on clinical trial results, changes in their strategic focus due to their acquis
of competitive products or their internal development of competitive products, availability of funding or other external factors,
as a business combination that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial, abandon a prc
candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly witr
products or product candidates;

collaborators with marketing, manufacturing and distribution rights to one or more products may not commit sufficient resourc
or otherwise not perform satisfactorily in carrying out these activities;

we could grant exclusive rights to our collaborators that would prevent us from collaborating with others;

collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprit
information in a way that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual propet
proprietary information or expose us to potential liability;

disputes may arise between us and collaborators that cause the delay or termination of the research, developmer
commercialization of our current or future product candidates or that result in costly litigation or arbitration that di
management attention and resources;

collaborations may be terminated, and, if terminated, this may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further develop!
or commercialization of the applicable current or future product candidates;

collaborators may own or co-own intellectual property covering products that result from our collaborating with them, and in
cases, we would not have the exclusive right to develop or commercialize such intellectual property;
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disputes may arise with respect to the ownership of any intellectual property developed pursuant to our collaborations; and

collaborators’ sales and marketing activities or other operations may not be in compliance with applicable laws resulting in ci
criminal proceedings.
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Unfavorable global and macroeconomic or political conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or

results of operations.

Our business is susceptible to general conditions in the global economy and in the global financial markets. Global financial crises

and global or regional political disruptions have caused, and could in the future cause, extreme volatility in the capital and credit

markets. A severe or prolonged economic downturn, including a recession or depression,,_ recent and potential bank failures, the current

inflationary economic environment, rising interest rates, debt and equity market fluctuations, diminished liquidity and credit availability,

increased unemployment rates, decreased investor and consumer confidence, supply chain challenges, natural catastrophes, the
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effects of climate change, regional and global conflicts and terrorist attacks or political disruption or turmoil could result in a variety of
risks to our business, including weakened demand for our product candidates or any future product candidates, if approved, and our
ability to raise additional capital when needed on acceptable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy or political disruption could
also strain our manufacturers or suppliers, possibly resulting in supply disruption, or cause our customers to delay making payments for
our potential products. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects, and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the political or economic climate and financial market conditions could

adversely impact our business.

We or the third parties upon whom we depend on may be adversely affected by earthquakes or other natural disasters, and our

business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster.

Our corporate headquarters and other facilities are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, which has experienced both severe
earthquakes and the effects of wildfires. We do not carry earthquake insurance. Earthquakes, wildfires or other natural disasters could
severely disrupt our operations, and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and

prospects.

If a natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our
headquarters, that damaged critical infrastructure or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may be difficult or, in certain cases,
impossible, for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. The disaster recovery and business continuity plans we have
in place currently are limited and are unlikely to prove adequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event. We may incur
substantial expenses as a result of the limited nature of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which, particularly when

taken together with our lack of earthquake insurance, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Furthermore, integral parties in our supply chain are similarly vulnerable to natural disasters or other sudden, unforeseen and

severe adverse events. If such an event were to affect our supply chain, it could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our employees and independent contractors, including principal investigators, consultants, any future commercial
collaborators, service providers and other vendors, may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including

noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees and independent contractors, including principal investigators, consultants, any
future commercial collaborators, service providers and other vendors may engage in misconduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by
these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or other unauthorized activities that violate the laws and
regulations of the FDA and other similar regulatory bodies, including those laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate
information to such regulatory bodies; manufacturing standards; U.S. federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse, data privacy laws

and other similar non-U.S. laws; or laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. Activities
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subject to these laws also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, the
creation of fraudulent data in our preclinical studies or clinical trials, or illegal misappropriation of product, which could result in
regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees
and other third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or

unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us
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from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with such laws or regulations. In
addition, we are subject to the risk that a person or government could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If
any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could
have a significant impact on our business and financial results, including, without limitation, the imposition of significant civil, criminal and
administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgements, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and
other U.S. healthcare programs, other sanctions, imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future
earnings and curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of
operations.

Our business involves the use of hazardous materials, and we and our third-party manufacturers and suppliers must comply

with environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive and restrict how we do business.

Our research and development activities and our third-party manufacturers’ and suppliers’ activities involve the controlled storage,
use and disposal of hazardous materials owned by us, including the components of our product candidates and other hazardous
compounds. We and any third-party manufacturers and suppliers are subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental, health
and safety laws, regulations and permitting requirements, including those governing laboratory procedures; the generation, handling,
use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous and regulated materials and wastes; the emission and discharge of hazardous
materials into the ground, air and water; and employee health and safety. Our operations involve the use of hazardous and flammable
materials, including chemicals and biological and radioactive materials. Our operations also produce hazardous waste. In some cases,
these hazardous materials and various wastes resulting from their use are stored at our and our manufacturers’ facilities pending their
use and disposal. We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of
contamination, which could cause an interruption of our commercialization efforts, research and development efforts and business
operations, and environmental damage resulting in costly clean-up and liabilities under applicable laws and regulations governing the
use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specified waste products.

We cannot guarantee that the safety procedures utilized by our third-party manufacturers for handling and disposing of these
materials comply with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, nor can we eliminate the risk of accidental contamination
or injury from these materials. Under certain environmental laws, we could be held responsible for costs relating to any contamination at
our current or past facilities and at third-party facilities. In such an event, we may be held liable for any resulting damages and such
liability could exceed our resources, and state or federal or other applicable authorities may curtail our use of certain materials and/or
interrupt our business operations. Furthermore, environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and have tended to

become more stringent. We cannot predict the impact of such changes and cannot be certain of our future compliance.

Compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations may be expensive, and current or future environmental laws and
regulations may impair our research, product development and manufacturing efforts. In addition, we cannot entirely eliminate the risk of

accidental injury or contamination from hazardous materials or wastes. Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover
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us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance
may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not carry specific biological or hazardous waste insurance
coverage, and our property, casualty and general liability insurance policies specifically exclude coverage for damages and fines arising
from biological or hazardous waste exposure or contamination. Accordingly, in the event of contamination or injury, we could be held
liable for damages or be penalized with fines in an amount exceeding our resources, and our clinical trials or regulatory approvals could

be suspended, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property

Our current and any future product candidates or products could be alleged to infringe patent rights and other proprietary
rights of third parties, which may require costly litigation and, if we are not successful, could cause us to pay substantial

damages and/or limit our ability to commercialize our products.

Our commercial success depends on our ability to develop, manufacture and market our current and any future product
candidates that may be approved for sale, and to use our proprietary technology without infringing the patents and other proprietary
rights of third parties. Intellectual property disputes can be costly to defend and may cause our business, results of operations and
financial condition to suffer. We operate in an industry with extensive intellectual property litigation. As the pharmaceutical,
biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that there may be patents
issued to third parties that relate to our products and technology of which we are not aware or that we may need to challenge to continue

our operations as currently contemplated.

Whether merited or not, we may face allegations that we have infringed the trademarks, copyrights, patents and other intellectual
property rights of third parties, including patents held by our competitors or by non-practicing entities. We may also face allegations that
our employees have misappropriated the intellectual property rights of their former employers or other third parties. Litigation may make
it necessary to defend ourselves by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third-party proprietary rights, or to establish our
proprietary rights. Regardless of whether claims that we are infringing patents or other intellectual property rights have merit, such
litigation can be time consuming, divert management attention and financial resources and are costly to evaluate and defend. There can
be no assurance with respect to the outcome of any current or future litigation brought by or against us, and the outcome of any such
litigation could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Litigation is inherently
unpredictable, and outcomes are uncertain. Further, as the costs and outcome of such litigation can vary significantly, it is difficult to
estimate potential losses that may occur. As a result of such litigation, we may be required to stop treating certain conditions, obtain
licenses or modify our products and features while we develop non-infringing substitutes, or may result in significant settlement costs or
royalty obligations. For example, litigation can involve substantial damages for infringement, and if the court finds that the infringement

was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and the patent owner’s attorneys’ fees. We may also be prohibited from selling
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or licensing our products unless the third-party licenses rights to us, which it is not required to do at a commercially reasonable price or
at all. If a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties or upfront fees or grant cross-licenses to
intellectual property rights for our products. We may also have to redesign our products so they do not infringe third-party intellectual
property rights, which may not be possible or may require substantial monetary expenditures and time, during which our products may
not be available for manufacture, use or sale. Accordingly, we are unable at this time to estimate the effects of these potential future

lawsuits on our financial condition, operations or cash flows.

Additionally, some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can.
Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur significant
expenses and could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be
public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or
investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Any
uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the

funds necessary to continue our operations.

Although we have reviewed certain third-party patents and patent filings that we believe may be relevant to our product
candidates, we have not conducted a comprehensive freedom-to-operate search or analysis for any of our product candidates, and we
may not be aware of patents or pending or future patent applications that, if issued, would block us from commercializing our product
candidates. Additionally, the scope of a patent claim is determined by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure in a patent and
the patent’s prosecution history. Our interpretation of the relevance or the scope of a patent or a pending application may be incorrect,
which may negatively impact our ability to commercialize our product candidates. Thus, we cannot guarantee that our activities related

to their product candidates, or our commercialization, do not and will not infringe any third party’s intellectual property.

In addition, patent applications in the United States and many other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after

the filing of certain priority documents (or, in some cases, are not published until they issue as
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patents), and publications in the scientific literature often lag behind actual discoveries. Therefore, we cannot be certain that others have
not filed patent applications or made public disclosures relating to our technology or our contemplated technology. A third party may
have already filed, and may in the future file, patent applications covering our product candidates or technology similar to ours. Any such
patent application may have priority over our patent applications or patents, which could further require us to obtain rights to issued
patents covering such technologies. If another party has filed a U.S. patent application on inventions similar to ours, depending on
whether the timing of the filing date falls under certain patent laws, we may have to participate in a priority contest (such as an
interference proceeding) declared by the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, to determine priority of invention in

the United States. The costs of patent litigation and other proceedings related to the protection of our global patent position could be
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substantial, and it is possible that such efforts would be unsuccessful, resulting in a loss of our patent position with respect to such

invention.

If we are unable to obtain, maintain and enforce intellectual property protection directed to our current and any future
technologies that we develop, others may be able to make, use or sell products substantially the same as ours, which could

adversely affect our ability to compete in the market.

The market for pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals is highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change. Our
success depends, in part, upon our ability to maintain a competitive position in the development and protection of technologies and any
future products for use in these fields and upon our ability to obtain, maintain and enforce our intellectual property rights. We seek to
obtain and maintain patents and other intellectual property rights to restrict the ability of others to market products that misappropriate
our technology and/or infringe our intellectual property to unfairly and illegally compete with any future products. If we are unable to
protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights, including due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business
operations, our competitive position and our business could be harmed, as third parties may be able to make, use or sell products that
are substantially the same as any future products we may sell without incurring the sizeable development and licensing costs that we

have incurred, which would adversely affect our ability to compete in the market.

We use a combination of patents, trademarks, know-how, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our
proprietary technology. However, these protections may not be adequate and may not provide us with any competitive advantage. For
example, patents may not issue from any of our currently pending or any future patent applications, and our issued patents and any
future patents that may issue may not survive legal challenges to their scope, validity or enforceability, or provide significant protection

for us.

We have not pursued or maintained, and may not pursue or maintain in the future, patent protection for our product candidates in
every country or territory in which we may sell our products. In addition, we cannot be sure that any of our pending patent applications or
pending trademark applications will issue or that, if issued, they will issue in a form that will provide adequate protection for our products.
The USPTO, patent offices in other jurisdictions, or judicial or other bodies in any jurisdiction may deny or significantly narrow claims
made under our patent applications, and claims in our issued patents may be invalidated, may be designed around or may otherwise be
unable to provide us with protection for our products. Further, the USPTO, trademark offices in other jurisdictions, or judicial or other
bodies in any jurisdiction may deny our trademark applications and, even if published or registered, these trademarks may not effectively

protect our brand and goodwill. Like patents, trademarks also may be successfully opposed or challenged.

We cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use or unauthorized reverse engineering of our
technology that is material to our business. Moreover, third parties may independently develop technologies that are competitive with
ours and such competitive technologies may or may not infringe our intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual property
rights also depends on the success of any legal actions we may take against these third parties in the respective country or forum, but
these actions may not be successful. As with all granted intellectual property, such intellectual property may be challenged, invalidated

or circumvented, may not provide protection and/or may not prove to be enforceable in actions against specific alleged infringers.

If we or any future collaborators we may have were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering
one of our product candidates or future product candidates, the defendant could counterclaim that our patent is invalid and/or
unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are

commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to
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meet any of several statutory requirements, including obviousness or lack of novelty, enablement or written description. Grounds for an
unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information
from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties may also raise similar claims before the USPTO
even outside the context of litigation. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With
respect to validity, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art of which we and the patent examiner were
unaware during prosecution, or that a defendant would not prevail on an assertion of invalidity based on prior art that we were aware of
during prosecution. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and/or unenforceability, we would lose at least part,
and perhaps all, of the patent protection on our product candidates. Such a loss of patent protection would have a material adverse

impact on our business.

Even if claims in our patents survive assertions of invalidity and unenforceability, they may not be broad enough to prevent others
from marketing products similar to ours or designing around our patents. For example, third parties may be able to make products that
are similar to ours but that are not covered by the claims of our patents. The claims of our issued patents or patent applications when

issued may not cover our product candidates or any future products that we develop.

Patent law can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important principles remain
unresolved. In the United States and in many other jurisdictions, policies regarding the breadth of claims allowed in patents can be
inconsistent. The U.S. Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit have made, and will likely continue to make,
changes in how the patent laws of the United States are interpreted. Similarly, courts in other jurisdictions have made, and will likely
continue to make, changes in how the patent laws in their respective jurisdictions are interpreted. We cannot predict future changes in
the interpretation of patent laws or changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law by U.S. and international legislative bodies.
Those changes may materially affect the patents and patent applications of our licensors, our existing or future patents and patent

applications and our ability to obtain additional patents in the future.

Patent reform legislation in the United States could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents. For example, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America
Invents Act, or Leahy-Smith Act, was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith Act included a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law.
These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art, may affect patent litigation and switch
the U.S. patent system from a “first-to-invent” system to a “first-to-file” system. Under a “first-to-file” system, assuming the other
requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application generally will be entitled to the patent on an invention
regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. The USPTO has developed regulations and procedures to
govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act,
and in particular, the first-to-file provisions, only became effective on March 16, 2013. The Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could

increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our
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issued patents, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. Any future changes in the patent

laws of the United States, or even the possibility of such changes, may further increase these uncertainties and costs.

The USPTO and various patent agencies in other jurisdictions require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee,
annuity payment and other provisions to maintain patent applications and issued patents. Although an inadvertent lapse, including due
to the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on us or our patent maintenance vendors, can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee
or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance with these requirements can
result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant
jurisdiction.

In addition, we have a number of patents and patent applications outside of the United States and expect to continue to pursue
patent protection in many of the significant markets in which we intend to do business. The laws of some international jurisdictions do
not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as laws in the United States, and many companies have encountered
significant difficulties in obtaining, protecting and defending such rights in certain jurisdictions outside of the United States. If we
encounter such difficulties or we are otherwise precluded from effectively protecting our intellectual property rights in international
jurisdictions, our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. Earlier

patent
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filings in certain international countries may also permit third parties to allege priority to certain technology in those countries.

Patent terms may be shortened or lengthened in certain jurisdictions by, for example, terminal disclaimers, patent term
adjustments, supplemental protection certificates and patent term extensions. Patent term extensions and supplemental protection
certificates, and the like, may be impacted by the regulatory process and may not significantly lengthen patent term. Non-payment or
delay in payment of patent extension filing (including any patent term extension or adjustment filing) fees, whether intentional or
unintentional, may also result in the loss of patent rights important to our business. Certain countries have compulsory licensing laws
under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to other parties. In addition, many countries limit the enforceability of
patents against other parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have

limited remedies, which could materially diminish the value of any patents.

Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and costly. From time to time, we review our competitors’
products, and may in the future seek to enforce our patents or other rights against potential infringement. However, the steps we have
taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our intellectual property. We may not be able
to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. Our competitors may also

independently develop similar technology. Any inability to meaningfully protect our intellectual property could result in competitors
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offering products competitive to our products. In addition, we may need to defend our patents from third-party challenges, such as
interferences, derivation proceedings, re-examination proceedings, post-grant review, inter partes review, third-party submissions,

oppositions, nullity actions or other patent proceedings. We may need to initiate infringement claims or litigation.

Adverse proceedings such as litigation can be expensive, time consuming and may divert the efforts of our technical and
managerial personnel, which could in turn materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects, whether or not we receive a determination favorable to us. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court or other judicial
body may decide that the patent we seek to enforce is invalid or unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party from using the
technology at issue on the grounds that the patent in question does not cover the technology in question or that stopping the other party
would harm the public interest. An adverse result in any litigation could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly. Some of our competitors may be able to devote significantly more resources to intellectual property litigation, and
may have significantly broader patent portfolios to assert against us if we assert our rights against them. Further, because of the
substantial discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information

could be disclosed or otherwise compromised during litigation.

We may not be able to correctly estimate or control our future operating expenses in relation to obtaining intellectual property,
enforcing intellectual property and/or defending intellectual property, which could affect operating expenses. Our operating expenses
may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of a variety of factors, including the costs of preparing, filing, prosecuting, defending
and enforcing patent and trademark claims and other intellectual property-related costs, including adverse proceedings and litigation

costs.

If we are unable to prevent disclosure of our trade secrets or other confidential information to third parties, our competitive

position may be impaired.

In addition to the protection afforded by patents, we rely on confidentiality agreements to protect confidential information and
proprietary know-how that is not patentable or that we elect not to patent, processes for which patents are difficult to enforce and any
other elements of our product candidate discovery and development processes that involve proprietary know-how, information or
technology that is not covered by patents. We seek to protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by entering into
confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors and contractors. We cannot guarantee that we have
entered into such agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our confidential information or proprietary
technology and processes. We also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our data and other confidential information by
maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our information technology systems. Agreements or
security measures may be breached and detecting the disclosure or misappropriation of confidential information and enforcing a claim

that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated confidential information is
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difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. Further, we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for
any breach. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and
failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business position. Furthermore, the laws of
some other jurisdictions do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United States. As
a result, we may encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property both in the United States and in
other jurisdictions. In addition, our confidential information may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by
competitors, in which case we would have no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or
information to compete with us. The failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business

position.

We license patent rights from third-party owners. Such licenses may be subject to early termination if we fail to comply with
our obligations in our licenses with third parties, which could result in the loss of rights or technology that are material to our

business.

We are or may become a party to licenses that give us rights to third-party intellectual property that are necessary or useful for
our business, and we may enter into additional licenses in the future. Under these license agreements, we are or may become obligated
to pay the licensor fees, which may include annual license fees, milestone payments, royalties, a percentage of revenues associated
with the licensed technology and a percentage of sublicensing revenue. These fees may be significant, which could make it difficult for
us to achieve or maintain profitability. In addition, under certain of such agreements, we are or may become required to diligently pursue
the development of products using the licensed technology. If we fail to comply with these obligations including due to the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on our business operations or our use of the intellectual property licensed to us in an unauthorized manner, and fail
to cure our breach within a specified period of time, the licensor may have the right to terminate the applicable license, in which event
we could lose valuable rights and technology that are material to our business, harming our ability to develop, manufacture and/or
commercialize our platform or product candidates. If the licensor retains control of prosecution of the patents and patent applications
licensed to us, we may have limited or no control over the manner in which the licensor chooses to prosecute or maintain its patents and
patent applications and have limited or no right to continue to prosecute any patents or patent applications that the licensor elects to

abandon.

If the licensor retains control of prosecution of the patents and patent applications licensed to us, we may have limited or no
control over the manner in which the licensor chooses to prosecute or maintain its patents and patent applications and have limited or

no right to continue to prosecute any patents or patent applications that the licensor elects to abandon.

The licensing and acquisition of third-party intellectual property rights is a competitive practice, and companies that may be more
established, or have greater resources than we do, may also be pursuing strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property
rights that we may consider necessary or attractive in order to commercialize our product candidates. More established companies may
have a competitive advantage over us due to their larger size and cash resources or greater clinical development and commercialization
capabilities. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully complete such negotiations and ultimately acquire the rights

to the intellectual property surrounding the additional product candidates that we may seek to acquire.

Our intellectual property agreements with third parties may be subject to disagreements over contract interpretation, which
could narrow the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology or increase our financial or other

obligations to our licensors.
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Certain provisions in our intellectual property agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any
contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could affect the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology,
or affect financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,

financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In addition, while it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development
of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an
agreement with each party who in fact conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. Our assignment

agreements may not be self-executing or may be breached, and
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we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what

we regard as our intellectual property.

We may wish to form collaborations in the future with respect to our product candidates, but may not be able to do so or to
realize the potential benefits of such transactions, which may cause us to alter or delay our development and

commercialization plans.

Our product candidates may also require specific components to work effectively and efficiently, and rights to those components
may be held by others. Any delays in entering into new collaborations or strategic partnership agreements related to our product
candidates could delay the development and commercialization of our product candidates in certain geographies, which could harm our

business prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We jointly own certain patent rights with third parties. Our ability to out-license these patent rights, or to prevent the third
party from out-licensing these patent rights, may be limited in certain countries.

We jointly own certain patents and patent applications with third parties, and may jointly own patents and patent applications with
third parties in the future. Unless we enter into an agreement with the joint owner, we will be subject to certain default rules pertaining to
joint ownership. Certain countries require the consent of all joint owners to license jointly owned patents, and if we are unable to obtain
such consent from the joint owner, we may not be able to license our rights under these patents and patent applications. In certain other
countries, including the United States, the joint owner could license its rights under these patents and patent applications to another

party without our consent and without any duty of accounting to us.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship or ownership of our patents and other intellectual property.
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We may also be subject to claims that former employees, any future collaborators or other third parties have an ownership interest
in our patents or other intellectual property. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging
inventorship or ownership. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights and could even face litigation for infringing patents that we had regarded as ours. Such an outcome could
have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in

substantial costs and distraction to management and other employees.

We or our licensors may have relied on third-party consultants or collaborators or on funds from third parties, such as national
governments, such that we or our licensors are not the sole and exclusive owners of the patents we in-licensed. If other third parties
have ownership rights or other rights to our patents, including in-licensed patents, they may be able to license such patents to our
competitors, and our competitors could market competing products and technology. This could have a material adverse effect on our

competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects.

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our

markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected.

Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic or
conflict with third-party rights. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build
name recognition with potential partners, physicians or patients in our markets of interest. During trademark registration proceedings,
our trademark applications may be rejected. Although we are given an opportunity to respond to those rejections, we may be unable to
overcome such rejections. In addition, in the USPTO and in comparable agencies in many foreign jurisdictions, third parties can oppose
pending trademark applications and seek to cancel registered trademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against
our trademarks, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings. Furthermore, third parties may file first for our trademarks in
certain countries. If they succeeded in registering such trademarks, and if we are not successful in challenging such third-party rights,

we may not be able to use these trademarks to market our future products in those
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countries. We may license our trademarks and trade names to third parties, such as distributors. Though these license agreements may
provide guidelines for how our trademarks and trade names may be used, a breach of these agreements or misuse of our trademarks
and tradenames by our licensees may jeopardize our rights in or diminish the goodwill associated with our trademarks and trade names.
In such cases, over the long term, if we are unable to establish and maintain name recognition based on our trademarks and trade

names, then our commercial success abilities may be impacted.

Moreover, any name we propose to use with our product candidates in the United States or any other country must be approved

by the FDA, EMA or any other relevant health authority regardless of whether we have registered it, or applied to register it, as a
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trademark. The FDA as well as EMA typically conducts a review of proposed product names, including an evaluation of potential for
confusion with other product names. If the FDA, EMA or any other relevant approval authority objects to any of our proposed proprietary
product names, we may be required to expend significant additional resources in an effort to identify a suitable substitute name that
would qualify under applicable trademark laws, not infringe the existing rights of third parties and be acceptable to the FDA, EMA or any
other relevant approval authority.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing and prosecuting patent applications, and defending patents, related to our product candidates in all countries throughout the
world would be prohibitively expensive, and the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same
extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our
inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the
United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection
to develop their own products, and may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection but
enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with any future products we may sell, and our

patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents
and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals, which could make it
difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally.
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from
other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk
of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the
damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual
property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we
develop or license.

Risks Related to Government Regulation
Even if we obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate, our products will remain subject to regulatory scrutiny.

If our product candidates are approved, they will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements for manufacturing, labeling,
packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, sampling, record-keeping, conduct of post-marketing studies and submission of safety,
efficacy and other post-market information, including both federal and state requirements in the United States and requirements of

comparable foreign regulatory authorities.

Manufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA and comparable foreign regulatory
authority requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMP regulations. As such, we
and our contract manufacturers will be subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with cGMPs and adherence to

commitments made in any approved marketing application.
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Accordingly, we and others with whom we work must continue to expend time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance,
including manufacturing, production and quality control.

We will have to comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for any future products. Promotional
communications with respect to prescription drugs and biologics are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be
consistent with the information in the product’'s approved label. We may not promote products for indications or uses for which they do
not have approval. The holder of an approved application must submit new or supplemental applications and obtain approval for certain
changes to the approved product, product labeling or manufacturing process. We could also be asked to conduct post-marketing clinical
trials to verify the safety, purity, potency and/or efficacy of our products in general or in specific patient subsets. An unsuccessful post-

marketing study or failure to complete such a study could result in the withdrawal of marketing approval.

If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, or disagrees with the promotion, marketing or labeling of a
product, such regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product or us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the

market. If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency or enforcement authority may, among other

things:
. issue warning letters;
. impose civil or criminal penalties;
. suspend or withdraw regulatory approval;
. suspend any of our clinical trials;
. refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications submitted by us;
. impose restrictions on our operations, including closing our contract manufacturers’ facilities; or
. seize or detain products, or require a product recall.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response
and could generate negative publicity. Any failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affect
our ability to commercialize and generate revenue from any future products. If regulatory sanctions are applied or if regulatory approval

is withdrawn, the value of our company and our results of operations will be adversely affected.

Moreover, the policies of the FDA and of other regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may be
enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or
extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative or executive action, either in the United States or
abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we

are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may be subject to enforcement action and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.
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Enacted and future healthcare legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and

commercialize our product candidates and may affect the prices we may set.

In the United States, the EU and other jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of

legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes to the healthcare system that could affect our future results of operations. In

particular, there have been and continue to be a number of initiatives at the U.S. federal and state levels that seek to reduce healthcare

costs and improve the quality of healthcare. For example, in March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended

by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, or collectively the ACA, was enacted, which substantially changed the way

healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers. Among the provisions of the ACA, those of greatest importance to the

pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology industries include the following:

an annual, non-deductible fee payable by any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded prescription drugs and bio
agents (other than those designated as Orphan Drugs), which is

8063

apportioned among these entities according to their market share in certain government healthcare programs;

a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 70% 70.0% point-of:
discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a conc
for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D;

new requirements to report certain financial arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals, including reporting “transfe
value” made or distributed to prescribers and other healthcare providers and reporting investment interests held by physicians
their immediate family members;

an increase in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to 23.1%
13.0% of the average manufacturer price for branded and generic drugs, respectively;

a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for d
that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected;

extension of a manufacturer’'s Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs dispensed to individuals who are enrolled in Med
managed care organizations;

expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs by, among other things, allowing states to offer Medicaid coverage to ce
individuals with income at or below 133% 133.0% of the federal poverty level, thereby potentially increasing a manufact.
Medicaid rebate liability;

a licensure framework for follow on biologic products;

a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative cli
effectiveness research, along with funding for such research; and

establishment of a Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation at the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, tc
innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially including prescription
spending.
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Since its enactment, there have been judicial, Congressional and executive branch challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. On
June 17, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court dismissed the most recent judicial challenge to the ACA without specifically ruling on the
constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision, President Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special
enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021 for purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through the
ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies
and rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs
that include work requirements, and policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through

Medicaid or the ACA. It is unclear how other healthcare reform measures will impact our business.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. On March 11, 2021,
the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 was signed into law, which eliminates the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap, currently set at
100% of a drug’s average manufacturer price, or AMP, beginning January 1, 2024. Moreover, payment methodologies may be subject to
changes in healthcare legislation and regulatory initiatives. For example, CMS may develop new payment and delivery models, such as
bundled payment models.

In addition, recently there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their
marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation
designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under government payor
programs, and review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs. Most recently, on August 16, 2022, the
Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA, was signed into law. Among other things, the IRA requires manufacturers of certain drugs to
engage in price negotiations with Medicare (beginning in 2026), with prices that can be negotiated subject to a cap; imposes rebates

under Medicare Part B and Medicare Part D to penalize price increases that outpace inflation (first due in 2023); and replaces the Part
64

81

D coverage gap discount program with a new discounting program (beginning in 2025). The IRA permits the Secretary of the
Department of Health and Human Services to implement many of these provisions through guidance, as opposed to regulation, for the
initial years. For that and other reasons, it is currently unclear how the IRA will be effectuated. We expect that additional U.S. federal
healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that the U.S. federal government will pay

for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our product candidates or additional pricing pressures.

Individual states in the United States have also become increasingly active in passing legislation and implementing regulations
designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts,
restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to
encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. Legally mandated price controls on payment amounts by third-party

payors or other restrictions could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In
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addition, regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what
pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. This could

reduce the ultimate demand for our product candidates or put pressure on our product pricing.

In the EU, similar political, economic and regulatory developments may affect our ability to profitably commercialize our product
candidates, if approved. In addition to continuing pressure on prices and cost containment measures, legislative developments at the EU
or member state level may result in significant additional requirements or obstacles that may increase our operating costs. The delivery
of healthcare in the EU, including the establishment and operation of health services and the pricing and reimbursement of medicines, is
almost exclusively a matter for national, rather than EU, law and policy. National governments and health service providers have
different priorities and approaches to the delivery of health care and the pricing and reimbursement of products in that context. In
general, however, the healthcare budgetary constraints in most EU member states have resulted in restrictions on the pricing and
reimbursement of medicines by relevant health service providers. Coupled with ever-increasing EU and national regulatory burdens on
those wishing to develop and market products, this could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or
regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to commercialize our product candidates, if approved. In markets outside of the
United States and EU, reimbursement and healthcare payment systems vary significantly by country, and many countries have instituted

price ceilings on specific products and therapies.

We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative
or judicial action in the United States, the EU or any other jurisdiction. If we or any third parties we may engage are slow or unable to
adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we or such third parties are not able to
maintain regulatory compliance, our product candidates may lose any regulatory approval that may have been obtained and we may not

achieve or sustain profitability.

If we develop a small molecule product candidate that obtains regulatory approval, additional competitors could enter the

market with generic versions of such drugs, which may result in a material decline in sales of affected products.

Under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Act, a pharmaceutical
manufacturer may submit an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, seeking approval of a generic version of an approved, small
molecule innovator product. Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, a manufacturer may also submit an NDA under section 505(b)(2) of the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act that references the FDA's prior findings of safety and effectiveness of the small molecule
innovator product. For example, a 505(b)(2) NDA product may be for a new or improved version of the original innovator product. The
Hatch-Waxman Act also provides for certain periods of regulatory exclusivity, which preclude FDA approval (or in some circumstances,
FDA filing and review) of an ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA. In addition to the benefits of regulatory exclusivity, an innovator NDA holder may
have patents claiming the active ingredient, product formulation or an approved use of the drug, which would be listed with the product
in the FDA publication, “Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations,” known as the Orange Book. If there are
patents listed in the Orange Book for a product, a generic or 505(b)(2) applicant that seeks to market its product before expiration of the

patents must include in their applications what is known as a “Paragraph V" certification, challenging the validity or enforceability of, or

claiming
65
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non-infringement of, the listed patent or patents. Notice of the certification must be given to the patent owner and NDA holder and if,
within 45 days of receiving notice, either the patent owner or NDA holder sues for patent infringement, approval of the ANDA or 505(b)
(2) NDA is stayed for up to 30 months.

Accordingly, if our small molecule program results in a product that is approved, competitors could submit ANDAs for generic
versions of our small molecule drug products or 505(b)(2) NDAs that reference our small molecule drug products. If there are patents
listed for our small molecule drug products in the Orange Book, those ANDAs and 505(b)(2) NDAs would be required to include a
certification as to each listed patent indicating whether the ANDA applicant does or does not intend to challenge the patent. We cannot
predict which, if any, patents in our current portfolio or patents we may obtain in the future will be eligible for listing in the Orange Book,

how any generic competitor would address such patents, whether we would sue on any such patents, or the outcome of any such suit.

We may not be successful in securing or maintaining proprietary patent protection for products and technologies we develop or
license. Moreover, if any of our owned or in-licensed patents that are listed in the Orange Book are successfully challenged by way of a
Paragraph IV certification and subsequent litigation, the affected product could immediately face generic competition and its sales would
likely decline rapidly and materially.

Our business operations and current and future relationships with investigators, healthcare professionals, consultants, third-
party payors, patient organizations and customers will be subject to applicable healthcare regulatory laws, which could
expose us to penalties.

Our business operations and current and future arrangements with investigators, healthcare professionals, consultants, third-party
payors, patient organizations and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and
regulations. These laws may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we conduct our
operations, including how we research, market, sell and distribute our product candidates, if approved. Such laws include, without
limitation:

. the U.S. federal civil and criminal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from know
and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or certain rebate), dir
or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, o
purchase, lease, order or recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole
part, under U.S. federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to |
actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

. the U.S. federal false claims laws, including the False Claims Act, which can be enforced through whistleblower actions, and
monetary penalties laws, which, among other things, impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or entitie:
knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the U.S. federal government, claims for payment or approval that are fals
fraudulent, knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraud
claim, or from knowingly making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the U.S. fer
government. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the
federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act;

. the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, which imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other th
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, or knowingly
willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement, in connection witt
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delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services; similar to the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a persc
entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violatio

federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities
potentially harm consumers;

8366

the U.S. Physician Payments Sunshine Act and its implementing regulations, which require certain manufacturers of di
devices, biologics and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insur
Program to report annually to the government information related to certain payments and other transfers of value to physic
as defined by such law, certain non-physician providers such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners, and teac
hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by the physicians described above and their immediate fe
members;

analogous U.S. state laws and regulations, including: state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to our busi
practices, including but not limited to, research, distribution, sales and marketing arrangements and claims involving healtt
items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including private insurers; state laws that require pharmacet
companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guid
promulgated by the U.S. federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and «
potential referral sources; and state and local laws that require the registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives; state
and regulations that require drug manufacturers to file reports relating to pricing and marketing information, which req
tracking gifts and other remuneration and items of value provided to healthcare professionals and entities; and

the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, which prohibits, among other things, U.S. companies and
employees and agents from authorizing, promising, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper paymen
anything else of value to foreign government officials, employees of public international organizations and foreign governi
owned or affiliated entities, candidates for foreign political office and foreign political parties or officials thereof.

Ensuring that our internal operations and future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws

and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices, such

as the provision of stock options to physicians who may influence the ordering, prescribing or use of our product candidates, if approved,

as compensation for consulting services, do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law

involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the

laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant penalties,

including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from government-funded healthcare programs, such as

Medicare and Medicaid or similar programs in other countries or jurisdictions, disgorgement, imprisonment, contractual damages,

reputational harm, diminished profits and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Further, defending against any such actions

can be costly and time-consuming and may require significant personnel resources. Even if we are successful in defending against any

such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
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Our stock price has been volatile, and could in the future be volatile, and you may not be able to resell shares of our common

stock at or above the price you paid.

The stock price of our common stock has been, and could in the future be, subject to substantial volatility and wide fluctuations in
response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. In particular, the stock prices for pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies have been highly volatile as a result of extreme volatility and disruptions in the global economy, including
rising inflation and interest rates, declines in economic growth, the war between Russia and Ukraine the COVID-19 pandemic and
uncertainty about economic stability, including a potential recession. These factors include those discussed in this “Risk Factors” section
and others such as:

. results from, and delays in, our clinical trials for our product candidates or any other future clinical development progr
including delays related to the COVID-19 pandemic; programs;

. announcements of regulatory approval or disapproval of our current or any future product candidates;
. failure or discontinuation of any of our research and development programs;
84
. the termination of any of our existing license agreements;
67
. announcements relating to any future licensing, collaboration or development agreements;
. delays in the commercialization of our current or any future product candidates;
. public misperception regarding the use of our product candidates;
. acquisitions and sales of new products or product candidates, technologies or businesses;
. manufacturing and supply issues related to our product candidates for clinical trials or future product candidates

commercialization;

. guarterly variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors;
. changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;
. announcements by us or our competitors of new products or product candidates, significant contracts, commercial relations

acquisitions or capital commitments;

. developments with respect to intellectual property rights;
. our commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;
. changes in financial estimates or guidance;
. any major changes in our board of directors or management;
. new legislation or regulation in the United States relating to the sale or pricing of pharmaceuticals;
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. FDA or other U.S. or foreign regulatory actions affecting us or our industry;

. product liability claims or other litigation or public concern about the safety of our product candidates;
. market conditions in the pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;
. general economic conditions in the United States and abroad, including as a result of an economic recession or depression

market volatility related to the COVID-19 pandemic, the current inflationary economic environment, rising interest rates and g
health concerns;

. sales of our common stock, including sales by our officers, directors and specific existing stockholders; and

. the issuance of shares of our common stock pursuant to the exercise of outstanding warrants.

In addition, the stock markets in general, and the markets for pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology stocks in
particular, have experienced extreme volatility that may have been unrelated to the operating performance of the issuer. These broad

market fluctuations may adversely affect the stock price or liquidity of our common stock.

An active, liquid and orderly market for our common stock may not develop, and you may not be able to resell your common

stock at or above the price you paid.

Prior to our IPO in July 2020, there was no public market for shares of our common stock, and an active public trading market for
our shares may not develop or, if it is developed, may not be sustained. The lack of an active market may impair your ability to sell your
shares at the time you wish to sell them or at a price that you consider reasonable. An inactive market may also impair our ability to
raise capital by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other product candidates, businesses or technologies using our

shares as consideration.

We are a “smaller reporting company,” and as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to

smaller reporting companies, our common stock may be less attractive to investors.

85

As of June 30, 2022, we re-qualified asWe are a smaller reporting company. We company and are therefore entitled to take
advantage of many of the same exemptions from disclosure requirements as an emerging growth company, including reduced
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements. In addition, as a smaller reporting
company with less than $100 million in annual revenue, we are exempt from the requirement to obtain an auditor attestation on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting provided in Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act. These exemptions and reduced disclosures in our SEC filings due to our status as a smaller reporting company

may make it harder for investors to analyze our results of operations and financial prospects.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management needs to devote substantial time

to compliance initiatives. We may fail to comply with the rules that apply to public companies,

68
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which could result in sanctions or other penalties that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition,

results of operations and prospects.

We incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses as a public company, including costs resulting from public company
reporting obligations under the Exchange Act and regulations regarding corporate governance practices. The listing requirements of the
Nasdag Stock Market and the rules of the SEC require that we satisfy certain corporate governance requirements relating to director
independence, filing annual and interim reports, stockholder meetings, approvals and voting, soliciting proxies, conflicts of interest and a
code of conduct. Our management and other personnel needs to devote a substantial amount of time to ensure that we comply with all
of these requirements. Moreover, these reporting requirements, rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs
and make some activities more time-consuming and costly. These reporting requirements, rules and regulations, coupled with the
increase in potential litigation exposure associated with being a public company, could also make it more difficult for us to attract and
retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or board committees or to serve as executive officers, or to obtain certain

types of insurance, including directors’ and officers’ insurance, on acceptable terms.

If we experience material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls in the
future, we may not be able to accurately report our financial condition or results of operations which may adversely affect

investor confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

We are subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404, and the related rules of the SEC, which generally
require our management and independent registered public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting. Pursuant to Section 404(a), we are required to file with the SEC an annual management assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Because we re-qualified as a smaller reporting company and we have less
than $100 million in annual revenue, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we are a non-accelerated filer and are no longer be
required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting

under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until we become an accelerated filer or large accelerated filer.

Our management’'s assessment needs to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our
internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over
financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual and interim financial
statements will not be detected or prevented on a timely basis. If we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control
over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal controls are effective. The effectiveness of our controls and

procedures may be limited by a variety of factors, including:

86
. faulty human judgment and simple errors, omissions or mistakes;
. fraudulent action of an individual or collusion of two or more people;
. inappropriate management override of procedures; and
. the possibility that any enhancements to controls and procedures may still not be adequate to assure timely and accurate fina
control.
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While we believe our internal control over financial reporting is currently effective, the effectiveness of our internal controls in
future periods is subject to the risk that our controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions. Establishing, testing and
maintaining an effective system of internal control over financial reporting requires significant resources and time commitments on the
part of our management and our finance staff, may require additional staffing and infrastructure investments and would increase our
costs of doing business. We can give no assurance that material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting will not be
identified in the future. Our failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in errors in our
financial statements that could result in a restatement of our financial statements and cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations.
Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable and timely financial reports and, together with
adequate disclosure controls and procedures, are designed to reasonably detect and prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required
new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. An
independent assessment of the

69

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting could detect problems that our management's assessment might not.
Undetected material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting could lead to financial statement restatements and
require us to incur the expense of remediation. Any failure to report our financial results on an accurate and timely basis could result in
sanctions, lawsuits, delisting of our shares from the Nasdaq Global Select Market or other adverse consequences that would materially

and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant

control over matters subject to stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of our capital stock and
their respective affiliates beneficially owned a majority of our outstanding voting stock. In addition, in our July 2022 private
placement, and 2023 financings, certain of the holders of 5% or more of our capital stock acquired pre-funded warrants to purchase
shares of our common stock (which are immediately exercisable and have an exercise price of $0.001 per share) and or common
warrants to purchase shares of our common stock (which are immediately exercisable and have an exercise price of $5.806875 per
share). stock. Until exercised, the shares issuable upon the exercise of the pre-funded warrants and the common warrants are not
included in the number of our outstanding shares of common stock. If such holders exercise their warrants, then the shares of our
capital stock beneficially owned by our executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of our capital stock and their respective
affiliates would increase significantly. Therefore, these stockholders will have the ability to influence us through this ownership position.
These stockholders may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be able
to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets or other major
corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may feel
are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.
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Our current shares outstanding and resulting market valuation do not reflect shares of our common stock issuable upon the
exercise of pre-funded warrants and common warrants that are exercisable at the discretion of the holders of such warrants. If
we sell shares of our common stock in the future, stockholders may experience immediate dilution. Stockholders may be

unable to compute the dilutive impact of future financings.

We may from time to time issue additional shares of common stock, and as a result, our stockholders would experience
immediate dilution. In addition, as opportunities present themselves, we may enter into financing or similar arrangements in the future,
including the issuance of debt securities, preferred stock or common stock. For example, in August 2021, we entered into a sales
agreement with Cowen and Company LLC, or TD Cowen, as sales agent, pursuant to which we may issue and sell shares of our
common stock for an aggregate maximum offering price of $100.0 million under an at-the-market offering program under which we have
sold approximately $18.0 million $48.0 million of shares of our common stock. stock as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition,
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in July 2022 and December 2023, we closed a private placementfinancings which included the sale of pre-funded warrants and or
common warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. Until exercised, the shares issuable upon the exercise of the pre-funded
warrants or the common warrants are not included in the number of our outstanding shares of common stock. If we issue common stock
or securities convertible into common stock in the future, our stockholders would experience additional dilution and such dilutive impact

may be difficult to compute.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the
stock price of our common stock could decline. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the number of shares of our common
stock outstanding was 47,722,995. 78,369,099. This number does not include 24,696,206 40,492,923 shares of common stock issuable
upon the exercise of pre-funded warrants or 8,427,508 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of common warrants. We
filed a resale registration statement with the SEC to register the shares of common stock and the shares of common stock issuable upon
exercise of the pre-funded warrants and the common warrants sold in the July 2022 private placement. Sales of a substantial number of
shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, may reduce the stock price of our

common stock.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, if a corporation undergoes an

“ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in its
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equity ownership by certain stockholders over a rolling three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating
loss carryforwards, or NOLs, and other pre-change tax attributes (such as research and development tax credits) to offset its post-
change income or taxes may be limited. If finalized, Treasury Regulations currently proposed under Section 382 of the Code may further
limit our ability to utilize our pre-change NOLs or credits if we undergo a future ownership change.

We completed a study through December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023, to determine whether an ownership change had occurred
under Section 382 or 383 of the Code, and we determined that ownership changes occurred in 2011, 2014, 2020 and 2021.2023. The
Company has identified $0.1 million and $34.7 million of federal and state NOLs, respectively, that will expire unused due to ownership
changes, and federal credits of $3.7 million that will not be able to be utilized due to ownership change limitation and excluded these
amounts from deferred tax asset balances as of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023. Federal NOLs of $286.5 million $321.9 million
and state and local NOLs of $36.4 million $71.3 million are not expected to expire unutilized as a result of ownership changes identified
through December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023.

Our ability to use NOLs, research and development credit carryforwards and other tax attributes to reduce future taxable income
and tax liabilities may be further limited as a result of shifts in our stock ownership subsequent to December 31, 2021 December 31,
2023. As a result, even if we attain profitability, our ability to use our pre-change NOLs or other pre-change tax attributes to offset United

States federal and state taxable income may be subject to further limitations.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider

favorable and may lead to entrenchment of management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or

prevent changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of directors. These provisions include the

following:

. a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change
membership of a majority of our board of directors;

. no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

. the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy, however occurring, including by an expansion ¢
board of directors, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;
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. the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and «
terms of those shares, including voting or other rights or preferences, without stockholder approval, which could be use
significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror;

. the ability of our board of directors to alter our amended and restated bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval;

. the required approval of at least 66 2/3% of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to adopt, amend or repea
amended and restated bylaws or repeal the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation regarding
election and removal of directors;

. a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special me
of our stockholders;

. the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the board of directors, which may delay the abil
our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and

. advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from condu
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a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.
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We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisions contained in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Under
Section 203, a corporation may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock

unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other exceptions, the board of directors has approved the transaction.

As a California-domiciled public company, we are required to have a certain number of women and directors from
underrepresented communities on our board of directors on certain timeframes, depending on the size of our board at the

time.

Our success depends in part on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified individuals to our board of
directors. As a public company headquartered in California, we were required to have three women and at least one director from an
underrepresented community on our board of directors by the end of 2021 and two or three directors from an underrepresented
community on our board of directors by the end of 2022, depending on the size of our board of directors at the time. We had one woman
on our board of directors at the end of 2021, and we may be fined for failure to meet the California requirements. While we currently
have two women and four directors from underrepresented communities on the board of directors, recruiting and retaining board

members carries uncertainty, and failure to comply with these California requirements will result in financial penalties.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party

claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our

directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated bylaws and our

indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide that:

. we will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises a
request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such pers
such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interes
the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct
unlawful;

. we may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitte
applicable law;
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that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not en
to indemnification;

. we are not obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiate
that person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of directol
brought to enforce a right to indemnification;

. the rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnific.
agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons; and

. we may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to direc
officers, employees and agents.

While we maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy, such insurance may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we

may incur, which may reduce our available funds to satisfy third-party claims and may adversely impact our cash position.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of
the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for certain disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our

stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware (or, in the event that the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of
Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware) is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our
behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware
General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or any action
asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided that, the exclusive forum provision will not apply to
suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive
jurisdiction; and provided further that, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any such action for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction, such action may be brought in another state or federal court sitting in the State of Delaware. Our amended

and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
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bylaws also provide that the federal district courts of the United States of America are the exclusive forum for the resolution of any
complaint asserting a cause of action against us or any of our directors, officers, employees or agents and arising under the Securities
Act. Nothing in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws precludes stockholders that

assert claims under the Exchange Act from bringing such claims in state or federal court, subject to applicable law.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes
with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims,

although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations
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thereunder. Furthermore, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has
been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or
unenforceable. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may
nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions, and there can be no
assurance that such provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find the choice of forum
provision that will be contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws to be
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions,

which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
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We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your

investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to
invest our future earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Therefore, you are not likely to receive any dividends on your common stock for the
foreseeable future. Since we do not intend to pay dividends, your ability to receive a return on your investment will depend on any future
appreciation in the market value of our common stock. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate or even maintain

the price at which our holders have purchased it.

General Risk Factors
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively
expensive, and the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws
in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the
United States, or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions.
Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and
may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the
United States. These products may compete with any future products we may sell, and our patents or other intellectual property rights

may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents
and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to pharmaceuticals and biopharmaceuticals, which could make it
difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally.
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from
other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk
of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the
damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual
property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we

develop or license.
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(3

Changes in tax laws and regulations may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of

operations.

New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time, which could
affect the tax treatment of any of our future domestic and foreign earnings. Any new taxes could adversely affect our domestic and
international business operations, and our business and financial performance. Further, existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or
ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us. Generally, future changes in applicable U.S. and non-
U.S. tax laws and regulations, or their interpretation and application, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial conditions

and results of operations. We are unable to predict whether such changes will occur and, if so, the ultimate impact on our business.

We are subject to U.S. and certain foreign export and import controls, sanctions, embargoes, anti-corruption laws, and anti-
money laundering laws and regulations. Compliance with these legal standards could impair our ability to compete in
domestic and international markets. We can face criminal liability and other serious consequences for violations, which can

harm our business.

We are subject to export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, U.S.
Customs regulations, various economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of
Foreign Assets Controls, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18
U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, and other state and national anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in

the countries in which we conduct
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activities. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees, agents, contractors and other
collaborators from authorizing, promising, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything else of value to
recipients in the public or private sector. We may engage third parties to sell our products outside the United States, to conduct clinical
trials and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations and other regulatory approvals. We have direct or indirect
interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities and other
organizations. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our employees, agents, contractors and other
collaborators, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such activities. Any violations of the laws and
regulations described above may result in substantial civil and criminal fines and penalties, imprisonment, the loss of export or import

privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm and other consequences.

Information Cybersecurity risks and the failure to maintain the security, confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our
information technology system failures, security breaches, cyberattacks, systems or deficiencies indata, and those maintained

on our cybersecurity behalf, could lead to adverse consequences that materially adversely affect our business,
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results including, without limitation, regulatory investigations or actions, a material interruption to our operations, including
clinical trials, damage to our reputation and/or subject us to costs, loss of operations customers or sales, fines and financial

condition.penalties or lawsuits.

We collect and maintain information in digital and other forms that is necessary to conduct our business, and we are increasingly
dependent on information technology systems and infrastructure to operate our business. In the ordinary course of our business, we
collect, store and transmit large amounts of confidential information, including intellectual property, proprietary business information and
personal information. It is critical thatthe third parties upon which we do so in a secure manner to maintain the privacy, security,
confidentiality and integrity of such confidential information. rely process sensitive data. We have established physical, electronic and
organizational measures designed to safeguard and secure our systems to prevent a data compromise, and rely on commercially
available systems, software, tools and monitoring to provide security for our information technology systems and the processing,
transmission and storage of digital information. compromise; there can, however, be no assurance that these measures will be effective.
We have also outsourced elements of our information technology infrastructure, and as a result a number of third-party vendors may
have access to our confidential information. sensitive data. Our information technology systems and infrastructure, and those of any
future collaborators and our contractors, consultants, vendors and other third parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to and have
experienced attack, damage and interruption from cyber-attacks, malicious internet-based activity, online and offline fraud, computer
viruses, malware (e.g., ransomware), credential stuffing, credential harvesting, supply-chain attacks, natural disasters, fire, terrorism,
war, telecommunication and electrical failures, cyberattacks, attacks enhanced or facilitated by Al, denial or degradation of service
attacks, hacking, sophisticated nation-state and nation-state supported actors, phishing and other social engineering attacks (including
through deep fakes, which may be increasingly more difficult to identify), attachments to emails, fraud, employee personnel misconduct
or error, server malfunctions, software or hardware failures, loss or theft of data or misuse, andinformation technology assets,
unauthorized access or use, by persons inside and other similar threats. In particular, ransomware attacks are becoming increasingly
prevalent and can lead to significant interruptions in our organization operations, loss of sensitive data, reputational harm, and diversion

of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact
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of a ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or persons with access unable to systems inside our organization.make such payments

due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting such payments.

The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyberattacks, cyber-attacks, including by computer hackers, foreign
governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and
intrusions from around the world have increased. The prevalent use of mobile devices that access confidential information sensitive data
also increases the risk of lost or stolen devices, security incidents and data security breaches, which could lead to the loss of
confidential information or other intellectual property. Attacks upon information technology systems are increasing in their frequency,
levels compromise of persistence, sophistication and intensity, and are being conducted by sophisticated and organized groups and

individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. sensitive data. As a result of any global health crisis such as the COVID-19
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pandemic and continued hybrid working environment, we may also face increased risks of a security breach or disruption due to our
reliance on internet technology and the number of our employees personnel who are working remotely, which may create additional
opportunities for cyber criminals to exploit vulnerabilities. vulnerabilities or other weaknesses. Additionally, future or past business
transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems
could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired or integrated entities’ systems and technologies. We may discover
security issues that were not found during due diligence of such acquired or integrated entities, and it may be difficult to integrate
companies into our information technology environment and security program. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain
unauthorized access to, or to sabotage, systems change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we may
be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. We may also experience security breaches
that may remain undetected for an extended period. Even if identified, we may be unable to adequately investigate or remediate
incidents or breaches due to attackers increasingly using tools and techniques that are designed to circumvent controls, to avoid

detection, and to remove or obfuscate forensic evidence.

We rely upon third-party service providers and certain technologies to operate critical business systems and process sensitive
data in a variety of contexts, including, without limitation, third-party providers of cloud-based infrastructure, encryption and
authentication technology, employee email, and other functions. Our ability to monitor these third parties’ security practices is limited,
and these third parties may not have adequate security measures in place. Our third-party service providers have experienced and may
experience in the future a security incident or other interruption. For example, one of our service providers are from third-party drug
component suppliers experienced a cyber-attack, which did not materially impact our operations. In addition, in 2024, one of our vendors
experienced a cyber-attack which resulted in our access to the third-party system being unavailable to us for a brief period of time before
being restored. We continue to time, subjectmonitor the incident and have implemented mitigating procedures designed to
cyberattacks limit any potential impacts on our operations. These types of incidents have and security incidents. While we do not believe
that we have experienced anycould lead to business interruption and additional costs. Any significant system failure, accident or
security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause resulting interruptions in our operations or our critical third parties’
operations it could result in a material disruption of our product development programs, and ultimately, our financial results. For
example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory
approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. While we may be entitled to damages if our third-
party service providers fail to satisfy their privacy or security-related obligations to us, any award may be insufficient to cover our

damages, or we may be unable to recover such award.

The costs to us to investigate, mitigate and remediate security incidents, breaches, disruptions, network security problems, bugs,

viruses, worms, malicious software programs and security vulnerabilities could be significant, and while we have implemented
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security measures designed to protect our data security and information technology systems and sensitive data, our efforts to address
these problems may not be successful, and these problems could result in unexpected interruptions, delays, cessation of service,
negative publicity and other harm to our business and our competitive position. Any security compromise affecting us or the third parties
upon which we rely, our partners or our industry, whether real or perceived, could harm our reputation, erode confidence in the
effectiveness of our security measures and lead to regulatory scrutiny. Moreover, if a computer security breach affects our systems or
results in the unauthorized access to or unauthorized use, disclosure, release or other processing of personal information or clinical
trial sensitive data, it may be necessary to notify individuals, governmental authorities, supervisory bodies, the media and other parties

pursuant to privacy and security laws or other obligations, and our reputation could be materially damaged. We would also be exposed
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to a risk of loss, governmental investigations or enforcement, or litigation (including class claims) and other potential liability, which could
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. We maintain cyber liability insurance; however,
this insurance may not be sufficient to cover the financial, legal, business or reputational losses that may result from an interruption or
breach of our systems.
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In addition to experiencing a security incident, third parties may gather, collect, or infer sensitive information about us from public
sources, data brokers, or other means that reveals competitively sensitive details about our organization and could be used to
undermine our competitive advantage or market position.

Actual or perceived failure to comply with applicable data protection laws, regulations, standards, contractual obligations and
other requirements related to data privacy and security could lead to government enforcement actions and civil or criminal
penalties, private litigation (including class actions) or adverse publicity and otherwise could negatively affect our results of
operations and business.

We In the ordinary course of business we collect, receive, store, process, generate, use, transfer, disclose, make accessible,
protect, secure, dispose of, transmit, and our currentshare (collectively, process) personal data and future collaborators are other
sensitive and confidential information, including proprietary and confidential business data, trade secrets, intellectual property, data we
may collect about trial participants in connection with clinical trials, sensitive third-party data, and employee data (collectively, sensitive
data). Our data processing activities actually or may become subject us to federal, state numerous privacy and foreign data
protection security obligations, such as various laws, regulations, guidance, industry standards, external and regulations
governinginternal privacy and security policies, contractual requirements, and other obligations relating to data privacy and security. In
the United States, numerous federal Data privacy and state security obligations are stringent and changing, with new data privacy and
security laws being proposed or enacted. Preparing for and complying with these obligations requires significant resources and may
necessitate changes to our information technologies, systems, and practices and to those of any third parties that process personal data
on our behalf. The laws and regulations including data breach notification laws, health information privacy laws and consumer protection
laws, which govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health-related and other personal information, that may apply affect

our ability to our operations and the operations of current and future collaborators.operate include, but may not be limited to:

In théhe Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Econ
Unitedand Clinical Health Act of 2009 and its implementing regulations or collectively, HIPAA, (‘HIPAA”), which imposes, among ¢
Statesthings, certain standards relating to the privacy, security, transmission and breach reporting of individually identifiable h
information. Most healthcare providers, including research institutions from which we obtain patient health information, are su
to privacy and security regulations promulgated under HIPAA. We do not believe that we are currently acting as a covered ¢
or business associate under HIPAA and thus are not directly subject to its requirements or penalties. Depending on the facts
circumstances, however, we could be subject to significant administrative, civil and criminal penalties if we obtain, use or disc
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individually identifiable health information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitte

HIPAA. HIPAA,;
. Further, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 or the CCPA, went into effect on January 1, 2020. (“CCPA”), which
various businesses to provide certain disclosures in privacy notices to California residents, including cons

representatives, and employees, and requires businesses honor certain requests of California residents to exerci
rights. The CCPA gives California residents expanded rights to access and delete their personal information,
personal information sharing and receive detailed information about how their personal information is used. It
similar civil penalties for violations, administrative fines of up to $7,500 per intentional violation, as well as a private right
privacy lawsbreaches that is expected to increasehas increased the likelihood of, and risks associated with data
and The Although there are limited exemptions for clinical trial data under the CCPA, the CCPA and other :
increase impact our compliance costs and potential liability. business activities depending on how it is interpr
California Privacy Rights Act, oramendments to the CPRA, passed in California and it significantly amends CC
CCPA. The CPRA imposes additional data protection obligations on covered businesses, CCPA's require
example,  additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher risk data,
certain uses of sensitive data. It also createsby adding a new California data protectionright for individual
personal information and establishing a new regulatory agency authorized to issue substantive regulationsimp
result in increased privacy and information security enforcement. The majority of enforce the provisions we
January 1, 2023, and additional law. Additional compliance investment and potential business process changes
Similar laws have passed in Virginia, Colorado, Connecticut, Utah, and have been proposedpassed in othe
continuing to be proposed at the state and federal level, reflecting a trend toward more stringent privacy legisla
States. The enactment of such laws could have potentially conflicting requirements that would n
challenging. challenging; and

states have
implemented

regulations.

For

. Foreigrforeign data protection laws, including the European UnionUnion’s General Data Protection Regulation (‘EU GDF
United Kingdom GDPR (“UK GDPR”), which contain provisions specifically directed at the processing of health dat
broadly, imposes significant and complex compliance burdens on processing personal data. Under the EU and
government regulators may impose temporary or the GDPR, may also apply to health-related and other personal de
on data of data subjects in the European Economic Area, or EEA. The GDPR went into effect on May 25, 2018, anc
that must comply with the GDPR face increased compliance obligations and risk, including robust regulatory enforcel
protection requirements processing, as well as potential fines for noncompliance of up to €20 million under the EU C
million under the UK GDPR) or 4% of annual global revenue of the noncompliance company, whichever
The Noncompliance with the EU and UK GDPR imposes could also result in private litigation related to the processing
data brought by classes of data subjects or consumer protection organizations authorized at law to represent thi
These laws such as the EU and UK GDPR impose numerous requirements for the collection, use, storage and ¢
personal data of
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data subjects, including requirements relating to providing notice to and obtaining consent from data subjects, personal
breach notification, cross-border transfers of personal data, and honoring and providing for the rights of EEA individuals in rel
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to their personal data, including the right to access, correct and delete their data. Among other requirements, the EU anc
GDPR regulates regulate transfers of personal data subject to the EU and UK GDPR to third countries that have not been foui
provide adequate protection to such personal data, including the United States, and the efficacy and longevity of current trai
mechanisms between the EU and the United States remains uncertain. For example, in 2016, the EU and United States agre¢

Although there are currently various mechanisms that may be used to a transfer framework for personal data transferred from the
EU EEA and UK to the United States called in compliance with law, such as the Privacy Shield, but the Court of Justice of the EU, or the
CJEU, invalidated the Privacy Shield in July 2020 and imposed further restrictions on use of the EEA's standard contractual clauses, the
UK'’s International Data Transfer Agreement / Addendum, and the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework and the UK extension thereto
(which allows for transfers to relevant U.S.-based organizations who self-certify compliance and participate in the Framework), these
mechanisms are subject to legal challenges, and there is no assurance that we can satisfy or SCCs. In March 2022, the EU andrely on
these measures to lawfully transfer personal data to the United States announced a new regulatory regime intended to replace the
invalidated regulations; however, this new EU-US Data Privacy Framework has not been implemented beyond an executive order
signed by President Biden on October 7, 2022 on Enhancing Safeguards or other relevant countries. If there were no lawful manner for
Untied States Signals Intelligence Activities. European court and regulatory decisions subsequent to the CIJEU decision of July 16, 2020
have taken a restrictive approach to international data transfers. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data
export mechanisms, including circumstances where the SCCs cannot be used, and/or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer
additional costs, complaints and/or regulatory investigations or fines, and/or if we are otherwise unableus to transfer personal data
between and among countries and regions in whichfrom the EEA, the UK, or other jurisdictions to the United States, or if the
requirements for a legally-compliant transfer are too onerous, we operate, it could affectface significant adverse consequences,
including the manner in which we provide our services, the geographical location interruption or segregation degradation of our relevant
systems operations, the need to relocate part of or all of our business or data processing activities to other jurisdictions (such as Europe)
at significant expense, increased exposure to regulatory actions, substantial fines and operations, penalties, the inability to transfer data

and could adversely affect work with partners, vendors and other third parties, and injunctions against our financial results.

Further, from January 1, 2021, companies have had to comply with the GDPR and also the United Kingdom GDPR, processing or
the UK GDPR, which, together with the amended UK Data Protection Act 2018, retains the GDPR in United Kingdom, or UK, national
law. The UK GDPR mirrors the fines under the GDPR, i.e., fines up to the greater of €20 million (£17.5 million) or 4% of global turnover.
As we continue to expand into other foreign countries and jurisdictions, we may be subject to additional laws and regulations that may

affect how we conduct business.

The EU has also proposed a Regulation on Privacy and Electronic Communications, or ePrivacy Regulation, which, if adopted,
would impose new obligations on the use transferring of personal data in necessary to operate our business. Additionally, companies that
transfer personal data out of the contextEEA and UK to other jurisdictions, particularly to the United States, are subject to increased
scrutiny from regulators, individual litigants, and activities groups. Some European regulators have ordered certain companies to
suspend or permanently cease certain transfers of electronic communications, particularly with respect to online tracking technologies
and direct marketing. Additionally, personal data out of Europe for allegedly violating the EU adopted the EU Clinical Trials Regulation,
which came into effect on January 31, 2022. This regulation imposes new obligations on the use of GDPR’s cross-border data generated
from clinical trials and enables European patients to have the opportunity to access information about clinical trials. Failure transfer
limitations. Moreover, failure or perceived failure to comply with the EU GDPR and/or the UK GDPR, the ePrivacy Regulation, the EU
Clinical Trials Regulations, and other countries’ privacy or data security-related laws, rules or regulations could result in significant
regulatory penalties and fines and affect our compliance with contracts entered into with our partners, collaborators and other third

parties.
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Moreover, In addition to data privacy and security laws, clinical trial subjects about whom we or any of our potential collaborators
obtain information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may contractually limit our ability to use and disclose the
information. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights, failed to comply with data protection laws or breached our
contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time consuming to defend and could result in adverse
publicity that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We also publish
policies, marketing materials, and other statements regarding data privacy and security and if these policies, materials or statements are
found to be deficient, lacking in transparency, deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our practices, we may be subject to

investigation, enforcement actions by regulators, or other adverse consequences.

Although we work to comply with applicable privacy and data security laws, regulations and standards, our contractual obligations
and other legal obligations, these requirements are evolving and may be modified, interpreted and applied in an inconsistent manner
from one jurisdiction to another, and may conflict with one another or other legal obligations with which we must comply. Compliance
with these data protection laws and regulations obligations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts, require
us to engage in costly compliance exercises, restrict our ability to collect, use, disclose and disclose otherwise process personal data, or
in some cases, impact our or our partners’ or suppliers’ ability to operate in certain jurisdictions. Any actual or perceived failure to
comply by us or our employees, personnel, representatives, contractors, consultants, collaborators, or other third parties could result in
government investigations and/or enforcement actions, fines, civil or criminal penalties, additional reporting requirements and/or
oversight, bans on processing personal data (including clinical trial data), orders to destroy or not use personal data, private litigation

(including class claims) or adverse publicity and could otherwise negatively affect our results of operations and business.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse or

misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish

about us or our business. If any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse or misleading opinion

i

regarding us, our business model, our intellectual property or our stock performance, or if our clinical trials and results of operations fail
to meet the expectations of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to
publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading

volume to decline.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert our management’s attention.
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In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their securities have been subject to securities class
action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Regardless of the merits or the ultimate results of such
litigation, securities litigation brought against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from other

business concerns.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity
Risk management and strategy

We have implemented a risk-based approach designed to identify, assess and manage cybersecurity threats that could materially
affect our business and information systems. We attempt to identify and assess risks from cybersecurity threats by evaluating our threat
environment using various methods including, for example: maintaining manual and automated tools, subscribing to reports and
services that identify cybersecurity threats, evaluating threats reported to us, and completing third-party cybersecurity threat

assessments.

We use cybersecurity consultants and penetration testing firms in an effort to identify, assess, and manage material risks from
cybersecurity threats. We use third-party service providers in various elements to our business operations such as data hosting
providers. To help manage cybersecurity risks associated with our use of third-party service providers, we primarily engage with
industry-preferred service providers, and we also contractually require service providers with access to personal, confidential, or

proprietary information to maintain data security controls and practices.

For a description of the risks from cybersecurity threats that may materially affect the Company and how they may do so, see our
risk factors under Part 1. Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Cybersecurity risks and the failure to
maintain the security, confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our information technology systems or data, and those maintained on our
behalf, could lead to adverse consequences that materially adversely affect our business, including, without limitation, regulatory
investigations or actions, a material interruption to our operations, including clinical trials, damage to our reputation and/or subject us to

costs, loss of customers or sales, fines and penalties or lawsuits.”

Governance

Our board of directors addresses the Company’s cybersecurity risk management as part of its general oversight function. The
audit committee is responsible for advising on the Company’s cybersecurity risk management processes, including oversight of

mitigation of risks from cybersecurity threats.

Our cybersecurity risk assessment and risk management processes are managed by certain Company management, including
our CFO (who has prior experience in strategic business operations). Our CFO has supervisory responsibility over IT and cybersecurity
functions. Our Company management is responsible for helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into the Company’s overall
risk management strategy, helping prepare for and respond to cybersecurity incidents, and reviewing security assessments and other

security-related reports. Our incident response team is responsible for remediating cybersecurity incidents of which they are notified.

We maintain a cybersecurity policy, reviewed with our audit committee, which is designed to address cybersecurity risks to the

Company (including by escalating certain cybersecurity incidents to members of
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management and the board of the audit committee, in each case depending on the circumstances). We also maintain incident response
procedures designed to assist the Company in responding to cybersecurity incidents.

Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters are located in Brisbane, California, where we lease approximately 65,818 square feet of office and
laboratory space. The contractual term of the Brisbane lease commenced in November 2021 and will end in October 2031, with an

option to extend for an additional ten years.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. We may, however, in the ordinary course of business face various
claims brought by third parties, and we may, from time to time, make claims or take legal actions to assert our rights, including
intellectual property rights as well as claims relating to employment matters and the safety or efficacy of our products. Any of these
claims could subject us to costly litigation, and, while we generally believe that we have adequate insurance to cover many different
types of liabilities, our insurance carriers may deny coverage, may be inadequately capitalized to pay on valid claims, or our policy limits
may be inadequate to fully satisfy any damage awards or settlements. If this were to happen, the payment of any such awards could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, any such claims, whether or
not successful, could damage our reputation and business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
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Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “ANNX” since July 24, 2020. Prior to
that, there was no public market for our common stock.

Stockholders

As of March 1, 2023, the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, there were 27 28 holders of record of our common stock. The
actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but
whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include

stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid, and do not anticipate declaring or paying in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends on our
capital stock. Any future determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of
directors, subject to applicable laws and will depend on then existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating results,

contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects, and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

See the section titled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for

information regarding securities authorized for issuance.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock

On July 23, 2020, our registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (Registration No. 333-239647), was declared effective in
connection with our initial public offering. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, all of the proceeds from the initial public offering
have been applied as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act and other
periodic reports previously filed with the SEC.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Parties

None.
Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans,
estimates, beliefs, and expectations, and involve risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences
include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in the sections titled “Special Note

Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company pioneering a new class of complement medicines for patients people living
with classical complement-mediated autoimmune, neurodegenerative and ophthalmic disorders. devastating inflammatory-related
diseases. The classical complement pathway is a core component to the body’s immune system that activates a powerful inflammatory
cascade. We believe that by stopping the classical complement pathway at its start by targeting C1q, the initiating molecule of the
classical complement pathway, our approach may have the potential to provide more complete protection against complement-mediated
disorders of the body, brain and eye.

Using our proprietary platform, we are identifying and characterizing the role of the classical complement pathway in three
therapeutic areas—autoimmune, neurodegeneration and ophthalmology. In so doing, we are advancing a broad pipeline of product
candidates designed to block the early classical cascade and all downstream pathway components and their tissue-damaging functions.
Our goal is to suppress excessive or aberrant classical complement activity that contributes to chronic inflammation and tissue damage
to slow or even halt disease progression, while preserving the beneficial immune functions of the lectin and alternative complement
pathways involved in the clearance of pathogens and damaged cells. We have demonstrated robust target engagement in the body,
brain and eye, and clinical proof of concept in multiple diseases, resulting in four flagship programs that we are actively advancing: and
have focused our resources on development of three priority programs:

. Guillain-Barré Syndrome, or GBS: We are advancing our lead candidate, ANX005, an investigational, full-length
monoclonal antibody, or mAb, formulated for intravenous administration in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for the potential
treatment of patients with GBS. GBS is a rare antibody-mediated autoimmune disease that is the most common cause of
acute neuromuscular paralysis, with no therapies in the U.S. approved by the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA,
approved therapies, and for which we FDA. We believe maximum suppression of C1q and the classical cascade early in the
disease process may act to rapidly prevent complement-mediated nerve damage and irreversible neurological disability. We
demonstrated clinical proof-of-concept inln a prior placebo-controlled proof-of-concept trial, a single dose of ANX005
showed rapid and expect to complete consistent improvement in muscle strength that translated into observable gains in
health status, including a reduction in the need of mechanical ventilation, as well as a reduction in nerve damage and
clinical function. We completed enrolliment of approximately 220241 patients in our ongoing placebo-controlled Phase 3
GBS trial, and data are anticipated in the second half quarter of 2023, 2024. We intend to establish comparability of the GBS
patient population in our Phase 3 trial with patients from the International Guillain-Barré Syndrome Outcomes Study, or
IGOS, a global, prospective, observational, multicenter cohort study that has enrolled 2,000 patients who were followed for
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one to three years. We have initiated a real-world evidence, or RWE, comparability protocol with IGOS with data anticipated
in the first half of 2024.

. Huntington’s Disease, 2025 to support our Biologics License Applications, or HD: We are evaluating BLA, submission.
ANXO005 has been granted Fast Track and orphan drug designation for the potential treatment of patients with HD, a slowly
progressing, inherited and fatal neurodegenerative disease in which we believe Clq triggers synapse loss and
neuroinflammation. We completed a Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with manifest HD in 2022, in which GBS from the FDA.
ANXO005 demonstrated positive efficacy results and was generally well-tolerated. Based onhas also been granted orphan
designation from the Phase 2 results and a productive engagement with the FDA in late 2022, we are preparing to advance
ANXO005 into a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2/3 trial for patients with HD in 2023. European
Medicines Agency, or EMA.

. Geographic Atrophy, or GA: We are evaluating advancing ANX007, an antigen-binding fragment, or Fab, formulated for
intravitreal administration, into a pivotal Phase 3 program for the potential treatment of patients with GA.GA is the leading
cause of blindness resulting from damaged and dying retinal cells. vision loss in the elderly, that affects an estimated eight
million people globally. ANX007 is designed to block C1q locally in the eye, to provide more complete protection against
excess classical complement activity, a key driver of disease. We completed enrollmentGA, and the loss of
approximately photoreceptor neurons. In a randomized, multi-center, double-masked, sham-controlled Phase 2 ARCHER
clinical trial of 270 patients with GA, ANX007 was the first and only program to show statistically significant and

81

consistent protection against vision loss in our ongoing a broad population of patients with GA, measured by best corrected
visual acuity, or BCVA, >15-letter loss, the widely accepted and clinically meaningful functional endpoint. While the primary
endpoint of rate of lesion growth did not reach statistical significance, evaluating the first and second six months of ANX007
treatment showed a greater effect on lesion size with time,suggesting that lesion growth may slow with longer treatment with
ANXO007. In December 2023, we announced FDA alignment on a Phase 2 3 registration program for ANX007 in GA using,
for the first-time, the prevention of >15-letter loss of BCVA as the primary outcome measure. We plan to initiate the Phase 3
ARCHER |l trial in early 2022. We expect mid-2024, a global sham-controlled trial designed to report data confirm the results
from the 12-month treatment-period of the Phase 2 ARCHER trial. We also plan to initiate the Phase 3 ARROW trial in mid-
2023, followed by additional data afterlate 2024, an injection-controlled head-to-head study against SYFOVRE®
(pegcetacoplan injection) with the conclusion potential to underscore ANX007’s unique mechanism of action and critical
differentiation on visual function. ANX007 is the six-month off-treatment period first therapeutic candidate for the treatment
of GA to receive Priority Medicine, or PRIME, designation by the end EMA, which provides early and proactive support to
developers of 2023. promising medicines that may offer a major therapeutic advantage over existing treatments or benefit to
patients without treatment options.
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. ANX1502 for Autoimmune Indications: We are advancing ANX1502, is a novel oral small molecule targeting inhibitor of
classical complement which we believe is first-in-kind. We are conducting an ongoing In a Phase 1 single-ascending dose,
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or SAD, and multiple-ascending dose, or MAD, clinical trial in healthy volunteers designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability,
pharmacokinetics, or PK, and pharmacodynamics, or PD, ANX1502 was generally well tolerated across cohorts with no
serious adverse events, achieved target levels of active drug and showed supportive impact on a PD biomarker of
complement activity that support its advancement. We plan to advance a tablet formation of ANX1502 in healthy volunteers.
In the SAD trial, a single dose of 450 mg has achieved target drug levels in plasma in patients, consistent with twice-daily
dosing. Additionally, ANX1502 has been generally well-tolerated as of October 23, 2022. The SAD trial is ongoing to identify
the maximum tolerated dose. We are preparing to initiateinto a proof-of-concept trial study designed to assess PD and
efficacy in patients with cold agglutinin disease, or CAD, in 2023, which is supported by positive data previously generated
by ANXO005 in CAD patients. We also plan to expand development into additional autoimmune indications with strong
scientific rationale, including multifocal motor neuropathy, or MMN, in the first half of 2024.

In addition to our flagship programs, we are studying multiple programs across our three therapeutic franchise areas, including:

. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, or ALS: We are evaluating ANX005 in a Phase 2a signal-finding clinical trial in
patients 2024, with ALS, a fatal neurodegenerative disorder characterized by C1q activation driving inflammation and
neurodegeneration. Preliminary Phase 2a data as of December 6, 2022 from the first eight patients in the trial showed that
treatment with ANX005 resulted in a reduction in neurofilament light, or NfL, a neurodegenerative disease biomarker, and
slowed disease progression as measured by reductions in revised ALS functional rating scores during the initial 12-week
on-treatment period, followed by an increase in disease progression in the off-treatment period. Enroliment in the Phase 2a
trial is ongoing, and we expect to report full data from the Phase 2a clinical trial in 2023.

. Lupus Nephritis, or LN: We are advancing a Phase 1b signal-finding trial of ANX009, a Clq Fab formulated for
subcutaneous delivery, using a precision medicine approach for patients with LN who have high baseline complement
activity. LN is an autoimmune disease for which pathogenic autoantibodies against C1q enhance activity and uniquely
amplify kidney inflammation and damage. Enrollment in the Phase 1b clinical trial is ongoing with multiple patients dosed,
and clinical data are expected in the first second half of 2023.

. ANX105: We are continuing 2024. Following the successful completion of the proof-of-concept study, we intend to evaluate
ANX105, a next-generation full-length mAb, ANX1502 in a Phase 1 SAD clinical trial in healthy volunteers. Enrollment is
ongoing additional serious complement-mediated autoimmune diseases with the aim of providing enhanced efficacy and
initial data are expected in 2023. offering convenient dosing administration for long-term treatment of chronic conditions.

We were incorporated in March 2011 and commenced operations later that year. To date, we have focused primarily on
performing research and development activities, hiring personnel and raising capital to support and expand these activities. We do not
have any products approved for sale, and we have not generated any revenue from product sales. We have incurred net losses each
year since our inception. Our net losses were $141.9 million $134.2 million and $130.3 million $141.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had an
accumulated deficit of $438.3 million $572.5 million and cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $242.7 million $259.7

million.

Components of Operating Results
Revenue

Our product candidates are not approved for commercial sale. We have not generated any revenue from sales of our product
candidates and do not expect to do so in the foreseeable future and until we complete clinical development, submit regulatory filings and

receive approvals from applicable regulatory bodies for such product candidates, if ever.

Operating Expenses
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Research and Development

Research and development expenses account for a significant portion of our operating expenses. Research and development

expenses consist primarily of direct and indirect costs incurred for the development of our product candidates.

98

Direct expenses include:

. preclinical and clinical outside service costs associated with discovery, preclinical and clinical testing of our product candidate:
82

. professional services agreements with third party contract organizations, investigative clinical trial sites and consultants

conduct research and development activities on our behalf;

. contract manufacturing costs to produce clinical trial materials; materials and commercial materials to support any biolc
license applications (BLA) to the FDA; and

. laboratory supplies and materials.

Indirect expenses include:

. compensation and personnel-related expenses (including stock-based compensation);
. allocated expenses for facilities and depreciation; and
. other indirect costs.

We record research and development expenses as incurred. Payments made to other entities are under agreements that are
generally cancelable by us. Advance payments for goods or services to be received in future periods for use in research and
development activities are deferred as prepaid expenses. The prepaid amounts are then expensed as the related services are
performed. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the nature, timing and estimated costs of the efforts that will be

necessary to complete the development of, and obtain regulatory approval for, any of our product candidates.

We expect our future research and development expenses to increase vary substantially for the foreseeable future as we continue
to invest in research and development activities related to developing prioritize our pipeline opportunities, advance our product
candidates particularly as they advance into later stages of development and as we conduct largerthrough clinical trials, engage invest
in other research andnext generation development, activities and seek pursue regulatory approvals for any approval of our product
candidates, that successfully complete clinical trials and as we incur expenses associated with hiring hire additional personnel and
facility costs to support our research and development efforts. The process of conducting the necessary clinical research to obtain

regulatory approval is costly and time-consuming, and the successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and personnel-related expenses (including stock-based
compensation) for our personnel in executive, finance and other administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also
include professional fees paid for accounting, legal and tax services, allocated expenses for facilities and depreciation and other general

and administrative costs.

We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase substantially for the foreseeable future to remain relatively flat as
we continue to support our research and development activities, grow our business, and, if any of advance our product candidates
receive marketing toward regulatory approval and commercialization activities. We will also incur additional expenses as a result of
operating activities, and operate as a public company, including expenses related to compliance with the rules and regulations of the
SEC, Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Nasdag Stock Market, additional insurance expenses, investor relations activities and other
administrative and professional services. We also expect to increase the size of our administrative function to support the growth of our
business.company.

Interest and Other Income, Net

Interest and other income, net, primarily consists of interest income earned on our cash equivalents and short-term investments.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 20212022

The following tables summarize our results of operations for the periods presented:

Year Ended

December 31,

Dollar %
2022 2021 Change Change
(in thousands)
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 112,501 $ 100,066 $ 12,435 12%
General and administrative 33,098 30,647 2,451 8%
Total operating expenses 145,599 130,713 14,886 11%
Loss from operations (145,599) (230,713) (14,886) 11%
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Interest and other income, net 3,652 390 3,262 *
Net loss $ (141,947) $ (130,323) $  (11,624) 9%
* Not meaningful
Year Ended
December 31,
Dollar %
2023 2022 Change Change
(in thousands)
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 113,756 $ 112501 $ 1,255 1%
General and administrative 29,967 33,098 (3,131) (9%)
Total operating expenses 143,723 145,599 (1,876) (1%)
Loss from operations (143,723) (145,599) 1,876 1%
Interest and other income, net 9,486 3,652 5,834 160%
Net loss $ (134,237) $ (141,947) $ 7,710 5%
Research and Development Expenses
Year Ended
December 31,
Dollar %
2022 2021 Change Change
(in thousands)
Direct costs:
Clinical and nonclinical outside services $ 53,322 $ 42380 $ 10,942 26%
Consulting and professional services 7,416 8,023 (607) (8%)
Contract manufacturing 15,108 19,322 (4,214) (22%)
Laboratory supplies and materials 1,765 1,104 661 60%
Indirect costs:
Compensation and personnel-related
(including stock-based compensation) 29,625 24,350 5,275 22%
Facilities and depreciation 4,481 4,473 8 &
Other 784 414 370 89%
Total research and development expenses $ 112,501 $ 100,066 $ 12,435 12%
* Not meaningful
100
Year Ended
December 31,
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2023 2022

Dollar %

Change Change

(in thousands)

Direct costs:

Clinical and nonclinical outside services $ 41,456 $ 53,322
Consulting and professional services 8,347 7,416
Contract manufacturing 22,598 15,108
Laboratory supplies and materials 1,453 1,765

Indirect costs:

Compensation and personnel-related

$  (11,866)  (22%)
931 13%

7,490 50%
(312)  (18%)

(including stock-based compensation) 33,868 29,625 4,243 14%
Facilities and depreciation 5,009 4,365 644 15%
Other 1,025 900 125 14%
Total research and development expenses $ 113,756 $ 112,501 $ 1,255 1%

Research and development expenses increased by $12.4 million $1.3 million, or 12% 1%, for the year ended December 31,

2022 December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to an

increase of $10.9 million $7.5 million in direct clinical outside services contract manufacturing expenses, related to our multiple ANX005

clinical trials supply, increase in GBS, warm autoimmune hemolytic anemia, Huntington’s Disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis,

geographic atrophy, and first in human trials of ANX105 and ANX1502. Contract manufacturing expense decreased by $4.2 million due

to completion of ANXO005 production runs in the prior year period. Compensationcompensation and personnel-related expenses

increased by $5.3 millionof $4.2 million, due to anand increase in headcount. Direct consulting and professional services costs

decreased of $0.9 million supporting multiple programs partially offset by $0.6 million direct clinical outside services costs decreasing by

$11.9 million primarily due to timing completion of costs related to the support of multiple functions including clinical development,

translational, regulatory and project management. Other expenses increased by $0.4 million due to increase Phase 2 ARCHER trial in

third-party software costs. GA in 2023.
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General and Administrative Expenses
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
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%

Dollar Chan Dollar %
2022 2021 Change ge 2023 2022 Change Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Compensation and personnel-
related
(including stock-based 17,1 13,7 3,46
compensation) $ 8 $ 26 $ 3 25% $ 16,404 $ 17,189 $ (785) (5%)
Consulting and professional 12,2 13,5 1,3 (10%
services 19 67 48) ) 9,738 12,219 (2,481) (20%)
Facilities and depreciation 1,98 2,10
4 1 (117) (6%) 1,946 2,152 (206) (10%)
Other 1,70 1,25
6 3 453  36% 1,879 1,538 341 22%
Total general and administrative 33,0 30,6 2,45
expenses $ 98 $ 47 $ 1 gy $ 29,967 $ 33,098 $ (3,131 (9%)

General and administrative expenses increased decreased by $2.5 million $3.1 million, or 8% 9%, for the year ended December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022. The increase decrease was primarily
due to an increase a reduction of $3.5 million $2.5 million in compensation and personnel-related expenses, including an increase of
$2.0 million in stock-based compensation, related to an increase in headcount. Consulting consulting and professional services costs for
accounting, legal and audit fees, and directors’ and officers’ insurance insurance. Compensation and personnel-related expenses
decreased by $1.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. Facilities and depreciation costs decreased by $0.1 million $0.8
million due to sublease income offsetting rent expense associated with our leased facilitya decrease in Brisbane, California, which

commenced in November 2021. Other expenses increased by $0.5 million due to increase in information technology costs. headcount.

Interest and other income, net

Interest and other income increased by $3.3 million $5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
compared to the same period in 2021. year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to the increase in cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments balances, which was the result of the private placement completed in July 2022 and

higher favorable interest rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

Due to our significant research and development expenditures, we have generated operating losses since our inception.

We have funded our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities. From our inception through December 31, 2022, we
have raised net cash proceeds of $356.4 million from private placements of our redeemable convertible preferred stock, our common
stock and warrants to purchase our common stock, and $262.4 million from the initial public offering of our common stock, or our IPO.
As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had available cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $242.7
million $259.7 million and an accumulated deficit of $438.3 million $572.5 million.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 138/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

101

Cash Flows
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

(in thousands) (in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities (116,30 (106,11
$ 9) $ 0) $ (121,142) $ (116,309)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 58,443 (88,236)
Net cash provided by investing activities 70,703 58,443
Net cash provided by financing activities 122,908 1,795 135,524 122,908
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted (192,55
cash $ 65,042 $ 1)
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 85,085 $ 65,042

Net Cash Flows from Used In Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $121.1 million, which consisted of a net loss of
$134.2 million and a net change of $5.8 million in our operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by $18.9 million in non-cash

charges. The non-cash charges consisted of stock-based compensation of $18.2 million,

85

depreciation and amortization of $2.1 million, and reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets of $1.1 million, partially offset

by accretion of discount on available-for-sale securities of $2.6 million.

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $116.3 million, which consisted of a net loss of
$141.9 million, partially offset by $21.9 million in non-cash charges and a net change of $3.7 million in our operating assets and
liabilities. The non-cash charges consisted of stock-based compensation of $18.5 million, depreciation and amortization of $2.1 million,
accretion of discount on available-for-sale securities of $0.1 million, and reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets of $1.2

million.
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Net Cash used in operating Provided By Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023 was $106.1 million $70.7 million,
which consisted of a net loss $179.0 million of $130.3 million, proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities, partially offset by
$20.9 million in non-cash charges and a net change $108.1 million of $3.3 million in our operating assets and liabilities. The non-cash
charges consisted purchases of stock-based compensation of $16.3 million, depreciation and amortization of $2.1 million, accretion of
discount on available-for-sale securities and $0.2 million of $1.3 million, and reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets of
$1.3 million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activitiesequipment purchases.

Cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $58.4 million, which consisted of $178.2 million
of proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities, partially offset by $113.2 million of purchases of available-for-sale securities

and $6.5 million of tenant improvement costs associated with our lease in Brisbane, California.

Net Cash Flows Provided By Financing Activities

Cash used in investing provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023 was $88.2
million $135.5 million, which consisted of $225.6 million $117.5 million of purchases net proceeds from the issuance of available-for-sale
securities common stock and $1.7 million pre-funded warrants, $17.5 million of purchasenet proceeds from the issuance of
property common stock to a related party under our at-the-market offering program and equipment, partially offset by $133.0 million $0.6
million of proceeds from maturities the exercise of available-for-sale securities common stock options and $6.0 million of proceeds from
sale of available-for-sale securities.

Cash Flows from Financing Activitiesemployee stock purchase plan purchases.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $122.9 million, which consisted of $122.5 million
of net proceeds from issuance of common stock, common warrants and pre-funded warrants, and $0.4 million of proceeds from the

exercise of common stock options and employee stock purchase plan purchases.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $1.8 million, related to $1.8 million of

proceeds from the exercise of common stock options and employee stock purchase plan purchases.

Funding Requirements

We use our cash to fund operations, primarily to fund our clinical trials, research and development expenditures and related
personnel costs. We expect our future research and development expenses to increase vary substantially for the foreseeable future as
we continue to invest in research and development activities related to prioritize our pipeline opportunities, advance our product
candidates particularly as they advance into later stages of development and as we conduct larger through clinical trials, engage invest
in other research andnext generation development, activities, seek pursue regulatory approvals for anyapproval of our product
candidates, that successfully complete clinical trials and as we incur expenses associated with hiring hire additional personnel to support

our research and development efforts. In addition, we expect our general and administrative expenses to increase substantially for the

102

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 140/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

foreseeable future to remain relatively flat as we continue to supportadvance our research and development activities, and to grow our
business, and as we expect to engage in commercialization activities, if any ofadvance our product candidates receive marketing
approval. We will also incur additional expenses as a result of operating toward regulatory approval and commercialization activities, and
operate as a public company and also expect to increase the size of our administrative function to support the growth of our
business. company. The timing and amount of our operating expenditures will depend on many factors, including:

. the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing our current product candidates or any other future prc
candidates we choose to pursue, and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials;

. the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining feedback from regulators on our clinical trials and regulatory approvals fo
lead product candidates or any future product candidates;

. the number and characteristics of any additional product candidates we develop or acquire;

. the timing and amount of any milestone, royalty and/or other payments we are required to make pursuant to our current or
future license or collaboration agreements;

. the cost of manufacturing our lead product candidates or any future product candidates and any products we succes:
commercialize;

86
. the cost of building a sales force in anticipation of product commercialization;
. the cost of commercialization activities of our product candidates, if approved for sale, including marketing, sales and distrib
costs;
. our ability to establish strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of any such agreem

including the timing and amount of any future milestone, royalty or other payments due under any such agreement;

. any product liability or other lawsuits related to our products;

. the expenses needed to attract, hire and retain skilled personnel;

. the costs associated with operating as a public company;

. the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing our intellectual property portfolio; and
. the timing, receipt and amount of sales of any future approved products.

Based upon our current operating plan, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments will
enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements related to currently ongoing clinical trials into 2025. mid-
2026. We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on
acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development programs, commercialization
efforts or other operations. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our available
capital resources sooner than we expect. We expect to continue to expend significant resources for the foreseeable future. Until such
time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we will be required to seek additional funding in the future and currently

intend to do so through public or private equity offerings or debt financings, credit or loan facilities, collaborations or a combination of
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one or more of these funding sources. Additional funds may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we fail to obtain
necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all, we could be forced to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product
development programs, commercialization efforts or other operations. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our
stockholders will suffer dilution and the terms of any financing may adversely affect the rights of our stockholders. In addition, as a
condition to providing additional funds to us, future investors may demand, and may be granted, rights superior to those of existing
stockholders. Debt financing, if available, is likely to involve restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility in conducting future business
activities, and, in the event of insolvency, debt holders would be repaid before holders of our equity securities received any distribution of

our corporate assets.

At-the-Market Offering 2023 Financing

In August 2021, December 2023, we entered into a sales agreement with Cowenraised net proceeds of approximately $117.0
million after deducting underwriting discounts and Company LLC, or Cowen, as sales agent, pursuant to which we may issue and
sell offering expenses through the sale of 25,035,000 shares of our common stock, for par value $0.001 per share at a price of $2.880
per share and pre-funded warrants to purchase an aggregate maximum offering price of $100.0 million under an at-the-market offering
program, or 2021 ATM program. We will pay Cowen up to 3% of
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gross proceeds for the common stock sold through the 2021 ATM program. As of December 31, 2022, no shares of common stock had
been sold under the 2021 ATM program. In February 2023, an entity related to one of our directors purchased 2,646,458 18,379,861
shares of common stock at a price of $6.80$2.879 per share, which equals the per share offering price for the shares of common stock

less the $0.001 exercise price for each pre-funded warrant.

As of December 31, 2023, pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 18,379,861 shares of common stock remained outstanding from
the 2023 financing.

2022 Financing

In July 2022, we raised net proceeds of approximately $122.5 million after deducting fees and expenses through the 2021 ATM
program, resulting in net proceeds to us sale of approximately $17.5 million, after deducting placement agent fees.

Private Placement

On July 11, 2022, we sold in a private placement an aggregate of 9,013,834 shares of common stock, pre-funded warrants to
purchase up to 24,696,206 shares of our common stock and accompanying common warrants to purchase up to 8,427,508 shares of
our common stock. The offering price per share and accompanying common warrant was $3.87125 per share and the offering price per
pre-funded warrant and accompanying common warrant was $3.87025 per share, which equals the per share offering price for the
shares of common stock less the $0.001 exercise price for each such pre-funded warrant. The pre-funded warrants remain exercisable

until exercised in full. The common warrants have an exercise price of $5.806875
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$5.806875 per share and expire on June 30, 2025. The private placement resulted in net proceeds of approximately $122.5 million, after

deducting placement agent fees and other expenses.

Both the pre-funded and common warrants are immediately exercisable, subject to beneficial ownership limitations. The warrants
meet the criteria for equity classification and were therefore recorded at fair value as of the grant date as a component of stockholders’

equity within additional paid-in capital.

In 2023, we issued an aggregate of 2,582,557 shares of common stock upon the cashless exercise of pre-funded warrants to
purchase 2,583,144 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, no pre-funded orwarrants to purchase up
to 22,113,062 shares of common warrants were exercised, and there were pre-funded stock and common warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 33,123,714 shares of common stock outstanding. The 24,696,206 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of
the pre-funded warrants and the up to 8,427,508 shares of common stock issuable uponremained outstanding from the exercise 2022

financing.

2021 At-the-Market (ATM) Program

In August 2021, we entered into a sales agreement with TD Cowen as sales agent, pursuant to which we may issue and sell
shares of our common stock for an aggregate maximum offering of $100.0 million under an at-the-market offering program, or 2021 ATM
program. TD Cowen is entitled to compensation up to 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds for the common warrants are not included
instock sold through the number of issued and outstanding 2021 ATM program. During 2023, we sold 2,646,458 shares of common
stock at a price of $6.80 per share under the 2021 ATM program for net proceeds of approximately $17.5 million after deducting
commissions paid to TD Cowen as sales agent. Subsequent to December 31, 2023 and through the date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, net proceeds of approximately $32.3 million were raised as a result of the sale of shares of our common stock through the 2021
ATM program. As of December 31, 2023, and as of December 31, 2022 the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, approximately
$82.0 million and $48.9 million, respectively, remained available for the offer and sales of shares of common stock under the 2021 ATM

program.

2024 ATM Program

In March 2024, we entered into a sales agreement with TD Cowen, as sales agent, or 2024 ATM program, pursuant to which we
may issue and sell shares of our common stock for an aggregate maximum offering of $100.0 million. TD Cowen is entitled to
compensation up to 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds for the common stock sold through the 2024 ATM program. As of the date of

this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not made any sales under the 2024 ATM program.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since our inception, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of the
SEC.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
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Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions for the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses and related disclosures. Our
estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions and any such differences

may be material.

While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the notes to our consolidated financial statements
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting policies are the most critical for fully

understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of operations.

Accrued and Prepaid Research and Development Costs

We estimate preclinical study and clinical trial expenses based on the services performed pursuant to contracts with research
institutions, clinical research organizations, and clinical manufacturing organizations that conduct and manage preclinical studies and
clinical trials on our behalf. In recording service fees as either prepaid or accrued costs, we estimate the period over which services will

be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period.

88

These estimates of the expense are based on communications with and information provided by the third-party service providers at each
balance sheet date. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from the estimate, we will adjust the

amounts recorded accordingly. The estimates are trued up to reflect the best

104

information available at the time of the financial statement issuance. We have not experienced any material differences between

accrued or prepaid costs and actual costs incurred since inception.

We defer and capitalize non-refundable advance payments for goods or services that will be used or rendered for future research
and development activities as prepaid expenses until the related goods are delivered or services are performed. We evaluate such

payments for current or long-term classification based on when such services are expected to be received.

Operating Lease Obligations

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Upon adoption of Accounting Standards Codification 842, Leases, as of
January 1, 2021, we include operating leases in operating lease right of use, or ROU, assets, current and noncurrent operating lease

liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. The ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and
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lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease liabilities are recognized at the
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. We measure our ROU assets based on the
associated lease liabilities adjusted for any lease incentives such as tenant improvement allowances. As most of the leases do not
provide an implicit rate, we generally use our incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized
borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the commencement date. Our lease terms may include options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise the option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

As a practical expedient, we elected, for all facility leases, not to separate non-lease components from lease components and
instead to account for each separate lease component and its associated non-lease components as a single lease component. We

elected to exclude from our balance sheets recognition of leases having a term of 12 months or less (short-term leases).

Warrants

Warrants are accounted for as either derivative liabilities or as equity instruments depending on the specific terms of the
agreement. Our pre-funded and common warrants are equity-classified instruments that were recorded in additional paid-in capital at
issuance and are not subject to remeasurement. We periodically evaluate changes in facts and circumstances that could impact the

classification of warrants.

Stock-Based Compensation

We maintain a stock-based compensation plan as a long-term incentive for employees, non-employee directors and consultants.
The plan allows for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock units and other forms of equity

awards.

We recognize stock-based compensation expense for stock options on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period and
account for forfeitures as they occur. Our stock-based compensation costs are based upon the grant date fair value of options estimated

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

To determine the value of stock option awards for stock-based compensation purposes, we use the Black-Scholes option pricing

model and the assumptions discussed below. Each of these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant judgment.

Fair Value of Common Stock—The fair value of each share of underlying common stock is based on the closing price of our

common stock as reported on the date of grant on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

Expected Term—The expected term represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding and is
determined using the simplified method (based on the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term). We
continue using the simplified method as we do not have sufficient historical exercise
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data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term due to the limited period of time our equity shares have been

publicly traded.

Expected Volatility—Because we do not have sufficient trading history for our common stock, the expected volatility was estimated
based on the average volatility for comparable publicly traded life sciences companies over a period equal to the expected term of the

stock option grants. The comparable companies were chosen based on the similar size, stage in life cycle or area of specialty.
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Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues in effect at the time of grant

for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option.

Dividend Yield—We have never paid dividends on our common stock and have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock.

Therefore, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.

See Note 7—Equity Incentive Plan to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K for more information concerning certain of the specific assumptions we used in applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model to
determine the estimated fair value of our stock options. Certain of such assumptions involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
significant judgment. As a result, if factors or expected outcomes change and we use significantly different assumptions or estimates,

our stock-based compensation could be materially different.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

See Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information about recent accounting pronouncements, the timing of their adoption,

and our assessment, to the extent we have made one yet, of their potential impact on our financial condition of results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not required for the Company as a smaller reporting company.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors

Annexon, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Annexon, Inc. and subsidiary (the Company) as of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and the related notes
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, in conformity

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we

express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter
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The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Warrants issued in private placement Pre-funded warrants

As discussed in in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, in July 2022 December 2023 the Company closed a private
placement financing transaction which included the issuance of common stock and pre-funded warrants and warrants to purchase its
common stock. Upon issuance, the pre-funded warrants were recorded at fair value as of the grant date as a component of
stockholders’ equity within additional paid-in capital in the amount of $95.6 million $52.9 million.
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We identified the balance sheet classification of the pre-funded warrants issued as part of the private placement December 2023
financing transaction as either liabilities or equity on the balance sheet as a critical audit matter. A high degree of subjective Subjective
auditor judgment was required in the evaluation of the balance sheet classification of the pre-funded warrants due to certain provisions
included within the warrant agreements.

108
agreement.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design of a control within
the equity process related to the determination of the classification of the warrants. We obtained and inspected the pre-funded and
common stock warrant agreements agreement to identify key terms and conditions within the agreements agreement that were relevant
to the balance sheet classification determination. We obtained and inspected assessed the Company’s technical accounting

analyses analysis to evaluate whether the Company had considered allthose key terms and conditions of the agreements. pre-funded
warrant agreement. We evaluated the Company’s interpretation and application of the relevant accounting literature, including
consideration of whether certain actions were within the Company’s control, settlement provisions unique to support the equity
classification of the warrants on the balance sheet. pre-funded warrants.

/sl KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.
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San Francisco, California
March 6, 2023 26, 2024
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ANNEXON, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

December 31, 2023 2022
2022 2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 140,020 $ 74,843 $ 225,110 $ 140,020
Short-term investments 102,637 167,872 34,606 102,637
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,441 4,978 4,144 5,441
Total current assets 248,098 247,693 263,860 248,098
Restricted cash 1,032 1,166 1,032 1,032
Property and equipment, net 16,838 17,848 14,773 16,838
Operating lease right-of-use assets 19,128 20,333 18,009 19,128
Total assets $ 285,096 $ 287,040 $ 297,674 $ 285,096
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 7,416 $ 11,153 $ 5,487 $ 7,416
Accrued liabilities 13,448 9,250 10,235 13,448
Operating lease liabilities, current 1,316 1,202 2,165 1,316
Other current liabilities 180 139 41 180
Total current liabilities 22,360 21,744 17,928 22,360
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 31,542 33,387 29,190 31,542
Total liabilities 53,902 55,131 47,118 53,902
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Stockholders’ equity:
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Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized
as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively; 47,722,995
and 38,560,854 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively; 78,369,099
and 47,722,995 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $

48 39
78 48
669,780 528,365 823,029 669,780
(372) (180) (52) (372)
(438,262) (296,315) (572,499) (438,262)
231,194 231,909 250556 231,194
285096 $ 287,040 $ 297,674 $ 285,096

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANNEXON, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended

December 31,

Year Ended

December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 112501 $ 100,066 $ 113,756 $ 112,501
General and administrative 33,098 30,647 29,967 33,098
Total operating expenses 145,599 130,713 143,723 145,599
Loss from operations (145,599) (130,713) (143,723) (145,599)
Interest and other income, net 3,652 390 9,486 3,652
Net loss (141,947) (130,323) $ (134,237) $ (141,947)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (141,947) $ (130,323)
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Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders,

basic
and diluted $ (2.60) $ (3.40)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per
share 54,673,57 38,316,27
attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted 2 3
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ 177y $ (2.60)

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per

share,
basic and diluted 75,673,081 54,673,572
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANNEXON, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Net loss $ (141,947) $ (130,323) $ (134,237) $ (141,947)
Other comprehensive gain (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1 (5) 5 1
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities (293) (98)

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities 315 (193)
Comprehensive loss $ (142,139) $ (130,426) $ (133,917) % (142,139)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANNEXON, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands, except share amounts)
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Net loss — — — — (141,947) (141,947)
Balances as of December 31, 2022 47,722,995  $ 48 % 669,780  $ (372) % (438,262) $ 231,194
Accumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensiv Total
Common Stock Paid-In e Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Cost Capital Loss Deficit Equity
Balances as of December 31, 2021 38,560,854 $ 39 $ 528,365 $ (180) $ (296,315) $ 231,909
Stock-based compensation — — 18,516 — — 18,516
Stock option exercises 15,364 — 80 — — 80
Issuance of common stock, pre-funded
warrants and common warrants, net of
issuance costs of $7,988 9,013,834 9 122,479 — — 122,488
Issuance of common stock per
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
purchase 121,126 — 340 — — 340
Restricted stock vested in the period 11,817 — — — — _
Other comprehensive loss — — — (192) — (192)
Net loss — — — — (141,947) (141,947)
Balances as of December 31, 2022 47,722,995 48 669,780 (372) (438,262) 231,194
Stock-based compensation — — 18,183 — — 18,183
Stock option exercises 76,888 — 145 — = 145
Exercise of pre-funded warrants 2,582,557 3 3) = = =
Issuance of common stock to related
party, net of issuance costs of $525 2,646,458 2 17,468 — — 17,470
Issuance of common stock and pre-
funded warrants, net of issuance cost
of $8,014 25,035,000 25 116,977 — — 117,002
Issuance of common stock per
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
purchase 133,105 — 479 — — 479
Restricted stock vested in the period 172,096 — — — — _
Other comprehensive gain — — — 320 — 320
Net loss — — — — (134,237) (134,237)
Balances as of December 31, 2023 78,369,099 $ 78 $ 823,029 $ (52) $ (572.499) $ 250,556
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANNEXON, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended

December 31,

2023 2022
Operating activities:
Net loss $ (134,237) $ (141,947)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,148 2,106
Accretion of (discount) premium on available-for-sale securities (2,550) 73
Stock-based compensation 18,183 18,516
Reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets 1,119 1,205
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,352 (463)
Accounts payable (2,077) (287)
Accrued liabilities (3,438) 6,178
Operating lease liabilities (1,503) (2,731)
Other current liabilities (139) 41
Net cash used in operating activities (121,142) (116,309)
Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (193) (6,526)
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (108,088) (113,197)
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 178,984 178,166
Net cash provided by investing activities 70,703 58,443
Financing activities:
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options 90 80
Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan purchases 479 340
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, pre-funded warrants and common
warrants, including related party of $17,995 and $9,500 for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 17,995 130,476
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, pre-funded warrants and common
warrants, including related party of $948, net of commissions 117,515 —
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Payment of financing costs (555) (7,988)

Net cash provided by financing activities 135,524 122,908
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 85,085 65,042
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 5 1

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Beginning of period 141,052 76,009

End of period $ 226,142 $ 141,052

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liability $ 4,728 $ 10,078
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Deferred offering costs included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 483  $ —

Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ —  $ 110

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANNEXON, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
Year Ended

December 31,

2022 2021
Operating activities:
Net loss $ (141,947) $ (130,323)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,106 2,141
Accretion of discount on available-for-sale securities 73 1,253
Stock-based compensation 18,516 16,262
Reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets 1,205 1,273
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (463) (2,612)
Accounts payable (287) 3,859
Accrued liabilities 6,178 773
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Operating lease liabilities (1,731) 1,125

Other current liabilities 41 139

Net cash used in operating activities (116,309) (106,110)

Investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment (6,526) (1,654)
Purchases of available-for-sale securities (113,197) (225,601)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale-securities — 5,993
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 178,166 133,026
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 58,443 (88,236)

Financing activities:

Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options 80 1,610
Proceeds from employee stock plan purchases 340 185
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, pre-funded warrants and common warrants 120,976 —

Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, pre-funded warrants and common
warrants - related party 9,500 —

Payment of issuance costs related to the issuance of common stock, pre-funded

warrants and common warrants (7,988) —

Net cash provided by financing activities 122,908 1,795
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 65,042 (192,551)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1 5)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Beginning of period 76,009 268,565

End of period $ 141,052 $ 76,009

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liability $ 10,078 $ 996

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 110 $ 5,540
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liability $ — % 21,084
Construction-in-progress obtained in exchange for tenant improvement allowance from lessors $ —  $ 10,860

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ANNEXON, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization

Annexon, Inc., or the Company, is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company pioneering a new class of complement medicines

for patients people living with classical complement-mediated autoimmune, neurodegenerative and ophthalmic disorders. devasting
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inflammatory-related diseases. The Company is located in Brisbane, California and was incorporated in Delaware in March 2011.

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Annexon Biosciences Australia Pty Ltd, or the Subsidiary, is a proprietary limited
company incorporated in 2016 and domiciled in Australia. The Subsidiary is also engaged in research and development activities in

support of its parent company.

Liquidity
Since inception, the Company has been involved primarily in performing research and development activities, conducting clinical
trials, hiring personnel, and raising capital to support and expand these activities. The Company has experienced losses and negative

cash flows from operations since its inception and, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, had an accumulated deficit of

$438.3572.5 million and cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $242.7 259.7 million.

The Company has historically funded its operations through the issuance of shares of its redeemable convertible preferred stock,
common stock and warrants. Based on projected activities, management projects that existing cash on hand is sufficientand cash
equivalents and short-term investments will enable the Company to support operationsfund its operating expenses and capital
expenditure requirements for at least twelve months from the next 12 months following date of issuance of these consolidated financial
statements. The Company’s future viability beyond that point is dependent on its ability to achieve development milestones and obtain
additional funding. Management expects to continue to incur losses and negative cash flows from operations for at least the next several
years. There are uncertainties associated with the Company’s ability to (1) obtain additional equity or debt financing on terms that are
favorable to the Company, (2) enter into collaborative agreements with strategic partners, and (3) succeed in its future operations. If the
Company is not able to obtain the required funding for its operations or is not able to obtain funding on terms that are favorable to the
Company, it could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate its research and development programs and its business could be materially

harmed.

2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, or GAAP, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported expenses during the reporting
period. Management evaluates its estimates, including but not limited to the fair value of investments, stock options, income
taxes, operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, valuation of deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions (including valuation
allowance), clinical trial accruals and stock-based compensation. The Company evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing
basis using historical experience and other factors and adjusts those estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the operations of Annexon, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary and include the

results of operations and cash flows of these entities. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Segments
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The Company’'s chief operating decision maker is its Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer reviews financial
information on an aggregate basis for the purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating the Company’s resources.

Accordingly, the Company has determined that it operates in one segment.

11598

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three months or less at time of purchase to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents, which includes amounts invested in money market funds and short-term government bonds, are

stated at fair value.

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 relates to the letters of credit established for the Company’s office

lease.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the consolidated

balance sheets that sum to the total of the same amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows: flows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Cash $ 570 $ 734 % 8,488 $ 570
Cash equivalents 139,450 74,109 216,622 139,450
Cash and cash equivalents 140,020 74,843 225,110 140,020
Restricted cash 1,032 1,166 1,032 1,032
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ~ $ 141,052 $76,009 $ 226,142 $ 141,052

Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments have been classified as available-for-sale and are carried at estimated fair value as determined based
upon quoted market prices or pricing models for similar securities. The Company determines the appropriate classification of its
investments in debt securities at the time of purchase. Available-for-sale securities with original maturities beyond three months at the

date of purchase are classified as current based on their availability for use in current operations.

The Company evaluates, on a quarterly basis, its available-for-sale debt securities for potential impairment. For available-for-sale
debt securities in an unrealized loss position, the Company assesses whether such declines are due to credit loss based on factors such

as changes to the rating of the security by a ratings agency, market conditions and supportable forecasts of economic and market
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conditions, among others. If credit loss exists, the Company assesses whether it has plans to sell the security or it is more likely than not
it will be required to sell any available-for-sale debt security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. If either condition is met, the
security’s amortized cost basis is written down to fair value and is recognized through interest and other income (expense), net. If
neither condition is met, declines as a result of credit losses, if any, are recognized as an allowance for credit loss, limited to the amount
of unrealized loss, through interest and other income (expense), net. Any portion of the unrealized loss that is not a result of a credit
loss, is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains and losses, if any, on available-for-sale debt securities are
included in interest and other income (expense), net.

The cost of investments sold is based on the specific-identification method. Interest on available-for-sale debt securities is
included in interest and other income (expense), net.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Depreciation begins at the time the asset is placed in service.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated

depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations in the period realized.

11699

The useful lives of the property and equipment are as follows:

Computer equipment 3 years
Lab equipment and furniture and fixtures 5years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease term or estimated useful life

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, including property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by
comparison of the carrying amount of each asset to the future undiscounted cash flows the asset is expected to generate over its
remaining life. When indications of impairment are present and the estimated undiscounted future cash flows from the use of these
assets is less than the assets’ carrying value, the related assets will be written down to fair value. There were no impairments of the
Company'’s long-lived assets for the periods presented.

Leases

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 159/239

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Upon adoption of Accounting Standards Codification 842,
Leases, as of January 1, 2021, the The Company includes operating leases in operating lease right of use, or ROU, assets, current and
noncurrent operating lease liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The ROU assets represent the Company’s right to
use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from
the lease. Operating lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the
lease term. The Company measures the ROU assets based on the associated lease liabilities adjusted for any lease incentives such as
tenant improvement allowances. As most of the leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company generally uses its incremental
borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the
commencement date. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain
that the Company will exercise the option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis, net of sublease
income, over the lease term.

As a practical expedient, the Company elected, for all facility leases, not to separate non-lease components from lease
components and instead to account for each separate lease component and its associated non-lease components as a single lease
component. The Company elected to exclude from its balance sheets recognition of leases having a term of 12 months or less (short-

term leases).

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the

enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred taxes to the amounts expected to be realized.

The Company recognizes benefits of uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that such positions will be sustained upon
examination based solely on their technical merit, as the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon the
ultimate settlement. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income taxes as a
component of income tax expense or benefit. To date, there have been no interest or penalties charged in relation to the unrecognized
tax benefits.
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Commitments and Contingencies
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Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other sources are recorded
when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection
with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.

Warrants

Warrants are accounted for as either derivative liabilities or as equity instruments depending on the specific terms of the
agreement. The Company'’s pre-funded and common warrants are equity-classified instruments that were recorded in additional paid-in
capital at issuance and are not subject to remeasurement. The Company periodically evaluates changes in facts and circumstances that
could impact the classification of warrants. As of December 31, 2023, there were pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 40,492,923

shares of common stock and common warrants to purchase up to 8,427,508 shares of common stock outstanding.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses consist primarily of direct and indirect costs incurred for the development of the Company’s
product candidates.

Direct expenses include (i) preclinical and clinical outside service costs associated with discovery, preclinical and clinical testing of
the Company’s product candidates; (ii) professional services agreements with third-party contract organizations, investigative clinical
trial sites and consultants that conduct research and development activities on the Company’s behalf; (iii) contract manufacturing costs
to produce clinical trial materials; materials and commercial materials to support future biologics license applications (BLA) to the FDA,
and (iv) laboratory supplies and materials. Indirect expenses include (A) compensation and personnel-related expenses (including stock-

based compensation), (B) allocated expenses for facilities and depreciation; and (C) other indirect costs.

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Payments made to third parties are under agreements that are
generally cancelable by the Company. Advance payments for research and development activities are deferred as prepaid expenses.
The prepaid amounts are expensed as the related services are performed.

The Company estimates preclinical studies and clinical trial expenses based on the services performed pursuant to contracts with
research institutions and clinical research organizations that conduct and manage preclinical studies and clinical trials on the Company’s
behalf. The Company also estimates manufacturing costs based on services performed pursuant to contracts with contract
manufacturing organizations that develop and manufacture product on the Company’s behalf. In accruing service fees, the Company
estimates the period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. These estimates are
based on the Company’s communications with the third-party service providers and on information available at each balance sheet date.
If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies significantly from the estimate, the Company will adjust the
accrual accordingly to reflect the best information available at the time of the financial statement issuance. The Company has not

experienced any material differences between accrued costs and actual costs incurred since its inception.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation arrangements with employees and non-employee directors and
consultants using a fair value method which requires the recognition of compensation expense for costs related to all stock-based
payments, including stock options and restricted stock units, or RSUs. The fair value method requires the Company to estimate the fair
value of stock options to employees and non-employees on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair

value of RSU awards areis based on the fair value of the underlying common stock as of the grant date.
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Stock-based compensation costs are based on the fair value of the underlying option calculated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model and recognized as expense on a straight-line basis (for all but performance-based awards for which the accelerated

method is used) over the requisite service period, which is the vesting period.
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Determining the appropriate fair value model and related assumptions requires judgment, including estimating expected term,

expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate and dividend yield. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration for potential
dilutive shares of common stock. As the Company was in a loss position for all periods presented, basic net loss per share attributable
to common stockholders is the same as diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders because the effects of potentially
dilutive securities are antidilutive.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are held by high credit
quality financial institutions in the United States. At times, such deposits may be in excess of the Federal Depository Insurance
Corporation insured limits. Management believes that the financial institutions are financially sound, and accordingly, minimal credit risk

exists with respect to the financial institutions.

Recently Adopted Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2023-07, Segment Reporting: Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires disclosure of incremental segment
information on an interim and annual basis. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim
periods within fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented in
the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the guidance on the consolidated financial statements and
disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, “2023-09, Debt — Debt with Conversion Income Taxes: Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures, which requires enhanced annual disclosures regarding the rate reconciliation and Other Options (Subtopic
470-20) income taxes paid information. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 and Derivatives and
Hedging — Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)" (“ASU No. 2020-06"). ASU No. 2020-06 simplifies the accounting for
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convertible instruments. The guidance removes certain accounting models that separate the embedded conversion features from the
host contract for convertible instruments. may be adopted on a prospective or retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company adopted ASU 2020-06 effective asis evaluating the impact of January 1, 2022. The adoption of ASU 2020-06 did not have an
impactthis guidance on the Company’sits consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Company has reviewed the FASB issued ASU accounting pronouncements statements and interpretations thereof that have
effectiveness dates during the periods reported and in future periods. The Company has carefully considered the new pronouncements
that alter previous generally accepted accounting principles and do not believe that any new or modified principles will have a material
impact on the Company’s reported financial position or operations in the near term. The applicability of any standard is subject to the

formal review of the Company’s financial management. related disclosures.

3. Fair Value Measurements

The Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable
inputs to the extent possible. The Company determines fair value based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an
asset or liability in the principal or most advantageous market. When considering market participant assumptions in fair value
measurements, the following fair value hierarchy distinguishes between observable and unobservable inputs, which are categorized in
one of the following levels:

. Level 1 Inputs: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities accessible to the reporting entity
at the measurement date.

. Level 2 Inputs: Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

. Level 3 Inputs: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs
are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at
measurement date.

119102

On a recurring basis, the Company measures certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The following tables summarize
the fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value
hierarchy (in thousands):

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
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Gross Gross

Unreali  Unreali

Valuati zed zed Aggrega Gross Gross
on Amortiz  Holdin  Holdin te Unrealized Unrealized
Hierar ed g g Fair Valuation Amortized Holding Holding Aggregate
chy Cost Gains Losses  Value Hierarchy Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Assets:
Cash
equivalents:
Money market Level 139,4 139,4
funds 1 $ 5 $ — $ — $ 50 Levell $ 143,933 $ — $ — $ 148,933
Government
bonds Level 2 72,689 — — 72,689
Short-term
investments:
Commercial Level 42,46 42,38
paper 2 7 — (82) 5
Corporate Level 35,63 35,65
bonds 2 8 14 — 2
Government  Level 24,80 24,60
bonds 2 4 — (204) 0 Level 2 34,596 10 — 34,606
Total assets 242.3 242,0
$ 59 $ 14 $(286) $ 87 $ 251,218 $ 10 $ — $ 251,228
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022
Gross Gross
Unreali  Unreali
Valuati zed zed Aggrega Gross Gross
on Amortiz  Holdin  Holdin te Unrealized Unrealized
Hierar ed g g Fair Valuation Amortized Holding Holding Aggregate
chy Cost Gains Losses Value Hierarchy Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Assets:
Cash
equivalents:
Money market Level 74,10 74,10
funds 1 $ 9 ¢ — $ — § 9 Levell $ 139450 $ — 3 — $ 139,450
Short-term
investments:
Commercial Level 85,35 85,32
paper 2 2 — (27) 5 Level 2 42,467 — (82) 42,385
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Corporate Level 48,81 48,79

bonds 2 4 — (24) 0 Level 2 35,638 14 — 35,652
Government  Level 33,80 33,75
bonds 2 g — (52) 7 Level 2 24,804 — (204) 24,600
Total assets 2420 241,9
$ 84 $ — $(103) $ 81 $ 242359 $ 14 3 (286) $ 242,087

All of the investments held as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 had original maturities of less than two years. As of

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, all of the investments are scheduled to mature in 12 months.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the Company recognized no material realized gains
or losses on financial instruments.

4. Balance Sheet Components

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2022 2021
Prepaid research and development costs $ 3,805 $ 3,002
Prepaid insurance 755 1,282
Other prepaid expenses 678 231
Other current assets 203 463
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 5441 $ 4,978

December 31,

2023 2022
Prepaid research and development costs $ 2617 $ 3,805
Prepaid insurance 704 755
Other prepaid expenses 760 678
Other current assets 63 203
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 4,144 % 5,441
120103
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Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

Leasehold improvements $ 17,231  $ 16,594 $ 17,245 $ 17,231
Laboratory equipment 1,764 1,353 1,832 1,764
Furniture and fixtures 692 649 692 692
Computer equipment and software 34 41 33 34
Total property and equipment, gross 19,721 18,637 19,802 19,721
Less: accumulated depreciation (2,883) (789) (5,029) (2,883)

Total property and equipment, net $ 16,838 $ 17,848 $ 14,773 $ 16,838

Total depreciation expense recognized for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 20212022 was
$2.1 million and $2.1 million, respectively. million.

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

Accrued research and development expenses $ 7,720 $ 2404 $ 4,027 $ 7,720
Accrued compensation 5,299 3,573 5,607 5,299
Accrued professional services 394 1,274 501 394
Accrued construction costs — 1,917
Other accrued expenses 35 82 100 35

Total accrued liabilities $ 13448 $ 9250 $ 10,235 $ 13,448

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases its offices and laboratory in Brisbane, California, or the Brisbane Lease, under a ten-year noncancelable
lease agreement that ends in October 2031 with a ten-year renewable option. In November 2021, the Company subleased unoccupied
space for two years starting from December 2021 through November 2023, for aggregate sublease payments of $3.4 million. The
sublease income, while it reduces the rent expense, is not considered in the value of the right-of-use assets or lease liabilities. The
Company'’s sublease income was $1.6 2.0 million and $0.12.1 million for the yearyears ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
and 2021, 2022, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the operating lease right-of-use assets were $19.118.0 million and lease liabilities

were $32.9 31.4 million in the consolidated balance sheet. The weighted average remaining lease term is 8.8 7.8 years.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate used to measure the operating lease liability is 8.4%.

Operating lease cost for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 20212022 was $2.1 2.3 million and $2.92.1
million, respectively. Variable lease payments for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 20212022 were $1.5

million and $1.0 million, and $0.4 million, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments and related lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022, December 31, 2023 were as follows:

(in thousands) (in thousands)

2023 $ 4,198
2024 4,893 $ 4,893
2025 5,065 5,065
2026 5,242 5,242
2027 and thereafter 28,025
2027 5,425
2028 and thereafter 22,600

Total undiscounted lease payments 47,423 43,225
Less: Imputed interest (14,565) (11,870)
Total $ 32,858 $ 31,355

License and Other Agreements

In November 2011, the Company entered into an exclusive licensing agreement, or the Stanford Agreement, with The Board of
Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University, or Stanford, whereby the Company was granted an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-
bearing, sublicensable license, under certain patent rights, or the Licensed Patents, to make, use, offer for sale, sell, import and
otherwise commercialize products covered by the Licensed Patents for human or animal diseases, disorders or conditions. Under the
Stanford Agreement, the Company made an upfront payment and is obligated to pay Stanford annual license maintenance fees,
potential future milestone payments totaling up to $500,0000.5, million, and royalty payments at a rate equal to a low single-digit
percentage of worldwide net sales of licensed products. The Company did not achieve any milestones or make any milestone payments
for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021.2022.
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In December 2016, the Company entered into a Sponsored Research Agreement with a not-for-profit entity to perform research
on multiple sclerosis. The Sponsored Research Agreement was amended in March 2019. Under the terms of the Sponsored Research
Agreement, as amended, the Company may receive up to $0.7 millionin funding. If, within 15years of the end of the Sponsored
Research Agreement, the Company files a marketing authorization application for a product treating multiple sclerosis, the Company will
be obligated to pay milestone payments up to four times the amounts received under the Sponsored Research Agreement. The
Company has received $0.6 million in funding to date, which was recorded as interest and other income. The Company recognized no
income during the yearyears ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and $0.1 million in income during the year ended
December 31, 2021.2022.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into agreements that contain a variety of representations and provide for
general indemnification. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves claims that may be made
against the Company in the future. To date, the Company has not paid any claims or been required to defend any action related to its
indemnification obligations. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company did not have any material indemnification

claims that were probable or reasonably possible and consequently has not recorded related liabilities.

6. Stockholder’s Equity
Private Placement 2023 Financing

On July 11, 2022,In December 2023, the Company soldraised net proceeds of approximately $117.0 million after deducting
underwriting discounts and offering expenses through the sale of 25,035,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001
per share at a price of $2.880 per share and pre-funded warrants to purchase an aggregate of 18,379,861 shares of common stock at a
price of $2.879 per share, which equals the per share offering price for the shares of common stock less the $0.001 exercise price for
each pre-funded warrant. An entity related to one of the Company’s directors participated in the public offering and purchased 350,000
shares of common stock for an aggregate price of approximately $1.0 million. The warrants meet the criteria for equity classification and
were therefore recorded at fair value as of the grant date as a private placementcomponent of stockholders’ equity within additional

paid-in capital in the amount of $52.9 million.

105

As of December 31, 2023, pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 18,379,861 shares of common stock remained outstanding from
the 2023 financing.

2022 Financing
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In July 2022, the Company raised net proceeds of approximately $122.5 million after deducting fees and expenses through the
sale of an aggregate of 9,013,834 shares of common stock, pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 24,696,206 shares of its common
stock and accompanying common warrants to purchase up to 8,427,508 shares of its common stock. The offering price per share and
accompanying common warrant was $3.87125 per share and the offering price per pre-funded warrant and accompanying common
warrant was $3.87025 per share, which equals the per share offering price for the shares of common stock less the $0.001 exercise
price for each such pre-funded warrant. The pre-funded warrants remain exercisable until exercised in full. The common warrants have
an exercise price of $5.806875 per share and expire on June 30, 2025. The private placement resulted in net proceeds of $122.5

million, after deducting placement agent fees and expenses.
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An entity related to one of the Company’s directors participated in the Private Placement and purchased 2,453,988 shares of
common stock and accompanying common warrants to purchase up to an additional 613,497 shares of common stock for an aggregate

price of approximately $9.5 million.

Both the pre-funded and common warrants are immediately exercisable, subject to beneficial ownership limitations. The Company
may not effect the exercise of any pre-funded warrant, and a holder will not be entitled to exercise any portion of any pre-funded warrant
that, upon giving effect to such exercise, would cause: (i) the aggregate number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by such
holder, together with its affiliates, to exceed 9.99% of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after giving
effect to the exercise or (ii) the combined voting power of the Company’s securities beneficially owned by such holder, together with its
affiliates, to exceed 9.99% of the combined voting power of all of the Company’s securities immediately outstanding after giving effect to
the exercise, which such percentage may be changed at the holder’s election to a higher or lower percentage not in excess of 19.99%
upon at least 61 days’ notice to the Company. The Company may not effect the exercise of any common warrant, and a holder will not
be entitled to exercise any portion of any common warrant that, upon giving effect to such exercise, would cause the aggregate number
of shares of common stock beneficially owned by such holder, together with its affiliates, to exceed 4.99%, 9.99% or 19.99% (as
applicable pursuant to the holder's common warrant) of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after
giving effect to the exercise, which such percentage may be changed at the holder’s election to a higher or lower percentage, including
9.99%, 14.99% or 19.99%, and not in excess of 19.99%, upon at least 61 days’ notice to the Company. The warrants meet the criteria
for equity classification and were therefore recorded at fair value as of the grant date as a component of stockholders’ equity within

additional paid-in capital.

In 2023, the Company issued an aggregate of 2,582,557 shares of common stock upon the cashless exercise of pre-funded
warrants to purchase 2,583,144 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, pre-funded warrants to
purchase up to no0 22,113,062 pre-funded or shares of common warrants were exercised, and there were pre-funded stock and common
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 33,123,714 shares of common stock outstanding. The 24,696,206 shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of the pre-funded warrants and theup to 8,427,508 shares of common stock issuable uponremained
outstanding from the exercise of the common warrants are not included in the number of issued and outstanding shares of common
stock as of December 31, 2022. 2022 financing.

2021 At-the-Market Offering (ATM) Program

In August 2021, the Company entered into a sales agreement with Cowen and Company LLC, orTD Cowen as sales agent,
pursuant to which the Company may issue and sell shares of its common stock for an aggregate maximum offering price of $100.0

million under an at-the-market offering program, or 2021 ATM program. The Company will pay TD Cowen is entitled to compensation up
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to 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds for the common stock sold through the 2021 ATM program. As of December 31, 2022, no shares
of common stock had been During 2023, the Company sold under the 2021 ATM program. In February 2023, an entity related to one of
the Company’s directors purchased 2,646,458 shares of common stock at a price of $6.80 per share throughunder the 2021 ATM
program resulting in for net proceeds to the Company of approximately $17.5 million after deducting placement commissions paid to TD
Cowen as sales agent. Subsequent to December 31, 2023 and through the date of issuance of these financial statements, net proceeds
of approximately $32.3 million were raised as a result of the sale of shares of the Company’s common stock through the 2021 ATM
program. As of December 31, 2023, and as of the date of issuance of these financial statements, approximately $82.0 million and $48.9

million, respectively, remained available for the offer and sales of shares of common stock under the 2021 ATM program.

2024 ATM Program

In March 2024, the Company entered into a sales agreement with TD Cowen, as sales agent, fees.or 2024 ATM program,
pursuant to which the Company may issue and sell shares of its common stock for an aggregate maximum offering of $100.0 million. TD
Cowen is entitled to compensation up to 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds for the common stock sold through the 2024 ATM

program. As of the date of issuance of these financial statements, the Company has not made any sales under the 2024 ATM program.

Common Stock

The holders of the Company’s common stock have one vote for each share of common stock. Common stockholders are entitled
to dividends when, as, and if declared by the Board board of Directors. directors. The holders have no preemptive or other subscription
rights and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions with respect to such shares. As of December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023, no dividends had been declared by the Board board of Directors. directors.

123106

The Company reserved the following shares of common stock for issuance as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Stock options issued and outstanding 8,152,09 5,662,82
3 4 9,208,970 8,152,093
Stock options reserved for 2020 Incentive Award 2,039,95
Plan 478,109 1 1,988,340 478,109
Unvested restricted stock units outstanding 550,236 50,000 495,579 550,236
Common stock reserved for 2021 ATM program 5,265,92 5,265,92
9 9 2,619,471 5,265,929
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Common stock reserved for Employee Stock

Purchase

Plan 994,257 729,775 1,338,381 994,257
Common stock reserved for Employment
Inducement 1,610,60

Award Plan 0 —

Common stock reserved for 2022 Employment

Inducement
Award Plan 758,084 1,610,600
Common stock reserved for pre-funded warrants 24,696,2
06 — 40,493,510 24,696,206
Common stock reserved for common warrants 8,427,50
8 — 8,427,508 8,427,508
Total common stock reserved 50,174,9 13,748,4
38 79 65,329,843 50,174,938

7. Equity Incentive Plan

In July 2020, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders adopted and approved the 2020 Incentive Award Plan, or the
2020 Plan, and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or the ESPP, which became effective in connection with the IPO.

The Company may not grant any additional awards under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2011 Plan. The 2011 Plan will

continue to govern outstanding equity awards granted thereunder.

2020 Equity Incentive Plan

The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2020 Plan automatically increase on the first day of
January, in an amount equal to 4% of the total number of shares of the Company’s capital stock outstanding on the last day of the

preceding year, or a lesser number of shares determined by the Company’s board of directors.

Awards granted under the 2020 Plan expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. For the Incentive Stock Options, or
ISOs, and Nonstatutory Stock Options, or NSOs, the option price shall not be less than 100% of the estimated fair value on the date of
grant. Options granted typically vest over a four-year period but may be granted with different vesting terms. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, there were 478,109 1,988,340 and 2,039,951 478,109 shares available for issuance under the
2020 Plan, respectively.

2022 Employment Inducement Award Plan

In July 2022, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Annexon, Inc. 2022 Employment Inducement Award Plan, or the
Inducement Plan, and together with the 2011 Plan and the 2020 Plan, the Plans. The Inducement Plan was adopted by the Company’s
board of directors without stockholder approval pursuant to Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 5635(c)(4), or Rule 5635(c)(4). In accordance with
Rule 5635(c)(4), awards made under the Inducement Plan may only be granted to newly hired employees as an inducement material to

the employees entering into employment with the Company. Awards granted under the Inducement Plan expire no later than ten years
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from the date of grant. An aggregate of 2,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the Inducement Plan. As
of December 31, 2022, December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were758,084 and 1,610,600 shares available for issuance under the

Inducement Plan. Plan, respectively.
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Stock options

The following table presents stock option activity under the Plans for the period:

Weight
ed-
Weigh Averag
ted- e

Avera Remai Aggregat

ge ning e Weighted-
Exerci Contra Intrinsic Weighted- Average
se ctual Value Average Remaining Aggregate
Numbe Price Term (in Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
r of Per (in thousand Number of Price Per Term Value
Shares Share years) s) Shares Share (in years) (in thousands)

Balances as of 5,662, 16.9
December 31, 2021 824 $ 8 8.26 $ 10,186
Balances as of
December 31, 2022 8,152,093 $ 11.92 809 $ 3,329

Stock options granted = 3,767,

835 $ 5.59 2,602,050 $ 5.17

Stock options (15,36

exercised 4) $ 5.28 (76,888) $ 1.89

Stock options forfeited (1,263 15.7

,202) $ 8 (1,468,285) $ 10.61

Balances as of 8,152, 11.9
December 31, 2022 093 g 2 809 $ 3,329
Exercisable as of 3,406, 12.8
December 31, 2022 230 g 7 694 $ 1,428
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Balances as of

December 31, 2023 9,208,970 g 10.31 753 $ 2,930
Exercisable as of

December 31, 2023 5,083,778 ¢ 12.10 6.64 $ 1,299

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 was
$11,500 0.3 million and $6.4 11,500 million, , respectively. The intrinsic value is the difference between the fair value of the Company’s

common stock at the time of exercise and the exercise price of the stock option.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted to employees during the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 was $3.94 3.72 and $18.83 3.94 per share, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the total unrecognized stock-based compensation cost related to outstanding
unvested stock options that are expected to vest was $37.423.1 million, which the Company expects to recognize over an estimated

weighted-average period of 2.4 2.1 years.

Restricted Stock Units

RSUs are share awards that entitle the holder to receive freely tradeable shares of the Company’s common stock upon vesting.
The RSUs cannot be transferred and the awards are subject to forfeiture if the holder's employment terminates prior to the release of
the vesting restrictions. The RSUs generally vest over a three-year period in equal amounts on an annual basis, provided the employee
remains continuously employed with the Company. The fair value of the RSUs is equal to the closing price of the Company’s common

stock on the grant date.

A summary of RSU activity under our equity incentive plan and related information is as follows:

Number of Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value Per Number of Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair
Shares Share Shares Value Per Share

Unvested as of December 31,

2021 50,000 $ 12.84

Unvested as of December 31,

2022 550,236 $ 5.58
Granted 604,583 5.40 249,615 5.95
Vested (11,817) 12.84 (172,096) 5.73
Cancelled (92,530) 7.37 (132,176) 5.67

Unvested as of December 31,

2022 550,236 $ 5.58

Unvested as of December 31,

2023 495579 $ 5.69

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding unvested

RSUs was $2.4 1.9 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.31.7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
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The ESPP enables eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company's Company’s common stock at the end of each offering
period at a price equal to 85% of the fair market value of the shares on the first business day or the last business day of the offering
period, whichever is lower. Eligible employees generally included all employees. Share purchases are funded through payroll deductions

of at least 1%, and up to 15% of an employee’s eligible compensation
108

125

for each payroll period. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP increase automatically on the first day of each
fiscal year, by a number equal to, 1% of the shares of common stock outstanding on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal
year, or such number of shares determined by the Company’s board of directors. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,

994,257 1,338,381 shares were available for future purchase. The ESPP generally provides for six-month consecutive offering periods

beginning on May 15" and November 15" of each year. The ESPP is a compensatory plan as defined by the authoritative guidance for
stock compensation. As such, stock-based compensation expense has been recorded for the years ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021.2022.

The stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
20212022 was $0.1 0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The total stock-based compensation expense recognized was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Research and development $ 8,874 $ 8,610 $ 8,878 $ 8,874
General and administrative 9,642 7,652 9,305 9,642
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 18516 $ 16,262 $ 18,183 $ 18,516

To determine the value of stock option awards for stock-based compensation purposes, the Company uses the Black-Scholes
option pricing model and the assumptions discussed below. Each of these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant
judgment.

Fair Value of Common Stock—The fair value of each share of underlying common stock is based on the closing price of the
Company’s common stock as reported on the date of grant on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.
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Expected Term—The expected term represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding and is
determined using the simplified method (based on the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term). The
Company continues using the simplified method as it does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis

upon which to estimate expected term due to the limited period of time its equity shares have been publicly traded.

Expected Volatility—Because the Company does not have sufficient trading history for its common stock, the expected volatility
was estimated based on the average volatility for comparable publicly traded life sciences companies over a period equal to the
expected term of the stock option grants. The comparable companies were chosen based on the similar size, stage in life cycle or area

of specialty.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues in effect at the time of grant

for periods corresponding with the expected term of the option.

Dividend Yield—The Company has never paid dividends on its common stock and have has no plans to pay dividends on its

common stock. Therefore, the Company used an expected dividend yield of zero.

The fair value of each stock option issued was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with

the following assumptions:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Expected term (in
years) 5.50 - 6.08 4.33-6.08 5.50 - 6.08 5.50 - 6.08
Expected volatility 78.80% - 88.30% -

85.90% 90.70% 81.20% - 82.40% 78.80% - 85.90%
Risk-free interest 1.49% - 0.35% -
rate 4.19% 1.31% 3.47% - 4.85% 1.49% - 4.19%
Dividend yield — — — —
126109

8. Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, loss before provision for income taxes, includes the following components (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022

Domestic $ (141,939) $ (130,313) $ (134,233) $ (141,939)

Foreign 8) (20) 4) (8)
Loss before income taxes $ (141,947) $ (130,323) $ 134,237y $ (141,947,

For each of the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, the Company incurred insignificant
amounts for an income tax provision. The U.S. federal and California deferred tax assets generated from the Company’s net operating

losses have been fully reserved, as the Company believes it is not more likely than not that the benefit will be realized.

Reconciliation of income tax computed at federal statutory rates to the reported provision for income taxes was as follows (in

thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Tax provision at U.S. statutory rate $ (29,809) $ (27,368) $ (28,190) $ (29,809)
Stock-based compensation 2,362 794 1,343 1,252
Research and development tax credits (2,836) (2,392) (3,883) (2,836)
Change in valuation allowance 30,148 25,911 29,066 30,148
Section 382 limitations — 2,922
Section 162(m) compensation 1,594 1,110
Other 135 133 70 135

Provision for income taxes $ — $ —  $ — 3 —

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities
are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

Deferred Tax Assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 63,551 $ 57,073 $ 70,996 $ 63,551
Research and development credits 11,095 7,367 16,070 11,095
Other intangibles 4 5 3 4
Accruals and reserves 974 686 1,074 974
Stock-based compensation 4,551 3,041 5,185 4,551
Capitalized research and development 19,744 — 36,568 19,744
Lease liabilities 6,946 7,340 6,610 6,946
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Unrealized gain/loss on investments — 240

Total gross deferred tax assets 106,865 75,752 136,506 106,865
Less: valuation allowance (100,778) (69,147) (130,939) (100,778)
Total deferred tax assets, net $ 6,087 $ 6,605 $ 5,567 $ 6,087

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Fixed assets $ (2,043) $ (2,290) $ ,771) $ (2,043)
Right-of-use assets (4,044) (4,315) (3,796) (4,044)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (6,087) (6,605) (5,567) (6,087)
Net deferred tax assets $ — $ = $ = $ =
127110

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company had $286.5321.9 million of federal and $71.171.3 million of state net
operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards available to offset future taxable income. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the Tax Act,
federal NOLs generated after December 31, 2017 will be carried forward indefinitely with the yearly NOL utilization limited to 80% of
taxable income. The Company hadhas $243.4278.8 million of such federal NOLs that do not expire. If not utilized, the federal

carryforward losses generated prior to 2018 and the state carryforward losses will expire in various amounts beginning in 2031.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company had approximately $10.915.7 million of federal and $6.7 8.0 million
of state credit carryforwards available to offset future taxable income. If not utilized, these credit carryforwards will expire in various

amounts for federal purposes beginning in 2031. The state credits do not expire.

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management believes that, based on available evidence, both positive and negative, it
is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be utilized; therefore, a full valuation allowance has been recorded. The
Company'’s valuation allowance increased by $31.6 30.2 million and $24.4 31.6 millionfor the years ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively. The changes in the 20222023 valuation allowance were primarily due to the addition of
capitalized research and development costs, current year loss carryforwards and research and development credits. The changes in the
20212022 valuation allowance were primarily due to the addition of the current year loss carryforwards and research and development

credits.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards and credits may be subject to an annual limitation due to the ownership change

limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and similar state provisions. The annual limitations may result
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in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before utilization. The Company performed a Section 382 analysis through
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023. Federal net operating losses loss carryforwards of $286.4 321.8 million and state and local net
operating loss carryforwards of $36.436.6 million are not expected to expire unutilized as a result of ownership changes identified
through December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023. The Company has identified $0.1 million and $34.7 million of federal and state net
operating losses, respectively, that will expire unused due to ownership changes, and federal credits of $3.7 million that will not be able
to be utilized due to ownership change limitation; these amounts have been excluded from the deferred tax assets table above. Further
ownership changes subsequent to December 31, 2021 December 31,2023 may be identified which could result in limitations to the

amount of net operating losses and credits which may be utilized prior to expiration.

Uncertain Tax Benefits

The Company has the following activity relating to the gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

Beginning balance $ 1794 $ 1576 $ 2,726 $ 1,794
Decreases based on tax positions related to

prior year — (789)
Additions based on tax positions related to prior year 189 —
Additions based on tax positions related to

current year 932 1,007 1,055 932
Ending balance $ 2726 $ 1,794 $ 3,970 $ 2,726

None of these uncertain tax positions will impact the Company’s effective tax rate if assessed. The Company'’s policy is to classify
interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The Company had no interest or penalty
accruals associated with uncertain tax benefits in its consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021.2022. The Company files income tax returns in the United States, California,
Georgia, Indiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Nebraska, New Jersey, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Texas and in Australia.
The Company is not currently under examination by any major tax jurisdictions nor has it been in the past. The tax years 2011 through
20222023 remain effectively open for examination by the Internal Revenue Service and most state tax authorities because of net

operating losses and credit carryovers.

128111

Although it is reasonably possible that certain unrecognized tax benefits may increase or decrease within the next twelve months

due to tax examination changes, settlement activities, expirations of statute of limitations, or the impact on recognition and measurement
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considerations related to the results of published tax cases or other similar activities, the Company does not anticipated anticipate any
significant changes to unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months.

9. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company calculates basic net loss per share by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common
stock outstanding, excluding restricted common stock. The weighted-average number of shares of common stock used in the basic and
diluted net loss per share calculation include the pre-funded warrants issued in connection with the Private Placementto purchase up to
40,492,923 shares of common stock, as the pre-funded warrants are exercisable at any time for nominal cash consideration. As of
December 31, 2022, no pre-funded warrants have been exercised and there were pre-funded warrants to purchase an aggregate of
24,696,206 shares of common stock outstanding. The Company has generated a net loss in all periods presented, so the basic and

diluted net loss per share are the same, as the inclusion of the potentially dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive.

The following outstanding potentially dilutive shares have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share due to
their anti-dilutive effect:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Stock options to purchase common stock 8,152,093 5,662,824 9,208,970 8,152,093
Shares subject to Employee Stock Purchase Plan 46,297 15,924 17,200 46,297
Unvested restricted stock units 550,236 50,000 495,579 550,236
Common warrants to purchase common stock 8,427,508 —
Common warrants 8,427,508 8,427,508

Total 17,176,134 5,728,748 18,149,257 17,176,134
129112

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
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As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our management, with the participation and supervision of our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls
and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles.

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 using the criteria set forth in the 2013 Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Pursuant to rules of the SEC, such attestation is not required for

smaller reporting companies, which permit the Company to provide only management'’s report in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to

materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitation on the Effectiveness of Internal Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls or
our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of
a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control
issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-
making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented
by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any
system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become

inadequate because of

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 180/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

113

changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a

cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

130

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.

131114

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Our business affairs are managed under the direction of our board of directors (“Board”), which is currently composed of seven
members. Six of our directors are independent within the meaning of the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”). Our
Board is divided into three staggered classes of directors. At each annual meeting of stockholders, a class of directors will be elected for

a three-year term to succeed the same class whose term is then expiring.

Information required by this item will be contained in Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the names, ages as of March 1, 2024, and certain other information for our definitive proxy statement
to be filed with the Securities executive officers and Exchange Commission on Schedule 14A in connection with our 2023 Annual
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Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy Statement, which will be filed no later than 120 days after the end each of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2022 directors.

Name Age Position

Executive Officers

Douglas E. Love, Esq. 56 President, Chief Executive Officer and Class Il Director
Rick Artis, Ph.D. 63 EVP & Chief Scientific Officer
Ted Yednock, Ph.D. 66 EVP & Chief Innovation Officer
Jennifer Lew 51 EVP& Chief Financial Officer
Michael Overdorf 54 EVP& Chief Business Officer
Jamie Dananberg, M.D. 66 EVP & Chief Medical Officer
Name Class Age Position Current Term Expires

Non-Employee Directors

Thomas G. Wiggans () (3) Class Il 72 Chair of the Board 2026
William H. Carson, M.D.(2)@) Class | 65 Director 2024
Jung E. Choi(2)4) Class Il 54 Director 2025
Bettina M. Cockroft, M.D.@) Class IlI 57 Director 2026
Muneer A. Satterq) (3) Class | 63 Director 2024
William D. Waddill 1) 3) Class Il 66 Director 2025

@ Member of the Audit Committee.
@ Member of the Compensation Committee.
© Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

“ Member of the Science and Technology Committee

Executive Officers

Douglas E Love has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) and a member of our Board since December
2014 with extensive business and legal leadership experience in biotech. Prior to joining us, from 2008 to April 2013, he served as Head
of Operations & Strategic Alliances for Elan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company, where he led the Tysabri® multiple
sclerosis franchise. Mr. Love also led Elan’s Alzheimer’s Immunotherapy Program, which was licensed to Johnson & Johnson, as well
as Elan’s global Commercial, Medical Affairs and Alliance Management groups. Prior to joining Elan, Mr. Love served as an associate at
the law firm Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, as Corporate Counsel at Amgen, Inc., and as Section Corporate Counsel at Genentech,
Inc., where he led the BioOncology Healthcare Law Group. Mr. Love holds a J.D. with great distinction from McGeorge School of Law,
and a B.S. in business administration from the University of Southern California. We believe that Mr. Love is qualified to serve on our
Board due to the valuable expertise and perspective he brings in his capacity as our President and CEO and because of his extensive

experience and knowledge of our industry.

Rick Artis has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer since January 2023. Dr. Artis most recently
served as chief scientific officer at Octant, Inc. from December 2021 to January 2023, a privately-held data-driven therapeutics

company. Prior to Octant, Mr. Artis served as our Senior Vice President, Chemistry from
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October 2016 to December 2021, where he led the efforts on small molecule classical complement inhibitors that resulted in the
nomination of ANX1502 as a development candidate. Prior to that, Dr. Artis served as Senior Vice President, Research at Elan, Vice
President, Lead Generation at Plexxikon Inc. and held positions of increasing responsibility at Genentech, Inc. and Syntex (USA) Inc. He
has co-authored over 45 papers, been recognized as a co-inventor on 45 issued U.S. patents and made direct contributions to seven
molecules that have reached various stages of clinical development, including two that have received marketing approval. He received a

B.S. in chemistry from the University of California, Berkeley, and a Ph.D. in organic chemistry from Yale University.

Ted Yednock served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer from 2013 until October 2021 when he became
our Chief Innovation Officer and as the chair of our Scientific Advisory Board since November 2023. Prior to joining us, Dr. Yednock was
chief scientific officer for Prothena Corporation plc, a publicly-held biotechnology company spun out from Elan and served in several
roles of increasing responsibility from 1996 to 2013 at Elan, a biopharmaceutical company, including Head of Global Research from
2007 to 2013. From 1990 to 1996, Dr. Yednock was a scientist at Athena Neurosciences, Inc., a privately-held pharmaceutical company.
While at Athena, he was the scientific inventor of Tysabri®, a monoclonal antibody for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. In addition to
his work in multiple sclerosis, Dr. Yednock has contributed to the invention or progression of numerous drugs in the areas of Alzheimer’s
disease, Parkinson’s disease, amyloidosis, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and Crohn’s disease. Dr. Yednock received a B.S. in Biology

and Chemistry from the University of Illinois and a Ph.D. in Anatomy and Cell Biology from the University of California, San Francisco.

Jennifer Lew has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) since June 2019. She previously
served in various leadership roles at Aduro Biotech, Inc. from October 2013 to May 2019, most recently serving as its chief financial
officer between January 2018 and May 2019. Prior to that, Ms. Lew served as Vice President of Finance and Principal Accounting
Officer at Dynavax Technologies Corporation and held various roles overseeing accounting and finance operations from 2004 to October
2013. Prior to Dynavax, Ms. Lew held positions as Assistant Controller and Director of Finance at QRS Corporation, a publicly-held
technology company, from 2000 to 2004. Ms. Lew began her career at Ernst & Young LLP from 1994 to 1999. Ms. Lew has served as a
member of the board of directors of Boundless Bio, Inc. since January 2022. She received a B.A. in Economics/Accounting and

Government from Claremont McKenna College and is incorporated herein by reference. a Certified Public Accountant (inactive status).

Michael Overdort has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Business Officer since July 2020. Prior to joining
Annexon, from 2001 to 2020, Mr. Overdorf held various executive leadership roles at Eli Lilly and Company, most recently in Corporate
Business Development and Corporate Strategy where he led teams focused on accessing innovative medicines and led the
development and execution of the company’s global strategy. Mr. Overdorf also served as a Global Biologics Platform Team Leader,
leading two Phase 3 clinical development teams working on biologic molecules targeting autoimmune diseases and as the Chief
Operating Officer of the Bio-Medicines Business Unit of Eli Lilly. Mr. Overdorf also held multiple commercial leadership roles at Eli Lilly,

including Chief Marketing Officer of the United Kingdom and General Manager of the Czech & Slovak Republics. Mr. Overdorf is an
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adjunct lecturer in Medicine in the Division of Clinical Pharmacology at the Indiana University School of Medicine. Mr. Overdorf received

a B.A. in Economics from Wabash College and an MBA from Harvard Business School.

Jamie Dananberg has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Medical Officer since July 2023. He previously served
as Chief Medical Officer at UNITY Biotechnology, Inc., from January 2016 to April 2023, where he helped build the medical and broader
development organization. Prior to UNITY, he served as Executive Vice President at Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited, and
before that, spent 16 years at Eli Lilly bringing more than 100 programs from discovery to development, leading and supporting efforts
through all phases, including the launches of multiple commercial products. Dr. Dananberg started his career practicing medicine in
endocrinology and metabolism and ran a basic science laboratory at the University of Michigan. He received his B.S. and M.D. degrees

from Tufts University.

Non-Employee Directors

Thomas G. Wiggans has served as a member of our Board since February 2017 and chair of our Board since February 2021. Mr.
Wiggans founded Dermira, Inc., a publicly-held pharmaceutical company, in August 2010 and served as its chief executive officer from

September 2010 to February 2020 and chair of its board of directors from
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October 2014 until its acquisition by Eli Lilly in February 2020. Mr. Wiggans has served as a member of the board of directors of
CymaBay Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly held clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, since April 2021. Mr. Wiggans has also served
on the boards of various industry organizations, educational institutions and private and public companies, including service on the
boards of directors of Forma Therapeutics Holdings, Inc., from 2020 until its acquisition by Novo Nordisk in October 2022, Onyx
Pharmaceuticals from March 2005 until its acquisition by Amgen Inc. in October 2013, Sangamo Biosciences, Inc. from June 2008 until
June 2012, Somaxon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from June 2008 until May 2012 and as chair of the board of directors of Excaliard
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from October 2010 until its acquisition by Pfizer, Inc. in December 2011. From October 2007, Mr. Wiggans served
as chair of the board of directors of Peplin, Inc. and in July 2007, he became its chief executive officer when he served until Peplin’s
acquisition by LEO Pharma A/S 2009. Previously, Mr. Wiggans served as chief executive officer of Connetics Corporation from July
1994, and as chair of the board of directors of Connetics from January 2006, until December 2006 when Connetics was acquired by
Stiefel Laboratories, Inc. From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Wiggans served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Cyto Therapeutics Inc.
From 1980 to 1992, Mr. Wiggans served at Ares-Serono S.A. in various management positions including President of its United States
pharmaceutical operations and Managing Director of its United Kingdom pharmaceutical operations. Mr. Wiggans began his career with
Eli Lilly. In addition, Mr. Wiggans is a member of the board of trustees of the University of Kansas Endowment Association. Mr. Wiggans
received a B.S. in Pharmacy from the University of Kansas and an M.B.A. from Southern Methodist University. We have believe that Mr.
Wiggans is qualified to serve on our Board due to his extensive experience as an executive and a board member of biotechnology and

pharmaceutical companies.
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William H. Carson has served as a member of our Board since February 2022. Dr. Carson was the chair of the board of directors
of Otsuka Pharmaceutical Development & Commercialization, Inc., a privately-held healthcare company, from January 2020 through
March 2023. From 2002 to 2019, Dr. Carson held various executive leadership roles at Otsuka, most recently as president and chief
executive officer from 2010 to 2019. Before that, he worked at the Pharmaceutical Research Institute at Bristol Myers Squibb from 1998
to 2002. He was on faculty at the Medical University of South Carolina in the Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences from
1988 to 1998. Dr. Carson was the board chair of Decibel Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly-held clinical-stage biotechnology company from
June 2021 until it was acquired by Regeneron in September 2023. He is also a member of the board of directors of Excision
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Lutron Electronics. He previously served on the boards of Saama Technologies, Inc., a privately-held clinical
analytics company, and Prevail Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly-held biotechnology company, until its acquisition by Eli Lilly & Company,
and of Internet2, a not-for-profit United States computer networking consortium. Dr. Carson is also chair of the Sozosei Foundation, the
philanthropic arm of Otsuka Americ Pharmaceutical, Inc., and Board Chair Emeritus of the Sphinx Organization, which is dedicated to
diversity in the arts. Dr. Carson received a B.A. in History and Science from Harvard College and an M.D. from Case Western Reserve
University School of Medicine, followed by his residency in psychiatry at Tufts/New England Medical Center. We believe Dr. Carson is

qualified to serve on our Board due to his educational background and his decades of experience in the biotechnology field.

Jung E. Choi has served as a member of our Board since June 2020. From April 2015 until April 2023, Ms. Choi served as chief
business and strategy officer of Global Blood Therapeutics, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company that was acquired by Pfizer Inc. in
October 2022, responsible for corporate strategy, business development, R&D portfolio strategy and program management, patient
advocacy and government affairs. From April 2014 to March 2015, Ms. Choi served as senior vice president, corporate development for
InterMune, Inc., a biotechnology company that was acquired by Roche Holding AG in 2014, and served as an adviser on strategy and
business development to InterMune from March 2013 to April 2014. Prior to joining InterMune, from February 2011 to March 2013, Ms.
Choi led corporate and business development for Chimerix, Inc., a publicly-held biopharmaceutical company, as a consultant and senior
vice president, corporate development. Prior to that, from August 2001 to August 2010, Ms. Choi held various management positions at
Gilead Sciences, Inc., a publicly-held biopharmaceutical company, including leadership of business development, licensing and mergers
and acquisition activities. During her tenure at Gilead Sciences, Ms. Choi built and oversaw the corporate development group, and led
the U.S. commercial launch of Hepsera® for the treatment of the hepatitis B virus. Ms. Choi received a B.A. in Human Biology and an
M.B.A. from Stanford University. We believe that Ms. Choi is qualified to serve on our Board due to her experience as an executive of

biotechnology companies.

Bettina M. Cockroft has served as a member of our Board since January 2022. Dr. Cockroft was senior vice president and chief

medical officer from September 2019 to June 2023 at Sangamo Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly-held
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biotechnology company, where she oversaw clinical development activities and operations. She has over 30 years of experience in the

biopharmaceutical industry and has worked across multiple therapeutic areas and led programs in several countries. Prior to joining
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Sangamo, Dr. Cockroft served on the senior leadership team at Cytokinetics, Inc., a publicly-held biopharmaceutical company, where
she was responsible for clinical development of fast skeletal muscle troponin activators in diseases such as Amyotrophic Lateral
Sclerosis and Spinal Muscular Atrophy. She served as vice president, clinical research, neurology, at Cytokinetics from August 2017 to
September 2019. From September 2013 to September 2016, she served as chief medical officer of Auris Medical AG, a
biopharmaceutical company, where she led and grew the clinical development team responsible for two Phase 3 programs. Dr. Cockroft
also held roles of increasing responsibility at Merck Serono S.A., Novartis Consumer Health and Menarini Ricerche/Berlin-Chemie
earlier in her career. Dr. Cockroft currently serves as a member of the board of directors of CNS Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Dr. Cockroft
received an M.B.A. from MIT Sloan School of Management and an M.D. from the University of Genova (ltaly). We believe that Dr.

Cockroft is qualified to serve on our Board due to her educational background and her extensive experience in the biotechnology field.

Muneer A. Satter has served as a member of our Board since December 2014. Mr. Satter manages Satter Investment
Management (SIM), a private investment firm and family office. He also manages the Satter Foundation, a private family foundation. Mr.
Satter is a retired partner at Goldman Sachs, where he was a partner of the firm for sixteen years. He spent his career in the Merchant
Banking Division which manages the firm’s private investments. Prior to Satter Investment Management, Mr. Satter was a partner at
Goldman Sachs where he spent 24 years in various roles, most recently as the Global Head of the Mezzanine Group in the Merchant
Banking Division, where he raised and managed more than $30.0 billion of assets. Mr. Satter is vice chairman of the board of the
Goldman Sachs Foundation and GS Gives, where he is also chairman of the Investment Committee overseeing $1.2 billion of assets.
He is a member of the board of Northwestern University where he was previously chairman of the Finance Committee. He is also a
member of the executive committee of the board of the Navy SEAL Foundation. He is a member of the board of the Northwestern
Medical Group. He is on the board of advisors of Accelerate Institute and on the board of trustees of the US Olympic and Paralympic
Foundation. He was formerly on the board of World Business Chicago. He is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations. He is a
former co-chairman of Room to Read, a former member of the board of the Nature Conservancy where he was chairman of the Finance
Committee overseeing a $1.8 billion endowment and a former member of the advisory council of The Elders founded by Richard
Branson, Nelson Mandela and Archbishop Desmond Tutu. Mr. Satter received a B.A. in economics from Northwestern University, a J.D.
from Harvard Law School and an MBA from Harvard Business School. We believe that Mr. Satter is qualified to serve on our Board due
to his experience in the financial industry, his experience as a board member of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies and his

experience as an investor in life sciences companies.

William D. Waddill has served as a member of our Board since August 2021. Mr. Waddill currently also serves on the boards of
Protagonist Therapeutics Inc. and Arrowhead Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Mr. Waddill was Senior Vice President, CFO of Calithera
Bioscience, Inc. from 2014 to 2016 and, as CFO, completed its initial public offering in October 2014. Prior to Calithera, Mr. Waddill was
Senior Vice President, CFO, at OncoMed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 2007 to 2014, where he was responsible for all corporate financial
matters, most notably their IPO in 2013, as well as being the finance lead on three major collaborations. Prior to OncoMed, Mr. Waddill
was Senior Vice President, CFO, at llypsa, Inc., where he was the finance lead for the company’s acquisition by Amgen in 2007. Before
joining llypsa, he was the founder and principal at Square One Finance, a life science consulting business. In addition to being on the
boards of Protagonist and Arrowhead, Mr. Waddill is an emeritus board member of the Association of Bioscience Financial Officers
(ABFO), where he was Chairman in 2016 as well as co-chair of the ABFO 2014 National Conference. Formerly he served as Chairman
of the Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO) BIO Business Solutions Advisory Board as well as the Finance and Tax Committee. Mr.
Waddill has testified in Washington D.C. on behalf of the biotech industry in front of the Senate Finance Committee and Congressional
Capital Markets Subcommittee. He received a B.S. in accounting from the University of lllinois, Chicago, and certification as a public
accountant (inactive) after working at PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP and Deloitte LLP in Boston. We believe that Mr. Waddill is qualified

to serve on our Board due to his financial expertise and his extensive experience in the biotechnology field.
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Board Committees and Meetings

Our Board has established an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance

Committee and a Science and Technology Committee. Our Board has adopted charters for each of its
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committees, which can be found in the “Corporate Governance” section of our corporate website at https://ir.annexonbio.com/corporate-
governance/governance-overview. The composition and responsibilities of each committee are described below. Members serve on

these committees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by our Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Waddill, Mr. Satter and Dr. Cockroft. Mr. Waddill is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.
Our Board has determined that each of Mr. Satter and Mr. Waddill is the Audit Committee financial expert, as that term is defined under
Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K and the SEC rules implementing Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and possesses
financial sophistication, as defined under the rules of Nasdag.

Our Board has also determined that each member of the Audit Committee satisfies the independence requirements under Nasdaq
listing standards and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Exchange Act. Each member of our Audit Committee can read and understand
fundamental financial statements in accordance with applicable requirements. In arriving at these determinations, the Board has

examined each Audit Committee member’s scope of experience and the nature of their employment in the corporate finance sector.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee consists of Mr. Wiggans, Dr. Carson, and Ms. Choi. Ms. Choi is the chairperson of the
Compensation Committee. Each member of the Compensation Committee is also a hon-employee director, as defined pursuant to Rule
16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. The Compensation Committee oversees our compensation policies, plans and benefits

programs.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee consists of Mr. Satter, Mr. Waddill and Mr. Wiggans, each of whom meets
the requirements for independence under current Nasdaq listing standards and SEC rules and regulations. Mr. Satter is the chairperson
of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee oversees and assists

our Board in reviewing and recommending nominees for election as directors.

Science and Technology Committee
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The Science and Technology Committee consists of Dr. Carson, Dr. Cockroft and Ms. Choi, each of whom meets the requirements
for independence under current Nasdagq listing standards and SEC rules and regulations. Dr. Carson is the chairperson of the Science
and Technology Committee. The Science and Technology Committee’s responsibility is to provide oversight and to engage management

and the Board with regard to the significant scientific, medical and technological aspects of our business.

Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Our Board has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, which address items such as the qualifications and responsibilities of
our directors and director candidates and corporate governance policies and standards applicable to us in general. In addition, our
Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our
CEO, CFO, and employees which is available onother executive and senior financial officers. The full text of our website at
irannexonbio.com. The Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is intended posted on our
website at https://ir.annexonbio.com in the Corporate Governance section of our Investors webpage. Any amendment to, qualify asor
waiver of, a “code of ethics” within the meaning of Section 406 provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actcode of 2002 business conduct and
Item 406 of Regulation S-K. In addition, we intend to promptly disclose (1) the nature of any amendment to our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics ethics that applies to our directors or our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions and (2) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a
provision of our code of ethics that is granted to a director one of these specified officers, the name of such person who is granted the
waiver and the date of the waiverwill be disclosed on our website inas required by law or the future.rules of Nasdaq. Information

contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute part of this Annual Report.
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Delinquent Section 16(A) Reports

The remaining information Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that our executive officers, directors and 10% stockholders
file reports of ownership and changes of ownership with the SEC. Such directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders are required

by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

SEC regulations require us to identify in this item will be contained in Annual Report on Form 10-K anyone who filed a required
report late during the most recent fiscal year. Based solely on our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securitiesreview of
forms we received and Exchange Commission on Schedule 14A in connection with written representations of our 2023 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, or the Proxy Statement, which will be filed no later than 120 days after the end of executive officers, directors and 10%
stockholders, we believe that during our fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, all Section 16(a) filing requirements
were satisfied on a timely basis, other than the following exceptions: late filings for Dr. Yednock, Mr. Overdorf and is incorporated herein
by reference.Ms. Lew were submitted on January 23, 2024, covering the sale of the shares to cover tax withholding obligations in

connection with the vesting of restricted stock units (“RSUs”).
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The Company is currently a smaller reporting company and therefore remains eligible to take advantage of smaller reporting

company reporting requirements, including the reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation. The Company has

elected to take advantage of the reduced compensation disclosure obligations available to smaller reporting companies.

Under these rules, we are required to provide compensation disclosure for (i) our principal executive officer, (ii) the two most

highly compensated executive officers other than our principal executive officer who were serving as executive officers as of December

31, 2023 and (iii) up to two additional individuals who would have been in (ii) above but for the fact that they were not serving as

executive officers as of December 31, 2023. For 2023, our named executive officers are:

. Douglas Love, Esq., our President and Chief Executive Officer;

. Ted Yednock, Ph.D., our Executive Vice President and Chief Innovation Officer; and

. Rick Artis, Ph.D., our Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information required concerning the compensation of our named executive officers for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, as applicable:

Non-
Equity
Incentive
Plan
Stock Option Compen All Other
Bonus Awards Awards sation Compensati

Name and Principal Position during 2023 Year Salary ($) (%) ($) ($)@ (%)@ on ($) Total ($)

Douglas Love, Esq. 1,473,0 2,453,1
2023

593,380 — — 62 375,703 11,0396 84

President & Chief Executive Officer 277,60 2,382,8 3,582,4
2022

568,642 — 0 48 345,395 7,950(4) 34

Ted Yednock, Ph.D. 112,71 328,98 1,139,4
2023

462,626 — 2 4 207,634 27,500(4) 56

Executive Vice President and Chief Innovation 123,40 692,81 1,477,1

Officer 2022 443,533 — 6 3 192,283 25,085(9) 20

150,00 1,031,8 1,829,2
Rick Artis, Ph.D.(5) 2023

442,500 0 — 52 200,880 4,000 32

Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific

Officer

(1) The amounts in the “Option Awards” and “Stock Awards” columns reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options and restricted stock units granted during

the fiscal year computed in accordance with the provisions of ASC-718. The assumptions that we used to calculate these amounts are discussed in Note 7 of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K. These amounts may not reflect the actual economic value that will be realized by the named executive officer upon the exercise of the stock options

or the sale of the common stock issued upon such exercise.
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(2) Amounts in the “Non-equity Incentive Plan Compensation” column represent amounts earned by our named executive officers under our performance-based cash
bonus program based on the achievement of pre-established corporate goals.

(3) Consists of life insurance premiums of $8,660 and 401(K) Matching Contributions of $2,379.

(4) Consists of life insurance premiums.

(5) Dr. Artis served as our Senior Vice President, Chemistry from October 2016 to December 2021. From December 2021 up to commencement of his employment with us
effective January 6, 2023 as Chief Scientific Officer, Dr. Artis provided continued service as an outside consultant. His base salary and cash incentive bonus for 2023 are
prorated for his time as Chief Scientific Officer with the Company since January 6, 2023. Other amounts reflect all compensation paid to Dr. Artis for services rendered in

2023.
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(6) Consists of 401(k) Matching Contributions.

Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2023

The following table provides information regarding outstanding equity and stock awards held by our named executive officers as of
December 31, 2023:

Number of Market
Number of Securities Value of
Securities Underlying Number of Units of
Underlying Unexercised Units of Stock That
Unexercised Options Option Option Stock That Have Not
Name and Principal Position Vesting Options Unexercisabl Exercise Expiration Have Not Vested ($)
during 2023 Commencement Date Exercisable e Price ($) Date Vested (#) (6]
Douglas Love, Esq. 12/12/2014¢) 37,994 — 1.41 1/22/2025 = =
6/8/2016(2) 78,399 — 1.85 8/11/2026 = —
8/11/2016(2) 36,050 — 1.85 8/11/2026 = ==
12/12/2018(2) 537,844 — 511 1/22/2029 = —
6/29/2020(3) 362,513 51,788 13.30 6/29/2030 = =
2/25/2021(3 230,208 94,792 30.07 2/25/2031 = =
2/11/20223) 146,666 173,334 6.94 2/11/2032 — =
2/11/20223) — — — — 26,667 121,068
7/11/20223) 141,666 158,334 3.91 7/11/2032 = =
2/16/20233) 71,875 273,125 5.94 2/16/2033 = —
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Ted Yednock, Ph.D. 6/8/2016(2) 32,974 — 1.85 8/11/2026 — 27,500

8/11/2016(2) 3,080 — 1.85 8/11/2026 — —
12/12/2018() 67,939 — 5.11 1/22/2029 — —
6/29/2020(3) 168,841 24,121 13.30 6/29/2030 — —
2/25/2021@) 81,458 33,542 30.07 2/25/2031 — —
2/11/2022@) 45,833 54,167 6.94 2/11/2032 — —
2/11/20224) — — = — 8,334 37,836
7/11/2022@) 35,416 39,584 3.91 7/11/2032 — —
7/11/20224) — — = — 6,250 28,375
2/16/2023) 16,052 60,998 5.94 2/16/2033 — —
2/16/2023) — = — — 18,975 86,147
Rick Artis, Ph.D.(s) 12/12/20182) 4,833 — 5.11 1/22/2029 — —
7/23/120203) 18,904 3,229 17.00 7/23/2030 — —
2/25/20213) 49,583 20,417 30.07 2/25/2031 — —
1/6/2023) — 210,000 6.84 1/6/2033 — —

(1) Market value is calculated by multiplying $4.54, the closing trading price per share of our common stock as of December 31, 2023, by the number of unvested RSUs
outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

(2) The option is fully vested.

(3) The option vests as to 1/48th of the shares in monthly installments measured from the vesting commencement date, subject to continued service to us through the
vesting date.

(4) The RSUs vest in three equal annual installments on each annual anniversary of the grant date, reflected under “vesting commencement date” above, and will vest in
full on the third annual anniversary of the grant date, subject to continued service.

(5) Dr. Artis served as our Senior Vice President, Chemistry from October 2016 to December 2021. From December 2021 up to the date of his rehire with us effective
January 6, 2023 as Chief Scientific Officer, Dr. Artis served as an outside consultant. Stock and option awards reflected in this item regarding table include all outstanding
equity awards granted to Dr. Artis throughout his employment or consulting relationship with us.

(6) Twenty-five percent of the shares subject to the option will vest on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date, and the remainder vests in thirty-six (36)

equal monthly installments thereafter, subject to continued service to us through the vesting date.

2023 Base Salaries

Our named executive officers each receive a base salary to compensate them for services rendered to our company. The base
salary payable to each named executive officer is intended to provide a fixed component of compensation reflecting the executive’s skill

set, experience, role and responsibilities.

In February 2023, the base salaries for Mr. Love and Dr. Yednock were increased to $596,591 and $465,130 respectively,
reflecting a merit increase of 4.5% over their respective 2022 annual base salary. Dr. Artis's 2023 base salary was set at $450,000 in

connection with his commencement of employment in January 2023.

121

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 191/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

2023 Annual Performance Based Cash Bonus

We maintain an annual performance-based cash bonus program in which each of our named executive officers participated in
2023. Each of our named executive officers’ target bonus is expressed as a percentage of base salary which can be achieved by
meeting corporate goals at target level. The 2023 annual bonuses for Mr. Love, Dr. Yednock and Dr. Artis were targeted at 55%, 40%

and 40% of their respective base salaries.

For 2023, our named executive officers were eligible to earn annual cash bonuses based on the achievement of certain corporate
goals reviewed by the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board. For 2023, the Board set corporate performance goals
focused on research, clinical development and business enabling activities. Each goal was defined by specific performance objectives
and carried a corresponding weighting, such that the corporate goals could be achieved at up to 140% of target. In the case of our
named executive officers other than our CEO, annual bonuses were also based on individual achievement, with corporate achievement

weighted 80% and individual achievement weighted 20%.

In February 2024, the Compensation Committee reviewed and the Board approved the achievement of our 2023 corporate goals
at 114.5% and individual achievement of 100% for each of Dr. Yednock and Dr. Artis. The actual annual cash bonuses earned by each
named executive officer based on 2023 corporate and individual performance are set forth above in the Summary Compensation Table

in the column titled “Non-equity Incentive Plan Compensation.”

2023 Equity Compensation

In February 2023, we granted Mr. Love and Dr. Yednock an option to purchase 345,000 and 77,050 shares of our common stock,
respectively, which vests in forty-eight (48) equal monthly installments from the grant date, subject to continued service. In addition, we
granted Dr. Yednock an award of 18,975 shares of RSUs, which vest in three equal annual installments on each annual anniversary of

the grant date and will vest in full on the third annual anniversary of the grant date, subject to continued service.

In connection with the commencement of his employment, in January 2023, we granted to Dr. Artis an option to purchase 210,000
shares of our common stock, which vests as to 25% of the shares subject to the option on January 6, 2024 and as to 1/48th of the

shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary thereafter, subject to continued service.

Other Elements of Compensation

We maintain a 401(k) retirement savings plan for our employees, including our named executive officers, who satisfy certain
eligibility requirements. Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in the 401(k) plan on the same terms as other full-time
employees. In 2023, we matched 50% of contributions made by participants in the 401(k) plan, up to an annual maximum of $4,000. We
believe that providing a vehicle for tax-deferred retirement savings through our 401(k) plan adds to the overall desirability of our
executive compensation will be incorporated by reference package and further incentivizes our employees, including our named

executive officers, in accordance with our compensation policies. All of our full-time employees, including our named executive officers,
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are eligible to participate in our health and welfare plans, including medical, dental and vision benefits; basic and supplemental life and

accidental death and dismemberment insurance; and medical and dependent care flexible spending accounts.

Executive Compensation Arrangements

In connection with our initial public offering in July 2020, we entered into new employment agreements with each of Mr. Love and
Dr. Yednock, which superseded the terms of their prior offer letters. We entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Artis in
connection with his commencement of employment with us in January 2023. The employment agreements generally provide for initial

base salary, target bonus, initial stock option grants and certain severance benefits as described in more detail below.
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Employment Agreements

Pursuant to the employment agreements with each of our named executive officers, in the event the executive is terminated by us
without Cause or resigns for Good Reason (each, as defined in the employment agreements), in each case, other than during the period
commencing three months prior to and ending twelve (12) months following a change in control, the executive will receive (i) a lump sum
cash payment equal to nine months of base salary, in the case of our executive vice presidents, or twelve (12) months of base salary, in
the case of our CEO and (ii) payment or reimbursement of COBRA premiums for nine months, in the case of our executive vice
presidents, or twelve (12) months, in the case of our CEO. In the event the executive is terminated without Cause or resigns for Good
Reason, in each case, during the period commencing three months prior to and ending twelve (12) months following a change in control,
the executive will receive (i) a lump sum cash payment equal to twelve (12) months of base salary plus the executive’s target annual
bonus, in the case of our executive vice presidents, or eighteen (18) months of base salary plus 1.5 times the executive’s target annual
bonus, in the case of our CEO, (ii) payment or reimbursement of COBRA premiums for twelve (12) months, in the case of our executive
vice presidents, or eighteen (18) months, in the case of our CEO and (iii) and full acceleration of all unvested equity awards. The

foregoing severance payments and benefits are subject to the executive’s execution of a release of claims in favor of us.
For purposes of our named executive officers’ offer letters and employment agreements:

“Cause” means (i) the executive’s failure to perform the executive’s assigned duties or responsibilities as an officer of us (other
than a failure resulting from the executive’s disability) after notice thereof from us describing the executive’s failure to perform such
duties or responsibilities, (ii) the executive’s engaging in any act of dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation, (iii) the executive’s violation of
any federal or state law or regulation applicable to our business or our affiliates, (iv) the executive’s breach of any confidentiality
agreement or invention assignment agreement between the executive and us (or any affiliate of us) or (v) the executive’s commission of,

or entering a plea of nolo contendere to, any crime or committing any act of moral turpitude; and
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“Good Reason” for the executive to terminate the executive’s employment shall mean the occurrence of any of the following
events without the executive’s consent: (i) a material reduction in the executive's salary or benefits (excluding the substitution of
substantially equivalent compensation and benefits), other than as a result of a reduction in compensation affecting our employees, or
our successor entity, generally, (ii) a material diminution in the executive’s duties or responsibilities, provided however, that, a mere
change in title or reporting relationship alone shall not constitute “Good Reason” and (iii) relocation of the executive’s place of
employment to a location more than fifty (50) miles from our office location. If any of the events set forth above shall occur, the executive
shall give prompt written notice of such event to us, or our successor entity, upon becoming aware of such event, and if such event is
not cured within thirty (30) days from such notice the executive may exercise his or her rights to resign for Good Reason, provided that if
the executive has not exercised such right within forty-five (45) days of the date of the expiration of such cure period, the executive shall
be deemed to have agreed to the occurrence of such event.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides certain information with respect to all of the Company’s equity compensation plans in effect as of
December 31, 2023:
Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available for
Future Issuance

Number of Securities under Equity

to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants

and Rights (b)

Compensation
Plans (Excluding
Securities
Reflected in

Column (a)) (c)

Plan Category (a)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders() 8,462,633 (3)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders(2) 1,241,916
Total 9,704,549
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11.18(4)

4.68

10.31

3,326,721s)

758,084

4,084,805

(1) Consists of the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”), the 2020 Incentive Award Plan (the “2020 Plan”), and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”).

(2) Consists of the 2022 Employment Inducement Plan (the “2022 Inducement Plan”). The 2022 Inducement Plan was adopted by the Board without stockholder approval
pursuant to Nasdag Marketplace Rule 5635(c)(4), or Rule 5635(c)(4). In accordance with Rule 5635(c)(4), awards made under the 2022 Inducement Plan may only be

granted to newly hired employees as an inducement material to the employees entering into employment with the Company. Awards granted under the 2022 Inducement
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Plan expire no later than ten years from the date of grant. An aggregate of 2,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2022 Inducement
Plan.

(3) Consists of 2,068,635 shares of common stock underlying outstanding options under the 2011 Plan, 5,898,419 shares of common stock underlying outstanding options
under the 2020 Plan, and 495,579 shares of common stock underlying unvested RSUs under the 2020 Plan. Does not include approximately 16,916 shares that may be
issued with respect to the purchase period in effect as of December 31, 2023 under the ESPP, which purchase period ends on May 15, 2024, based on enrollment as of
December 31, 2023 and assuming a purchase price of $5.49 (which was the closing price of our common stock as of March 1, 2024).

(4) Represents the weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options. Because RSUs do not have an exercise price, the weighted-average exercise price does not
take into account outstanding RSUs.

(5) Includes 1,988,340 shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2020 Plan, and 1,338,381 shares available for issuance under the ESPP as of December

31, 2023. In connection with the effectiveness of the 2020 Plan in July 2020, no further grants are made under the 2011 Plan.

The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to equity awards under the 2020 Plan will automatically
increase January 1 of each year for a period of up to ten years, commencing on January 1, 2021 and continuing through and including
January 1, 2030 by the lesser of (i) the amount equal to 4% of the number of shares issued and outstanding on December 31
immediately prior to the date of increase or (ii) such lower number of shares as may be determined by the Board, provided that no more

than 21,605,212 shares may be issued pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options.

The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the ESPP will increase January 1 of each year for a period of
up to ten years commencing January 1, 2021 and continuing through and including January 1, 2030 by the lesser of (i) a number of
shares equal to 1% of the total number of outstanding shares of common stock on December 31 immediately prior to the date of
increase or (ii) such number of shares as may be determined by the Board, provided that no more than 3,960,955 shares may be issued
under the ESPP.

Non-Employee Director Compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning compensation earned by the non-employee members of our Board during the
year ended December 31, 2023. Mr. Love, our President and CEOQ, is also a director but does not receive any additional compensation

for his services as a director. Information concerning the compensation earned by Mr. Love is set forth in the Summary Compensation

Table above.
Fees Earned or Paid All Other
Name in Cash ($) Option Awards ($)(1) Compensation ($) Total $

Jung E. Choi 52,500 48,427 — 100,927
Bettina M. Cockroft, M.D. 52,500 48,427 — 100,927
Muneer A. Satter 55,500 48,427 — 103,927
Thomas G. Wiggans 84,000 48,427 — 132,427
William H. Carson, M.D. 55,000 48,427 — 103,427
William D. Waddill 55,000 48,427 — 103,427

(1) The amounts in the “Option Awards” column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted during the calendar year computed in accordance with
the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. The assumptions that we used to calculate these amounts are discussed in Note 7 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. These amounts may not reflect the actual economic value that will be realized by the non-employee director upon the exercise of the stock options, or the

sale of the common stock acquired upon such exercise.
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The following tables set forth options awards held as of December 31, 2023 by each non-employee director. None of our Proxy

Statement. non-employee directors held any stock awards as of December 31, 2023.
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Name Options Outstanding as of Fiscal Year-End (Exercisable and Unexercisable) (#)
Jung E. Choi 94,322
Thomas G. Wiggans 89,745
William H. Carson, M.D. 78,000
Bettina M. Cockroft, M.D. 68,000
William D. Waddill 68,000
Muneer A. Satter 58,000

Our Board adopted our Non-Employee Director Compensation Program for our non-employee directors, as amended in June

2023 (the “Director Compensation Program”) pursuant to which non-employee directors are compensated as follows:

Each non-employee director receives an annual cash retainer in the amount of $40,000 per year.
The non-executive chair receives an additional annual cash retainer in the amount of $32,500 per year.

The chair of the Audit Committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $15,000 per year for
chair’'s service on the Audit Committee. Each non-chair member of the Audit Committee receives additional annual
compensation in the amount of $7,500 per year for such member’s service on the Audit Committee.

The chair of the Compensation Committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $12,000 per yee
such chair’'s service on the Compensation Committee. Each non-chair member of the Compensation Committee rece
additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $6,000 per year for such member’s service on the Compens
Committee.

The chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the am
of $10,000 per year for such chair’s service on the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Each non-chair memb
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $5,00(
year for such member’s service on the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

The chair of the Science and Technology Committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $10,00(
year for such chair’s service on the Science and Technology Committee. Each non-chair member of the Science and Technc
Committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $5,000 per year for such member’s service or
Science and Technology Committee.

Under the Director Compensation Program, each non-employee director is automatically granted an option to purchase 53,000

shares of our common stock upon the director’s initial appointment or election to our Board, referred to as the Initial Grant, and an option

to purchase 26,500 shares of our common stock automatically on the date of each annual stockholder’s meeting thereafter, referred to

as the Annual Grant. The Initial Grant vests in substantially equal monthly installments for three years from the date of grant, subject to
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continued service through each applicable vesting date. The Annual Grant vests on the earlier of the first anniversary of the date of grant
or the date of the next annual stockholder’s meeting to the extent unvested as of such date, subject to continued service through each

applicable vesting date. Each Initial Grant and Annual Grant vests in full in the event of a change in control.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

For the year ended December 31, 2023, our Compensation Committee consisted of Dr. Carson, Ms. Choi and Mr. Wiggans. None
of our directors who serve as a member of our Compensation Committee is, or has at any time during the past year been, one of our
officers or employees. None of our executive officers currently serve, or has served during the last completed fiscal year, on the
Compensation Committee or board of directors of any other entity that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our

board of directors or Compensation Committee.

Please refer to the section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and

Director Independence” for information concerning certain transactions involving members of the Compensation Committee.

125

Clawback Policy

In November 2023, our Board adopted a written compensation recovery policy in accordance with applicable Nasdaq rules, a copy
of which is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The policy provides that we will seek to recover any incentive-based
compensation erroneously awarded to any current or former executive officer due to the material noncompliance with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date we determine

that an accounting restatement is required.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
Beneficial Ownership of Shares of Common Stock

The following table sets forth certain information required by this item regarding security with respect to the beneficial ownership of

certain our common stock as of March 1, 2024 for:

. each beneficial owners owner of 5% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock;

. each of our directors;

. each of our named executive officers; and management

. all directors and our equity compensation plans will be incorporated by reference executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC and generally means that a person has beneficial ownership

of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power of that security, including options and warrants that are
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currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 1, 2024. Our calculation of the percentage of beneficial ownership is based
on 88,393,404 shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 1, 2024. The number of shares of our common stock outstanding
as of March 1, 2024 does not include 35,248,479 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of pre-funded warrants
outstanding as of March 1, 2024, which are immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $0.001 per share of common stock, subject
to beneficial ownership limitations. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on the information furnished to us, that
the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown that
they beneficially own, subject to community property laws where applicable. Common stock subject to options and warrants currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 1, 2024 is deemed to be outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of the
person holding these options and warrants and the percentage ownership of any group of which the holder is a member but is not
deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of any other person. Except as otherwise noted, the information below reflects any

beneficial ownership limitations set forth in any warrants held by the persons named below.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Annexon, Inc., 1400 Sierra Point
Parkway, Bldg C, Suite 200, Brisbane, California 94005.
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Number of Shares Percent of Shares
Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned Outstanding
Five Percent Stockholders
FMR LLC) 9,685,401 11.0%
Redmile Group, LLC(2) 9,199,792 9.99%
Entities affiliated with Bain Capital Life Sciences Investors, LLC(3) 9,177,734 9.99%
BVF Partners L.P.(@s) 9,033,664 9.99%
Trusts and other entities affiliated with Muneer A. Satter(s) 8,053,521 9.0%
Logos Global Management LP() 6,943,400 7.9%
Adage Capital Partners L.P.7) 5,645,761 6.3%
Entities affiliated with Point72 Asset Management, L.P.(s) 4,868,603 5.5%
Directors and Named Executive Officers
William H. Carson, M.D.(9) 54,000 *
Jung E. Choi(o) 68,808 *
Bettina M. Cockroft, M.D.(11) 39,000 *
Muneer A. Satter(12) 8,053,521 9.0%
William D. Waddill13) 41,777 *
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Thomas G. Wiggans(i4) 65,745 *

Douglas E. Love(s) 2,003,702 2.2%
Rick Artis, Ph.D.(16) 203,618 *
Ted Yednock, Ph.D.a7) 538,413 *
All current executive officers and directors as a group (12 persons)(s) 11,991,786 12.9%

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

(1) Based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on January 9, 2024 and information known to us. FMR LLC beneficially owns 9,685,401 shares of our Proxy
Statement. common stock. Abigail P. Johnson is a Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of FMR LLC. Members of the Johnson family, including Abigail P.
Johnson, are the predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series B voting common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC. The
Johnson family group and all other Series B shareholders have entered into a shareholders' voting agreement under which all Series B voting common shares will be
voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common shares. Accordingly, through their ownership of voting common shares and the execution of the
shareholders' voting agreement, members of the Johnson family may be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling group with respect to
FMR LLC. The business address for FMR LLC is 245 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110.

(2) Based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024 and information known to us. As of December 31, 2023, consists of (i) 5,503,190 shares
of common stock were held by certain private investment vehicles and/or sub-advised accounts managed by Redmile Group, LLC, including 1,911,695 shares of common
stock held directly by Redmile Biopharma Investments II, L.P., which shares of common stock may be deemed beneficially owned by Redmile Group, LLC as investment
manager of such private investment vehicles and/or sub-advised accounts, (ij) common warrants to purchase 4,197,610 shares of common stock and pre-funded warrants
to purchase 21,030,226 shares of common stock were held by RedCo Il Master Fund, L.P., (iii) common warrants to purchase 645,786 shares of common stock and pre-
funded warrants to purchase 6,056,573 shares of common stock were held by Redmile Biopharma Investments Il, L.P., (iv) pre-funded warrants to purchase 965,427
shares of common stock were held by Redmile Strategic Trading Sub, Ltd., (v) pre-funded warrants to purchase 488,500 shares of common stock were held by Redmile
Capital Offshore Il Master Fund, Ltd. (Strategic Sleeve), and (vi) pre-funded warrants to purchase 1,940,500 shares of common stock were held by Redmile Strategic
Long Only Trading Sub, Ltd. These securities may also be deemed beneficially owned by Redmile Group, LLC and Jeremy C. Green as the principal of Redmile Group,
LLC. Redmile Group, LLC and Mr. Green each disclaim beneficial ownership of these securities, except to the extent of its or his pecuniary interest in such shares, if any.
Pursuant to the terms of the common warrants and the pre-funded warrants, a holder of a warrant does not have the right to exercise any portion of the warrant that would
result in the holder, together with its affiliates, beneficially owning a number of shares of common stock in excess of the 9.99% (the “Blocker”) of the shares of common
stock then issued and outstanding following the exercise of the warrants, which percentage may be changed at a holder’s election upon 61 days’ notice to us. Accordingly,
pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, the 9,199,792 shares of common stock reported as beneficially owned by Redmile Group, LLC in the table above
consists of (i) an aggregate of 5,503,190 shares of common stock and (ii) an aggregate of 3,696,602 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the common
warrants and pre-funded warrants, which together represent 9.99% of our common stock outstanding as of March 1, 2024 assuming the exercise of such warrants. The
address for Redmile Group, LLC and Mr. Green is One Letterman Drive, Building D, Suite D3-300, The Presidio of San Francisco, San Francisco, California 94129.

(3) Based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024 and information known by us. As of December 31, 2023, consists of (i) 2,940,627 shares
of common stock were directly held by Bain Capital Life Sciences Fund, L.P. (‘BCLS Fund I”), (iij) 301,001 shares of common stock were directly held by BCIP Life
Sciences Associates, LP (“BCIPLS”) and (iii) 2,460,298 shares of common stock, common warrants to purchase 774,943 shares of common stock and pre-funded
warrants to purchase 2,739,475 shares of common stock were directly held by BCLS | Investco, LP (“BCLS | Investco”). Bain Capital Life Sciences Investors, LLC
(“BCLSI") is the general partner of Bain Capital Life Sciences Partners, LP (“BCLSP”), which is the general partner of BCLS Fund |. Boylston Coinvestors, LLC (“Boylston”)
is the general partner of BCIPLS. BCLSI governs the investment strategy and decision-making process with respect to investments held by BCIPLS. BCLS | Investco GP,
LLC (“BCLS | Investco GP” and, together with BCLS Fund I, BCIPLS, BCLS | Investco, BCLSI, BCLSP and Boylston, the “Bain Capital Life Sciences Entities”), whose
manager is BCLS Fund |, is the general partner of BCLS | Investco. As a result, BCLSI may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power with respect to the securities

held by BCLS Fund |, BCIPLS and BCLS | Investco. As a result of the Blocker and pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, the 9,177,734 shares of common
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stock reported as beneficially owned by the Bain Capital Life Science Entities in the table above consists of (i) an aggregate of 5,701,926 shares of common stock held by
BCLS, BCIP Life Sciences Associates and BCLS | Investco and (ii) an aggregate of 3,475,808 shares issuable upon the exercise of the common warrants and pre-funded
warrants held by BCLS | Investco, which together represent 9.99% of our common stock outstanding as of March 1, 2024, assuming the exercise of such warrants. The
address of the Bain Capital Life Sciences Entities is c/o Bain Capital Life Sciences, LP, 200 Clarendon Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02116.

(4) Based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, consists of (i) 3,673,570 shares of common stock, pre-

funded warrants to purchase 1,064,170 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P.
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(“BVPF"), (ii) 2,863,847 shares of common stock, pre-funded warrants to purchase 829,606 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Biotechnology Value Fund I,
L.P. (“BVF2"), (iii) 359,856 shares of common stock, pre-funded warrants to purchase 104,244 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Biotechnology Value Trading
Fund OS LP (“Trading Fund OS”), (iv) 102,727 shares held in a certain BVF Partners L.P. (“Partners”) managed account (the “Partners Managed Account”), and (v) pre-
funded warrants to purchase 29,758 shares of common stock beneficially owned by MSI BVF SPV, LLC (“MSI BVF”) as of December 31, 2023. BVF | GP LLC (“BVF GP”),
as the general partner of BVF, may be deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned by BVF. BVF Il GP LLC (“BVF2 GP”), as the general partner of BVF2,
may be deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned by BVF2. BVF Partners OS Ltd. (“Partners OS”), as the general partner of Trading Fund OS, may be
deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned by Trading Fund OS. BVF GP Holdings LLC (“BVF GPH" and, together with BVF, BVF2, Trading Fund OS,
Partners, MSI BVF, BVF GP, BVF2 GP and Partners OS, the “BVF Entities”), as the sole member of each of BVF GP and BVF2 GP, may be deemed to beneficially own
the shares beneficially owned in the aggregate by BVF and BVF2. Partners, as the investment manager of BVF, BVF2, Trading Fund OS, and MSI BVF and the sole
member of Partners OS, may be deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned in the aggregate by BVF, BVF2, Trading Fund OS and MSI BVF. Including
shares held in the Partners Managed Account. BVF Inc., as the general partner of Partners, may be deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned by Partners.
Mark N. Lampert, as a director and officer of BVF Inc., may be deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned by BVF Inc. BVF GP disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares beneficially owned by BVF. BVF2 GP disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares beneficially owned by BVF2. Partners OS disclaims beneficial
ownership of the shares beneficially owned by Trading Fund OS. BVF GPH disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares beneficially owned by BVF and BVF2. Each of
Partners, BVF Inc. and Mr. Lampert disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares beneficially owned by BVF, BVF2 and Trading Fund OS and held in the Partners
Managed Account. As a result of the Blocker and pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, the 9,033,664 shares of common stock reported as beneficially owned
by the BVF Entities in the table above consists of (i) an aggregate of 7,000,000 shares of common stock held by BVF, BVF2, Trading Fund OS and Partners Managed
Account and (ii) an aggregate of 2,033,664 shares issuable upon the exercise of the pre-funded warrants held by BVF, BVF2, Trading Fund OS and MSI BVF, which
together represent 9.99% of our common stock outstanding as of March 1, 2024, assuming the exercise of such warrants. The address for BVF, BVF GP, BVF2, BVF2 GP,
BVF GPH, MSI BVF, Partners, BVF Inc. and Mr. Lampert is 44 Montgomery Street, 40th Floor, San Francisco, California 94104 and the address for Trading Fund OS and
Partners OS is PO Box 309 Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

(5) Based solely upon a Form 4 filed with the SEC on December 28, 2023 and information known to us. Consists of (i) 240,000 shares that are held by the Muneer A.
Satter Revocable Trust for which the reporting person serves as trustee and, in such capacity, has sole voting and dispositive power over all such shares, (ii) 567,240
shares that are held by various other trusts and other entities for which the reporting person serves as trustee, investment advisor or manager and, in such capacity, has
sole voting and dispositive power over all such shares, (iii) 1,147,738 shares that are held by Satter Medical Technology Partners, L.P. for which the reporting person has

sole voting and dispositive power over all such shares, (iv) 5,451,046 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 613,497 shares of common stock that are held by

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 200/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Alerce Medical Technology Partners, L.P. for which the reporting person has sole voting and dispositive power of all such shares, and (v) 34,000 shares of common stock
that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by Mr. Satter within 60 days of March 1, 2024. Pursuant to the terms of the common warrants, Alerce
Medical may not exercise any portion of any common warrant, which, upon giving effect to such exercise, would cause it (together with its affiliates) to own more than
19.99% of the number of shares of the common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise, as such percentage ownership is determined in
accordance with the terms of the common warrants. However, Alerce Medical may decrease such percentage to any other percentage (or subsequently increase to any
other percentage not in excess of 19.99%, provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be effective until 61 days after such notice is delivered to us). The
address of Mr. Satter and the entities affiliated with Mr. Satter is c/o Alerce Investment Management, L.P, 676 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 4000, Chicago, lllinois 60611.

(6) Based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024 and information known to us. Consists of (i) 3,471,700 shares that are held by Logos
Global Master Fund LP (“Global Fund”), including shares issued upon the net exercise of pre-funded warrants in February 2024, and (i) 3,471,700 shares that are held by
Logos Opportunities Fund IV LP (“Opportunities Fund,” together with the Global Fund, the “Logos Funds”), including shares issued upon the net exercise of pre-funded
warrants in February 2024. Logos Global Management LP (“Logos Global”) is the investment adviser to investment funds, including Logos Global Master Fund LP. Logos
Global Management GP LLC (“Logos Global GP”) is the general partner of Logos Global. Arsani William is a control person of Logos Global and Logos Global GP. Global
Fund, Logos Global, Logos GP LLC, Logos Global GP, and Dr. William each disclaim beneficial ownership of these securities. The address for the Logos Entities is One
Letterman Drive, Building C, Suite C3-350, San Francisco, California 94129.

(7) Based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 7, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, consists of (i) 4,999,975 shares of common stock and (ii)
645,786 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of common warrants held by Adage Capital Partners, L.P. Bob Atchinson and Phillip Gross are the managing
members of Adage Capital Advisors, L.L.C., which is the managing member of Adage Capital Partners GP, L.L.C., which is the general partner of Adage Capital Partners,
L.P., and each such person or entity, as the case may be, may be deemed the beneficial owner of the shares held by Adage Capital Partners, L.P. Pursuant to the terms of
the common warrants, Adage Capital Partners, L.P. may not exercise any portion of any common warrant, which, upon giving effect to such exercise, would cause it
(together with its affiliates) to own more than 9.99% of the number of shares of the common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise, as such
percentage ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the common warrants. However, Adage may increase or decrease such percentage to any other
percentage, not in excess of 19.99%, provided that any increase in such percentage shall not be effective until 61 days after such notice is delivered to us. The address of
Adage Capital Partners, L.P. is 200 Clarendon Street, 52nd Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02116.

(8) Based solely upon a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 12, 2024 and information known to us. As of February 2, 2024, consists of 4,856,400 shares held
by Point72 Associates, LLC (“Point72 Associates”) and 12,203 shares held by an investment fund managed by Cubist Systematic Strategies, LLC (“Cubist Systematic
Strategies”). Point72 Asset Management, L.P. (“Point72 Asset Management”) maintains investment and voting power with respect to the securities held by Point72
Associates. Point72 Capital Advisors, Inc. (“Point72 Capital Advisors”) is the general partner of Point72 Asset Management. Stephen A. Cohen controls each of Point72
Asset Management, Point72 Capital Advisors and Cubist Systematic Strategies. The address of the principal business office of (i) Point72 Asset Management, Point72
Capital Advisors, and Mr. Cohen is 72 Cummings Point Road, Stamford, CT 06902; and (ii) Cubist Systematic Strategies is 55 Hudson Yards, New York, NY 10001.

(9) Consists of 54,000 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by Dr. Carson within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(10) Consists of 68,808 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by Ms. Choi within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(11) Consists of 39,000 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by Dr. Cockroft within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(12) Consists of the securities described in footnote (5) above.
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(13) Consists of 41,777 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by Mr. Waddill within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(14) Consists of 65,475 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by Mr. Wiggans within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(15) Consists of (i) 182,787 shares of common stock held of record by Mr. Love and (ii) 1,820,915 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise
of stock options held by Mr. Love within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(16) Consists of (i) 50,329 shares of common stock held of record by Dr. Artis and (ii) 153,289 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of
stock options held by Dr. Artis within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(17) Consists of (i) 31,404 shares of common stock held of record by Dr. Yednock and (ii) 507,009 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise
of stock options held by Dr. Yednock within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

(18) Consists of (i) 7,714,109 shares of common stock beneficially owned by our current executive officers and directors and (ii) 4,277,677 shares of common stock that

may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by our current executive officers and directors within 60 days of March 1, 2024.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Since January 1, 2022, we have engaged in the following transactions in which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed the
lesser of $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets at year-end for the last two completed fiscal years with our directors,
executive officers, holders of more than 5% of our voting securities and affiliates or immediate family members of, or person sharing a
household with, our directors, executive officers and holders of more than 5% of our voting securities, and in which any related person
had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. We believe that all of these transactions were on terms as favorable as could have

been obtained from unrelated third parties.

Private Placement

In July 2022, we sold in a private placement (the “Private Placement”) an aggregate of 9,013,834 shares of common stock, pre-
funded warrants to purchase up to 24,696,206 shares of our common stock and accompanying common warrants to purchase up to

8,427,508 shares of our common stock.

The information required following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock purchased in the Private Placement by
this item holders of more than 5% of our capital stock at the time of the Private Placement (including an entity affiliated with one of our

directors) and those that became holders of more than 5% of our capital stock following the Private Placement:

Pre-
Funded Aggregate
Total Shares Warrants Common Purchase Price
Name() Purchased #) Warrants (#) (%)
2,739,47
Entities affiliated with Bain Capital Life Sciences, LLC(2) 360,298 5 774,943 11,997,257
Alerce Medical Technology Partners, L.P.3) 2,453,988 — 613,497 9,500,001
Entities affiliated with Fairmount Healthcare Funda) 1,291,572 — 322,893 4,999,998
19,373,5
Redmile Group, LLCs) — 87 4,843,396 74,980,625
2,583,14
Venrock and affiliated entities) 1,291,573 4 968,679 14,997,415
Adage Capital Partners L.P.7) 2,583,145 — 645,786 10,000,000
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(1) For additional information regarding certain relationships of these stockholders and their equity holdings, see the section titled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management.”

(2) Entities affiliated with Bain Capital Life Sciences, LLC beneficially owned more than 5% of our capital stock at the time of the Private Placement.

(3) Trusts and other entities affiliated with Muneer A. Satter beneficially owned (in the aggregate) more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock at the time of the Private
Placement. Mr. Satter is currently and was at the time of the Private Placement, a member of our Board. Mr. Satter was designated to serve as a member of our Board by
trusts and other entities affiliated with Mr. Satter. Mr. Satter is the founder and managing partner of Alerce Medical Technology Partners, L.P. (previously Satter Medical
Technology Partners, L.P.) and Chairperson of Satter Investment Management LLC. Mr. Satter also manages the Satter Foundation.

(4) Entities affiliated with Fairmount Healthcare Funds beneficially owned more than 5% of our capital stock at the time of the Private Placement.

(5) Entities affiliated with Redmile Group, LLC beneficially owned more than 5% of our capital stock at the time of the Private Placement.

(6) Venrock and affiliated entities beneficially owned more than 5% of our capital stock following the Private Placement.

(7) Adage Capital Partners L.P. beneficially owned more than 5% of our capital stock following the Private Placement.

The transactions with the holders of more than 5% of our capital stock at the time of the Private Placement (including the entity

affiliated with one of our directors) were approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with our related transactions person transaction
policy.
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In March 2023, we issued an aggregate of 2,582,557 shares of our common stock to Venrock Healthcare Capital Partners EG,
L.P., Venrock Healthcare Capital Partners I, L.P. and director independence will be incorporated VHCP Co-Investment Holdings Ill, LLC
(collectively, “Venrock”) upon the cashless exercise of pre-funded warrants to purchase 2,583,144 shares of our common stock that
were issued in the Private Placement. Venrock and affiliated entities beneficially owned more than 5% of our capital stock at the time of
the exercise.

At-the-Market Offering

In February 2023, Alerce Medical Technology Partners, L.P. purchased 2,646,458 shares of our common stock at a price of $6.80
per share through our at-the-market offering program, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $17.5 million, after deducting
sales agent fees. Alerce Medical Technology Partners, L.P. is affiliated with Mr. Satter, a member of our Board. This transaction was

approved by reference the Audit Committee in accordance with our related person transaction policy.

Public Offering

In December 2023, Alerce Medical Technology Partners, L.P. purchased 350,000 shares of common stock at a price of $2.880 per

share for an aggregate price of approximately $1.0 million through the public offering. Alerce Medical Technology Partners, L.P. is
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affiliated with Mr. Satter, a member of our Board. This transaction was approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with our related

person transaction policy.

In February 2024, we issued an aggregate of 5,243,400 shares of common stock to the Logos Funds upon the cashless exercise
of pre-funded warrants to purchase 5,244,444 shares of common stock that were issued in the December 2023 public offering. The

Logos Funds and affiliated entities beneficially owned more than 5% of our capital stock at the time of the exercise.

Investors’ Rights Agreement

We are party to an amended and restated investors’ rights agreement with, among others, holders of more than 5% of our capital
stock and entities with which certain of our directors are affiliated. Certain of the holders of our common stock are entitled to rights with
respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act, subject to certain exceptions. The investors’ rights agreement also
provided for a right of first refusal in favor of certain holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock with regard to certain issuances of

our capital stock. The right of first refusal terminated upon the consummation of our initial public offering.

Director and Executive Officer Compensation

See the section titled “Executive Compensation” for information regarding the compensation of our current directors and executive
officers.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with our current executive officers. For more information regarding these
agreements, see the section titled “Executive Compensation.”

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with certain of our current directors and officers, and intend to enter into new
indemnification agreements with each of our current directors and officers. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by applicable

law.
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Related Person Transaction Policy

Our Board adopted a written related person transaction policy, setting forth the policies and procedures for the review and
approval or ratification of related person transactions. This policy covers, with certain exceptions set forth in Iltem 404 of Regulation S-K

under the Securities Act, any transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or
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relationships in which we were or are to be a participant, where the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and a related person had or will
have a direct or indirect material interest, including without limitation purchases of goods or services by or from the related person or
entities in which the related person has a material interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebtedness and employment by us of a
related person. In reviewing and approving any such transactions, our Proxy Statement. Audit Committee is tasked to consider all
relevant facts and circumstances, including but not limited to whether the transaction is on terms comparable to those that could be
obtained in an arm’s length transaction with an unrelated third party and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction.

Unless otherwise noted, all of the transactions described in this section occurred prior to the adoption of this policy.

Director Independence

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”). Under the rules of Nasdaq, independent directors must
comprise a majority of a listed company’s Board. Audit Committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule
10A-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Under the rules of Nasdaq, a director will only
qualify as an “independent director” if, in the opinion of that company’s Board, that person does not have a relationship that would

interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

To be considered to be independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3 and under the rules of Nasdag, a member of an Audit Committee
of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the Audit Committee, the board of directors or any other
board committee: (1) accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of

its subsidiaries or (2) be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.

To be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10C-1 and under the rules of Nasdaq, the Board must affirmatively determine
that each member of the Compensation Committee is independent, including a consideration of all factors specifically relevant to
determining whether the director has a relationship to the company which is material to that director’s ability to be independent from
management in connection with the duties of a Compensation Committee member, including, but not limited to (i) the source of
compensation of such director, including any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee paid by the company to such director and

(ii) whether such director is affiliated with the company, a subsidiary of the company or an affiliate of a subsidiary of the company.

Our Board has determined that all of our directors, other than Mr. Love, qualify as “independent” directors as that term is defined
under the rules of Nasdaq. Mr. Love is not considered independent by virtue of his position as our President and CEO. Under the rules
of Nasdag, the definition of independence includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not, and has not been for at
least three years, one of our employees and that neither the director nor any of his or her family members have engaged in various
types of business dealings with us. In addition, as required by Nasdag, our Board has made a subjective determination as to each
independent director that no relationships exist that, in the opinion of our Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent

judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

In making these determinations, our Board considered the current and prior relationships that each non-employee director has
with our company and all other facts and circumstances our Board deemed relevant in determining their independence, including the
beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director, and the transactions involving them. There are no family

relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The information required following table represents aggregate fees billed for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
by this item regarding principal accountant KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm.

December 31,

2023 2022
Audit Feesq) $ 1,290,009 $ 1,221,914
Audit-related fees — —
Tax fees — —
All other fees — —
Total fees $ 1,290,009 $ 1,221,914

(1) “Audit Fees” consist of fees billed for professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements, reviews of our quarterly
consolidated financial statements and related accounting consultations and services will that are normally provided by the independent registered public accountants in

connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures for the pre-approval of audit and non-audit services rendered by our
independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP. The policy generally pre-approves specified services in the defined
categories of audit services, audit-related services and tax services up to specified amounts. Pre-approval may also be incorporated by
reference given as part of the Audit Committee’s approval of the scope of the engagement of the independent auditor or on an individual,
explicit, case-by-case basis before the independent auditor is engaged to provide each service. The pre-approval of services may be
delegated to one or more of the Audit Committee’s members, but the decision must be reported to the information set forth in our Proxy

Statement. full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

The Audit Committee has determined that the rendering of services other than audit services by KPMG LLP is compatible with

maintaining the registered public accounting firm's independence.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
1. Financial Statements
Information in response to this Item is included in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial

statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
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2020 Incentive Award Plan.
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10.5(d)+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

10.10+

10.11+

10.12+

10.13

10.14

Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Filed
Herewith
Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option S-1 333-239647  10.5(b) 07/02/20
Agreement under the 2020 Incentive Award Plan.
Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice and S-1 333-239647 10.5(c) 07/02/20
Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2020
Incentive Award Plan.
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice S-1 333-239647  10.5(d) 07/02/20
and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under
the 2020 Incentive Award Plan.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-8 333-240101 99.3 07/24/20
Employment Agreement by and between the S-1 333-239647 10.7 07/02/20
Registrant and Douglas Love, Esq.
Employment Agreement by and between the S-1 333-239647 10.9 07/02/20
Registrant and Jennifer Lew.
Employment Agreement by and between the S-1/A 333-239647 10.11 07/20/20
Registrant and Michael Overdorf.
Non-Employee Director Compensation Program. 10-Q 001-39402 10.1 05/09/22
Form of Indemnification and Advancement S-1 333-239647 10.12 07/02/20
Agreement for directors and officers.
Employment Agreement by and between the X
Registrant and Dean Richard Artis, Ph.D.
Sales Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2021, by 10-Q 001-39402 10.1 08/16/21
and between Annexon Inc. and Cowen and Company,.
LLC.
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 7, 8-K 001-39402 10.1 07/08/22
2022, by and among_the Registrant and the
Purchasers named within.
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10.15+ Annexon, Inc. 2022 Employment Inducement 10-Q 001-39402 10.2(a) 08/08/22
Award Plan.
10.16+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option 10-Q 001-39402 10.2(b) 08/08/22
Agreement under the 2022
Employment Inducement Award Plan.
10.17+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant 10-Q 001-39402 10.2(c) 08/08/22
Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement under the 2022 Employment
Inducement Award Plan.
211 List of subsidiaries. S-1 333-239647 211 07/02/20
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public X
Accounting_Firm.
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Filed
No Description of Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.5(b)+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option S-1 333-239647  10.5(b) 07/02/20
Agreement under the 2020 Incentive Award Plan.
10.5(c)+ Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice and S-1 333-239647  10.5(c) 07/02/20
Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2020
Incentive Award Plan.
10.5(d)+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice S-1 333-239647  10.5(d) 07/02/20
and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under
the 2020 Incentive Award Plan.
10.6+ Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-8 333-240101 99.3 07/24/20
10.7+ Employment Agreement by and between the S-1 333-239647 10.7 07/02/20
Registrant and Douglas Love, Esq.
10.8+ Employment Agreement by and between the S-1 333-239647 10.9 07/02/20
Registrant and Jennifer Lew.
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Employment Agreement by and between the

Registrant and Michael Overdorf.

Non-Employee Director Compensation Program.

Form of Indemnification and Advancement

Agreement for directors and officers.

Employment Agreement by and between the

Registrant and Dean Richard Artis, Ph.D.

Sales Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2021, by

and between Annexon Inc. and Cowen and Company,
LLC.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 7,

2022, by and among_the Registrant and the

Purchasers named within.

Annexon,_Inc. 2022 Employment Inducement

Award Plan.

Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option

Agreement under the 2022

Employment Inducement Award Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant
Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Award

Agreement under the 2022 Employment

Inducement Award Plan.

Employment Agreement by and between the

Registrant and Jamie Dananberg, M.D.

List of subsidiaries.
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed
No Description of Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public X
Accounting Firm.

24.1 Power of Attorney (included in the signature page_ X
hereto).

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to X
Rules 13a-14(a)_and 15d-14(a)_under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to X
Rules 13a-14(a)_.and 15d-14(a)_under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

32.1* Cetrtification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief X
Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,_
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.

97.1 Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded X
Compensation.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
Document With Embedded Linkbase Documents

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation X
Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase X
Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase X
Document
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101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation X
Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline X
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

T Certain portions of this document that constitute confidential information have been redacted in accordance with Regulation S-K, Item
601(b)(10).

* The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, is not deemed “filed” by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly

caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Annexon, Inc.

Date: March 6, 2023 March 26, 2024 By: /s/ Douglas Love, Esq.

Douglas Love, Esq.
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 6, 2023 March 26, 2024 By: /s/ Jennifer Lew

Jennifer Lew

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 2171239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each
of Douglas Love and Jennifer Lew his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution, for him or her and
in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and
to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and
necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his or her substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Douglas Love, Esq. President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 6, 2023 March 26,
2024
Douglas Love, Esq. (Principal Executive Officer)

March 6, 2023 March 26,
/sl Jennifer Lew Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2024

Jennifer Lew (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 6, 2023 March 26,
/sl Thomas G. Wiggans Chairperson & Director 2024

Thomas G. Wiggans

March 6, 2023 March 26,
/s/ William H. Carson, M.D. Director 2024
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William H. Carson, M.D.

/s/ Jung E. Choi

Jung E. Choi

/s/ Bettina M. Cockroft, M.D.

Bettina M. Cockroft, M.D.

/s/ Muneer A. Satter

Muneer A. Satter

/s/ William D. Waddill

William D. Waddill

Director

Director

Director

Director

March 6, 2023 March 26,

2024
March 6, 2023 March 26,
2024
March 6, 2023 March 26,
2024
March 6, 2023 March 26,
2024
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Exhibit 10.12
ANNEXON, INC.
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”), is made and entered into on January 6, 2023 by and between Annexon, Inc., a

Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and Dean Richard Artis (“Executive” and, together with the Company, the “Parties”). This

Agreement supersedes in its entirety that certain offer letter between Executive and the Company dated as of December 12, 2022

(“Offer Letter”).

WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ Executive beginning January 6, 2023 (the “Effective Date”) to perform services as

an employee of the Company under the terms hereof; and

WHEREAS, Executive desires to provide services to the Company on the terms herein provided.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and for other good and valuable consideration, including the respective

covenants and agreements set forth below, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as

follows:

1.Employment.
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(@) General. The Company shall employ Executive upon the terms and conditions provided herein effective as of the Effective
Date.

(b) Position and Duties. Effective as of the Effective Date, Executive: (i) shall serve as the Company’s
Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, with responsibilities, duties, and authority usual and customary for such position,
subject to direction by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “CEOQ”); (ii) shall report directly to the CEO; and (iii) agrees
promptly and faithfully to comply with all present and future policies, requirements, rules and regulations, and reasonable directions
and requests, of the Company in connection with the Company’s business. At the Company’s request, Executive shall serve the
Company and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates in such other capacities in addition to the foregoing as the Company shall designate,
provided that such additional capacities are consistent with Executive’s position as the Company’s Executive Vice President and
Chief Scientific Officer. In the event that Executive serves in any one or more of such additional capacities, Executive’s compensation
shall not automatically be increased on account of such additional service.

(c) Principal Office. Executive shall perform services for the Company at the Company’s offices located in
Brisbane, California, or, with the Company’s consent, at any other place in connection with the fulfillment of Executive’s role with the
Company; provided, however, that the Company may from time to time require Executive to travel temporarily to other locations in
connection with the Company’s business.

(d) Exclusivity. Except with the prior written approval of the CEO (which the CEO may grant or withhold in his
or her sole and absolute discretion), Executive shall devote Executive’s best efforts and full working time, attention, and energies to
the business of the Company, except during any paid vacation or other excused absence periods. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Executive may, without violating this Section 1(d), (i) as a passive investment, own publicly traded securities in such form or manner
as will not require any services by Executive in the operation of the entities in which such securities are owned; (ii) engage in
charitable and civic activities; or (iii) engage in other personal passive investment activities, in each case, to the extent such activities
do not, individually or in the aggregate, interfere with or otherwise prevent the performance of Executive’s duties and responsibilities
hereunder. Executive may also serve as a member of the board of directors or board of advisors of another organization provided (i)
such organization is not a competitor of the Company; (ii) Executive receives prior written approval from the Company’s CEO; and (iii)
such activities do not individually or in the aggregate interfere with the performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement,
violate the Company'’s standards of conduct then in effect, or raise a conflict under the Company’s conflict of interest policies.

2. Term. The period of Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue
until Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated pursuant to Section 5. The phrase “Term” as used in this Agreement shall

refer to the entire period of employment of Executive by the Company.
3. Compensation and Related Matters.

(@) Annual Base Salary. During the Term, Executive shall receive a base salary at the rate of $450,000 per year (as may
be increased from time to time, the “Annual Base Salary”), subject to withholdings and deductions, which shall be paid to Executive in
accordance with the customary payroll practices and procedures of the Company. Such Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed by the
CEO, and, as applicable, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) and/or the Compensation Committee of the Board, not

less than annually.

(b) Annual Bonus. Executive shall be eligible to receive a discretionary annual bonus based on Executive’s achievement

of performance objectives established by the Board or its Compensation Committee upon recommendation of the CEO, such bonus to
be targeted at 40% of Executive’s Annual Base Salary (the “Annual Bonus”). If your initial date of employment is after April 1% of the

applicable year, your performance bonus will be prorated to reflect your service. If you are hired after October 1%, you will not be eligible
for a performance bonus in the year that you are hired. You must be employed at the Company at the time bonuses are paid to be
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eligible to receive such bonus. Any Annual Bonus approved by the Board, the Compensation Committee of the Board shall be paid at
the same time annual bonuses are paid to other executives of the Company generally, subject to Executive’s continuous employment

through the date of approval.

(c) Sign-On Bonus. On the first payroll date following the Effective Date, the Company shall pay Executive a one-time sign
on bonus of $150,000, less applicable withholdings (the “Sign On Bonus"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive acknowledges and
agrees that the Sign On Bonus shall not be earned to any extent prior to the first anniversary of the Effective Date and will only be
earned on the first anniversary of the Effective Date if Executive remains continuously employed with the Company through such date.
In the event Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company for Cause or by Executive without Good Reason
(each, as defined below), in either case, prior to the first anniversary of the Effective Date, Executive hereby agrees to repay the amount

of the Sign-On Bonus received by Executive to the Company within sixty (60) days following Executive’s termination.

(d) Stock Option. Subject to the approval of the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board, Executive will be
granted an option to purchase 210,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price per share equal to the closing trading price of
a share of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant or the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant if the date of
grant is not a trading day. Twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares subject to the option will vest on the first anniversary of the Effective
Date, and the remaining shares subject to the option will vest in substantially equal monthly installments over the next 36 months
thereafter, subject to Executive’s continued service to the Company through the applicable vesting date. This option will be subject to the
terms and conditions of the Company’s 2022 Employment Inducement Award Plan and a stock option agreement to be entered into

between Executive and the Company.

(e) Benefits. Executive shall be entitled to participate in such employee and executive benefit plans and programs as the
Company may from time to time offer to provide to its executives, subject to the terms and conditions of such plans. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, nothing herein is intended, or shall be construed, to require the Company to institute or continue any particular plan or benefit.

(f) Business Expenses. The Company shall reimburse Executive for all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket travel and

other business expenses incurred by Executive in the performance of Executive's duties to the Company in accordance with the

Company'’s applicable expense reimbursement policies and procedures as are in effect from time to time.

(g) Vacation. Executive will be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the Company’s vacation policy, as in effect from

time to time.

4. Equity Awards. Executive shall be eligible for the grant of stock options and other equity awards as may be determined by
the Board or its Compensation Committee.

5. Termination.

(a) At-Will Employment. The Company and Executive acknowledge that Executive’s employment is and shall continue to

be at-will, as defined under applicable law. This means that it is not for any specified period of time and, subject to any ramifications
under Section 6 of this Agreement, can be terminated by Executive or by the Company at any time, with or without advance notice, and
for any or no particular reason or cause. It also means that Executive’s job duties, title, and responsibility and reporting level, work
schedule, compensation, and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel policies and procedures, may be changed with prospective
effect, with or without notice, at any time in the sole discretion of the Company (subject to any ramification such changes may have

under Section 6 of this Agreement). This “at-will” nature of Executive’s employment shall remain unchanged during Executive’s tenure
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as an employee and may not be changed, except in an express writing signed by Executive and a duly-authorized officer of the
Company. If Executive’s employment terminates for any lawful reason, Executive shall not be entitled to any payments, benefits,
damages, award, or compensation other than as provided in this Agreement.

(b) Notice of Termination. During the Term, any termination of Executive’s employment by the Company or by Executive
(other than by reason of death) shall be communicated by written notice (a “Notice of Termination”) from one Party hereto to the other
Party hereto (i) indicating the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied upon, if any, (ii) setting forth in reasonable detail the
facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of Executive’s employment under the provision so indicated, and (iii)
specifying the Date of Termination (as defined below). The failure by the Company to set forth in the Notice of Termination all of the facts
and circumstances which contribute to a showing of Cause (as defined below) shall not waive any right of the Company hereunder or

preclude the Company from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing its rights hereunder.

(c) Date of Termination. For purposes of this Agreement, “Date of Termination” shall mean the date of the termination of

Executive’'s employment with the Company specified in a Notice of Termination.

(d) Deemed Resignation. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive shall be deemed to have

resigned from all offices and board memberships, if any, then held with the Company or any of its affiliates, and, at the Company’s
request, Executive shall execute such documents as are necessary or desirable to effectuate such resignations.

6. Consequences of Termination.

(@) Payments of Accrued Obligations upon all Terminations of Employment. Upon a termination of Executive’'s employment

for any reason, Executive (or Executive's estate or legal representative, as applicable) shall be entitled to receive, within 30 days after
Executive’s Date of Termination (or such earlier date as may be required by applicable law): (i) any portion of Executive’s Annual Base
Salary earned through Executive’s Date of Termination not theretofore paid, (ii) any expenses owed to Executive under Section 3, (iii)
any accrued but unused paid time off owed to Executive, solely to the extent applicable under the Company’s paid time off policies; (iv)
any Annual Bonus earned but unpaid as of the Date of Termination, and (v) any amount arising from Executive’s participation in, or
benefits under, any employee benefit plans, programs, or arrangements under Section 3, which amounts shall be payable in accordance
with the terms and conditions of such employee benefit plans, programs, or arrangements. Except as otherwise set forth in Sections 6(b)
and (c), the payments and benefits described in this Section 6(a) shall be the only payments and benefits payable in the event of
Executive’s termination of employment for any reason.

(b) Severance Payments upon Covered Termination Outside a Change inControl Period. If, during the Term, Executive

experiences a Covered Termination outside of a Change in Control Period (each as defined below), then in addition to the payments and
benefits described in Section 6(a), the Company shall, subject to Executive’s delivery to the Company of a waiver and release of claims
agreement in a form acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) that becomes effective and irrevocable in accordance with Section

10(d), provide Executive with the following:

(i) Executive shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to nine (9) months of Executive’s annual base salary
at the rate in effect immediately prior to the Date of Termination, payable in a cash lump sum, less applicable withholdings,

on the first payroll date following the date the Release becomes effective and irrevocable in accordance with Section 10(d).

(ii) If Executive timely elects to receive continued healthcare coverage pursuant to the provisions of the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“COBRA"), the Company shall directly pay, or
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reimburse Executive for, the Company’s portion of the premium (at the same rates in effect on the Date of Termination) for
Executive and Executive’'s covered dependents through the earlier of (A) the nine (9)-month anniversary of the Date of
Termination and (B) the date Executive and Executive’s covered dependents, if any, become eligible for healthcare
coverage under another employer’s plan(s). Notwithstanding the foregoing, (x) if any plan pursuant to which such benefits
are provided is not, or ceases prior to the expiration of the period of continuation coverage to be, exempt from the
application of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, (the “Code”) under Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(a)(5), or (y) the Company is otherwise unable to continue to cover Executive under its group health plans
without penalty under applicable law (including without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), then, in
either case, an amount equal to each remaining Company subsidy shall thereafter be paid to Executive in substantially
equal monthly installments. After the Company ceases to pay premiums pursuant to this Section 6(b)(ii), Executive may, if
eligible, elect to continue healthcare coverage at Executive’s expense in accordance with the provisions of COBRA.
Executive shall notify the Company immediately if Executive becomes covered by a group health plan of a subsequent
employer.

(c) Severance Payments upon Covered Termination During_a Change inControl Period. If, during the Term, Executive

experiences a Covered Termination during a Change in Control Period, then, in addition to the payments and benefits described in
Section 6(a), the Company shall, subject to Executive’s delivery to the Company of the Release that becomes effective and irrevocable

in accordance with Section 10(d), provide Executive with the following:

(i) Executive shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to the sum of (i) twelve (12) months of Executive’'s
annual base salary at the rate in effect immediately prior to the Date of Termination and (ii) Executive’s target annual bonus
assuming achievement of performance goals at one hundred percent (100%) of target, payable in a cash lump sum, less
applicable withholdings, on the first payroll date following the date the Release becomes effective and irrevocable in

accordance with Section 10(d).

(ii) If Executive timely elects to receive continued healthcare coverage pursuant to the provisions of COBRA,
the Company shall directly pay, or reimburse Executive for, the Company’s portion of the premium (at the same rates in
effect on the Date of Termination) for Executive and Executive’s covered dependents through the earlier of (i) the twelve
(12)-month anniversary of the Date of Termination and (ii) the date Executive and Executive’s covered dependents, if any,
become eligible for healthcare coverage under another employer’s plan(s). Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) if any plan
pursuant to which such benefits are provided is not, or ceases prior to the expiration of the period of continuation coverage
to be, exempt from the application of Section 409A of the Code under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(a)(5), or (ii) the
Company is otherwise unable to continue to cover Executive under its group health plans without penalty under applicable
law (including without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), then, in either case, an amount equal to
each remaining Company subsidy shall thereafter be paid to Executive in substantially equal monthly installments. After the
Company ceases to pay premiums pursuant to this Section 6(c)(ii), Executive may, if eligible, elect to continue healthcare
coverage at Executive’s expense in accordance with the provisions of COBRA. Executive shall notify the Company
immediately if Executive becomes covered by a group health plan of a subsequent employer.

(iii) Each outstanding and unvested equity award, including, without limitation, each restricted stock, stock
option, restricted stock unit and stock appreciation right, held by Executive shall automatically become vested and, if
applicable, exercisable and any forfeiture restrictions or rights of repurchase thereon shall immediately lapse with respect to
one hundred percent (100%) of the shares subject thereto, as of immediately prior to the Date of Termination. Unless

otherwise set forth in an applicable award agreement, for purposes of this Section 6(c)(iii) each award subject to
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performance-based vesting will be deemed earned at the greater of (A) target or (B) actual achievement measured as of the

Date of Termination (to the extent then measurable).

(d) No Other Severance. Except as otherwise approved by the Board, the provisions of this Section 6 shall supersede in

their entirety any severance payment provisions in any severance plan, policy, program, or other arrangement maintained by the
Company, including without limitation, the Offer Letter.

(e) No Requirement to Mitigate; Survival. Executive shall not be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided

for under this Agreement by seeking other employment or in any other manner. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this

Agreement, the termination of Executive’s employment shall not impair the rights or obligations of any Party.

(f) Definition of Cause. For purposes hereof, “Cause” means: (i) Executive’s failure to perform Executive’s assigned

duties or responsibilities as an officer of the Company (other than a failure resulting from Executive’s Disability (as defined herein) after
notice thereof from the Company describing Executive’s failure to perform such duties or responsibilities; (ii) Executive’s engaging in any
act of dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation; (iii) Executive’s violation of any federal or state law or regulation applicable to the business
of the Company or its affiliates; (iv) Executive’s breach of any confidentiality agreement or invention assignment agreement between
Executive and the Company (or any affiliate of the Company); or (v) Executive’s commission of, or entering a plea of nolo contendere to,

any crime or committing any act of moral turpitude.

(g) Definition of Change in Control. For purposes hereof, “Change in Control’ has the meaning ascribed to such term
under the Company’s 2020 Incentive Award Plan, as may be amended from time to time; provided, that such transaction must also

constitute a “change in control event” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5).

(h) Definition of Change in Control Period. For purposes hereof, “Change in Control Period’ shall mean the period

commencing three months prior to a Change in Control and ending 12 months after such Change in Control.

(i) Definition of Covered Termination. For purposes hereof, “Covered Termination” shall mean the termination of

Executive’s employment by the Company without Cause or by Executive for Good Reason, and shall not include a termination due to
Executive’s death or disability.

(j) Definition of Disability. For purposes hereof, “Disability” has the meaning set forth under the long-term disability policy
of the Company or a related entity to which Executive provides services regardless of whether Executive is covered by such policy. If the
Company or the related entity to which Executive provides service does not have a long-term disability plan in place, “Disability” means
that Executive is unable to carry out the responsibilities and functions of the position held by Executive by reason of any medically
determinable physical or mental impairment for a period of not less than ninety (90) consecutive days. Executive will not be considered

to have incurred a Disability unless Executive furnishes proof of such impairment sufficient to satisfy the Board in its discretion.

(k) Definition of Good Reason. For purposes hereof, “Good Reason” for Executive to terminate Executive’'s employment

hereunder shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events without Executive’s consent: (i) a material reduction in Executive’s
salary or benefits (excluding the substitution of substantially equivalent compensation and benefits), other than as a result of a reduction
in compensation affecting employees of the Company, or its successor entity, generally; (ii) a material diminution in Executive’s duties or
responsibilities, provided however, that, a mere change in title or reporting relationship alone shall not constitute “Good Reason”; or (iii)
relocation of Executive’s place of employment to a location more than 50 miles from the Company’s office location, provided, in each

case, that if any of the events set forth above shall occur, Executive shall give written notice of such event to the Company, or its
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successor entity, within thirty (30) days following such event, and if such event is not cured within thirty (30) days from such notice (the
“Cure Period”) Executive may exercise Executive’s rights to resign for Good Reason, provided that if Executive has not exercised such
right within forty- five (45) days of the expiration of the Cure Period Executive shall be deemed to have agreed to the occurrence of such
event.

7. Assignment and Successors. The Company shall assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any successor
to all or substantially all of the business or the assets of the Company (by merger or otherwise). This Agreement shall be binding upon
and inure to the benefit of the Company, Executive, and their respective successors, assigns, personnel, and legal representatives,
executors, administrators, heirs, distributees, devisees, and legatees, as applicable. None of Executive’s rights or obligations may be
assigned or transferred by Executive, other than Executive’s rights to payments hereunder, which may be transferred only by will,

operation of law, or as otherwise provided herein.

8. Miscellaneous Provisions.

(@) Confidentiality Agreement. Executive hereby affirms Executive’s obligations under that certain At-Will Employment,
Confidential Information, Invention Assignment, and Arbitration Agreement or other confidentiality agreement by and between the
Company and Executive (the “Confidentiality Agreement’). The Confidentiality Agreement shall survive the termination of this
Agreement and Executive’s employment with the Company for the applicable period(s) set forth therein. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
in the event of any conflict between the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement and the terms of this Agreement, the terms of this

Agreement shall prevail.

(b) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed, construed, interpreted, and enforced in accordance with its express
terms, and otherwise in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of California, without giving effect to any principles of conflicts
of law, whether of the State of California or any other jurisdiction, and where applicable, the laws of the United States, that would result
in the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction.

(c) Validity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or

enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but
all of which together will constitute one and the same Agreement. Signatures delivered by facsimile shall be deemed effective for all

purposes.

(e) Entire Agreement. The terms of this Agreement, together with the Confidentiality Agreement, are intended by the Parties to be
the final expression of their agreement with respect to the employment of Executive by the Company and supersede all prior
understandings and agreements, whether written or oral, regarding Executive’s service to the Company, including without limitation, the
Offer Letter. The Parties further intend that this Agreement, together with the Confidentiality Agreement, shall constitute the complete
and exclusive statement of their terms and that no extrinsic evidence whatsoever may be introduced in any judicial, administrative, or
other legal proceeding to vary the terms of this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event
of any conflict between the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement and the terms of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall

prevail.

(f) Amendments; Waivers. This Agreement may not be modified, amended, or terminated except by an instrument in writing

signed by Executive and a duly authorized representative of the Company. By an instrument in writing similarly executed, Executive or a

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 225/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

duly authorized officer of the Company, as applicable, may waive compliance by the other Party with any specifically identified provision
of this Agreement that such other Party was or is obligated to comply with or perform; provided, however, that such waiver shall not
operate as a waiver of, or estoppel with respect to, any other or subsequent failure. No failure to exercise and no delay in exercising any
right, remedy, or power hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise of any other right, remedy, or power provided herein or by

law or in equity.

(g) Dispute Resolution. To ensure the timely and economical resolution of disputes that arise in connection with this Agreement,
Executive and the Company agree that, except as excluded herein, any and all controversies, claims and disputes arising out of or
relating to this Agreement, including without limitation any alleged violation of its terms or otherwise arising out of the Parties’
relationship, shall be resolved solely and exclusively by final and binding arbitration held in San Mateo County, California through JAMS
in conformity with California law and the then-existing JAMS employment arbitration rules, which can be found
athttps://www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/. The Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. 88 1 et seq. shall govern the
interpretation and enforcement of this arbitration clause. All remedies available from a court of competent jurisdiction shall be available
in the arbitration; provided, however, in the event of a breach of Section 8(a), the Company may request relief from a court of competent
jurisdiction if such relief is not available or not available in a timely fashion through arbitration as determined by the Company. The
arbitrator shall: (a) provide adequate discovery for the resolution of the dispute; and (b) issue a written arbitration decision, to include the
arbitrator’s essential findings and conclusions and a statement of the award. The arbitrator shall award the prevailing Party attorneys’
fees and expert fees, if any. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is acknowledged that it will be impossible to measure in money the
damages that would be suffered if the Parties fail to comply with any of the obligations imposed on them under Section 8(a), and that in
the event of any such failure, an aggrieved person will be irreparably damaged and will not have an adequate remedy at law. Any such

person shall, therefore, be entitled to seek

injunctive relief, including specific performance, to enforce such obligations, and if any action shall be brought in equity to enforce any of
the provisions of Section 8(a), none of the Parties shall raise the defense, without a good faith basis for raising such defense, that there
is an adequate remedy at law. Executive and the Company understand that by agreement to arbitrate any claim pursuant to this Section
8(g), they will not have the right to have any claim decided by a jury or a court but shall instead have any claim decided through
arbitration. Executive and the Company waive any constitutional or other right to bring claims covered by this Agreement other than in
their individual capacities. Except as may be prohibited by applicable law, the foregoing waiver includes the ability to assert claims as a
plaintiff or class member in any purported class or collective action or representative proceeding. Nothing herein shall limit Executive’s
ability to pursue claims for workers compensation or unemployment benefits or pursue other claims which by law cannot be subject to

mandatory arbitration.

(h) Enforcement. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable under present or future laws,
such provision shall be fully severable; this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable
provision had never comprised a portion of this Agreement; and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision or by its severance from this Agreement. Furthermore,
in lieu of such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as part of this Agreement a provision as

similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision as may be possible and be legal, valid, and enforceable.

(i) Withholding. The Company shall be entitled to withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement any federal, state,
local, or foreign withholding or other taxes or charges which the Company is required to withhold. The Company shall be entitled to rely

on an opinion of counsel if any questions as to the amount or requirement of withholding shall arise.
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(j) Whistleblower Protections and Trade Secrets. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, nothing in this

Agreement prohibits Executive from reporting possible violations of federal law or regulation to any United States governmental agency
or entity in accordance with the provisions of and rules promulgated under Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or
Section 806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or any other whistleblower protection provisions of state or federal law or regulation
(including the right to receive an award for information provided to any such government agencies). Furthermore, in accordance with 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1833, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement: (i) Executive shall not be in breach of this Agreement, and
shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law (x) for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made
in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official or to an attorney solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a
suspected violation of law, or (y) for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or
other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal; and (ii) if Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a
suspected violation of law, Executive may disclose the trade secret to Executive’s attorney, and may use the trade secret information in
the court proceeding, if Executive files any document containing the trade secret under seal, and does not disclose the trade secret,

except pursuant to court order.

9. Golden Parachute Excise Tax.

(a) Best Pay. Any provision of this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if any payment or benefit Executive would

receive from the Company pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the
meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (i) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code
(the “Excise Tax"), then such Payment will be equal to the Reduced Amount (as defined below). The “Reduced Amount” will be either
(A) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment (after reduction) being subject to the Excise Tax or
(B) the entire Payment, whichever amount after taking into account all applicable federal, state, and local employment taxes, income
taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate, net of the maximum reduction in federal income taxes
which could be obtained from a deduction of such state and local taxes), results in Executive’ s receipt, on an after- tax basis, of the
greater economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in a
Payment is required pursuant to the preceding sentence and the Reduced Amount is determined pursuant to clause (A) of the preceding
sentence, the reduction shall occur in the manner (the “Reduction Method”) that results in the greatest economic benefit for Executive.
If more than one method of reduction will result in the same economic benefit, the items so reduced will be reduced pro rata (the “Pro
Rata Reduction Method”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Reduction Method or the Pro Rata Reduction Method would result in any

portion of the Payment

being subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A (as defined below) that would not otherwise be subject to taxes pursuant to Section
409A, then the Reduction Method and/or the Pro Rata Reduction Method, as the case may be, shall be modified so as to avoid the
imposition of taxes pursuant to Section 409A as follows: (1) as a first priority, the modification shall preserve to the greatest extent
possible, the greatest economic benefit for Executive as determined on an after-tax basis; (2) as a second priority, Payments that are
contingent on future events (e.g., being terminated without cause), shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not
contingent on future events; and (3) as a third priority, Payments that are “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A

shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A.

(b) Accounting_Firm. The accounting firm engaged by the Company for general tax purposes as of the day prior to the
Change in Control will perform the calculations set forth in Section 9(a). If the firm so engaged by the Company is serving as the
accountant or auditor for the acquiring company, the Company will appoint a nationally recognized accounting firm to make the
determinations required hereunder. The Company will bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such firm required to be
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made hereunder. The accounting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder will provide its calculations, together with detailed
supporting documentation, to the Company within 30 days before the consummation of a Change in Control (if requested at that time by
the Company) or such other time as requested by the Company. If the accounting firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable with
respect to a Payment, either before or after the application of the Reduced Amount, it will furnish the Company with documentation
reasonably acceptable to the Company that no Excise Tax will be imposed with respect to such Payment. Any good faith determinations

of the accounting firm made hereunder will be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and Executive.
10. Section 409A.

(@) General. The intent of the Parties is that the payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with or be exempt
from Section 409A of the Code and the Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance issued thereunder, including
without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the Effective Date, (“Section 409A") and, accordingly,
to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. Notwithstanding any provision of
this Agreement to the contrary, if the Company determines that any compensation or benefits payable under this Agreement may be
subject to Section 409A, the Company shall work in good faith with Executive to adopt such amendments to this Agreement or adopt
other policies and procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions, that the
Company determines are necessary or appropriate to avoid the imposition of taxes under Section 409A, including, without limitation,
actions intended to (i) exempt the compensation and benefits payable under this Agreement from Section 409A, and/or (ii) comply with
the requirements of Section 409A; however, this Section 10(a) shall not create an obligation on the part of the Company to adopt any
such amendment, policy or procedure or take any such other action, nor shall the Company (A) have any liability for failing to do so, or

(B) incur or indemnify Executive for any taxes, interest or other liabilities arising under or by operation of Section 409A.

(b) Separation from Service,_Installments and Reimbursements. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this
Agreement: (i) no amount that constitutes “deferred compensation” under Section 409A shall be payable pursuant to Section 6 unless
the termination of Executive’s employment constitutes a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 1.409A-1(h) of the
Department of Treasury Regulations (“Separation from Service”); (ii) for purposes of Section 409A, Executive’s right to receive
installment payments shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments; and (iii) to the extent that any
reimbursement of expenses or in-kind benefits constitutes “deferred compensation” under Section 409A, such reimbursement or benefit
shall be provided no later than December 31st of the year following the year in which the expense was incurred. The amount of
expenses reimbursed in one year shall not affect the amount eligible for reimbursement in any subsequent year. The amount of any in-

kind benefits provided in one year shall not affect the amount of in-kind benefits provided in any other year.

(c) Specified Employee. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if Executive is deemed by the
Company at the time of Executive’s Separation from Service to be a “specified employee” for purposes of Section 409A, to the extent
delayed commencement of any portion of the benefits to which Executive is entitled under this Agreement is required in order to avoid a
prohibited distribution under Section 409A, such portion of Executive’s benefits shall not be provided to Executive prior to the earlier of
(i) the expiration of the six-month period measured from the date of Executive’'s Separation from Service with the Company or (ii) the
date of Executive’s death. Upon the first

business day following the expiration of the applicable Section 409A period, all payments deferred pursuant to the preceding sentence
shall be paid in a lump sum to Executive (or Executive’'s estate or beneficiaries), and any remaining payments due to Executive under

this Agreement shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 228/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

(d) Release. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, to the extent that any payments due under this
Agreement as a result of Executive’s termination of employment are subject to Executive’s execution and delivery of the Release, (i) if
Executive fails to execute the Release on or prior to the Release Expiration Date (as defined below) or timely revokes Executive’s
acceptance of the Release thereafter, Executive shall not be entitled to any payments or benefits otherwise conditioned on the Release,
and (ii) in any case where Executive’s Date of Termination and the last day the Release may be considered or, if applicable, revoked, fall
in two separate taxable years, any payments required to be made to Executive that are conditioned on the Release and are treated as
nonqualified deferred compensation for purposes of Section 409A shall be made in the later taxable year. For purposes of this Section
10(d), “Release Expiration Date” shall mean (1) if Executives is under 40 years old as of the Date of Termination, the date that is seven
(7) days following the date upon which the Company timely delivers the Release to Executive, and (2) if Executive is 40 years or older
as of the Date of Termination, the date that is 21 days following the date upon which the Company timely delivers the Release to
Executive, or, in the event that Executive’s termination of employment is “in connection with an exit incentive or other employment
termination program” (as such phrase is defined in the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967), the date that is 45 days following
such delivery date. To the extent that any payments of nonqualified deferred compensation (within the meaning of Section 409A) due
under this Agreement as a result of Executive’s termination of employment are delayed pursuant to this Section 10(d), such amounts
shall be paid in a lump sum on the first payroll date following the date that Executive executes and does not revoke the Release (and the
applicable revocation period has expired) or, in the case of any payments subject to Section 10(d)(ii), on the first payroll period to occur

in the subsequent taxable year, if later.

(e) Employee Acknowledgement. Executive acknowledges that Executive has read and understands this Agreement, is
fully aware of its legal effect, has not acted in reliance upon any representations or promises made by the Company other than those

contained in writing herein, and has entered into this Agreement freely based on Executive’s own judgment.

[Signature Page Follows]

The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first set forth above.
ANNEXON, INC.

By: /s/ Douglas E. Love

Name: Douglas E. Love, Esq.

Title: President & CEO
EXECUTIVE

By: /s/ Dean Richard Artis, PhD.

Name: Dean Richard Artis, PhD.

Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-258863 and 333-268181) on Form S-3 and in the
registration statements (Nos. 333-240101, 333-254707, 333-263193, 333-266671 and 333-266671) 333-270307) on Form S-8 of our

report dated March 6, 2023 March 26, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Annexon, Inc.
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/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
March 6, 2023 26, 2024

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS AMENDED

I, Douglas Love, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Annexon, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessa
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to th
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Ri
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made know
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d)d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrar
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most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or i
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equiva
functions):

(a)a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting whict
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant'
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 6, 2023 March 26, 2024 By: /s/ Douglas Love

1.
2.

Douglas Love, Esq.
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS AMENDED

Jennifer Lew, certify that:
| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Annexon, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessa
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to th
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Ri
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made know
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
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(b) b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d)d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrar
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or i
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equiva
functions):

(a)a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting whict
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 6, 2023 March 26, 2024 By: /sl Jennifer Lew
Jennifer Lew

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, AS AMENDED

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Annexon, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 (the “Report”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, Douglas Love, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, and Jennifer Lew, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby

certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, that:
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1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
amended; and

2.  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
the Company.

Date: March 6, 2023 March 26, 2024 /s/ Douglas Love

Douglas Love, Esq.
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 6, 2023 March 26, 2024 /sl Jennifer Lew

Jennifer Lew
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 97.1

ANNEXON, INC. POLICY FOR RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Annexon, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Policy for
Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (the “Policy”), effective as of November 15, 2023 (the
“Effective Date”). Capitalized terms used in this Policy but not otherwise defined herein are defined in Section
11.

1. Persons Subject to Policy
This Policy shall apply to current and former Officers.
2. Compensation Subject to PolicyE

This Policy shall apply to Incentive-Based Compensation received on or after the Effective Date. For
purposes of this Policy, the date on which Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” shall be determined
under the Applicable Rules, which generally provide that Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” in the
Company'’s fiscal period during which the relevant Financial Reporting Measure is attained or satisfied, without
regard to whether the grant, vesting or payment of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of
that period.
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3. Recovery of Compensation

In the event that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement, the Company shall recover,
reasonably promptly, the portion of any Incentive-Based Compensation that is Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, unless the Committee has determined that recovery would be Impracticable. Recovery shall be
required in accordance with the preceding sentence regardless of whether the applicable current or former
Officer engaged in misconduct or otherwise caused or contributed to the requirement for the Restatement and
regardless of whether or when restated financial statements are filed by the Company. For clarity, the recovery
or attempted recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy will not give rise to any
person’s right to voluntarily terminate employment for “good reason,” or due to a “constructive termination” (or
any similar term of like effect) under any plan, program or policy of or agreement with the Company or any of its
affiliates.

4, Manner of Recovery; Limitation on Duplicative Recovery

The Committee shall, in its sole discretion, determine the manner of recovery of any Erroneously
Awarded Compensation, which may include, without limitation, reduction or cancellation by the Company or an
affiliate of the Company of Incentive-Based Compensation or Erroneously Awarded Compensation,
reimbursement or repayment by any person subject to this Policy of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation,
and, to the extent permitted by law and consistent with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, an
offset of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation against other compensation payable by the Company or an
affiliate of the

Exhibit 97.1

Company to such person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise prohibited by the Applicable Rules,
to the extent this Policy provides for recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation already recovered by the
Company pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 304 or Other Recovery Arrangements as defined in Section
7, the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation already recovered by the Company from the recipient of
such Erroneously Awarded Compensation may be credited to the amount of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation required to be recovered pursuant to this Policy from such person.

5. Administration

This Policy shall be administered, interpreted and construed by the Committee, which is authorized to
make all determinations necessary, appropriate or advisable for such purpose. The Board may re-vest in itself
the authority to administer, interpret and construe this Policy in accordance with applicable law, and in such
event references herein to the “Committee” shall be deemed to be references to the Board. Subject to any
permitted review by the applicable national securities exchange or association pursuant to the Applicable
Rules, all determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of this Policy shall
be final, conclusive and binding on all persons, including the Company and its affiliates, stockholders and
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employees. The Committee may delegate administrative duties with respect to this Policy to one or more
directors or employees of the Company, as permitted under applicable law, including any Applicable Rules.

6. Interpretation

This Policy will be interpreted and applied in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of the
Applicable Rules, and to the extent this Policy is inconsistent with such Applicable Rules, it shall be deemed
amended to the minimum extent necessary to ensure compliance therewith.

7. No Indemnification; No Liability

The Company shall not indemnify or insure any person against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation pursuant to this Policy, nor shall the Company directly or indirectly pay or reimburse any person
for any premiums for third-party insurance policies that such person may elect to purchase to fund such
person’s potential obligations under this Policy. None of the Company, an affiliate of the Company or any
member of the Committee or the Board shall have any liability to any person as a result of actions taken under
this Policy.

8. Application; Enforceability

Except as otherwise determined by the Committee or the Board, the adoption of this Policy does not
limit, and is intended to apply in addition to, any other clawback, recoupment, forfeiture or similar policies or
provisions of the Company or its affiliates, including any such policies or provisions of such effect contained in
any employment agreement, bonus plan, incentive plan, equity-based plan or award agreement thereunder or
similar plan, program or agreement of the Company or an affiliate or required under applicable law (the “Other
Recovery Arrangements”).
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The remedy specified in this Policy shall not be exclusive and shall be in addition to every other right or remedy
at law or in equity that may be available to the Company or an affiliate of the Company.

9. Severability

The provisions in this Policy are intended to be applied to the fullest extent of the law; provided,
however, to the extent that any provision of this Policy is found to be unenforceable or invalid under any
applicable law, such provision will be applied to the maximum extent permitted, and shall automatically be

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 235/239
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

deemed amended in a manner consistent with its objectives to the extent necessary to conform to any
limitations required under applicable law.

10. Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all current and former Officers and their
beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.

11. Amendment and Termination

The Board or the Committee may amend, modify or terminate this Policy in whole or in part at any time
and from time to time in its sole discretion. This Policy will terminate automatically when the Company does not
have a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or association.

12. Definitions

“Applicable Rules” means Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, the
listing rules of the national securities exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed,
and any applicable rules, standards or other guidance adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission or
any national securities exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed.

“Committee” means the committee of the Board responsible for executive compensation decisions
comprised solely of independent directors (as determined under the Applicable Rules), or in the absence of
such a committee, a majority of the independent directors serving on the Board.

“Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation
received by a current or former Officer that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would
have been received by such current or former Officer based on a restated Financial Reporting Measure, as
determined on a pre-tax basis in accordance with the Applicable Rules. For Incentive-Based Compensation
based on total stockholder return or stock price, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is
not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Restatement, Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is the Committee’s reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the total
stockholder return or stock price upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received, with
documentation of the determination of such reasonable estimate provided by the Company to the applicable
listing exchange or association.
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“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Financial Reporting Measure’ means any measure determined and presented in accordance with the
accounting principles used in preparing the Company'’s financial statements, and any measures derived wholly
or in part from such measures, including GAAP, IFRS and non- GAAP/IFRS financial measures, as well as
stock price and total stockholder return. For the avoidance of doubt, a financial reporting measure need not be
presented in the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC.

“GAAP’” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

“IFRS” means international financial reporting standards as adopted by the International Accounting
Standards Board.

“Impracticable” means (a) the direct costs paid to third parties to assist in enforcing recovery would
exceed the Erroneously Awarded Compensation; provided that the Company has
(i) made reasonable attempts to recover the Erroneously Awarded Compensation, (ii) documented such
attempt(s), and (iii) provided such documentation to the relevant listing exchange or association, (b) to the
extent permitted by the Applicable Rules, the recovery would violate the Company’s home country laws
pursuant to an opinion of home country counsel; provided that the Company has (i) obtained an opinion of
home country counsel, acceptable to the relevant listing exchange or association, that recovery would result in
such violation, and (ii) provided such opinion to the relevant listing exchange or association, or (c) recovery
would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to
employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and
the regulations thereunder.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means, with respect to a Restatement, any compensation that is
granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of one or more Financial Reporting
Measures and received by a person: (a) after beginning service as an Officer; (b) who served as an Officer at
any time during the performance period for that compensation; (c) while the Company has a class of its
securities listed on a national securities exchange or association; and (d) during the applicable Three-Year
Period.

“Officer” means the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if
there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal
business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a
policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company.
Executive officers of the Company’s parent(s) or subsidiaries are deemed executive officers of the Company if
they perform such policy making functions for the Company.

“Restatement” means an accounting restatement to correct the Company’s material noncompliance
with any financial reporting requirement under securities laws, including restatements that correct an error in
previously issued financial statements (a) that is material to the previously issued financial statements or (b)
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that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected
in the current period.
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“Three-Year Period” means, with respect to a Restatement, the three completed fiscal years
immediately preceding the date that the Board, a committee of the Board, or, if Board action is not required, the
officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action concludes, or reasonably should have
concluded, that the Company is required to prepare such Restatement, or, if earlier, the date on which a court,
regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare such Restatement. The “Three-Year
Period” also includes any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or
immediately following the three completed fiscal years identified in the preceding sentence. However, a
transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new
fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months shall be deemed a completed fiscal year.
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™
IS A COMPARISON OF TWO FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL
ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE
COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY
ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED
UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE
APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER
DECISIONS.

©2024, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.
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